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ABOUT
FRASERS GROUP

Founded as a single store in
1982, Frasers Group Plc (Frasers
Group, the Group, the business
or the Company) is today the
UK'’s largest sporting goods
retailer by revenue.

The Group operates a diversified portfolio of sports,

countries. We have more than 30,000 colleagues across
five business segments: UK Sports Retail, Premium
Lifestyle, European Retail, Rest of World Retail and
Wholesale & Licensing.

Our strategy is to provide consumers with access to

the World's best sports, premium and luxury brands by
providing a World-leading retail ecosystem. Aligned with
this vision, we have defined the Group's purpose:

To elevate the lives of the many by giving them access to the
World's best brands and experiences.

MISSION STATEMENT

TO SERVE OUR CONSUMERS WITH
THE WORLD'S BEST SPORTS,
PREMIUM AND LUXURY BRANDS.

BUSINESS ETHOS

We do not run the business for the short-term
but work to ensure we deliver shareholder value
over the medium to long-term, whilst adopting
accounting principles that are conservative,
consistent and simple.

Woodeigsh

OUR IMPACT
SINCE 2007

We became a listed public company in 2007, In
the years since we floated, the Group has greatly
contributed to the British economy. This includes:

£250m

Approx. £250m paid in staff share banuses

30,000

Have a workforce of approx. 30,000 people
Worldwide, approx. 22,000 of which are in the UK

A gy,
s o S a8

Contributed approx. £2,300m in VAT and Duty

£200m

Approx. £200m paid in sales commission
to retait bonuses

£700m

Contributed approx. £700m in UK Corporation Tax

£200m

Contributed approx. £200m in NI
employer contributions

GROUP |
OUTLOOK

We are delighted to repert a record-brecking
year for Frasers Group with an adjusted profit
before tax of £335.8m (FY21: loss £39.9m)},
despite the significant economic headwinds and
well-chronicled challenges across the sector.

Our Elevation strategy has remained laser focused,
and we have re-structured our team to execute

it with conviction. It is underpinned by our core
strengths and rock-solid foundations. Although the
backdrop remains challenging, this momentum
gives us the confidence of achieving an adjusted
profit before tax of between £450m and £500m for
the next financial year.
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GROUP AT
A GLANCE

UK SPORTS RETAIL EUROPEAN RETAIL

55.0% 16.4°%

Total Group Revenue Total Group Revenue

£7/90.Zm

UK Sports Retail includes core sports retail store European Retail includes all the Group's sports

operations in the UK, plus all the Group's sports retail stores, manogement and operations in

retail online business (excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern Europe including the Group's European distribution

Mountain Sports and Sports Direct Malaysia), the gyms, centres in Belgium and Austria as well as GAME

SRL, the Group's Shirebrook carmpus operations, retail Spain. The total European store count is 489 stores

store operations in Northern lreland, Evans Cycles and and approximately 3.7m sq.ft. of retail spoce. !
GAME UK. During FY22, management continued to elevate

Our store footprint is significant, with 808 stores across the Group's European stores and work to further

the UK, totalling approximately 6.7m sq.ft. of retail tailor the Group's consumer value propositions to

space. The majority of stores are operated under the our local markets.

Sports Direct, USC, Evans Cycles and GAME fascius.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

- 32.5%
43.6%

Strong financial performance as we
recover from Covid-19, with Group revenue
up by 32.5%

Excluding acquisitions and on o currency neutral basis,
revenue inf:qsd _ 3.20-“ o

Premium Lifestyle revenue increased by
43.6%, largely due to new FLANNELS
stores, continued growth in online, and the
strong reopening of stores after the last
lockdown in March 2021

Excluding acquisitions, revenue increased by 43.3%"

Reported profit before

tax was £335.6m, up

3,848.2% from a profit

of £8.5m driven by the

strong reopening of

stores after lockdown,

new FLANNELS stores,

continued growth in online

in the Premium Lifestyle

segment, continued

operating efficiencies, FY21

including Covid-19 related

lockdowns and current

period property related

impairments of £227.0m Cash inflow from operating activities
compared to £317.0m increased to £628.9m compared to
in FY21. £578.3m in the prior period

0
>
0
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UK Sports Retail revenue
increased by 34.1%,
largely due to the strong
reopening of stores after
the last lockdown in March
2021 and the comparative
period being impacted by
lockdowns as a result of
Covid-19

Excluding acquisitions, revenue
increased by 301%™

£(39.9m)

Group adjusted PBT? increased to £339.8m
compared to a loss of £{(39.9m) in the
prior period

Excluding acquisitions and on a currency neutral basis,
Adjusted PBTY increased by £394.0m™

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

T_

European Retail revenue increased by

‘Ireland and the lockdowns exeien'ed in

the prior year

Excluding acquisitions and on a currency neutral basis,
revenue increased by 33.4%™

£1,308.6m

As at 24 April 2022 net assets increased to
£1,308.6m from £1,211.0m at 25 April 2021
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STRATEGIC AND
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

FURTTHIER GROWTH

Further growth of our key brand partner relationships, alongside establishing new and innovative brand partners  *

& | BOSS

OUR
EEREVAION
STNATEG)Y
HAS COME

TO LIFE

Cur Elevation strategy has come to life through the new
store developments, including the creation of flagship

SPORTS DIRECT BIRMINGHAM stores, leading to recent openings including Sports Direct
Birmingham and FLANNELS Liverpoot
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MISSGUIDED  studio

UNILOGIK
NEW E-COMMERCE
CAPABILITIES

Strategic cthuisitions: in.cludir:.g.l.;’lisjsgt.l.ilded {F).(ﬁsf-[ﬁeriodend) and Studio Retail (‘SRL’I}, enable the
Group to unlock new e-commerce capabilities and access a wider customer base

IMPROV/E[D) £980m
THE DIGITAL .. oconomn

which now stands at £980m

CONSUMER
EXPERIENCE £198.2m

Significantly improved the digital consumer experience across Returned £193.2m to shareholders through a
all touchpoints within the Group - significant share buy back program

HUGO BOSS

Supported our strategic brand partner Hugo Boss AG, with an increased
investment reflecting our growing relationship and confidence in the brand's future

Prinied on Sieibelz 100% Reaydisd and Carbon Capred through The Weedlend Thust, helping i oresls new Bl woodland serses e UK
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CHAIR'S STATEMENT

CEC Appointment

Earlier this year, Michael Murray transitioned into

the role of Chief Executive of Frasers Group and was
formally appointed on 1 May 2022. With Michael's
leadership, we remain laser focused on the growth of
the business, through keeping up the momentum of our
Elevation strategy, investing in our people and building
out the proposition for brands.

Michael has set out a clear vision for the business -

to provide consumers with access to the World's best
sports, premium and luxury brands by providinga -
World-leading retail ecosystem, and through that, he
has significantly improved our relationships with our key

and Edrope, through<the development of our
store portfolio.

With the Group's new leadership, and a clear direction,
Michael continues te redefine the culture, employee
value propaosition and strategy of Frasers Group, which
all contribute to the efficiency of the business and our
strong performance,

Business Performance and
Financial Highlights

We are pleased that our business has performed

above expectations since stores reopened in March
2021, following the final period of closure due to the
Covid-19 pandemic. We are a cash generative business
which enables us to continue to invest in our strategies
and withstand some of the pressures and impact of

the pandernic, Brexit, global supply chain challenges
and political and economic uncertainty at home and
abroad. Notwithstanding our business resilience, these
macro-economic factors have contributed to our
conservative judgements and estimates, leading to some
significant non-cash accounting impairments of £232.7m
(FY21: £326.1m) to our asset base, further details can be
found in notes 2, 17, 18 and 19.

Revenue increased to £4,805.3m (FY21 £3,625.3m)
Profit Before Tax increased to £335.6m (FY21: £8.5m)

Adjusted PBT increased to a profit of £339.8m
(FY21: loss £39.9m) )

- Net assets at FY22 £1,308.6m (FY21: £1,211.0m)

Looking forward, we will continue to invest in the high
street alongside our online and digital capabilities.
Following the success of the business’s first Sports Direct
flagship on London's Oxford Street, which opened to

great acclaim last June, we recently opened our second
Sports Direct flagship store in Birmingharn — further
demonstrating the strength of our elevated consumer
experience, and the direction of the Sports Direct brand.

The FLANNELS business continues to perform
exceptionally well and we are excited about the recent
opening of our 120,000 sq. ft. FLANNELS flagship store
in Liverpool. The store is our largest store opening to
date and saw an impressive investment of approx. £30m
from the business. Our expansion plans for FLANNELS
are crucial to the on-going success of the luxury side

of the business and through our new brand vision to
becorre the leading destination for new luxury, we are
delighted to be expanding into new markets and new
S 10 UL ML WIS s A e, I g
expansion into Ireland with openings planned for Dublin,
Blanchardstown and Cork.

Acquisitions

We continue to see oppartunities that strengthen Frasers
Group's brand proposition and our recent acquisitions of
Studio Retail Limited [with its significant knowledge and
experience in consumer credit) during FY22. Missguided
and | Saw Mt First {with their focus on womenswear and
its digital platforms} subsequent to the period end are
examples of our drive to expand and acquire businesses
and brands that can strengthen the Group, and our
connection to our consumers.

Operations

We are continually developing our automation
capabilities in our Shirebrook distribution facility,
including the launch of a Dematic Shuttle machine
which covers a floor plate of 200,000 sq. ft and
increasing the size of our AutoStore facility, which was
alrecdy the biggest in Europe. In the second half of the
financial year, we completed the purchase of land in
Bitburg, Germany, where we have plans for a significant
distribution centre which wili service mainiand Europe
from both a store and digitcl perspective.

Our People
Our people are the key agsset to the business.

Under Michael Murroy's leadership, the management
team has been strengthened. The business has created
several new roles including the additions of a Managing
Director of Sports, Ger Wright (formerly a Nike Executive),
and a Managing Director of Luxury and Premium, David
Epstein. Alongside the management team, we will look
to support the business by adding relevant talent and
expertise to the Board when appropriate.
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This year the Group will receive its third annual intake of
highly talented individuals into the Elevation Pregramme.
The programme is aimed at high potential graduates
seeking a career in commercial management, and

we have twenty-six (FY20: twenty-seven and FY21:
twenty-five} young, ambitious new joiners who started
in September 2022, Over the past three years, we

have been monitoring the success and benefits of the
Elevation Programme and are pleased to confirm that
we will be rolling out the scheme across our finance
department, which has seen five graduates start in
August 2022,

Sustainability

Sustainability and Elevation go hand in hand cnd

both are important priorities for the Group and its
stakeholders. We have built a Sustainability Team
structure within the organisation with our CFO

Chris Wootton as the executive sponsor. There are
DUSLUN BT Y LI 1D UG0S LIS RUDH DD i
hundreds of dedicated people across our stores who
are responsible for helping deliver against our priorities.

We have set ourselves targets to reduce emissions and
single use plastic, and improve our waste management
and recycling. We now offer a carbon neutral delivery
option on the web.

We have outperformed our target of a 10% reduction
in our UK stores energy usage, achieving a reduction
of 15%. More detuail of our various achievements and
targets can be found in the ESG Report on page 33,

This is the first year of Taskforce on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD). During the year we have
worked closely with expert external advisors to enhance
our understanding of the potential impact of climate
change on Frasers Group and to inform our future
strategy risk management appreach and the metric and
targets we will use to menitor our progress. The TCFD
section can be found in the ESG report

on page 40.

Refinancing

In our Half Year reporting we noted the successful
refinance of our Group facility whereby we have access
to a combined term loan and revolving credit facility
(RCF) of £930.0m for a period of three years, with the
possibility to extend this by a further 2 years. This facility
has increased in size to £980.0m since then. We believe
this is a great endorsement for the business and our
Elevation strategy and | want to say thank you to our
banking partners for their support.

Disposals

Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of for
consideration of $70m. The Bobs and EMS store estate

FCnsbon Captured throngh tha Woodiandg 3
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does not include any of the new elevated stores which
are core to the FG Elevation strategy. The disposal of
these non-core businesses allows Frasers Group to have
an even greater focus on delivering its Elevation strategy
by focusing on store experience, digital and product. The
board of Frasers Group is grateful to staff in Bobs and
EMS for their loyal service and wishes these businesses
every success for the future.

The Group disposed of a number of freehold and
long leasehold retail parks held by its wholly owned
subsidiaries post period end for a total of £205m,
Frasers Group fascias will operate from leases within
these properties where appropriate. Frasers Group in
the ordinary course of business purchases and sells
properties from time to time.

Outlook

Under Michael Murray's direction and leadership, we are
[EERAR -, I AR o ST T VORI PR | 1 g Y P S
year ahead.

Relationships with our key brand partners are better
than they have ever been, and we will continue to invest
in supporting and growing these relationships.

The business cannct overlook the many significant
economic factors which are headwinds on the business,
including challenges with supply chain, increased energy
costs and cost of living — these factors could have an
impact on business potential.

However, we look forward to growing the business both
organically and through acquisitions, to ensure we
remain a market leader globally. We believe the growth
factors will mitigate these headwinds and we will be
locking to grow our Adjusted PBT to between £450m
and £500m in FY23.

Dividend and Share Buybacks

The Board has decided not to pay a final dividend in
relation to FY22 (FY21 £nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility and facilitate
future investments and other growth opportunities. The
payment of dividends remains under review.

Our share buyback programme during the year has
continued which is a demonstration of our commitment
to shareholder returns, our confidence in the Company
and the strategy for future growth. '

David Daly
Non-Executive Chair of the Board

20 September 2022

1
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OUR BUSINESS

Business Model

Founded as a single Store in Maidenhead in 1982,
Frasers Group Plc today operates a diversified portfolio
of sports, fitness, premium lifestyle and luxury store
fascias. The Group's colleagues work together with our
suppliers and our third-party brand partners to serve
customers in over 20 countries. The Group aspires to

be an international leader in sports, lifestyle and luxury
retail. The Board is committed to treating all people with
dignity and respect. We value our people, our customers
and our shareholders and we strive to adopt good
practices in our corporate dealings. We aim to deliver
shareholder value over the medium to long term, whilst
acdeerinn neconntina rrincirles that ars consanmthee
consistent and simple. Qur strategy is set out in the Uur
Strategy — To build the World's most compelling brand
ecdsystem’ section of this report.

Qur business maodel remains consistent in providing
customers with the World's best brands. This requires

us to have the right product, in the right place, at the
right time and at the right price. Qur vision is to become
the elevated, multi-channel platform for our Sports
Retail and Premium Lifestyle fascias, To this end, we are
elevating across ali channels to enhance the customer
journey every step of the way.

The Group's business model is explained in greater
detail below. This includes an outline of our fascias and
retail channels, management of our property portfolio,
our people, our third-party brand partners, our Group
brands and our centralised support functions.

Business Structure

The Group is structured across five business segments:
UK Sports Retail, Premium Lifestyle, European Retail,
Rest of World Retail and Wholesale & Licensing.

In UK Sports Retail, we offer a complete range of
sporting apparel, footwear and equipment through our
predominant fascia, Sports Direct. This segment also
includes our iifestyle fasciao USC. Our current forward-
looking view is that the majority of our offering to
customers must include leading third-party brands.

The elevation of our sports retail proposition is key to
ensuring we are fully aligned with the future direction
and ambitions of these brand partners. UK Sports
Retail includes core sports retail store operations in the
UK, plus all the Group's sports retail online business
{excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern Mountain Sports and
Sports Direct Malaysia), the gyms, SRL, the Group's
Shirebrook campus operations, retail store operations in
Northern Ireland, Evans Cycles and the GAME UK stores
and online business.

peremee s 100%: Recycted and Carbon Captured srtagh tha Woeordians Trust b

In Premium Lifestyle, we are developing the Group's
premium and luxury offering, which consists of the
FLANNELS, Frasers, House of Fraser, Jack Wills and
Sofa.com fascias, along with Cruise and van mildert. We
aim to offer fashion-conscious consumers a luxurious,
multi-brand retail destination with high-end and
on-trend products.

In European Retail, we are evolving our customer
propasition in line with the Elevation strategy, while also
seeking to increasingly tailor our proposition to the local
markets in which we operate. These include the Republic
of Ireland and continental Europe.

In Rest of World Retail, we operate stores trading as
RAlte Chavae ~ond Cackarn M inbain Semarke mond vagm

also have stores trading as Sports Direct in Mataysia.
Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of, further detail
can be found in note 16,

In Wholesale & Licensing, the Group retains a portfolio
of World-famous heritage brands, which we offer via
our fascias, and also wholesale and license to partners
internationally. Our own brands include Everlast,
Lonsdale, Karrimor and Slazenger. The Group is also
proud to have a number of sporting and entertainment
personalities as ambassadors, as well as supporting
sporting events.

Multi-Channel Elevation strategy

QOur Elevation strategy continues to work towards
improving our offering to customers across all our
channels, including marketing, social media, product,
digital and in-store. This aims to enable the Company,
along with our third-party brand partners, to connect
with custormers via a consistent voice across multiple
platforms, including online, mobile and on the high
street. This strategy enables our stores and our online
operations to complement each other.

The websites for each of our core fascias in the UK,
including SPORTSDIRECT.com, USC.co.uk, FLANNELS.
com, Houseoffraserco.uk and GAME.co.uk, have
undergone significant enhancements to facilitate
optimum appeal to consumers. Our product offering
across these core fascias, both in-store and online,
aims to create a compelling shopping experience in
key categories that include, amongst others, football,
women's, kids, running, cycling, lifestyle, fashion, luxury
and gaming,

g by areais new British waodiand a0moss the UK
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We offer product across a range of price points,
including good, better and best. This enables us to

offer more premium products, which is net-new to

the business. This gives consumers a greater range

of choices for those who wish to shop for premium
products, whilst still retaining our original entry-level and
continuity product offerings.

Progression of the Elevated Store Model

The Group remains firmly committed to the Elevation
strategy across fascias and territories building on the
momentum gained over recent years,

For Sports Direct, the beginning of the financial period
welcomed the opening of the Oxford Street, London
flagship store following a significant refurbishment.
This store showcases the elevated flagship concept in
one of Europe's most iconic retailing destinations. A
further flagship Sports Dlrect store was opened after

[ IR of UV JUn) (U R SR U | JORURONG-PURIPIDE FRUENUEPEG I & S U SN
and additional markets are being explored to deliver
equivalent flagship stores.

To complement the elevated Sports Direct concept,
store-in-store models continue to be refined for our
Evans Cycles and GAME fascid's providing a more
diverse offer in-store,

A significant milestone over the period was the first
FLANNELS flagship store opening in Sheffield, with
this large format incorporating new categories such as
beauty and food & beverage. After the period end, the
FLANNELS flagship concept recched new heights with
the opening of the largest FLANNELS store to date

in Liverpool, covering 120,000 sq ft over seven floors.
The new store introduces new experiences such as the
boutique fithess brand Barry's Bootcamp.

Post period end a new Jack Wills concept store was
launched in Derby. To complement this new concept a
store-in-store model has also been developed, having
been launched in selected USC locations.

Finally, a new Everlast Gym concept was delivered in
Denton, Manchester. This elevated concept sets the
new standard for the division, with more sites to follow.

Our Peoplé

The Group's policy is to treat all our people with dignity
and respect. Frasers Group colleagues work together
across all areas of the business and we are proud that
Frasers Group Plc is one of the first public companies

in the UK to make an elected Workers' Representative

a Board member. We welcome all new colleagues into
the Group following the acquisitions in the year and post
period end and those who joined us through the Frasers
Group Elevation Programme as well as all other

new recruits.
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Remuneration and Rewards

Qur policy is to foster a reward-based culture that
enables our colleagues to share in the success of the
Group. It is Company policy to pay above the statutory
National Minimum Wage, including rates that are
above the statutory National Living Wage for those
over 23 years of age in the UK. In addition to this, in the
current period the Group paid awards and incentives of
approximately £15,0m, from which both permanent and
casual colleagues benefitted.

Our Fearless 1000 share scheme will result in 1,000 of our
Fearless colleagues, who live and breathe our values -
thinking without limits and take the team with you, don't
hesitate and act with purpose and own it and back
yourself - being eligible to receive share bonuses ranging
from £50k right up to £1m, if the share price is at £10 at
the vesting dates. See note 25 for further details.

Ay ] v - . .

PRI

The Frasers Group Workers' Representative is Cally
Price, a Manager at our Cardiff Bay store. The Workers'
Representative has a unique insight into the Group

and will speak on behalf of the Group's workforce at all
scheduled meetings of the Board, in order to facilitate a
healthy and constructive didlogue.

Colleague Engagement

In addition to the Workers Representative, the Company
has an ongeoing dialogue with colleagues via an
initiative called Your Company, Your Voice.” This is a
system whereby colleagues are able to raise any issues
of their choosing via a number of different routes, both
physical and digitol. This feedback is passed to senior
management and the Workers' Representative for
review and appropriate action.

Our Global Third-Party Brand Partners

We work with our leading third-party global brand
partners and provide significant prominence for them
with our customers across all our platforms.

Qur third-party and Group brands are managed by
central brand and marketing teams. This centralised
structure significantly benefits the Group by enabling
the individua! brands to participate in Group buying
and sourcing; aggregated supplier relationships and
enhanced supply chain disciplines; Group inventory
monitoring and replenishment; and more inspired and
harmenious visual merchandising in-store.

13
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OUR STRATEGY

Frasers Group believes in the power of brands. We serve
them, nurture them, and invent them. Today mare than
ever, the World iooks to Brands for ideas, inspiration
and meaningful change, crexating value for people and
elevating the everyday.

Our strategy is aligned to this purpose and is based on
three interconnected focus pillars — the brands we sell,
our digital offering and our physical stores. These are
supported by a set of enablers, focused on our people,
systems, automation and data. By continuing to elevate
our performance across all areas of our strategy, we will
achieve our vision: to build the World's most compelling
brand ecosystem.

TO

BUILD

THE
WORLD'S
MOST
COMPELLING
BRAND),
ECOSWVSINEIM
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Strategy Key Achievements In FY22 Priorities for FY23
Brands During FY22, cur achievements included: Puring FY23, our priorities are to:
Our customers look to brands to elevale heir +  Fuilher growing our relationships with key +  Continue to nurture and strengthen our brand

everyday. They want to have the chaice of the
World's best brands, whether in sports, lifestyle or
luxury, Accessibility is essential for our success, To
cchieve our vision, we focus on building excellent
relationships with our brand partners, unlocking
the best talent and product.

This powerful brand offering is supported by our
complementary range of own brands, where we
cim to offer unrivalled choice and value, and
drive growth through meaningful partnerships
cnd brand collaborations. We will continue

to consider strategic acquisitions that bring
attractive brands into the Group.

brand partners, such as Nike, adidas, Gucci,
Balenciaga, Mulberry and Huge Boss, and
establishing new, Innavelive brand partners
such as Hermes Beauty, On Running

and Jacquemus.

Supporting our key strategic brand partner,
Hugo Bass AG, with an increased Strategic
fnvestment, reflecting our growing relationship,
our canfidence in its future and the potential
for synergies between our businesses.

partner relationships and further improve our
access to their best product and talent.

Invest in and grow vur uwii-brand pertfolio, to
ensure they remain relevant to consumers and
pioneer the market.

Invest in the best talent for our businesses, so
that our partners continue ta have consistent
and effective communication, to ensure that
they have clear insight into the businesses'
strategic goals,

Digital

We aim to elevate our digital experience to meet .«
the demands of consumers and brands and offer

an outstanding experience.

Through our digital Elevation strategy, we .
are continuing to invest mare than £100m to

etevate our proposition across our channels, This
investment has and will further build on our core
digital foundations, ta support future growth

and agility.

experience, which includes investrnent into
platforms that wilt reinvent engagement, dota,
marketing and customer service.

During FY22, our achievements included:

Significantly improving the digital consumer
experience across all touchpoints within the
Group.

investing and working alongside industry
leaders, ensuring our wek business has
remained relevant with stroeng performance.

Integrated 360 marketing initiatives to
demonstrate o cohesive and better reflecting
krand image for our fascia's.

During FY23, our pricrities are to:

Curilinue ta invest in our online rotail
capabilities, porticularly on the luxury

side of the business, which will focus on
merchandising, brand adjacencies and visual
representation.

Pioneer our approach to digital marketing
through the latest trends and consumer
insights, to ensure we are industry leaders
within this market.

Physical

' The elevation and concept innovation of our .
physical stare portfolio is & fundamental part of
our Group-wide strategy.

Across our three pillars of Sports, Premiurm and

Luxury, we will continue to:

»  Invest in new strategic locations and
acquisitions.

- Elevate and improve our current estate,
particularly for Sports Direct. .

+  Give consumers access to unrivalled luxury
destinations across the UK.

+  Investin retail efficiencies which will improve
our operating, technology, and stock
capabilities.

During FY22, our achieverments included:

Opening a series of our new-concept flagship
stores, including:

- FLANNELS Sheffield and FLANNELS
Leicester, which also saw the delivery of
our first ever food & beverage concepts
and the launch of
FLANMELS Bedauty.

«  Sports Direct Birmingham New Street

Continuing to cpen new location stores
across UK and Europe, including Brighten,
Southampton, and Hertfordshire.
Significantly investing in our flagship
FLANNELS Liverpool on Parker Street, which
opened to great acclaim in

June 2022

Committing to over 500,000 sq. ft of vacant
retail space in the Irish market with recent
store openings in Derry, Cork,

and Galway.

Acquiring Baucher Retail Park in
Northern Ireland.

During FY23, our priorities are to:

Roll out new elevated stores across

the Group.

Invest in new concepts and retail partner
collaborations across key categories which
will focus on fitness, home, and beauty.

Devejop and improve operational excellence
across our retail portfolio.

Progress the ongoing elevation and
improvement of our existing store portfolio.
Strategise and select key destinations ocross
Europe for expansion.

Enablers

We need to have talented people who will .
enahle us to succeed, supported by training that
empowers them to achieve.

To attroct new talent, we will continue to develop
our employer brand, while further improving
internal communication to drive engagement
with existing colleagues. ’

We will alse: continue to invest in our systerms and
cutamation to enhance efficiency, and in cur data
copabilities, so we can make data-driven decisions.

Pripded on Steinber 1000 ; arh el g pon
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During FY22, our achievernents included:

Doubling down on our investment in people,
launching a new careers website, introducing
new roles and programmes focused on
leaming and development, reinvigorating our
retail pay rates and incentives and recruiting
over 60 néw high-potential people inte our
early coreers programmes.

Connecting through regular communication
cnd videos, to crecte transparency with our
Leadership team,

Further investing in automation, now claiming
one of the largest auto stores in the World.

Enhancing data sharing with suppliers
through electronic data interchange (EDI),
improving management of stock and
streamlining supplier payment processes,

redd through the Weookand

During FY23, our priorities are to;

Build out clear career pathways in our
Commercial function, to enable the growth
we need in this area over the coming years.

Continue to drive @ high-performance cuiture,
with the introduction of more regular updates
ohd support around colleague performance.

+  Significontly expand our Retail development

offering.

Launch @ new internal comms and
engagement platform to better connect
people across our business and share key
updates and successes.

»  Continue onboarding products and suppliers

onto EDI.

- Capture customer data and insights through

wat, Balpi te crsran new Brtish wou

growth in our digital business, digital
marketing and the roll-out of our loyalty
progromme.

sland acroas the UK
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The Board manages the Group's performance by reviewing a number of key performance indicators (KPls).
The KPls are discussed in this Chief Executive’s Report and Business Review, the Financial Review, the Environment

section and the 'Our People’ section.

The table below summarises the Group's KPls.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2027 26 April 2020
Group revenue £48053m £36253m £3857.4m
Reported PBT £335.6m £8.5m £143.5m
Adjusted PET" £339.8m (£39.9m) £Nsim
Cash flow from operating activities £6289m £578.3m £425.2m
Net assets ’ £1,308.6m £1,211.0m £1,280.3m
Nan-FinAanrcin! KPle
Number of retail stores” 1,552 1,547 1,534
Workforce turnover 33.3% 28.9% 286%
Packaging recycling™ 14,405 tonnes 11164 tennes 12,358 tannes
Wl The mwthodd For coho uluting edjusted PRI s sat out in nate 4 und the Glossary

The Directors have adopted Alternative Performance
Measures (APM's). APMs should be considered in
addition to IFRS measures, The Directors believe

that Adjusted profit before tax (PBT) provide further
useful information for shareholders on the underlying
performance of the Group in addition to the reported
numbers, and are consistent with how business
performance is measured internally. They are not
recognised profit measures under IFRS and may not be
directly comparable with ‘adjusted’ or ‘altemnative’ profit
measures used by other companies.

From FY22 management changed the main reporting
KP! from Underlying EBITDA to Adjusted PBT. Adjusted
PBT is profit before tax less the effects of exceptionai
items, redlised foreign exchange, fair value adjustments
to derivative financial instruments included within
Finance income/costs, fair value gains/losses and profit
on disposal of equity derivatives, and share schemes.
This change has been reviewed by the Audit Committee
which has appropriately challenged management on
the presentation and the adjusting items included in
this APM.

Cachucling ussoates end sleres 0 the Beite states thok teade ander fescins othes
thin SPORTL ARG or SPORTSDIRECTeom, and sther niche fescias, Inzudes GAME
qud Sofarom concasuans

Cardogerd wad plashic reeycling

Management has taken this decision for the following

' reasons:

with the continued significant investment in and roil
out of our Elevation strategy, on both the physical
and digital fronts, the importance of depreciation
and amoertisation to both the Board and our
stakeholders in terms of assessing performance has
grown;

our understanding from a number of financial
sectors including the banking sector is that
accounting for IFRS 16 Leases is becoming an
increasingly important consideration; and

with this new measure being intreduced we are
trying to align with the Financial Reporting Council's
thematic standpoint with regard to ‘alternative
performance measures' as far as possible whilst
retaining a degree of interpretation given factors
outside of our contral, such as FX and fair value
movements in our Strategic Investments which

are exceptionally difficult to forecast, particularly
months in advance.

2ic 1007 . Recycled and Carbon Captured throudh tha Wosd and Trust, helno to or2ate new Botish woodland acmss ihz UK
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Group Revenue

The Board considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of the Group's growth.

Reported Profit Before Tax

Reported PBT shows both the Group's trading and
operationa! efficiency, as well as the effects on the
Group of external factors as shown in the fair value
movements in Strategic investments and FX.

Adjusted Profit Before Tax

Adjusted PBT shows how well the Group is managing
its ongoing trading performance and controllable costs
and therefore the overall performance of the Group.

Cash Inflow from Operating Activities

Cash inflow from operating activities is considered
an important indicator for the Business of the cash

L L R T e A T A L L T N I e

Net Assets

The Board considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of the Group's health.

Number of Retail Stores

The Board considers that this measure is an indicator
of the Group's growth. The Group's Elevation strategy
is replacing older stores and often this can result in the
closure of two or three stores, to be replaced by one
larger new generation store.

Workforce Turnover

The Board considetrs that this measure is a key indicator
of the contentment of our people. for more details refer
to the retention section of the ‘Our People' section of this
report.

Packaging Recycling

The Board considers that this measurement is a key
indicator of our impact and commitment to the best
environmental practices. for more details refer to the
environment section of this report.

17
s Weoodland Trosn heteng By oreate newe British woodland aormss PReR L

Printad on Sreioeis 1007 Recyelerd and Carhon Capiured fhrongi ot



Frinted @

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

=

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT AND
BUSINESS REVIEW

Clear Vision

We are accelerating our strategy to provide consumers
with access to the World's best sports, premium and
luxury brands by providing a World-leading retail
ecosystem. Aligned with this vision, we have defined the
Group's purpose:

To eleuate the lives of the many by giving them access to the
World's best brands and experiences.

To deliver on this mission and purpose, and to maintain
the momentum created by the Elevation strategy, we
B | B R T LT B A e R N = T T T N
such as Nike, Hugo Boss and Stone Island, to align
plans. Our brand partnerships are deeper and stronger
than they have ever been in the Group's history. These
relationships will allow us to continue improving our
product offering and customer experience, by creating
the best platforms to enable our brands to succeed.
We are also redeveloping our sustainability strategy to
ensure we set ambitious targets and meet them in

the coming years.

Strategic Delivery

Qur focus has been on executing our Elevation

strategy, with investments across aur store portfolio,
brand partnerships and further innovations across our
operations. The strategic investments we made during
the year offer exciting new opportunities for Frasers
Group, whilst also supporting the long-term future of the
existing retail businesses, saving the jobs and
fivelihoods of many.

Our recent acquisition of Studio Retail Limited provides
expertise and synergies which will enable us to deliver
flexible payment models in the future. Our post period
end acquisitions of the digital-first fashion brands
Missguided and | Saw It First allows us to unlock the
latest trends in women's fashion and e-commerce.

To strengthen our European expansion strategy,
subseqguent to the petiod end we acquired the leading
Danish sport retailer SportMaster.

We will also continue to divest non-core assets that fall
outside our vison and key focus segments, such as our
post peried end disposal of Bol's Stores and Eastern
Mountain Sports in America. Further details can be
found within note 16.

nfsicinwas 1007 Recycled and ©
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Increased PBT Guidance

We are alive to the challenging economic conditions at
present, with inflationary pressures and supply chain
disruption causing challenges for many businesses
operating in the retail sector. As well as the significant
increase in general running costs, we are fighting
against a fundamentally flawed business rates system
which is yet to be addressed. Linked to these are the
cost-of-living pressures facing many of our consumers.

As a result, we have been conservative in our forecasting
for the next financial vear. However, with our proven
Suluigy U sTony vpsiuiiu v ROsRiunE, e wis
confident of achieving a héalthy growth to between
£450m and £500m of Adjusted PBT.

Store Openings

Our Elevation strategy keeps exceeding our
expectations. Its strength is demonstrated by our recent
store openings of FLANNELS Liverpool and Sports
Direct Birmingham.

FLANNELS Liverpool is one of the largest luxury retail
investments in the UK to date. This revolutionary

seven floor, 120,000 sq. ft store in a historic building
brings a ground-breaking fashion, beauty, wellness
and restaurant experience to the North of England. It
boasts a leading collection of experiences including
boutique fitness phenomenon Barry's Bootcamp, the
first ever of its kind in a retail environment. Cur regional
flagships do not only benefit the physical environment,
but also allow us 1o bring in new categories and brands
that our consurers can access online through our -
omnichannel platforms.

Sports Direct Birmingham follows our Oxford Street,
London, opening last summer. Both stores demonstrate
the pinnacle of our journey and showcase the strength
of our Elevation strategy. The consumer experience
has been enhanced at every stage including digital
touchpoints, activations and integrations of other
group brands such as Evans, USC and GAME, giving
access to a wider variety of products and experiences.

mough the Woodiand Trust heipng 1o creats naw Botinh woosrhang agioss e UK
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Big Believers in Physical Retail

We have consistently criticised the archaic business rates
regime and the heed for reform. Unfortunately, these
issues remain unaddressed and are now coupled with
soaring construction and store fit out costs, making

for an extremely challenging environment to open and
operate physical stores. While others have shied away
from committing to physical retail in these difficult times,
we are convinced that consumers will still flock to stores
for great brands and experiences, This belief has allowed
us to build remarkable momentum, bucking market
trends. We will continue to invest in new store openings,
refurbishments and flagship opportunities, to bring

the World's best brands and experiences to untapped
markets. ‘

Digital and Operational Transformation

As part of our growth strategy, we are continually

drive further efficiencies. At our Shirebrook site, home
to our distribution centre, we have invested over £200m
in automation. This makes us the biggest AutoStore in
Europe and vastly improves our digital capabilities.

This has provided us with significant operational
efficiencies and supported the smooth integration of
acquisitions into the Frasers Group platform, enabling
both our own brands and brand partners to benefit from
our World-leading operations and logistics capabilities.
At Shirebrook, we now have approximately 2 million sq.
ft of warehousing, which enables us to processup to 4
million units per week. This still leaves us with capacity
for further growth.

We have continued to iterate and improve across the
entirety of our Frasers Group platform. Most notably

we have trialled o new headless e-commerce platform
on our Malaysian site, with a view to roll-out across

the Group. This will be a transformative step for the
Group, allowing us to be more agile when entering new
territories or deploying changes to our technology stack.

Global Growth

We also have extensive ambitions to grow the business
outside of the UK and will be exploring the potential

for further international expansion through acquisitions,
joint ventures and organic openings, We have already
begun to expand our operational capabilities in Europe,
with a new development site in Bitburg, Germany set to
open in the coming years. This will have up to 2.4million
sq. ft of warehouse and distribution space, handling
approximately 300 million units annually. This wilt
support our growth across continental Europe.

fedd vt Carhon Caprured
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Talent and Partners

To support the Group in executing our ambitious strategy,
| am proud to have built an excellent senior team made
up of outstanding talent. They are the driving force
behind the Group's ambitious culture, bringing together
dynamic, talented and motivated teams to drive
growth across the business. | have made it a priority

to strengthen Frasers Group's management team by
creating several new roles. Alongside the management
tearn, we will jook to support the business by adding
relevant talent and expertise to the Board

when appropriate.

Finally, thank you to our pecple and partners for your
continued support. | am proud of the steps we have
taken this year in transforming the trajectory of Frasers
Group and look forward to another exciting year of
innovation, impact and growth.

Michael Murray
Chief Executive Officer
20 September 2022
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Performance Qverview

Group revenue incregsed by 32.5% to £4,805.3m in

the year. UK Sports Retail revenue increased by 34.1%
to £2,640.1m, Prermium Lifestyle revenue increased by
43.6% to £1,056.6m, European Retail revenue increased
by 28.4% to £790.2m, Rest of World Retail revenue
decreased by 1.6% to £150.3m and Wholesale &
Licensing revenue increased by 9.7% to £168.1m.

Group gross margin in the year has improved compared
with the prior year with o small increase of 130 basis
peints from 42.2% to 43.5%. UK Sports Retail margin
increased 100 basis points to 43.1% ([FY21: 42.1%),
largely due to the continually improving product

mix. Premium Lifestyle's gross margin was 44.9%
(FY21:44.9%), consistent with the prior year as product
margins were maintained over the period. European
Retail gross margin increased to 42.7% (FY21: 39.0%),
laraetv due to continually imorovino product mix in

N Core USINess, Rest Of vworid ReLldn gross margii
increased to 51.0% (FY21: 41.9%), largely due to
decreased inventory provisions within the US businesses
as inventory management was significantly improved.

Wholesale & Licensing gross margin decreased to 37.5%

{FY21: 441%), largely due to product mix within the US
wholesale division.

Group Selling, distribution and administrative expenses
increased by 20.5% largely driven by increased store
costs due to the reopening of stores after lockdowns
due to the Covid-19 pandemic, no repeat of the prior
year Government support schemes such os CJRS
(Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme), business rates
relief in the prior year particularly in House of Fraser and
increased investment in marketing.

There were property related impairments in the period
totaling £227.0m (FY21: £317.0m), inciuding £76.8m in
relation to right-of-use assets (FY21: £168.2m;, £106.5m
in relation to freehold land and buildings (FY21: £84.4m),
£2.0m in relation to long-term leasehold (FY21: £3.9m),
£40.7m of other property, plant and equiprment {FY2t
£59.9m) and £1.0m of investment properties (FY21
£0.6m). Property related impairments have been
recognised following a reassessment of future expected
cash flows largely driven by supply chain issues, the
increased cost of living, the change in consumer
behaviour in maving from physical to online shopping,
the impact of direct-to-consumer and increasing costs
as a result of Brexit. Further details including sensitivity
analysis are included within note 2.

Depreciation and amortisation charges have decreased
by 15.4% to £260.0m (FY21: £307.5m) largely due to prior
pericd impairment and a decrease in freehold lond and
buildings depreciation, following the change in useful
economic life estimate in the period. See accounting
policies for further details.
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As @ result, Adjusted PBT for the year was £339.8m (FY21:
loss £39.9m). Excluding acquisitions and on a currency
neutral basis, Adjusted PBT increased to £371.9m from

a loss of £22.1m. UK Sports Retail Adjusted PBT was

£196 9m up from a loss of £12.8m in FY21, while Premium
Lifestyle Adusted PBT was £10.5m, up from a loss of
£7.8m in FY21. Eurepean Retail Adjusted PBT was £88.6m,
up from a loss of £51.3m in FY21. Rest of World Retail
Adjusted PBT was £32.7m, up from £12.2m in FY21 and
Wholesale & Licensing Adjusted PBT decreased to £11.1m
from £19.8m.

Group profit before tax increased to £335.6m (FY21;
£8.5m), driven by the strong reopening of stores after
lockdown, new FLANNELS stores, continued growth

in online in the premium lifestyle segment, continued
operating efficiencies, and the FY21 comparative
including Covid-19 related lockdowns, mitigated to some
extent by property related impairments of £227.0m,

[ T R o o Tl P R P e T e K e

{FY21: loss of 16.5p).

Within other comprehensive income, the Group's
hedging contracts increased by £43.8m (FY21: decreased
by £16.5m) as a result of the fair value movements in the
period. With regard to the Group’s long-term financial
assets, fair value movements have resulted in o loss of
£81m {FY21: gain of £77.3m) in the period.

The Group generated cash inflows from operating
activities during the year of £628.9m, up from £578.3m in
the prior period, largely due to the increase in operating
profit year on year, offset by the increase in inventory.

Total Net assets as at the period end totalled £1,308.6m

compared to £1,211.0m in the prior period, largely due to
the profitobility of the business mitigated by significant

share buybacks.

g 6 create e British woodland across the UK
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REVIEW BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

UK Sports Retail UK Sports Retail Store Portfolio®
The UK Sports Retail segment includes all of the 24 April2022 25 April 2021
Group's sports retail and USC store operations in the England 287 394
UK (including Northern Ireland), all of the Group's online Seotland e 29
businesses (excluding Bob's Stores, Eastern Mountain W
! N ; ales 30 kil
Sports, Baltics and Malaysia), the Group's gyms, Evans FO———— 0 P
Cycles, GAME UK stores and the Group's Shirebrook oot
campus operations. UK Sports Retail is the main driver of Fe o an L !
the Group and accounts for 54.9% (FY21: 54.3%) GAME UK (1) 59 - 247
of Group revenue. Evans Cycles (2] 57 48
usC 18 25
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 L—-—“
{Em) {Erm) Opened 90 93
Cost of Sales {1,503.3) {(1139.2) Acquired - R 42
Gross Profit 11368 8293 Area (sq.ft) approx. 67m approx, 6,5m
Gross Morg]n %o 431 421 {1 The GAME UK store numbers include 125 concessions oparating within

Revenue increased 34.1% to £2,640.1m. Excluding
acquisitions, revenue increased 30.1%, largely due to

the strong reopening of stores after the last lockdown in
March 2021 and the comparative period being impacted
by lockdowns as a result of Covid-19.

UK Sports Retail gross margin increased to 43.1%
(FY21: 42.1%), largely due to the continually improving
product mix.

Adjusted PBT for UK Sports Retail was £196.9m [FY21:
loss of £12.8m), largely due to the strong recpening of
stores after the last lockdown in March 2021 and the
comparative period being impacted by lockdowns as
a result of Covid-19 and a reduction in property related
impairments in the current period (FY22: £103.4m
compared to FY21: £201.9m).

Sporks Direct fazow slares (FY21 79 und does nol include BELONG aranas.

12} Fhe Fvans Cyales store pumbers include 2 conzessions operating withn
tlouse of Froser fuscio srores (FY21: 1)

3 Tohile excluces the Group's standalone gyms

2t
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Premium Lifestyle

Premium Lifestyle Store Portfolio

Prernium Lifestyle consists of FLANNELS, Cruise, van 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
mildert, House of Fraser, Jack Wills and Sofa.com fascia FLANNELS 53 41
stores and corresponding web sales. Jack Wills® 52 &0
52 weeksended 52 weeks ended House of Fraser / Frasers & 39 43
24 Apnil 2022 25 April 2021 Sofa.com® 23 24
{Em) (Em) Cruise 5 5
Gross Transaction Value (GTv)™ 11338 7881 18 Montrose 3
Revenue 1,056.6 7356 van mildert 1
Cost of Sales (581.8) {405.3) Garment Quarter 1 1
Gross Profit 4748 3303 Psyche 1 1
Gross Margin % 449 44.9 Total 179 179
Adiusted PBT 10, 78 . |
! 5 (78) Opened 21 2
(1 GTV bieing gross sales net of VAT discounts and returns, and gross sales whers the Closed (21 {(17)
Graup oots as agent
o T vd Acquired - 5
; e : .em. Thi: ue
Revenue grew 43.6% to £1,056 .6m his was !qrge y Area (sqft) approx, 40m _ approx 42m
to new FLANNELS stores, continued growth in online,
Mo s wasS o) Fidsey QNG chis i ST vl otz et e f o e
relqted IOdeOWnS on the prior perIOd COmpGI’QtiVe. 2 dack Wlls and Frasers stofes in Pepublic of reland sre shown in the Eurepeon
stare numbers G opposnd to the Fromium Lifsstyls store numibers

Gross margin was 44.9%, consistent with the prior year
as product margins were maintained over the period.

It should be noted that despite year-on-year trading
improvements in the House of Fraser business, business
rates in their current form continue to be a significant
and disproportionate cost to House of Fraser.

Adjusted PBT for Premium Lifestyle increased from o
loss of £7.8m in FY21 to a profit of £10.5m for the period,
largely due to new FLANNELS stores, continued growth
in online, the strong reopening of stores after the last
lockdown in March 2021, offset by more significant

property related impairments in the current period (FY22:

£103.5m compared to FY21: £409m),

Piinted anksteieeis 1007 Recyoiad and Carbon Captured through the Woosland Trust helping 1o create naw Britis
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European Retail

The European Retail division includes the Group's sports
retail store management and operations in Europe,
including the Group's European distribution centres in
Belgium and Austria, stores and corresponding web
business in the Baltic regions and GAME Spain stores
and corresponding web business,

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em)

Revenue 7902 A 615.2
Coast of Sales (45239) [375.5)
Gross Profit 3373 2397
Gross Margin % 427 39.0
Adjusted PBT 886 (51.3)

Revenue increased 28.4% to £790.2m. On a currency
neutral basis and excludina acauisitions. European Retail
revenue INcreased by 33.4 7, IArgeiy aue [o lemporary
store closures as a result of Covid-19 in the prior period
comparative.

Gross margin increased to 42.7%, largely due to
continually improving product mix in the core business.

Adjusted PBT for European Retail improved from ¢ loss of
£51.3m in FY21 to a profit of £88.6m for the period, largely
due to the strong reopening of stores after lockdown, the
comparative period being impacted by lockdowns as a
result of Covid-19, especidlly in Ireland and significant
property related impairments in the prior period of
£71.6m compared to £17.9m in the current period.

All of the following stores are operated by companies
wholly owned by the Group, except Estonia and Latvia
where the Group owns 60.0% and Lithuania where the
Group owns 51%.

e Woorland Traet, Lisiping to areate ne
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European Retail Store Portfolio ™

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
GAME Spain 235 236
Republic of Ireland™ 43 39
Belgium - 34 34
Portugal 21 20
Estonia? 20 2
Austria 19 20
Lithuania® 19 18
Latvia? 18 17
Poland 13 M
Slavenia 13 13
Czech Republic 12 12
Spain ’ 10 9
Hungary 8 8
Cyprus & 6
Holland 5 5
EI Ve = 2
France 4 4
Luxembourg 2 2
Germany ) 1 2
Iceland 1 1
Total 489 486
Opened 12 13
Closed (9 (38}
Acquired - -
Area isq.ft) approx. 3.7m approx. 3.6m

] Lxcduding Heatons fascio stores

12} Includes onby stores with SPORTSDIRE Clcom and SPORTL And fascias.
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Rest of World Retail

Rest of World Retail includes sports stores in Malaysia
trading under the Sports Direct fascia, retail stores in the
US trading under Bob's Stores and Eastern Mountain
Sports and their online businesses. In Malaysia the stores
are 51.0% owned by the Group.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {Em)

Revenue 1503 152.7
Cost of Sales L 738) 88.7)
Gross Profit 767 64.0
Gross Margin % 51.0 4.9
Adijusted PRT 327 122
n GTV baing grass soles rat of VAT discaunts cnd returas, and grose safes where the

Greamp acts us ajznt

Revenue decreased 1.6% to £150.3m, mostly due to the
R e L I e T e N 2 = LU LR L R RS NI PR POTTE R R PR LAY
margin increased to 51.0% from 41.9%, largely due to
decreased inventory provisions within the US businesses,
as inventory management was significantly improved.
Adjusted PBT was £32.7m, compared to £122m in FY21,
largely due to overall operating efficiencies in the US
businesses.

Subsequent to the period end the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports fascias and their corresponding
e-commerce offerings were disposed of.

Rest of World Retail Store Portfolio

Wholesale & Licensing

The portfolio of Group brands includes a wide variety of
World-famous sport and lifestyle brands. The Group's
Sports Retail division sells products under these brands
in its stores, and the Wholesale & Licensing division
sefls the brands through its wholesale and licensing
activities. The Wholesale & Licensing division continues
o sponsor a variety of prestigious events and retoins a
variety of globaily recognised celebrities and sporting
professionals as brand ambuassadors.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April2022 25 April 2021

{£m) (Em)

Wholesale 1453 1315
Licensing 228 21.3
Total Revenue 1621 153.3
Cost of Sales 105.0) 185.8)
GrossMargn®% 375 a1
Adjusted PBT i 198

Revenue increased by $.7% to £168.1m. Wholesale
revenues were up 10.5% to £145.3m and Licensing
revenues increased 4.6% to £22.8m, largely due to the
prior period comparative being impacted by Covid-19.

Total gross margin decreased to 37.5% (FYZ1: 44.0%),
largely due to product mix within the US wholesale
division. Adjusted PBT decreased 43.9% to £M1.1m (FY21:
£19.8m), largely due to impairment of goodwill in

the period. ‘

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
Malaysia 34 33
Bob's Stares 2 22
Eastern Mountain Sports 21 Pyl
Total 76 76
L ]
Area {sq.ft.) approx. 1.3m approx. 1.3m
25 10070 Roryoled and Carban Caphured threugh the Woortland Trest babiog 1o crzate nae Brtst wood 2nd across the UK
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PROPERTY REVIEW

The beginning of the financial year welcomed the
opening of the refurbished Sports Direct on Oxford
Street, London, showcasing the elevated store model
in one of Europe's most iconic retailing destinations.

Further Sports Direct flagship locations in the pipeline

include Birmingham, which opened shortly after the

financial period end and Manchester, due to open late
FY23. Opportunities to deliver this flagship concept are
also being considered in various Europecn capital cities.

In addition, a refurbishment mode! has been trialled

and is under development, to elevate appropriate stores

which are currently trading.

FLANNELS experienced significant new store activity

over the periad with 15 new openings. The most notable
in Sheffield incorporqt}lng beauty and food & bdeverage
elements across 55k sq ft. The outcome is o World-class
luxury offering receiving industry recognition. A second

" FLANNELS Flagship store was also opened in Fosse Park,
Leicester, in the period. Further flagship sites have been

secured in Liverpool which is now trading, along with
Cardiff and Leeds which are both due to open during

FY24. FLANNELS will also be expanding its store network
into Ireland over the coming financial period. These will

be the first store openings outside of the UK. for the

brand having secured sites in Dublin, Blanchardstown

and Cork.

The Group continues to identify large sites, which

working with collaborative landlords can be configured
to provide o multi fascia offering. Over the period sites

have been secured at Derby, Cork and Newbridge in

Ireland, to develop into Frasers and Sports Direct stores,

The main objective for the Group's estate remains the

move to turnover-based rents. There has been significant

investrnent into new store concepts actoss all the

Group's brands, including more recently the new Everlast
Gym concept as well as enhancements to existing brand

concepts such as the Sports Direct and FLANNELS
Flagship concepts. Where landlords are prepared to

co-invest in new stores the Group is prepared to enter

into long leases.

* The Group remains acquisitive across fascias and
territories, with an exciting pipeline of new stores due to
open in the coming financial year; the number of new
store openings is expected to be comparable to FY22.

However, caution is being applied over shop fit costs,

which are being monitored closely and could influence
the store opening pipeline. In the usual manner, freehold
investment activity will continue to be used as an option

to secure space for the Group.

The business rates regime continues to be a challenging
landscape to navigate, particularly on large stores
and former department stores. With further clarity
required on the new regime effective April 2023 and the
uncertainty around transitional relief arrengements, the
Group is taking a cautious view on future rates liabilities.

Store Portfolio — UK Retail
Sports Stores in the UK (including Northern Ireland}:

. Sports Direct is currently operating 387 stores in
England, 37 in Scotland, 30 in Wales and 19 in
Northern Ireland. There were 18 openings and 30
closures over the period. The majority of closures
were linked to new larger store openings and

BT L T L B L R B P T e R

estate in FY21. p

. Noteworthy openings include the Oxford Street
flagship {55k sq ft), Leicester Fosse Park (35k sq ft)
and Cheshunt (25k sq ft), o new market opening
following the successful asset management plan of
the retail park that the Group acquired in FY20.

. Store-in-store GAME/BELONG and Evans Cycles
concepts have been developed to complement
Sports Direct formats in selected locations. All new
store openings include a USC zone providing a
lifestyle offering, as part of the elevated store mode!
across all size formats.

Store Portfolio — Evans Cycles:

- There are currently 57 Evans Cycle stores trading, an
increase of nine stores over the period as a result
of ten openings and one closure. The Evans Cycles
store-in-store concept continues to be refined and
will be rolled out into selected future store openings.

Store Portfolio - GAME UK:

- The relocation program transitioning GAME stores
into selected Sports Direct stores continued over
the period and will continue throughout FY23. With
GAME now forming part of a significant number of
new Sports Direct store openings, the overall number
of GAME stores for the UK estate increased to 259,
having closed 50 and cpened 62.

. The BELONG gaming arenas form part of GAME
stores in selected viable locations and have been
introduced to a number of elevated Sports Direct
stores. Note the GAME store numbers do not
include BELONG.
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Store Portfolio - Premium Lifestyle
FLANNELS, Cruise and van mildert:

- Across the FLANNELS, Cruise and van mildert
fascias there was significant store activity with
16 openings and four closures resulting in a net
increase of 12 stores. Combining these fascias,
the total estate at the end of the financial period
amounted to 59 stores.

. Key openings for FLANNELS include the
Meadowhall flagship being the first FLANNELS store
o incorporate a beauty offering and F&B along
with the Leicester Fosse Park Flagship opening
shortly after. FLANNELS was also introduced on the
South Coast of England for the first time opening at
Southampton, Brighton and Portsmouth.

- After the financial period, the largest FLANNELS
flaashio store to date was opened in Liverpool
LUVELRY seve luors uved el Loy YL and
introducing new experiences such as the boutique
fitness brand Barry's Bootcamp.

A refit programme refreshing older stores to the
new standard continued over the period and
will continue throughout the upcoming financial
period. There will be a focus on securing further
new stores in key incremental markets as well as
flagship locations.

. Finally, FLANNELS is due to launch in the Republic
of Ireland over FY23 having secured three new store
locations over the period. The secured locations are
in Dublin, Blanchardstown and Cork.

House of Fraser {(HoF):

. At the end of FY22 there were 39 House of Frasers
stores trading, a net decrease of four stores after five
closures and one opening.

. Having ecome back into effect following relief over
the pandemic, the current business rates regime
remains a significant burden on the Hof estate
particularly given the large store sizes. Clarity
around the new regime effective April 2023 is
eagerly awaited and will be an influential factor on
the Hof estate.

- Whilst a significant proportion of the Hof estate
" remains on short term flexible leases, progress has
been made on securing long term solutions. New
Frasers stores due to open over FY23 include Derby
along with Cork and Newbridge in lreland.

Priind giksieiwes 1007 Racysiad and Carbon Captorsd rough e Yoorkan:
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Jack Wills:

- Over FY22 there were eight store closures reducing
the estate 1o 52 stores. Negotiations with landlords
continue to transition to long term leases.

- A new store concept for Jack Wills was delivered
shortly after the FY22 period end in Derby and
additional locations to deliver the new concept are
being pursued. Further to this o new shop-in-shop
concept has been developed ond implemented in a
number of USC locations.

Store Portfolio - European Retaik
Republic of Ireland {RO1):

AL the end of the financial period there were 43
stores within the Republic of Ireland (ROI), @ net
increase of four stores. Key new openings included
Sports Direct stares in Galway, Newbridge and Cark

incremental markets.

. Further incremental markets and upsizes across the
ROI are actively being pursued for Sports Direct.
Along with the new store pipeline, a refit programme
is underway elevating appropriate Sports Direct
stores to the latest concept.

During the finoncial period three FLANNELS
locations were secured in ROl and due to open over
FY23. This is o first for the fascia and the territory.
The secured locations were Dublin, Blanchardstown
and Cork.

1 Tiust, telpng 1o create naw Brlish e oascnng aorong e U
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Store Portfolio Europe (excluding RO!):

The Group continues to operate sports stores in 19
countries in Europe.

211 Sports retail stores in Europe {excluding RO, plus
26 non-core, speciality and outlet stores).

Total sq.ft. of approx. 2.7m of all sports fascias
in Europe {including Sportland, Lillywhites,
SportsWorld etc).

Closed 1 GAME store in Spain during the period.
Seven openings in six ditterent countries,.

Eight closures in five different countries either due
to poor performance, beneficial trade transfer or
landlords required the units back.

During the period four elevated Sports Direct stores
incorporating a USC were opened totalling 47,012
sa ft of retail soace. One of these was o freehold
purcnasea in 12U that nas peen refurpisned and
opened as an elevated Sports Diract store alongside
a right-sized Toys R Us store.

As is the case in the UK, the Group is firmly
committed to the rollout of elevated stores across
Europe. Due to the accelerated shift to online
experienced across Europe due to the effects of
Covid-19 and a number of retailers reducing their
portfolio size, the Group believes it can capitalise
on these market conditions to efficiently expand
our physical estate, focussing on capital city and
flagship opportunities,

We further expanded our gecgraphical coverage
with the purchase of Denmark’s number one
Sporting Goods chain, Sportmaster, shortly after
the financial pericd. This increased our sports store
numbers by a further 75.

Store Portfolio — Rest of the World:

34 stores in Malaysia following 4 openings and 3
closures over FY22. Our flagship store at Sunway
Carnival totolling 18,284 sq ft and incorporating a

USC lifestyle area on the ground floor, opened in the

period alongside our Frasers Group Asia HQ at the
Sunway Pyramid retail and leisure complex.

The Malaysian elevation and expansion drive
continues with all long term stores now elevated
into the latest Sports Direct fit outs. Five of these
stores now have USC areas within and we will
look to roll-out this concept across the estate
where appropriate.

42 stores in the USA, following one closure in FY22.
The Group subsequently sold the Bob's Stores and
Eastern Mountain Sports business shortly ofter the
financial period end.

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Freehold / Long Leasehold Property:

. Over FY22 a total of 14 properties were acquired
across the Group, totalling £121.3m. The most
significant purchase was Boucher Road Retail
Park in Northern Ireland for £40.0m. One site was
acquired within the EU consisting of development
land for a legistics scheme,

. Disposal of property assets continues to be standard
practice for the Group. Over the period eight
disposals completed in the Group totalling £36.8m.
There were no disposals across the EU or Row,

- Forthe upcoming financial period it is anticipated
that Freehold acquisition activity will be broadly in
line with previous financial years.

Michael Murray

—_ - —_

20 September 2022

27
IS RERNIE s LB




FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Finoncial Statements for the Group for the 52 weeks Hedging Currency
. - . . Currency " Timing Rates
ended 24 April 2022 are presented in accordance with against value
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). uso
UsD/ GBP inventory  USD 480m FY23 141
Summary of Results purchases
us
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended USD/EUR inventory USD120m  FY23-Fy24 126 - 1.31
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 purchases
(Em) {Em) EUR/ GBP Eurosales EUR600m  FY23,FY25  099-108
Revenue 4,3053 36253

The Group also uses currency options, swaps and spots

Reported profit before tax 335.6 85 . .

Adjusted PET" 3398 99) for more Hexibility agdinst cash flows that are less than
Earrings per share (EPS) P n : b n - highly probable and therefore do not qualify for hedge

2 (= . " . .
e EeTEre SrCe perTore renceparsnar® accounting under IFRS 2 Financial Instruments. The fair
le] [+ -, . .

epartec hosi 528 (1651 value mavements before maturity are recognised in the

Adiusted basic EPS? 530 973 Fm e [ SR,

) Adgusted PET 1m peofie t in less the sfhect s of ¢ fmw::iilr:Ir’::::i":’;::::‘hl:eﬁ The Group hqs the fQ"OWI-ng currency options Gnd

foraign exchangs, fair value cdiustments to deriveti

meluded within Finonce ncome / costs, for volue gains/iesses and peofit on unhedged fOrWCITdS:
chisposc] of equity dervatives, and share schomes Further chstail on this
coieulation con be found in the Glossary .

. Currency Expected Currency Timing Rates

i2) Acipasted basic BBS iy repaorted basic £PS Jass the effects of exceptioned ftems, use value
realised foreign eschar i lue adpistinants to darivative finar U
instruments inclrded within Fi comecests, fair vahme guns/lusses and SD
profit on disposat of equity deriyatives. ond share schemes, Furthor deteil on thes UsSD/EUR inventory UsD 120m FY23, FY25 126 -131
caleuiation ¢on bie found innate 15 ! purchases
EUR/ GBP Eurosales ~ EUR740m  FY23,FY26  099-108

Foreign Exchange and Treasury
The Group is proactive in managing its currency

The Group reports its results in GBP but trades requirements, The Treasury team works closely with
internationally and is therefore exposed to currency senior management to understand the Groug's
fluctugtions on currency C.C’Sh flows in various ways. plans and forecasts, and discusses and understands
These' include [_Jurchcsm.g Inven'co!'y from overseas appropriate financial products with various financial
suppliers, making sales in currencies other than GBP and institutions, including those within the Group Revolving
hc?l'dlng overseas assets in other currencies. The Board Credit Facility (RCF). This information is then used to
mltlthE.S the ?qsh flow risks associated with thesg implement suitable currency products to align with the
fluctuations with the careful use of currency hedging Group's strategy.

using forward contracts and other derivative

financial instruments. Regular reviews of the hedging performance are

performed by the Treasury team alongside senior

The Group uses forward contracts that qualify for hedge management to ensure the continued appropriateness
accounting in two main ways — to hedge highly probable of the currency hedging in place and, where suitable,
fc—-UR sales income and USP Inventory purchq'ses. Th'? to implement additional strategies and / or restructure
introduces allevel of certainty into the Group's Plannlng existing approaches, in conjunction with our financial
and forecasting process. Management has reviewed institution partners.

detailed forecasts and the growth assumptions within
them and is satisfied that the forecasts meet the criteria
for being highly probable forecast transactions.

As at 24 April 2022 and as detailed in note 30c, the
Group had the following forward contracts that Taxation
qualified for hedge accounting under iFRS $ Financial

Given the potential impact of commeodity prices on raw
material costs, the Group may hedge certain input costs,
including cotton, crude oil and electricity.

The effective tax rate on profit before tax in FY22 was

Instruments, meaning that fluctuations in the value of o . a - ;
the contracts before maturity are recognised in the 23.5% (FY21: 1,017.6%). The prior year was impacted by

Hedging Reserve through Other Comprehensive Income.
After maturity, the sales and purchases are then valued
at the hedge rate.

mere significant property impairments and disallowable
depreciation compared to FY22,

sEov ool aorss the UK
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Earnings

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is calculated by dividing
the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial period. Shares held in
Treasury and the Employee Benefit Trust are excluded
from this figure.

52 weeksended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Pence Per Share Pence Per Share

Reported EFS (Basic) 529 1e.5)

Adjusted EPS (Basic)" 539 {27.3}

Weighted average number of 471,975,282 501,955,281

shares {actucl)

O Adjusted earnings per share measures provide additienat useful informatien for
shorelholders on the underlying perdormance of the busiress and are consistent

sos perfarmancs s measdred tamnnlly, Adpsted enrmmeas is not o
wved prohit mzosure under IFRS and may net be directlh comparchile wilh

ed praft mensures used by other compemes Turthas detals can be found in

Dividends

The Board has decided not to pay a final dividend in
relation to £Y22 (FY21 £nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility and facilitate
future investments and other growth opportunities. The
payment of dividends remains under review.

Capital Expenditure

During the peried, gross capital expenditure {excluding
IFRS 16) amounted to £323.2m (FY21: £219.4m}, which
included £121.3m on freehold and investment properties
(FY21: £84.3m) and £36.8m on warehouse automation
(FY21: £48.5m).

Strategic Investments

The Group continues to hold various strategic
investments as detailed in note 21. In addition, the Group
also holds indirect strategic investments within contracts
for difference and options.

The fair values of the contracts for difference and options
are recognised in Derivative Financial Assets or Liabifities
on the Group Balance Sheet, with the movement in fair
value recorded in the Income Statement.

Acquisitions

On 25 February 2022, the Group acquired the entire
share capita! of Studio Retail Limited and certain other
assets of Studio Retail Group Plc {in administration).
The consideration for the transaction comprised cash
and the release of SRG from its liabilities to the lending
banks under its revolving credit facilities resulting in

a cash payment by Frasers Group to the lenders of
£28.3m. As Frasers Group seeks to elevate its customer
journey including a flexible repayment proposition,

the acquisition of SRL will provide Frasers Group with

expertise and synergies that will accelerate this ambition.

thony Sheinbee 1070 Hacvolod and Carbon Captiead throagh e Woodiaod Trosh Delpevy e oreate ny
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Related Parties

MM Prop Consultancy Limited, o company owned and
controlled by Michael Murray, who is a member of key
management personnel as per IAS 24, continued to
provide property consultancy services to the Group
during FY22. During FY22, MM Prop Consultancy Limited
was primarily tasked with finding and negotiating the
acquisition of new sites in the UK, Europe and Rest of
the World, for both our larger-format stores and our
combined retail and gym units but it also provides
advice to the Company’s in-house property team in
relation to existing sites in the UK, Europe und Rest

of the World.

In the year, all properties have been assessed

that are considered to have created value across

dll the outstanding freehold and long leasehold
properties over the applicable period from the MM
Property Consultancy agreement commencement

W e SSPICHIR LUsi, LSy tiave Ul vdilieud Wy vl
independent valuer who confirms the value created by
MM Prop Consultancy Limited. The Group's independent
Non-Executive Directors then review and agree the value
created and have full discretion to approve a payment
to MM Prop Consultancy Limited of up to 25% of

the volue created.

On 1 May 2022 Michael Murray was appointed as

CEQ. Pricr to his appointment MM Prop Consultancy
Limited and Frasers Group finalised the terms on which
any relevant prior consultancy services agreements

are terminated. The Board has now completed its
assessment of the unsettled value created by MM Prop
Consultancy Limited to the Group, with the assistance of
independent third-party experts.

MM Prop Consultancy Limited is entitled to up to 25%
of any value created by services provided to the Group.
MM Prop Consultancy Limited has agreed to waive
contractually due amounts, including part crediting
previous payments under this agreement, such that

the Group receives a 40% discount as part of the
finalisation and cessation of the consultancy agreement.
The final payment to be made by the Group to MM
Prop Consultancy Limited following the application of
this discount is £20.9m which was paid in the year (FY21;
£2.5m was accrued and subsequently paid in FY22).

29
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During FY21 the Group entered into an agreement
with M.P.M Elevation Limited, a company owned and
controlled by Michael Murray, in relation to Elevation
strategy services. M.P.M Elevation Limited was paid
E£0.m in relation to the provision of the Elevation
strategy services (FY21: £0.1m).

Other related parties are disclosed in note 35.

Cash Flow and Net Debt

Net debt increased by £242 2m, from £248,9m at 25 April
2021 to £491.1m at 24 April 2022 (including the £232.0m
borrowings acquired due to the acquisition of Studio
Retail). Interest on bank loans and overdrafts increased
to £13.6m (FY2t: £111m] largely due to increased usage of
the RCF in the period.

Analysis of Net Debt:
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(R fLiry
Cash and cash equivalents 3368 457.0
Barrowings (827.9) (705.9)
Net debt (4911 - (248.9)

On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing
borrowings and entered into a combined term loan and
revelving credit facility of £930.0m for a period of three
years, with the pessibility to extend this by & further two
years. This facility increased to £940.0m as ot 24 April
2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end.

The Group continues to aperate comfortably within its
banking facilities and covenants and the Board remains
comfortable with the Group's available headroom.

Note: Due to the timing of payrall and supplier
payments, net debt at calendar pericd end 30 April 2022
was materially higher than ot 24 April 2022.

o ——

Cash flow:
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 20N
{Em) (Ern)
Cash inflow from operating activities 6289 578.3
Income taxes paid 121.0) (59.3)
Invested in:
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash
acquired 102} (394)
Purchase of listed investrients {198.4) L M)
Proceeds on disposal of listed
investments and derivatives 2384 70
Proceeds on disposol of subsidiary ] )
undertaking 0
Proceeds in relation to equity
derivatives n74 4a1
Net capital expenditure (280.2) (192.3)
Exch t
Erchenge movementen s
Investment income received 10 Q.5
Finance income received less finance .
costs paid (26.5) 22.6)
Lease payments (176.2) (78.0)
Purchase of own shares 1932) 4.3)
Borrowings acquired through
business combinations (232.0} h
Repayment of acquired debt - “1.4)
Dividend paid te nan-contralling
interest (13) 09}
{Increase) / decrease in net debt (242.2) 1171

Summary of Consolidated Balance Sheet
{Extract)

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{£m) (£}

Property, plant and equipment 816.3 915.2
Right of use assets 1947 2497
Investment properties 892 14.1
Long-term financial assets 206.6 263.3
Deferred tax assets 100.8 €6.8
Inventory 12776 10966
Trade and other receivables 8414 5465
Provisions 433.0 3612
Trade and other payables 7298 646.3
Leose liabilities 620.6 7227
Barrawings 8279 7059

The majority of the decrease in property, plant and
equipment relates to the impairments of freehold land
and building and plant and equipment due to the
significant econemic factors which are headwinds on
the business, including challenges with supply chain,
increased energy costs and cost of living.
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IFRS 16 right of use assets have decreased largely due to impairments. Lease liabilities have decreased largely due to
lease payments during Lhe period.

Long-term financial assets have decreased during the period due to the reduction in the valuation of Studio Retail
Group plc.

Inventory has increased due to the acquisitions in the period, these being the single individual reason.

Receivables includes a £88.3m reimbursement asset in relation to the Group's ongoing non-UK tax enquiries (FY21:
£118.3m), £243.9m relating to deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments (FY21: £131.0m) with the increase
mainly relating to Hugo Boss and £234.2m credit customer receivables relating to the Studio Retail business (FY21: £nil}.

Provisions have increased mainly due te the acquisition of SRL in the period.
Payables have inueused largely due the acquisition of SRL in the period

Summary of Company Balance Sheet {(Extract)

24 Aprit2022 25 April 2021

{Em) {Em)
Investments 14436 14949
Delstors 512.8 162.9

Investments relates to investments in subsidiaries and long-term financial assets. The majority of the decrease relates
to Studio Retail Group Plc.

The majority of the movement in debtors relates to an increase in collateral to cover margin requirements for derivative
transactions held with counterparties.

Creditors largely relates to amounts owed to
Group undertakings.

Chris Wootten
Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022

NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table below sets out where the information required by sections 414CA and 414CB of the Companies Act 2006 can
be found in this Annual Report.

Requirement Location Relevant Policies
Environmental Matters Environment pages 38 to 39 Environmental policy

Staff Hondbook
Employees ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Employee Data Privacy Statement

i Acceptable Use Policy

Social Matters™ ESG Report pages 33 to 37
Human Rights ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking Policy

Stoff Handbook Anti-Bribery & Corruption policy
Anti-Bribery & Corruption policy ESG Report pages 33 to 37 Whistleblowing Policy

Code of Conduct / Supply Policy

* We continually werk to ensure Lhat we imprave in this sactor Qur pelicy is not sutficiently formohsad although svidence of what we do can be lozoted on puges 33 ta 37.
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WORKERS'
REPRESENTATIVE REPORT

I have now been in the role of Workers Representative
and Non-Executive Director for three years and during
this period, my relationship with both my colleagues and
the Board have gone from strength to strength.

Although this past year has had chailenges for the
retail sector as a whole, this has not detracted from

the wellbeing and development of our people being a
key focus. | continue to have full control and ownership
of the colleague welfare portal, where every colleague
has the opportunity to raise concerns or queries directly
to me. | operate with complete transparency and any
finAdinme fram thaca nlaHfAarme Are chmrad with tha rack
ot Board or, (t appropriate, in accordance with our
whistleblowing policy.

A key success of my role this year was being able to host
and present to all our Retail Managers at conferences
held at our London and Shirebrook offices. At the
conferences, we celebroted our people and rewarded
every Manager with a selection of gifts for their efforts
over the past year, including a number of points under
the Fearless 1000 scheme to managers and

their colleagues.

Furthermore, | am pleased that despite the challenges
that the retail sector faces, this year we have revived our
retail colleague bonus and launched new reward and
recagnition incentives, reinforcing the value we place

in our people. )

Continuing my focus on our people, | am working across
the UK facilitating focus groups with colleagues of
varying seniority and experience to ensure our people
are consistently given a platform for their voices

to be heard.

This year, | have attended both the Remuneration and
Nomination committees, so | have full transparency and
insight into everything at Board level. This has not only
proved useful to me for my own personal development
but has given me a greater depth and understanding of
the topics that are discussed at Board level. With each
passing year, | am confident that { continue to add value
to both our Non-Executive and Executive teams.

I am looking forward to the year ahead and supporting
our incoming CEQ Michael Murray, to ensure that
Frasers Group continues to place our people at the heart
of the business.
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Qur People

We have approximately 30,000 pecple across the Group.
Building on streng foundations around how we manage
and support our people, during FY22 we have continued
to invest in and improve the experience of working for
Frasers Group.

Culture and Values

Our culture and values continue to be integral to the
environment we are creating for our colleagues to

work in. We have maintained a focus on embedding
our values through every aspect of the colleague
journey, including recruitment, reward and recognition,
laridarchin Aand learmina and hew we mansire
performance. Having tius thread running througn our
approach around pecple ensares we are clear about
what is important and what success looks like, so our
people understand how.they can develop and progress.

Our values are:
. Own it and back yourself
Don't hesitate and act with purpose
. Think without limits and take the team with you

This year we have developed our recruitment process
to include a specific culture and values assessment,
ensuring that we select those people who are most
aligned with our business and ways of working,
improving their experience and their chances of
achieving success with us,

We have also focused on continuing to drive awareness
of Frasers Group as an employer externally, driven by a
social media strategy designed to:

«  raise the reputation and profile of Frasers Group;
and

+  bring the organisation to life for potential
future talent.

This strategy has driven an increase in followers of 71%
across our Frasers Group Linked In account and an
increase in followers of 34% on Instagram, We have also
undertaken an external survey, representative of the UK
working population, with our specialist employer brand
partner and we learned that 78% of those who are
aware of Frasers Group would consider working for us.

We also recognise that internal communication is
an integral part of engaging our colleagues with
the business and our culture and this year we raised
the bar with a significant levelling up in our internal
communications approach. We have delivered

a monthly newsletter from our senior leaders to
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all colleagues, updating on key events across the
organisation, as well as regular updates celebrating our
success through programmes like our monthly Frasers
Champion awards, weekly round ups of all comms
messages and more focus on driving function updates
via our central comms teams, to improve consistency
and accessibility.

We also held our first Retail Managers Conference in
over two years following the pandemic. This event

saw our Retail Managers across the UK and Europe
come together over three weeks to thank them for their
hard work and dedication during the pandemic and

to recognise their incredible efforts since returning to
work. Here we also re-invigorated our retail incentive
our Fearless 1000 bonus scheme {more details below).
We also held dedicated conferences for the first time for
some of our key support functions across the business.

Attraction

We aim to hire the best people within each discipline
across our organisation. Our ability to do so is key to our
strategy and success.

This year, we launched a new careers website, designed
to engage and educate potential new hires about

who Frasers Group are, our culture and values and the
people who make our business what it is. This was also
underpinned by the introduction of a new Applicant
Tracking Systemn, to improve our ability to source the best
candidates for all roles across the business and improve
the experience our candidates have when applying for
roles with Frasers Group.

We understand that one of the best ways to find people
wheo are suitable for our organisation is through the
recommendation of people that already work for us, so
this year we alse re-launched an internai referral scheme,
encouraging colleagues who work for us to recommend
people they know for key roles.

Retention

Alongside hiring the best people, we aim to retain their
knowledge, skills and commitment within the Group.

FY22 saw one of the most challenging londscapes

for colleague retention in recent times and as a result,
we saw an increase in the attrition of our UK salaried
colleagues to 33% (29% in FY21). Pleasingly however,
across our Store Manager population within Sports
Direct, our stability increased to 91% from 84% in FY21.
Our Assistant Manager stability increased to 87% from
86% and our Footwear Manager stability decreased
slightly to 91%, compuared to 94% in FY21,
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Development

Continuing our objective of populating the organisation
with high-calibre, well trained peopie to be the future
leaders of Frasers Group, this year we have started

an investment of over £1m in the development of our
people. We have introduced a new Head of Learning &
Development to shape and develop a comprehensive
offering of operational, technical and soft skills
development. Our new group L&D team provides a
shared service across the business, with a key focus

on management and leadership development, retail
capability, commercial training and the learning
experience of our colleagues. We have alse invested in
new 'Head of roles in each of these areas and, true to
our core principles around promoting from within, all of
these roles have been filled by internal talent.

We have already launched a new Leadership Academy,
which houses a trio of options for our neople leaders
ACIOSS Whe Broup. HNese inciude premiunm algital
on-demand content from our strategic partners
Sporting Edge, our own in-house development
programme, Managing Without Limits, as well as access
to professionally accredited qualifications from the
Chartered Management Institute (CMI) in partnership
with Corndel and Imperial College’s Business School.

We have also kicked off cur most significant cohort of
internal apprenticeships yet, with 154 people from cur
early career talent pool enrolied on our new Retai! Team
Leader programme, investing almost £700k from our
apprenticeship levy funds.

Within Retail, we have revised cur new stare on-boarding
programme for Management colleagues and developed
a new programme for our CAST teams to ensure that
they receive a World class start to their careers with
Frasers Group.

We have alse undertaken a full refurbishment of our
Shirebrook Learning Academy facility, with significant
investment in new technology and an upgrade of our
facilities, with a focus on improving the representation
of all cur Group fascias and further enhancing the
experience colleagues have when they come to

the campus.

Diversity and Inclusion

Frasers Group is a company of growth, elevation,
determination and a global community of diverse
and talented people. We welcome and celebrate
individuality and take pride in only allowing a
colleague’s contribution to define thair path. We
empower individuality through our core values and
our attitude is championed within our brands through
diversity and inclusion amongst sport, fashion and
lifestyle, and is a considered and crucial part of our
approach. As we continue on our elevation journey as
one team, we are clear that the success of our business

is dependent on the success of our colleagues. We
aspire to create an environment where everyone can be
the best that they can be, every day. To us, diversity and
inclusion are about being the business that our people
want us to be.

We will not tolerate discrimination on grounds of gender
identity, sexual orientation, race, nationality, religion, age,
disability or any other-grounds.

Included in cur Monagement Without Limits programme,
launched in FY22 is an entire module dedicated to
promating difference within our workforce, to help our
managers understand the importance and benefits of
diversity and inclusion and educate therm on concepts
like conscious and unconscious bias.

We-endeavour to meet our responsibilities to train and
employ disabled people. Applications for employment
by people with any disability are given full and fair
rancirdarctian fare Al vimeconriac Aand Are Accaccad in
accordance with their skills and abilities. People who
have a first language other than English are important
to our business. In our Warehouse, we have this year
begun the introduction of personalised workwear

to enable easy identification of colleagues' native
language and we are also offering translators in training
and meetings. ' ‘

The table below shows the gender diversity of our
warkforce at the period end. Approximately 54% of

our workforce is female, including 36% of our senior
management and their direct reports (FY21: 35% UK
workforce). We aim ta ensure that both male and female
candidates are provided with equal opportunities to
apply for and work in all positions across the Group.

Female Male
Directors 29% 71%
Other senior managers and
direct reports 36% 64%
Other employees 55% 45%
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Gender Pay Gap

Our gender pay gap report for 2021 was published

in April 2022. We are pleased to report that we have
maintained a 0% average gender pay gap across the
Group for three years in a row, compared to 6.3% in 2017.

We continue to work vigorously on aligning roles and
putting transparent structures in place across all areas
of the business. When it comes to rewards, we have
been lifelong champions of growth in earnings through
performance related bonuses. We encourage all our
people ta rerich their maximum potential and reward
the achievement of appropriate targets, set within the
respective discipline of the business. This is reflected

in the high percentage of males and females earmning
a bonus, which are all gender neutral by design, and
continues to reflect the equality which we strive to
achieve across our business.
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between female and male colleagues. We are therefore
continuing to explore and implement methods that will
establish enhanced processes and training tools for our
employees and engaged workers, to achieve maximum
earning potential through our various bonus and
commission schemes (more details of which below).

Talent and Capability Development

Qur strategy and future goals rely significantly on our
ability to nurture aond grow the best talent in our industry,
and this year, alongside the investment in our people
development capability mentioned above, we have
continued to build on our ability to identify and support
talent to progress within Frasers Group.

This year, we have continued to run our Fearless Focus
performance review process, aligning individual goals
to cur broader Group objectives and ensuring that every
colleague has a clear plan to progress their careers. This
has also enabled us-to identify those colleagues who

we believe have the potential to develop and grow to
become future leaders of our organisation.

We have also introduced new leadership roles across
our Retail, Digital and Technology and IT functions,

to ensure that we have the right people at the right

level to support the achievement of our goals and the
development of future talent within their business areas,
We have also re-organised our structures within our
Retail and Commercial functions to align with our Sports,
Premium and Luxury pillars, ensuring these key tearns
are best positioned to deliver ocur purpose and strategy.

We have continued to see success from our Elevation
Programme, with two colleagues from our first cohort
being promoted into senior leadership roles in our
Commercial team at the end of their second year in the
programme. We have also seen our second cohort of
25 new colleagues start their programme in September
2021 and the recruitment for cohort three being

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

completed, with another 26 high-potential individucls
who joined Frasers Group in September 2022. We
levelled up our approach to attracting the best calibre
of early careers talent this year, running an onsite and
digital marketing campaign that saw us voted third in
the category for Best Student Marketing Campaign at
the National Graduate Recruitment Awards 2022, We
also extended our Elevation Programme to our Finance
team in FY22, with five new graduates recruited, who
joined in August 2022. '

Remuneration and Reward

We foster o reward-based culture that enables our
colleagues to share in the Group's success. In the UK,
our policy is to pay above the National Minimum Wage,
including rates that are above the National Living Wage
for people aged over 25. We offer bonus schemes and
incentives depending on the role and the fascia, and
colleaques receive discounts across all fascias.

in FY22, we started the year with a full review of our
Retail pay structures, resuiting in increased rates of pay
across the board, including management and casual
workers. In November 2021, we also re-invigorated our
Retail commission and bonus structures, making them
more accessible than they have ever been before and
paying out over £15m to our colleagues through our
bonus and commission schemes over the course of this
financial year.

We also reviewed our Fearless 1000 bonus scheme and
made a number of changes, to ensure that the scheme
is working in the best interests of our colleagues.

These included:

. extending the scheme for a further 12 months to
account for the impact of the pandemic in the first
year of the scheme and increase the opportunity to
achieve the goal of hitting the £10 share price for 30
consecutive days;

. increasing the number of points available to retail
leaders to recognise the number of people under
their remit; and

. moving the points allocation window to half yearly
to enable more time for great work to be visible to
senior leaders who are awarding points to
our colleagues.
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Casual Workers

We strive to ensure our arrangements for casual staff
are fair and equitable. All casual workers are poid the
same rates as permanent employees in the same role.
We promote stability in working hours, while our casual
workers also benefit from the flexibility to decline shifts
at any time. This flexibility also benefits the Group,
enabling us to adjust staffing levels to cope with peak
times and quieter periods.

Casual workers are also included in our commission
schemes and in the Fearless 1000 bonus scheme.

Health and Saofety

The Group's health and safety programme has
continued to evolve, to support business growth, The
Company has safely operated through the Covid-19
pandemic and we have successfully implemented

A mirmbkor Af cirnificant ranarm! hanlth cnd enfaky
improvement measures that we are confident will help
“drive and support our continuous improvement plans.

Qver the last 12 months the Company continued to
respond effectively to the Covid-19 pandemic. Across
our distribution, office and warehousing operations and
together with our retail team, we maintained robust
social distancing and cleaning policies, meeting or
exceeding guidelines, to ensure customers were able

to enjoy a safe retail experience and maintain a safe
workplace for our teams.

We have implemented a number of measures to
strengthen our health and safety programme, focusing
on identifying and sharing good practices across the
business and, where appropriate, harmonising our
health and safety policy and procedures. Specific
initiatives include:

+  the introduction of a bespoke online accident
reporiing systemn, which is delivering improved
accident reporting and data analytics to inform
organisational fearning and accident prevention;

. a significant increase in our Health and Safety team
in our Shirebrook warehouse to provide additional
expertise and support for our operational teams;

. supporting the retail team to help implement and
sustain in-store health and safety standards; and

investing in our health and safety capabilities with
our regional H&S officers undertaking specialist
training on fire risk assessments.

We continue to positively engage with fire service and
local authority enforcement representatives and there
have not been any environmental enforcements or
prosecutions in the past 12 months.

All gccidents ond incidents are investigoted in o timely
manner, to prevent recurrence.

The Group's Reporting of Injuries, Disease and
Dangerous Occurrences (RIDDOR) incidents in the last
12 months all involved over seven-day incapacitation. In
total six incidents were reported in FY22, a reduction of
45% on the 11 incidents reported during FY21.

The accident rate for the distribution, office and store
workforce was 2.5 accidents per 100,000 hours worked
in FY22, an increase an the rate of 1.8 compared ta
FY21. A direct comparison between periods is adversely
affected by extencled periods of Covid-19 related
disruption, across operations and teams, including store
closures. The FY22 rate is more representative of regular
business activity.

In prior years, we have calculated the number of
accidents to the general public as a rate per £10m of
store turnover, using a 12-month rolling average. The
FY22 accident rate was 6.6. A comparison with FY21

is not considered to be meaningful, given the impact
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during this period,

During FY23, we will pursue our continuous improvement
programme to further deveiop and sustain effective
health and safety across the business.

Wellbeing

Colleague wellbeing continues to be a focus for us,

as the understanding and importance of health and
wellbeing and its impact on our colleagues grows. We
maintain and have further embedded our relationship
with the Retail Trust this year. Our partnership gives ail
Frasers Group colleagues access to free and confidential
wellbeing support, including advice, financial assistance,
face-to-face and telephone counselling, cognitive
behavioural therapy, non-repayable grants, career
development support, legal guidance and on-site critical
incident support. The helpline is available 24 hours a
day, seven days o week. We also offer an enhanced
counselling referral service to colleagues who require a
greater level of support.

In FY22 we have developed and launched a mental
heaith and welibeing series through our digital learning
platform for colleagues and managers, to access
support people who are dealing with issues related to
their mental health.

v dland anroee the UK
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Human Rights and Modern Slavery

We are committed to respect and maintain equal
treatment for all pecple.

We recognise that modern slavery is an ongoing
challenge for organisations, especially those dealing

in consumer goods, and we remain committed to
addressing this risk. Ultimately, we strive to ensure that
no slavery or human trafficking takes place within our
business or supply chain, We have policies in place
cimed at proactively identifying and mitigating these
risks, These policies aim to send a clear message that we
do not tolerate these practices.

We have a.range of tools in place, including videos and
literature to educate colleagues about their rights, and
d number of communication channels, including an
internal telephone hotline and comment boxes on site,
for reporting any feedbcck or concerns. Anyone making
R R T LI LIy
continue to review and develop our colleague training,
monitoring processes and evaluation of outcomes, and
work with our employment agencies and other relevant
bodies, including the Gangmasters and Labour Abuse
Authority and the police, to support our training

and knowledge.

If we find, or suspect, that any organisations or
individuals are participating in modern slavery, we will
take immediate action. Accordingly, we have a policy of
reporting any suspicious activity to the police, who have
historically assisted in ensuring successful convictions.
Our s54 Modern Slavery Act statement can be found on
our website www frasers.group.

Community and Charity

We are committed to engaging with the local and
wider communities around our stores and our offices in
London and Shirebrook, and we aim to minimise any
detrimental impact on them,

Our Sports Directory subsidiary has been a specialist
supplier of sports equipment to the education sector
for nearly 30 years, and part of the Frasers Group since
2016. Sports Directory plays a key role in giving back to
schools in the UK and helping to keep our young people
fit and healthy. Through its ‘My School' scheme, schools
purchase sports equipment from Sports Directory and
the business gives them the opportunity to claim a
voucher for every purchase. To date, Sports Directory
has issued over 65,000 vouchers to UK schools, which
equates to more than £4.5 miillion worth of free

sports equipment.

Sports Directory has also, via the Professional
Footballers' Association, donated free equipment to 72
football league clubs, helping to support

local communities.
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For more information on Sports Directory visit: www.
sportsdirectory.com

The Group has also run campaigns to encourage
children to become active in sport. This included the
Monster Kickabout campaign launched by Eric Cantona.,
Over 3,000 schools participated in this campaign and
the Group donated £500,000 of football kits to the
schools. Four schools were alsc given the experience of
a lifetime at St George's Park, where they received the
opportunity to train with FA coaches.

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

The Group has an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy

in place, which was originally created following the
introduction of the UK Bribery Act. As a result of the
Act, dll policies and procedures were reviewed to ensure
complicnce measures were put in place to mitigate
colleagues belng offered and/or accepting bribes.

YA e e e B ey |

corruption at Frasers Group, and we encourage our
people to speak up if they have concerns that bribery or
fraud is taking place. No instances of bribery, corruption
or fraud have been reported during FY22,

Whistleblowing

The Group has an approved whistleblowing policy and

a number of processes in place which support our policy,
including Your Company Your Voice, our Retail Support
Unit Asset Protection hotline, as well as a dedicated
whistleblowing e-mail address.

During the financial year the Audit Committee reviewed
and recommended to the Board the approval of an
updated Whistleblowing Policy, which was subsequently
adopted by the Group and rolled out to colleagues.

37
e UK

YE 4TS



FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

ENVIRONMENT

ESG is an increasingly important area to Frasers Group.
We recognise the importance of sustainability to our
stakeholders and to the future success of the business
and take seriously the part we must play to change the
paradigm of the retail and manufacturing industries.

We welcome the progress made at COP26 and

are actively working with our partners to identify
opportunities to work together to tackle climate change,
particularly in relation to carbon emissions frarm
transport and waste,

Frasers Group supports the introduction of the Taskforce
for Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).
Significant analysis and scenario modelling went into
B e [l e Lo TN NP PN PPN Thn Flon i bmnim i o

a robust foundation to mitigate climate related risks
and inform oppertunities going forwards. Our full TCFD
disclosure can be found at page 40.

The role of the sustainability team continues to evolve as
we further embed sustainability throughout the Group,

linking sustainability to Group strategy and vice versa.

TCFD has further helped to formalise this approach
and the Group's sustainability manager is an integral
member of the newly formed Climate Risk Group.

There has been a particular focus on materiality and
data gathering over the past year, to better inform the
direction of the Group's ESG journey. Notably, there
has been improved data collected on energy use and
savings, product material composition and

single-use plastic.

We expect continued improvement in the quality of data
we collect and in the way we use and share that data, to
better infarm agile decision making as the infarmation
and the opportunities that presents become clearer.

Campaigns through the year included our Save the
Bumblebees campaign, which aimed to engage and
educate our customers on biodiversity, giving out
free seeds and information booklets and temporarily
rebranding our popular Sports Direct bag for life and
mug with the #savethebumblebees logo.

Carbon

This continues to be a priority focus area for the Group,
as evidenced by our newly created Carbon Reduction
Manager role. it is one of the areas where we have made
significant improvements in data gathering and

target setting.

The plons we already had in motion last year to reduce
our energy use and emissions have cushioned the Group
from some of the impacts of a volatile energy market

and associated increased energy costs and wili continue
to bring cost savings year on year. This approach has
bought about both commercial and environmental
benefits.

Of note, we have accelerated our LED upgrade
programme, investing mora than £5M in replacing LED
lights in 124 stores and 1 warehouse. The project will save
more than £2.5M per year {as an average of our energy
costs last year) and more than 3.0Mtco2e annually,

We also introduced a store colleague incentive to reduce
energy use, dubbed 'Top of the Shops.’ The incentive
rewards store colleagues for best practice in energy
saving measures, such as ensuring the escalators were
B R T a R R R L N R el KT T ey
impacts of the savings were communicated to stores
regularly and stores were able to measure themselves
against each other in a Top of the Shops league table,
fostering healthy competition. We were delighted with
the engagement level from store colleagues. We had
forecast a 10% reduction in UK electricity use for the
yedr but exceeded this to achieve o 15% reduction
(from « 2019 baseline, measured against like-for-like
stores. 2019 baseline used as a comparative year due to
coronavirus lackdowns affecting data in 2020 and
early 2021).

Our pilot trial of infrared overdoor heaters has
demonstrated their improved efficiency compared to
the traditional electric blow heaters. Infrared heaters will
now be installed as standard practice in all new stores
and store refits.

We installed 18 EV charging points at our warehouses
last year which have been well utilised by colleagues
and visitors.

Aside from our estate, we have also been working

hard to reduce emissions in our supply chain, notably
from delivery of goods, building on the success of our
pioneering container optimisation programme which
maximises the space used per container. We have
further expanded the number of brands we collaborate
with and have also increased the number of deliveries
that are optimised from our existing brand partners.

Delivering to us in this way reduces the number

of deliveries by 25% on average. That means
approximotely 25% has been saved in delivery costs and
the greenhouse gases asseciated with those deliveries.

Container optimisation complements our growing
automation system, reducing manual handling and
processing time from leaving port of origin, to arrival
with our customers,
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For last mile deliveries, customers now have the opticn
to select DPD Carbon neutral delivery at check out,
Approximately 32.1tco2e was saved in FY22 by customers
selecting this option.

Acknowledging the urgency of the climate crisis, Frasers
Group's primary focus for the coming year will be to
further investigate our scope 3 emissions and gather
decision-useful data, to enable us to target high-impact
areas effectively.

Frasers Group has responded to the Science Based
Targets initiative's {SBTi) urgent call for corporate climate
action, by committing to align with 1.5°C and net-zero
through the Business Ambition for 1.5°C campaign.

The Group now has 24 months to submit a target for
validation to the SBTI.

Waste

Waste has always been managed very well from cur

—

going back to 2014, in FY22 we recycled 86% of our
waste, of which 68% was cardboard.

This last year we modernised the way we collect and
share information to help further improve our recycling
rates. We have set a target for FY23 that 90% of

the waste that goes through Shirebrook DC will be
recycled. This includes even more packaging waste that
we expect to receive back from our stores, due to the
store recycling initiative that is being piloted, to drive
behaviour change and bring down waste rates. We are
proud of this achievernent, as reducing waste has a

big impact on the environment. However, we recognise
that whilst perfecting the system at Shirebrook DC, we
have not had the same focus on our other warehouses.
We acknowledge that we have a lot of work to doin
collecting baseline data for those and looking at the
systems in place to see where improvements can

be made.

Packaging

Detailed data is being gathered on the material
composition of the Group's own-brand core

product packaging, to enable us to look for more
environmentally responsible alternatives such as FSC
card and alternatives to virgin plastic packaging. This
work was olready being undertaken to reduce and
improve the packaging we use but has been accelerated
and other streams of data added, to account for the
Plastic Packaging Tax that came into force in April 2022,

The additional datd collection also brought into scope
other plastics we procure, such as e-commerce and
carrier bags. All of our carrier bags are now fully FSC
certified and recyclable or from 100% recycled and
recyclable plastic (80% post-consumer waste, 20%
factory waste).
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We are in a strong position to report for the tax
requirement and have already been able to implement
changes to some of our packaging to remove or reduce
plastic content, thereby falling out of scope for the tax
whilst improving the environmental impact.

Elevated Product

Frasers Group acknowledges its responsibility as part
of the fashion industry to reduce the amount of textiles
waste that is sent to landfill and to maximise the full
value of textiles already in circulation.

As part of the Elevated Product pillar of our strategy, we
have gathered data on the material content of 91% of
our own-brand core textile products. This will give better
visibility of the composition of materials we use and
enable us to choose more sustainable materials in the
future. We are in a good position to report the first-year
submissions to the Textiles 2030 initiative, of which we

For Spring/Summer 2022, 100% of our own-brand
seasonal swimwear was from 100% recycled nylon

and we plan to extend use of recycled nylon across the
ranges for next year, as well as working with our brand
partners to encourage the use of more sustainable fibres
in third-party products.

Looking at circularity in fashion, we are delighted to
announce our partnership with Sharewear in piloting

a clothing take-back scheme, which launched in five
House of Fraser stores in April 2022, Sharewear's unique
ReLived scheme is the only clothing collection scheme
that guarantees all useable clothing will go to someone
in poverty in the UK, free of charge. The collaboration

is part of Frasers Group's commitment to reduce our
impact on the environment by ensuring that textiles

are kept in use for as long as possible. Not only does

this initiative protect the environment, but it also helps
people in need in our local communities. Frasers Group
was the only retailer to pilot the scheme with Sharewear,
providing a supply of clothing that enabled people to
attend interviews, leading to work and training, and send
their children to school warm and dry.

Future Progress

We are pleased with the progress made during the last
year and recognise that there is much more work to do
in all areas of sustainability.

Whilst we are keen to address every issue with urgency,
we are mindful that it takes time to deliver large scale
adjustments and we are committed to working with our
partners and colleagues to deliver changes that are long
tasting and impactful,
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-
RELATED FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES (TCFD)

Frasers Group supports the aims of the TCFD, which
we believe is an important step in tackling climate
change. In this section of the report, we are making

the disclosures recommended by TCFD, to provide
stakeholders with useful information on climate-reloted
risks and opportunities relevant to our business.

During the year, we have worked closely with expert
external advisers to enhance our understanding of the
potential impact of climate change on Frasers Group
and to inform our future strategy, risk management
approach and the metrics and targets we will use to
monitor our progress. This work hos included:

prcci:ices and the TCFD recommendations;
. identification and shortlisting of our key potential
climate-related risks and opportunities;

. qualitative scenaric analysis for both physical and
transition risks and opportunities, over time and
across two different temperature scenarios; and

- development of actions to integrate climate-risk
considerations into our Enterprise-wide Risk
Management framework (ERM).

The two temperature scenarios we considered were
increases of 1.50c and 4oc above pre-industrial levels.
We selected two pathways as we identified that there
are two potential futures chead of us, A scenario where
we actively move towards a lower-carbon economy to
keep warming to 1.50¢ would introduce more transitional
risks to our business. 1.50c was identified as a best-case
scenario of the Paris Agreement at the COP21 summit in
2015, was reiterated at the COP26 summit in November
2021, and also aligns with the objectives of the SBTi.
Alternatively, if efforts are not made to limit global
warming to the agrded 1.50c, we could face a worst-case
scenario of 4oc of warming, which would pose a lot
more physical risks such as extreme weather events.

Governance

The Board has ultimate responsibility for ensuring
effective risk management and that our strategy

takes account of the risks and opportunities we face,
including those related to climate change. The Board
has delegated its oversight of climate-related risks to the
Audit Committee, which reports to the Board on these
matters on a quarterly basis, and are tasked with:

. Monitoring progress against climate-related goals
and targets.

. Continuous review of the Group's ESG risks
 and opportunities.

. Keeping under review the materiality of climate-
related risk and its impact on financicl statements,

. Meonitoring adherence to externally applicable
sustainability codes and principles.

Lol Iy L yel, Wl EALLSTh IO wdviogl s PI&DCI oy

twice to the Audit Committee, sharing their work

on the identification and assessment of transitional

and physical climate-related risks, and proposals for
enhancing our risk management processes in relation to
climate. Our Sustainability Manager also presented the
external advisers' findings to the Board in the February
2022 Board meeting.

Going forward, we plan to establish our Climate Risk
Steering Group to manage any current or upcoming
identified risks relating to climate whose responsibilities
will include:

. Providing direction and input into our targets and
goals, and ensure the continual evolution of our
action plans

+  Oversight of the delivery of our action plan and
improvement roadmap, targets and emerging
climate-related risks.

Our Sustainability Manager who will be an integral
part of the Climate Risk Steering Group, will then
communicate findings from the Group into the Audit
Committee and Compliance & Risk Group on a
quarterly basis.

e e e [
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Reporting to the Climate Risk Steering Group, cross
functional management are responsible for managing
on a day-to-day basis the climate related risks and
opportunities of the business.

The Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility for
our management of risk, supported by his direct reports,
who are accountable to him for managing the risks that
fall within their remits. In addition, the Compliance &
Risk Group has a range of important roles in relation to
risk management, as described on pages 50 to 62.

Strategy

Scenarios are hypathetical in nature describing a path
of development leading to a plausible future state.
During the year, we warked with our external advisers
to identify the potential physical risks, transition risks
and opportunities that could affect our business in

both a 1.50¢ scenario (low physical risk, high transition
risk), as recommended by the TCFD recommendations
and inline with the 2015 Paris Agreement and a 4oc
high emissions (high physical risk, low transition risk)
scenarios. We compiled the list on both a top-down and
bottom-up basis, across each of our business areas. We
refined the list to exclude those where our assessment
of their potential likellhood and impact meant the risks
were not material*, or to combine certain risks (such as
heatwaves and water stress) where they arose from

the same cause.

Physical Risks

From our shortlist of physical risks, we identified the
following potential hazards:

- riverine flooding;

. surface water flooding;
. extreme wind:

. coastal inundation; and
. extreme heat.

To understand the potential impact of these hazards, we
aggregated our business operations into three areas:
sourcing, logistics and retail. Underlying these three
areas are 11 sectors of operation, covering the breadth
of our value chain, as shown in the diagrom below. We
then reviewed these sectors across 11 key countries

of operation.

1
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3. Retail

1. Sourcing 2. Logistics
Raw Material . .
Sourcing Manufactoring Retail / Sales
Sect ' - Plant Based Manufacture of: + Land + Warehouse * Wholesale &
ectors Fibres Transportation - Sector "Retail Trade
p
. il
+ Wool, Textiles - Water + Electricity,
Silk-Worm + Rubber & Transportation transmission &
Cocoons Plastic distribution
+ Wearing
Apparel
- Leather
Each hazard was assessed for: Risk Polential annualimpact  Mitigations available &
. the anmuial nrobability of that hazard conicina an on productivity Business response
GS_SEE OF SeCtor to Stop working, witn of inundation c-mnuel ;robability of s;upply éh;:}n climdte
without damcge; accurrence of coastal resilience.
: Al inundotion causing +  Focus on countries that
. the percentage loss of productive availability of an closures and disruptions came out as highest risk
asset due to component failure, damage or repair; to operations is likely in our analysis,
and to increase aver time. 3
The production of " E"'QUISE W!':h d
. .. e suppliers, brands or
. the resulting productivity loss for Frasers Group, ::;"n"j‘fzt:t::’:g“;:' manufacturing units to
© weighted by the percentage of sales and garments are sectors develop or improve their
procurement in each country. that are likely to have risk mitigations.
high productivity loss.  +  Explore other supplier
This analysis demonstrated that the key physical risks « Logistics: Coastal bases that are

for Frasers Group are coastal inundation and extreme
heat, and that the potential impact of riverine flooding,
surface flooding and extreme wind are not material. No
significant changes are expected to the Group's business
model as a result of the analysis, other than considering
a potential other sourcing locations.

For coastal inundation, although there is uncertainty

inundation resulting

in coustal floeding
could have major
consequences on
transport infrastructure.
Potenticl productivity
‘loss impact for bath
land and water
transportation is likely
to increase.

more resilient,

arcund the time horizon over which climate related risks
will materialise, we assessed the risk at specific points in
time, such as 2025, 2030 and 2050, representing short,
medium and long term time horizons, across both the
1.50c and 4oc scenarios. for extreme heat, we considered
the number of median (>350c) and extremely hot days
{>400c} in 2030 and 2050, across both temperature-rise
scenarios.

Extreme heat .

Qur assessment of the impact on our productivity and

the range of opportunities to mitigate that impact are

shown in the table below. Overall, we see these risks as

arising in the medium to long term. Without mitigating

actions, we are likely to see the impact of these risks on

the business in around 20 years. .

o Reoydied and Carbon Capiured through e Woadiang Trus: febs

Sourcing: There is
anincrease in the
likelihood of extreme
heat events such as
heatwave, drought
etc. materialising and
teading to closure/
stoppage of activities in
supply chains,
Logistics: The

annual probability

of occurrence of an
extreme heat event
causing disruptions
to Frasers Group'
operations is likely to
increase over time,

Retail: An increase in
the productivity loss
impact of physical risks
could be felt across
most retail octivities,

Dargats e

Banzh wor

+  Understand supply
chain risks through
engagement, including
suppliers’ business
continuity and
contingency plans.

Work with suppliers to
mitigate factary-level
operational risks.

«  Build an internal data
set to track the effects
of rising temperotures
across locations.

-  Explore other supplier
bases that are
more resilient.

iand across the UK
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Transition Risks The risks, their potential impacts and the mitigations

available are summarised in the table below. Overall,

while these risks may arise in a shorter timeframe

{less than five years), and continue to impact over the

medium to longer term, we are working to mitigate these

»  the cost to transition, as a result of rising energy as shown in the table below;
costs and the switch to renewable energy generation;

The risk identification process described earlier
highlighted several potential risks related to the
transition to a low-carbon economy. These were:

Mitigations available &

. . i Risk Potential impoct >
. increased costs of raw materials and production; Business response
. . Costto + Increased energy costs, -+  Business planning to
. carbon taxes and other carbon-pricing mechanisms; transition to as low-carbon energy factor in higher energy
R . a low-carbon and technology tends costs and capital
. regulatory changes, reporting obligations and economy to be more capital expenditure.
increased stakeholder concerns; and intensive. - Develop a robust
irys f l +  Increased capital transitien plan aligned
¢ Sh'&'ng consumer preterences and supplier expenditure, for to the business strategy.
requirements, which also presents opportunities for example to implement
us [see below). renewchble energy
generation on Frasers
We analysed the potential impact of rising costs Group sites.
of energy, raw materials and preduction, and the Increased » Increased costsand - Engage with suppliers
o N T N 7 TV P PR (O A cost of raw reduction in profitability and gain increased
external adviser's specialist modeiling tools. The effect production passed through os a operations.
of regulatory, reporting and stakeholder changes, and of result of fluctuating raw . peyelop methods to

muaterial prices, carbon

price rises efc improve agility of the

supply chain, to aveoid
madijor disruptions,

shifting consumer preferences and supplier requirements,
were assessed using qualitative reviews, analysis of
trends and identification of key drivers, All of these

Carbon tax «  Increased cost base +  Measure Scope 3

analyses were conducted for both the 1.50c and doc and other os a result of higher emissions, to determine
scenarios. This enabled us to project the likely trajectory carbon pricing carbon prices, felt materiality of supply
of costs, taxes and other variables, to give a potential mechanisms directly or i:di;e.d.l‘,' . Chc’;” exposure to
impact for each year over the period from 2026 to 2050. (:ﬁ:::c:;:s actviiesin - carbon prices

Engage with suppliers,
to influence mitigation
of supply chain

emissions.
+  |dentify products
that are less emission
intensive,
Regulatory - Regulations are «  Setuprepeatable
changes, changing rapidly, climate-related deota
reporting adding te existing collection processes.
obgguS;rESEd reporting requirements. Engage with
otn K "; d «  Insufficient ) stakeholders to enable
stakeholaer transparency in our oversight of new
concerns operations could regulatory requirements.
lead to _Intlgctl_on and - Regular stacktakes
reputational risks, and assessment of
regulatory compliance
measures,
Shifting - Increased consumer + Develop supplier
consumer demand for highest selection criteria to
preferences levels of low-carbon identify leaders in the
and supplier complicnce and domain and screen out
requirements greater tronsparency of suppliers who do not
operations, meet the criteria.
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Opportunities

We have identified opportunities in relation to the transition to a low-carbon economy. These have the potential to
increase our revenues, enhance our efficiency and optimise costs, and open up a broader range of financing sources,
The opportunities are set out in the table below: :

Transition opportunity Benefit for Frasers Group Potential actions
Optimisation and efficiency of «  There is on opportunity for Frasers Group to reduce - Improve building and infrastructure efficiency.
processes and assets costs by upgroding and improving assets and processes | Switeh to an dll-electric vehicle fleet

across the value chain. o .
Optimise logistics and the supply chain.

Financing +  There may be opportunities to raise debt capital to «  ldentify potential opportunities to finance climate
finance climate projects. prajects using debt capital.
A robust approach te managing climate risks and - Continue to enhance our climate-related reporting and
opportunities can help us to attrect and retain new our sustainability reporting more generally.
shareholders.

Shifting consumer preferences «  There may be opportunities to copitalise on the »  Engage with suppliers and brands who are leaders in

and supplier requirements emergence of a new and growing market for sustainability.

sustainable, clean and responsibly sourced products.

Risk Management Our plan is then to discuss potential actions with each
team. based on the principles described above. We are

P - L= o T T G 2L Y U il UL masih ST, WL wil i higet
assessed our climate-related ".'Sks during the year is regularly to discuss and drive forward our approach to
described in the Strategy section above. Gur overall climate risk management. This will include ali of the risk
risk-management framework is set out on page 50. owners mentioned above with executive sponsorship
We have begun work to fully integrate the identification, and Audit Committee oversight, to ensure we remain
assessment and management of climate-related risks focused on the risks and cpportunities for the Group
into our Group-wide ERM. This work is based on the We will report on our progress with integrating climate
following principles: risks into the ERM in our FY23 Annual Report.

. Disaggregation, We will assess climate risks as
individual physical and transition risks, across our
regions and sites.

. Cross-cutting. We will integrate climate risks into
existing processes, so they can be considered
alongside our other operational and business risks,
including their interaction with those risks.

. Appetite. We will set an appropriate risk appetite for
each disaggregated risk.

. Ownership. We will set clear roles and
responsibilities, from the top down.

. Escalation. We will establish a process to escalate
risks to senior management, if necessary.

. Monitoring and evaluation. We will set up a
continuous process for monitoring, evaluating and
reporting across the business.

Our work to date inciudes climate risk being included
within our ESG principal risk and ensuring that
physical and transition risks are inciuded in the
functional risk registers owned by the respective
business risk owners, such as finance, property,
logistics, commercial trading, supply chain and
people which can be found in on page 33.
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Metrics and Targets
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Information on our greenhouse gas emissions can be found on page 46. Currently we do not hove an approved
greenhouse gas emissions reduction target as part of our metrics and targets. However, we have submitted our
commitment to the SBTi, which has now been approved and we plan to have a target in place within the next two
years. The table below sets out the metrics we will use to monitor progress with managing our climate-related
oppertunities and risks, as well as the targets we have set in relation to them.

Metric Category

Climate-related Target

Climate-related Metric

Reasoning

Transition Risks

All sustainability-related mandotory
reporting obligations met on time
annually

% sustainability-related regulatory
disclosures met within required
timeframe anrually

We continue to be committed to
complying with ongoing regulatory
changes and support the gims of
initiatives such as TCFD to prepare
companes for climate change,

Physical Risks

Physical Risks

Counter-cost the top 40% of our
own brand contributing lines with
aiternative manufacturers by end
of FY22

Ensure top manufacturer by
cantributicn has risk mitigation in
place in line with 2050 projected
floodplain by end of FY23

% of products by contribution with
an alternative manufacturer plan
in place

Risk mitigation in ploce Y/N

To migitate the risks of coastal
inundation and extreme heat we
plan to counter cost the top 40%
of our own brand centributing lines
with alternative manufacturers

to provide us with on alternative
partner, should our current partner
hecome unavailable

Following our analysis as part

of TCFD we plan to share the
projected floodploin information
with our manufacturers to help
them mitigate their potential
physical risks in their locations.

Climate-related Opportunities

90%+ Sports Direct GB stores with
a lease of 2 years or more and no
planned fixed break to be fitted
with LED lighting by end of 2023

% of Sports Direct GB stores with
LED lighting

Lighting was identified os

the grectest energy reduction
opportunity within our estate. We
chose Sports Direct stores as a
starting point cs they are the largest
percentage of our estate.

Climate-related Cpportunities

Printed on Sis

Increase our container fill rate by
5% by end of FY23 based on o
2020 base year

(N
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Average units per delivery

raata nas

By maximising the fill rate of our
containers we reduce the numkber
of containers transported thereby
reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and costs related to those deliveries

N
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions and
Energy Consumption

Reporting period 1 May 2021 to 30 April 2022

Baseline year” Fy20

Consolidation appraach  Financial control

All entities and facilities globally, either
owned or under financial control, were
included, Ernissions from air conditioning and
refrigeration units are excluded due to the
cost of data collection. These are expected to
be a negligible percentage of scope

1 emissions.

Boundary summary

Organisations are encouraged to align
information to financia! years, to aid
comparability and consistency of information
with financial performance. SECR repeorting
has been prepared on an annual basis to 30
Aprit 2022, which is aligned with the financiot
year of Frasers Group. The difference in
emissions of these date ranges is expected to
be negligible.

Consistency with
finencial statements

LICrRA Do, avat NS Deeil Used (or Jda
emissions sources.

tmission tacter
data source

Assessment methodology The footprint is colculated in accordance
with the Graenhouse Gas (GHG) Protocol
and Envirenmental Reporting Guidefines: .
Including streamlined energy and carbon
reporting guidance. Scope 2 reporting uses
the market-based calculation approach.

18% of the energy data (kWh) and 16% of the
emissions data (FY20: 10.3% of the energy
data (kWh) and 7.6% of the emissions dote)
used to prepare these results is based on
estimations or extrapolations, as calculated
by a third-party provider.

Estimations

Intensity ratio Emissions per £m of revenue

I Due to the impact of Cowd-1y, the bose yeor chosen for all futury SECR
comparisens s FY 201 May 2019 tu 30 Apr 2070:

The Group has éngaged a third-party provider to assess

- emissions and energy consumption for the periods

reported in these resuits.

Scope 1 emissions comprise the emissions associoted
with the combustion of fuels by the Group, as well as
additional emissions sources such as transport fuel.
Scope 2 emissions comprise the emissions associated
with electricity consumption by the Group, as well

as emissions from any generated electricity. Scope 3
emissions dare other indirect emissions occurring as a
consequence of the activities from sources not owned
or controlled by the Group, including indirect transport
from travel in employee-owned cars and lease/hire
cars not owned by the Company, transmission and
distribution losses and well to tank losses. The non-UK
ernission factors are those published by IEA and specific
to each country.

Recyeled and Carbon Gaptured through tne Woorllandg Trust hainey

=

CO2 equivalent factors are used, which ensures we have
reported on all of the emission sources required under
the Companies Act 2006 Regulations. Consumption
considers all Group companies and no adjustments
have been made to compardatives for prior periods for
subsidiaries newly acquired in the period,

The Group's CO2 emissions and supporting metrics are
detailed in the following table:

Year FY22 FY20
Scope 1C0O2 emissions (tonnes) 38913 20987
oo 2 rns
Scope 3 CO2 emissions (tannes) 13081 7,550
Total Scope 1,2 and 3 92,071 96,699
emissions (tonnes) :

CO2 emissions (tonnes) / Em turnaver 19.2 244
CO2Z emissions vs turnover Index 787 ) 100

{2020 =100)

144 70 O DCOPE | QNU £ RITHSSIONS [EIGLE 1O TN UK und
UK offshore areas.

The table below shows the Group's energy consumption.
Scope 1consumption relates to the consumption of

fuel and consumption from facilities operated by the
Group. Scope 2 consumpticn is based on the amounts of
electricity purchased through the period, as well as heat
and steam the Group generates for its own use.

Year FY22 FY20
Scope Tconsumption (KWh} 184646729 101,337,897
Scope 2 consumption (kWh) 305,169,539 276,618984
Total Scope Tand 2 489816268 377,956,881

cansumptions (kWh)

The maijority of the increase is due to the later part of
FY20 being impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic.

The table below shows energy consumption for the UK
and UK offshore areas only:

Year FY22 FY20
Scope 1 consumption [kWh) 156,504,302 80667717
Scope 2 consumption (kWh) 224494586 155,475,533
Total Scope 1and 2 380,998,888 276,143,250

consumptions (kwh)

Frasers Group is committed to responsible energy
management and sustainability, which it practises
throughout the organisation where it is cost effective
to do so.
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During the reporting year the Group has implemented
the following energy and carbon efficiencies across the
arganisation, to ensure that energy consumption and
associated emissions are reduced:

Energy consumption for each Retail site in the UK
is monitored, to make sure they are operating in an
efficient way and to ensure that levels are reducing.

. We continue to upgrode fluarescent lighting to
LED. for the Retail sites ali opportunities to replace
lighting during a refit were taken and the resulting
ronsumption has reduced by ¢, 52% for those sites
that have had a full refit of lighting to the latest
LED technology.

Face-to-face meetings with colleagues and
suppliers have reduced through the increased
availability of video conferencing thereby reducing
the amount of travel and further reducing Frasers

Srenin'e ~arkan fantnrint

. We are implementing mini Building Management
Systems that are highly flexible based on common
industry standards and provide excellent
energy savings.

+  We are using additional submetering within
sites and properties, to improve real-time energy
consumption and promote granular in-depth review
of facility energy data.

+  Heating and ventilations systems are undergoing
trials that include retrofits to improve
energy efficiency.

. We are implementing voltage optimisation projects
that provide cost-effective solutions and deliver
optimised supply voltage.

A number of other energy efficiancy measures are
under consideration for implementation during the next
reporting year.

47
wars 100 Hooy ot and Carkon Qaptures Birough ha Wooinad Trash Tispag 10 araate new Banen woodiand anross iRl




FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

The Board confirms that, during FY22 it has acted in

the way it considers, in good faith, would be most

likely to promote the success of the Company for the
benefit of its members as a whole, having regard to

the stakeholders and matters set out in s.172(1){a)-{f) of
the Companies Act 2006, This statement sets out the
matters considered under each subsection of 5.172(1)
(a)-{f) and provides cross references to where further
information can be found in the Annual report. The
areas the Board focused on during the year and the key
decisions made are set out on page 65 to 71 and our
repert on stakeholder engagement during the year is on
page 66,

A. The likely consequences of any decision in the

iy vl

When making key strategic decisions, the Beard
takes into consideration the strategy, purpose,
values and culture of the Group. The Board is
focused on the sustainability of the Group and
mindful of the impact the decisions may have on
this objective. for each matter, it also considers
the likely consequences of any decision in the
long term, identifying stakehclders who may be
affected and carefully considering their interests
and any potential impact part of the decision-
making process may have. During the year, the
Board has made decisions based on Board papers,
presentations from senior executives, information
documents, discussions with external advisors
and reports.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

Key appointments to positions of senior leadership
within the Group which inciuded:

Preparation for the transition of Michael Murray who
was appointed as CEO on 1 May 2022 as part of the
Board's long-term succession planning. The Board felt

Michael had proved himself to be a valuable asset to the
business, as an external consultant in relation to property

matters and the elevation of the physical store estate.
More recently, in his role of Head of Elevation, he has
built up a strong rapport with a number of key brands.

The approval of the appointment of Dave Al-Mudallal
and Sean Nevitt as Chief Operating Officer and Chief
Commercial Officer respectively, so that more focus can
be placed on areas of the business that will add vaiue
and contribute to the ongeing Elevation strategy.

The decision to continue the share buyback programme
was also key during the financial year to demonstrate
that the Board continues to maintain confidence in the
petformance of the Group.

The Board continued to be acquisitive throughout the
year. The acquisition of Studio Retail Limited was of
strategic impertance to the Group due to its credit
offering which is an area that the Group is keen to
explore for its other fascias. SRUs expertise in this regard
will provide valuable insight for the Group. s

B. Theinterests of the Company's employees

Detuails of the initiatives and engagement with ocur
colleagues is detailed in the Workers' Representative
report, the Qur People report and the

Directors' report.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

primary method that we use to ensure that colleagues
are listened to and responded to by somebody who
fully understands their situation. Cally Price remains the
Workers' Representative on the Board and retains full
control of the colleague welfare portal.

The Group has also implementaed a new e-learning and
development programme which includes a new learning
platform for colleagues which not only covers regulatory
learning, including data protection, but also personal
development and wellbeing courses that can be used
outside the business.

It has also been decided that o Leadership Academy
that provides professional accreditation and fosters
home grown talent from within the organisation should
be offered. This allows us to invest in our people

and retain our talent, which helps with the long-term
planning and sustainability of the Group.
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C. The need to foster the Company's business
relationships with suppliers, customers and others

The Group aims to develop and maintain

mutually beneficial business relationships with

all our suppliers and government agencies and
other stakeholders. Details of the Company's
business relationships with suppliers, customers,
regulators and lenders are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

+  Our new loyalty programme has been launched,

. We have increased the available customer service

contact channels for our customers to provide
greater choice,

We are focusing on increasing the number of
satisfaction surveys to assist with our strategy of
Reworked operating hours, to be aligned to
customer demands and activity.

D. The impact of the Company’s operations on the
community and the environment

The ESG report on page 33 details the initiatives
we have undertaken in sustainability and the
community.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

+  We have developed and published our ESG policy.

The Group has signed up to the textiles 2030
initiative to address sustainability issues within the
supply chain. :

«  We have developed extensive metrics and targets

Prpisd an Sisinbeis 1007, Rooydla

around TCFD reporting (see page 40).

The Group has responded to the SBTi's urgent call
for corporate climate action, by committing to
align with 1.5°C and net-zero through the Business
Ambition for 1.5°C campaign.

As part of our sustainability plans, the Group has
launched a pilot — the ReLived Scheme, which is aimed
at recycling used clothing so it can be redistributed to
the people in the communities that need it the most. We
are also supporting the Bumblebee Conservation Trust

and have launched a campaign to save the bumblebees.

o Corbon Caphuod 1o
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E. The desirability of the Company maintaining a
reputation for high standards of business conduct

At all times we endeavour to adhere to strict
Corporate Governance standards. The Board
continues to comply with the Corporate Governance
Code as well as industry best practice.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

Following recommendations from external consultants,
the Board approved the review and elevation of the
Group's internal policies and procedures to bring them
into line with industry standards and best practice.
These new policies and procedures implement greater
levels of transparency within the business. '

F. The need to act fairly as between members of
the Company

All charaholders of the Camnony hold ardinars
shares'which attacn the same rights and penerrs.
We ensure that all shareholders have the
opportunity to express their concerns to the Board
throughout the year, with the existence of our
investor relations contact on the Group's website,
and endeavour to respond when appropricte. The
AGM cllows an opportunity for shareholders to ask
questions and to discuss issues in more depth.

Principal Decisions/Steps:

The Group recognises that the interests of our
institutional investors and other shareholders may not
always align with that of our majority shareholder. As
a result, certain resolutions at the AGM are required to
pass on a majority of independent shareholders vote.

The Group invites and analyses feedback from investors
in relation to their votes on resolutions put forward

at the AGM as well as internal policies. This feedback

is routinely presented to the Board for consideration
during its decision making and long-term planning.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND

UNCERTAINTIES

Our Risk Management Framework

The Board has overdil responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group's systems of risk management and internal
contral. These systems are intended to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failing to achieve business
objectives, and they provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against the risk of material misstatement or
financial loss.

The Audit Committee supports the Board with
discharging its responsibilities, under a delegated
authority. The Chief Executive Officer has overall

G Cuaiudiviey 1w T gl g 3RS 1 LS b 1833, Wt
his direct reports are accountable to him for effectively
managing those risks within their rernits.

The Group's risk management framework comprises

a top-down and bottom-up appreach to risk
identification, evaluation and mitigation. Principal risks
are discussed and agreed by executive management
through the Compliance & Risk Group and by the Audit
Committee on behalf of the Board. The Board and/

or its sub-committees discuss each principal risk ot
least annually and receive presentations and detailed
risk reporting from risk owners on a cyclical basis. Risk
owners re-evaluate principal risks in advance of each
Compliance & Risk Group discussion. Any changes are
reported to the Audit Committee, as part of our Group
Risks Profile reporting.

The Compliance & Risk Group provides connectivity
between executive management's responsibilities

for risk management and internal controls and the
oversight roles of the Audit Committee and the Boord. It
facilitates cross-functional discussion and collaboration
across principal risk areas and matters of internal
control. [t also facilitates horizon scanning, emerging
risk discussions, and challenges the appropriateness of
internal controls and their effectiveness. The Compliance
& Risk Group's activities are reported formally to the
Audit Committee. Our Steering Groups aisc report
formally to the Compliance & Risk Group, completing
our governance structure.

R T T ) - e

Our approach te risk management is illustrated below:

RiSK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Board | Audit Committee | Sub-committees
Compliance & Risk Group

Steering Groups
THREE LINES MODEL
First line Second line Third line
Monegement Compliance & other Internal Audit

assurance functions

CONTROLS ASSURANCE

RISK
GOVERNANCE

“includes structure,
appetite & svaluation

MONITORING &
ASSURANCE

GROUP
POLICIES

COMMUNICATION
& TRAINING

PROCEDURES,
STANDARDS
& GUIDANCE

Operational teams and Functional level risks

Risk Identification

We have continued to identify and assess both our
principal and functional risks with manogement which
has enabled us to further develop our risk management
framework. Horizon scanning and emerging risks

form part of our structured compliance and risk group
discussions. ~

Risk Controls and Responses

We have continued to enhance clear definitions relating
to controls assessment, probability and impact, to
ensure our risks are clearly prioritised in line with our
defined risk appetite across each of our principal and
functional risks.
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Governance and Monitoring

The responsibility for identifying, assessing and
managing risks resides with managerment at a
functional and executive level. The Compliance and

Risk Group provides reports and detailed evaluation of
key principal risks to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee on behalf of the Board, undertakes an
annual effectiveness assessment of the risks and internal
controls of the Group,

During the period, the Audit Committee, on behalf of the
Board, has: undertaken a full review of the Group risk
register and received risk owner presentations, detailed
risk reporting and summary update reporting on the
Group's principal risks profile, for further discussion

and challenge.

Audit and Assurance

We have a number of assurance functions that provide
SEeCONU e IIIU”ILO“HQ Urnid CONLIOIS dsSessimnielil e.g.
Health & Safety, Digital risk, Information Security and
Retail Support.

Qur Group Internal Audit function provides independent
assurance that controls are working effectively and
reports its findings to management and the Audit
Committee as per an agreed annual audit plan.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

These are defined as our most significant risks that

could affect our strategic ambitions, future performance,
viability and/or reputation. Principal risks are cascaded
to operational teams and central functions for discussion
and action on risk mitigations, as part of operational risk
management activity. Operational risk management
facilitates the elevation of risks to the Compliance & Risk
Group, for onward reporting to the Audit Committee.

Board Review

The work of the Audit Committee and the Internal
Audit & Risk team has been presented to the Board

for discussion. The Board is satisfied that the Group's
systems of risk management and internal control
(including financial, operational and compliance
controls) have opercted effectively during the financial
period, up to and including the date of this report,

and no significant failings of internal control were
identified during the period. The Group is committed to
continuously improving its risk management framework
and methodology, in line with regulatory standards and
the Group's Elevation strategy.
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Assessment of Principal Risks

We have carried out a robust assessment of our
principal and emerging risks in the period and our
principal risks profile has been updated to reflect where
our risks have changed.

We have continued to respond well to the on-going
challenges presented by the Covid-19 pandemic in light
of the uncertainty around lockdowns in Europe and new
variants during the period. The effects of the pandemic
on economies and society at large were more prominent
thon expected and we remain cautious with a number
of well publicised macroeconomic headwinds on the
horizon in the form of but not limited to cost increases,
supply chain issues and potential squeezes on consumer
spending power.

Environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues
feature more prominently in our disclosures. Climate
JPSYUIN (I JURDIN I { } TGRS Py A UGN USRS JURIGSN IO SR TSRS (oS
of our commitment to ESG and our business operations,
but have previously been incorporated into our broader
disclosures on corporate and social responsibility.

The following risks and mitigations are an extract from
our principal risks profile and are not presented in any
order of priority. Principal risks are those which we
consider pose a threat to our business model, future
performance, prospects and/or reputation.
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Reference To Strategy

Building excellent relationships
with the World's best brands

Elevation in our digital offering

Elevation of our physical stores

Enablers : People, Training,
Brand, Communication, Systems,

ALE o _at. o N,

Risk Trends

T Increasing

<=3 Unchanged

* Decreasing
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

Strategy

The Group continues to deliver its Elevation strategy, which focuses on the brands we sell, our digital offering and our
physical stores. Our vision is to become the elevated multi-channel platform for sports, premium and luxury brands.

We continue to deliver well against all aspects of our strategy, and the on-going support of our key partners and
investors for our strategy has enabled this risk to reduce over the past 12 months,

Risk Trend and . e

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
We fail to deliver our strategy efficiently, effectively and on a +  The Board and senior management set and agree the Group
timely basis, or we adopt the wrong strategy, which impacts our strategy and undertake both regular and detailed reviews.

longrterm growth, performance and ambition. - Our Group is diverse in terms of geography and product

and executive management is able to respond to strategic
opportunities and challenges with agility, to moximise

PR Ty R UG W (S SN S

*  We continue to evaluate strategic brand acquisitions, to
pravide product and choice in line with our brand strategy
and add attractive locations to the store estate.

+  Effective management of our property portfolio supports our
elevated direction,

+  We monitor our performance, markets and competition on an
ongoing basis.

«  Qur strang financial controls, reporting and analysis help to
optirmise resource allocations, maximise profits and cash flow
and support efficient and effective strategic dalivery.

«  We perform ongoing research for insights into consumer trends.

- Ongoing internal and external communication of our strategic

direction supports understanding, engagement and
effective delivery.
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Third-Party Brand Relationships, Key Suppliers and Supply Chain Management

Key brands, brand suppliers and major manufacturers are central to our business and Elevation strategy. Cur strategic
acquisitions and business model gim to bring attractive brands into the Group, to support customer demand and
choice. :

Qur supply chain is international and is subject to stringent management of supply chain logistics and werking capital,
we continue to navigate through the well-publicised global supply chain issues to ensure the flow of product is in line
with our strategic ambition.

We havé continued to strengthen our brand and supplier relationships during the pandemic, demonstrating the
strength of our business model and strategic performance. This also supports new product availability, in line with our
elevation ambitions.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
t%;_, — We fail to manage and feverage our supplier and brand partner .+ The Group has a policy of forging close leng-term commercial
: relationships successfully, to secure the right products for our relationships, which are underpinned by our commitment to
business at the right price and qguality, end to meet or exceed product, elevation and customer excellence.
O“fr_ilﬁt?nj%riefl_p_eftcffi‘f_ ’-:_o_ll_l:[e_tizn_'ggiclt_? ,t _his_eilws_l:s .TLQT. The Elevation strategy targets forging stronger relationships

ongoing priority.

- Dedicated relationship partners, procurement and commercial
teums support truly integrated supplier engagement.

+  The Group utilises two leading supply chain companies to
procure much of its own-brand products. A Group-owned
supply chain entity further diversifies risk.

- Qur stock levels supported our ahility to trade through
the Covid-19 pandemic and supply chain delays, We have
continued to secure ongoing supplies, due to the depth and
breadth of our commercial relationships.

«  Suppliers sigh-up to the Group's Supplier Manusal, which
enables us to monitor and benchmark supplier performance.

+  Strong service level dgreements are in place, which help to -
support an effective supply chain netwark.

- Our own-brand investment targets consumer trends and
complements third-porty brands, supporting consumer choice.

. Influencer partnerships and brand collaborations provide
opportunities for own-brand growth.

Electranic Data Interface (EQI) capability impraves aur pracess
efficiency through the commercial cycle and enhances
supplier engagement through a dedicated supplier portal.
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Global Macro-economic Conditions, Events ([Pandemic) or Political Factors

The current geo-political events and the on-gaing giobal pandemic are core aspects of this risk in the period under
review. We also monitor global and national political change on an ongoing basis, for impacts on our strategy and
supplier networks. These are external events and we respond well to those factors we can control. The strength of our
business and our performance enables us to generally absorb the broader indirect economic impacts associated with
these risks (including the challenging economic conditions at present, with inflationary pressures and increased energy
and cost of living) although we remain cautious at all times.

The current macro-economic pressures and geo-political events occurring in Eastern Europe have clearly increased
this risk and we continue to monitor these events and the potential impacts on the Group.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

Risk

Controls and Mitigations

Frintes on

Failure to anticipate, evaluate or appropriately respond ta
external events, or broader global/macroeconomic conditions,
events {pandemic) or political factors, may risk the achievement
of our performance targets, impact our strategic direction or
longer-term viability, or result in lost apportunities for growth,

Pandemic:

We have continued to implement effective response
procedures, with Board oversight and prioritisation.

Our mandated safe working and operating standards
prioritise colleague and customer wellbeing.

L P T T L L I T P B P L Ll
YOLAALon and oNgoung evaddlion, raview Gnd monitoning.

Investrments in our online capability and customer service
delivery support our accelerated growth in e-cammerce,

Effective supplier and supply chain monagement optimises
working capital and leverages and strengthens our
commercial relationships,

Effective mancgement of cash flows and committed facilities
supports our liquidity, long-term viability and trading

partner support, .

We conduct ongoing scenario analysis, with timely reporting
to management.

We leverage opportunities for investment, through strong
management oversight.

Monitoring of economic and political change:

We ensure ongoing financial and commercial evaluation of
economic and political change, with senior management
oversight and Board reporting.

The executive-led Compliance & Risk Group holds emerging

risks discussions, with oversight reporting to the
Audit Committee.

Immediate online closure of sanctioned countries for deliveries
or trade through our web platforms was actioned during the
current conflict.
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Treasury, Liquidity and Credit Risks

Short, medium and long-term funding arrangements support our business operations and our ability to meet our
financial cbligations and deliver our strategic ambitions.

Funding availability remains a principal risk but the overall risk level trended downwards towards the end of the period,
based on our trading perfoermance and strategic delivery through the height of the pandemic and the successful
refinancing of our Group facility to 2024, however with the acquisition of Studio Retail Group, we remain cautious of
our exposure to credit risk in respect to ‘Credit customer receivables' and therefore the overall risk remains unchanged.

Interest rate risks arise on net borrowings. Foreign exchange risk arises from intemational trading, future sales and
purchases in foreign currency, loans to non-UK subsidiaries and unhedged options to buy or sell foreign currency.
Credit risk arises primarily through our Wholesale and Licensing customers and there is some level of counter-party
risk expasure, although we do not consider this to be material.

Risk Trend and . " N

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
Failure to oppropriately manage our funding and liquidity +  Qur Board reporting an debt, covenants, funding and cash
positions and secure access to funding markets might impact our flow positions includes stress testing and extensive business
pfans for growth, the ability to manage our treding requirements, risk scenario analysis, including Brexit, Covid-19, mandated

ur business, »  The Group Treosury function manages liquidity, interest rate

and foreign exchange risks.

+ The Group treasury policy, with Board oversight, outlines

delegated authorities for operation, monitering and reporting.
. + We hove refinanced our Group focility until 2024 with an
option te increase the temm by an additional two years.

»  Ongoing monitoring and reporting of going concern and
viability are part of our standard suite of internal and
external reporting.

»  Our hedging strategy is reviewed and approved annually
as part of our treasury governance, with hedging activity
reported to Board.

- Investments of surplus cash, barrowings and derivative
investments are made under pre-approved investment criteria.
We use forward foreign currency contracts to hedge against
highly probable foreign currency trading transactions,

+  We conduct regular monitoring of custemer and
counter-party credit risks.

See note 3 to the Financial Statements for further detail on financial risk management.
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Customer

Customer engagement and retention is vital to our Group, whether through our physical stores or online. Continuing
to harness customer value and loyalty consistently across the Group is complex as it is underpinned by our preduct
offerings, price and service.

We have enhanced our e-commerce offering and significantly improved our customer experience through our
Elevation strategy, as well as our customer service and the underlying platform for our digital business,

We continue to strengthen our elevation through our new concept stores and flagship multi-fascia offerings.

Risk Trend and . A

Links lo Strategy Rick Controls and Mitigations

: VRN Failure to anticipate and respond to customer needs or changes . We conduct ongoing manitoring of customer insights and
%‘* in consumer trends and spending, or to drive and deliver competitor and market trends.

customer service excellence, may impact our growth, value,
reputction and strategic ambition.

+ We review and update our customer policies periodically which
enables us to respond to and drive our customer-led strategy.

+  Continued investment in our customer service offering,
systems and communication enables us to understand and
improve our customer experience, working across all channels
including social media.

Vs LU e L \.Juvl'.'\up Gl el g U Lo laiis it it 1w, i
line with customer demand.

+  Ongoing enhancement of our ESG agendas supports our
strategy, in line with our custormner focus.

Legal and Regulatory Compliance

The legal and regulatory landscape in which we operate is constantly changing. Our commitment to delivering
robustly on our obligations is central to our culture and values.

We have increased our assessment of this risk in the period, based on factors which continue to impact the legal and
regulatory landscape in which we operate. We are conservative in our assessments and are confident in our ability
to manage these risks effectively. The trend we are reporting recognises anticipated changes through our horizon
scanning and emerging risks evaluations, until we have implemented our response plans.

Risk Trend and . e
Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
An action or incident may occur which resufts in o legal or +  Our experienced and qualified in-house Legal tearn provides
T regulatory breach and which impacts our business financially, core services and advice as well as oversight of new and
commiercially or reputationally and/or may result in litigation. emerging legislative and regulatory requirements.

- External advisers provide additicnal services and training in
specialist areas, as required by the business and legal team.

= Key legislative and regulcatory compliance risk areas are
prioritised (including but not limited to), FCA regulation, GDFR/
dota protection, health and safety, IP rights, Listing Rules and
Trading Standards as an engoing pricrity.

+  Our Code of Conduct supports our ethics, behaviours and
culture, and our regulatory policies include, for example,
Anti-Bribery & Corruption, Corporate Gifts & Hospitality ond
Conflicts of Interest.

«  We review theapproach and content of mandatory induction,
policies and ongeing training across relevant areas, for
all colleagues.

+  The Legal team is a key contributor and adviser to the
Complicnce & Risk Group.
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Technology Capability and Infrastructure Renewal

We operate in a competitive and challenging customer-focused market. Our systems need to be built with customer
experience at the forefront, supporting an end-to-end supply chain logistics service. Technology is constantly evolving
and managing change and transformation in this environment is a key focus.

We have invested heavily in our automation, enhancement of IT platforms and delivery capabilities, which support a
modernised online and in-store customer experience, built on resilient infrastructure.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

Risk

Controls and Mitigations

-

Failure to maximise the use of our existing technology or to .
renew our infrastructure in a timely and effective way may affect
our ability to keep up with the pace of change and deliver our
strategic ombition.

Cyber Risks, Data Loss and Data Privacy

Attermnpts to attack or gain unauthorised access to systems and data are becoming increasingly sophisticated. Our
systems are critical to our operations and trading. We have legal and commercial obligations to protect the security
and privacy of the data we hold and process.

We continue to develop our Greup technology strategy, which
is aligned to the business strategy.

Our forward prograrmme of infrastructure renewal enables us
to operate our business efficiently and support our ability
to compete,

Cur streamlining and decommissioning programme supports
acquisitions and integration activity.

Investments in our online trading capabilities, warehouse
management systerns and in-stere technology enhance the

Cur experienced Technology team, supported by ongoing
skills training, helps us to keep abreast of emerging
techneologies and customer-leading insights.

We develop an ongoing cycle of internal training programmes
to support effective use of existing and new technologies
across our businesses, as they are introduced.

Strengthening our infarmation security capability has
enhanced our transformation programme, our strategic
technology delivery and the robustness of our
second-line oversight.

We combine the continued investment in our digital offering, automation and technological change with the
strengthening of our people and in-house capabilities, to deliver on our risk mitigations.

Risk Trend and . e
Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations
- A cyber-attack may result in dota loss and/or deniol of service, « We have strategies and policies in place to support our IT

Prnted argetenne s 1007 Ras

impacting our business finoncially through fines and penalties or
tost trade, as well as our reputation and our ability to operate.

Failure to adequately protect our processes and the data we hald
may result in legal or regulatory breach, loss of trust and financial
loss.
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security, with continued development and review.

We collaborate closely with our industry leading service
portners, who provide core services beyond our in-house
capabilities. Capability delivery, security and savings are
core drivers.

Protection tools, including encryption, and detection tools are
in place to support effective manitoring and reporting, and are
reviewed regularly.

We have enhanced our information security capabilities and
strengthened our second-line monitaring.

We conduct an annua! external review of our cyber
infrastructure and penetration testing across the Group.

Strengthening our data protection mandate, enhancing our

policies and procedures and ongoing internal training help

to mitigate dota protection and privacy risks and suppart

delivery of our change and transformation programme.

We have an ongoing programme of security and privacy

monitoring across our Graup and extended entenprise, !

Our in-house Legal team supports second-line monitoring and
reporting of legislative compliance.

We have continued to invest in data protection training and
communications land locel leqislative equivalaents in cur
overseqs operations).

We routinely action and retain Data Protection
Impact Assessments.
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Business Continuity Management and Incident Response

Our Head Office and Distribution Centre at Shirebrook and our e-commerce activity are critical to our business
operations. There is an ongoing and increasing reliance on the availability of technology across our Group. We need
the ability to respond to incidents effectively and on a timely basis, to ensure continuity of operations and trade.

We have continued to invest in our warehouse automation and develop qpproprlqte documented contingency
strategies allowing this risk to move downwards over the period.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk Controls and Mitigations

Failure to respond effectively or on a timely basis to operational .+ Gur business continuity plans are fully documented cnd are
or IT incidents or events might impoct the Group financially scheduled for continual review, revision and testing as required.
through lost revenue or have a reputational impact, based on our |

Our governance structure supports agile incident response,
capability and communications. g PP 9 P

with clear roles, responsibilities and reporting lines.

»  Annual extemnal review and challenge of our processes
supports our commitment to continuous improvement.

+  Cngeing training supperts good practice and knowledge
sharing for continuity. '

+  Internal and external communications, marketing and PR

- Recovery prioritisation of IT systems and processes forms part
of our business impact analysis review.

»  We have recovery time targets for both critical and normal
service functions.

= Critical recavery capabilities align to our appetite and contrals,
supported by appropriate insurance cover.

Group Entities and Extended Enterprise

Our Group is complex and extensive and includes oversight of our third-party and extended enterprise partners and
suppliers. We are committed to ensuring we have the right levels of transparency, consistency and monitoring across
our Group, to enable effective oversight in line with our values and culture,

We have an appetite for acquisitions as part of our strategic growth agenda. Our integration strategy continues to be
developed to support ongoing efficient and effective acquisition engagement and management.

Risk Trend and

Links To Strategy Risk - Controls and Mitigations
Faiture to effectively monitor activities across our Group entities, . Transparency across our Group and extended enterprise
partners and suppliers, who form part of our extended enterprise, and its changes is ¢n ongoing priority. It is subject to regular
may result in financial, reputational or legal compliance issues. review and discussion and forms part of our risk management

framework and reporting.

= Owversight roles and responsibilities across our Group structure
support risk-based functional monitoring and assurance.

- We maintain strength in our supply chain management and
supplier and partner relationships.

+  Risk and controls reporting across the Group is subject to
continuous improvermnent, including self-assessment processes
for confirmation of compliance with key policies, controls and
other Group requirements.

- Govemnance and monitoring are in place for new investments,
acquisitions and opportunities.

+  The Group Internal Audit team is developing third-line
monitoring to support the broader internal controls framework
across the Group.
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People, Talent Management and Succession

Our business benefits from strength and depth of knowledge, talent and experience, which has long been pivotal to its
success. Retaining and protecting this talent, providing for succession and an ongoing programme of attracting and
developing new talent is core to our people plans and objectives.

We have made significant progress in the period in this area and when new initiatives have time to embed, we expect
to see this risk trend decrease. However, the current pressures on the national labour market throughout the retail
sector has increased our risk over the period.

Risk Trend and
Links To Strategy

Risk

Contrals and Mitigations

Failure to attract, retain or develop talent geross our business and -

implement effective succession planning might impact our ability
to ochieve business and strategic cbjectives and the efficiency of
our growth transformation.

yoled and Carbun Captared throngh the Weodband 7

Continued development of strong trainee management and
apprenticeships programmes supports our future
talent pipeline.

We recruit externally to fill capobility gops necessary for our
growth and transformation.

We prioritise internal development and promotion wherever
possible and actively encourage cross-functionof experience.

A new 'fecrless focus' oppraisal system has been introduced,

development and broader succession planning.

A six pillar People Framework supporting performance and
talent recognition is now in place across the Group,

An internal recruitment mandate operates, with improvements
in onboarding and applicant tracking.

We have created core principles and a colleague volue
proposition that share the Group's values and ambitions for
our people, with on elevoted and re-energised website to
attract talent. ’

A new recognition and bonus structure has been launched,
recognising and rewarding people who continually adopt our
core principles.

The Workers' Representative is a Board Director, who supports
cammunication channels and gives our people a voice at the
highest level in our business.

We have a strong strategy for diversity and inclusion and
people support.

We have made significant investment into learning and
development, supporting internal pragression and overal!
organisational capability.
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Environmental, Social & Governance (ESG)

Tackling climate change is a global imperative and the resulting increase in regulation is a key focus area for

the Group.

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Measures which support climate change initiatives and our wider ESG agenda continue to be key components of our
strategic direction, supporting sustainability, the broader social agenda and consumer choice.

Risk Trend un.d
Links To Strategy

Risk

Controls and Mitigations

[RERTRISEIR IS T e =L TSN
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Failure to maximise our position and value relating to ESG factors «

might impact aur ability to achieve our growth, value, reputation
and strategic ambitions.

We have Board-level engagement and an Executive sponsor
of our ESG agenda.

Sustanability cantinues to be embedded Unoughout the
business and is a continued area of focus for the Group.

Dedicated operational leadership continues to drive project
ond programme initiatives and engagement through our
supply chain.

Appointing our Group Carbon Reduction Manager shows our
commitrent to tackling climate change.

We have evaluated our risks and opportunities around climate
B T I I e Y L e A T A I ) Py
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We have an environmental policy in place, which has been
reviewed and approved by the Board.

We have energy efficiency targets, monitoring and
measurement, with external specialist support and league
tables with reward mechanisms to drive this forward.

We continue to launch ranges and products that drive
responsible and sustainable purchasing decisions,

Qur community initiatives support the provision of vouchers to

schools and organisations te allow purchases of
discounted sportswear.

Review and ongaing development of the Group Code of
Cenduct supports our values and colleague engagement and
includes a standordised framework for supplier onboarding.

We are constantly working with our partner brands and
suppliers to encourage more sustainable practices.

61
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Property

The retail landscape continues to see significant changes with a high volume of retail properties vacant due to the
high level of retail insolvencies and retailers moving away from bricks and mortar to e-commerce due to the shift in
consumer behaviour, which has further increased due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

As a result of the above, both the value and value in use of retail properties has declined.

Risk Trend and . "
" .
Links To Strategy isk ) Controls and Mitigations
— There is a financial risk to the Group if our commitment to a + For new store leases we actively engage and work with our
lease or the value of our freehold properties decline, where high landlords to support rents that are flexible and linked to
vacancy rates moke the area less attractive for our consumers store tumover,
and drive less footfall to our stores. _+ We aim to align rent free packages end capital contributions

from landlords to reflect the elevated store fit cuts.

«  Asretail units become more affordable, we lock ta move
into more prime locations with mere footfall znd consumer
resilience.

+ We are actively reviewing our lease portfolio and looking to
renegotiate with landlords in relotion to underperforming stores.

and we will look to dispose of sites which are not cligned with
the Group's strategy or where there is a commercial benefit to
the wider Group.

The Strategic Report has been approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:
Chris Wootton’

Chief Financial Officer
20 September 2022
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VIABILITY STATEMENT

The 2018 UK Corperate Governance Code requires the
Board to express its view of the long-term viability of
the Group and assess the Company's prospects, capital
management and principal risks.

Accordingly, the Board regularly carries out thorough
and robust assessments of the risks, including stress
testing the Group's resilience to threats to its business
model, strategy, future performance and liquidity

and the risks identified in the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties section of this Report, together with the
steps the Group has taken to mitigate them. In addition,
the Board regularly reviews the performance and
financing position of the Group and its projected funding
pesition and requirements.

I ne Group continues to face the chailenges tnat tne
pandemic, Brexit, supply chain issues and changing
consumer behaviour are having on the retail industry.

The Board chose to review these over a three-year
period to 27 April 2025, This period is covered by the
Group's combined term loan and revolving credit

facility (on the assumption the extension is granted).
Management is satisfied that a three year period is
appropriate to review performance, as it best reflects the
short-term budgeting and planning process of the Group,
the longer-term forecasting and the expected timescales
for strategy implementation. The process adopted to
prepare the model for assessing the viability of the
Group invalved input from a number of departments
across the business to model a conservative scenario.

The Board has considered all the risks included within
our Principal Risks section as they could all have an
impact onh performance. However, with regards to
viability, we have focused on those which are the
greatest risk:

Global Macro-economic Conditions,
Events {(Pandemic) or Political factors
We have:

+  reviewed the continuing impact of the pandemic
on the Group's sales and margin in relation to both
store and online revenue; and

. reviewed the continuing impact on costs due
to Brexit.

on Steinbeis 1007 Rewyiad ano

Third-party Brand Relationships, Key
Suppliers and Supply Chain Management
We have:

«  tested the business model’s resilience to changes in
the retail market and responses to variability in sales
and margins;

. taken into account further consumer shift from
bricks and mortar to online;

. forecast the impact of key suppliers going direct
to consumer;

. reviewed the arrangements with key suppliers; and

witﬁ sﬁpply éha}n iésues.
Treasury, Liquidity and Credit Risks

We have:

. reviewed the Group facility and its suitability for the
Group's cash flow cycle and liquidity requirements;
and

. reviewed the Group's hedging strategy.

Viability has been assessed by performing sensitivity
analysis and stress testing of the Group's FY23 budget
and forecast for the viability period prepared by
rmanagement. This comprised a recent review by the
Board of a number of scenarios in which the Group's
income statement, balance sheet and cash flow
forecasts were stress tested to determine how much
the Group's trade would need to be affected in order
to breach the Group's covenants {being interest cover
and net debt to EBITDA ratios). These scenarios, the
occurrence of which are deemed to be highly

remote, include;

Scenario 1:

The Frasers Group operations as a whole are impacted
by a material and unexpected reduction in demand {e.g.
future pandemic), we materially fail to manage brand
partner relationships resulting in trade being impacted
for a period of time (e.g. loss of key suppliers) or there

is a significant impact due to the economic downturn
globally due to reduced customer confidence resulting in
lower spending.
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Assumptions:

« o further decrease in sales of 10%, margin remaining
consistént with original budget and direct costs
falling in line with sales.

Scenario 2:

Our supply chain continues to be affected across

the Group by the impact of Covid-19 and Brexit,

with logistics costs significantly increased for both
ourselves and our suppliers who pass on the increased
costs impacting our margin or there is a significant
impact due to the economic downturn globally due to
customers being more price sensitive.

Assumptions:

. the gross margin percentage reducing by a further
2% across the Group, with other assumptions
remaining consistent with the original budqget.

Scenario 3:

. this is o combination of scenarios 1and 2 above and
is seen as the worst-case and highly unlikely.

This scenario testing indicated that the business could
withstand a sustained decline in sales and gross margin
and, through the use of mitigating actions, remain within
its financing facilities and covenants.

On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing
borrowings and entered intc a combined term loan and
revolving credit facility of £930.0m for a period of three
years, with the possibility to extend this by a further two
years. This facility increased to £940.0m as at 24 April
2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end.

The Group has consistently created strong operating
cash flows from underlying trading and has an
appropriate hedging strategy to meet currency risks.
There have been no post balance sheet changes

to liquidity.

The impact on the projected cash flow as aresult of

the conservative model has been reviewed, if required
management has a number of mitigating actions which
could be taken such as putting on hold discretionary
spend, liquidating certain assets on the balance sheet, or
reductions in labour and marketing costs.

Based on its assessment, the Beoard has a reasonable
expectation that the Group will be able to continue
operating and be able to meet its liabilities as they fall
due for a period of approximately three years.

The Viability Statement was approved by the Board on
20 September 2022, and signed on jts behalf by:

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer

20 September 2022
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GOVERNANCE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
REPORT

Chair's Introduction

As Chair, my primary role is to ensure that the Board
ettectively sets and implements the Cormpuny's direction
and strategy. | am responsible for leading the Board

to make decisions that will benefit the Group and
ultimately its stakeholders. My role is to ensure that we
adhere to high standards of corporate governance that
will facilitate the continued sustainability of the Group.

Cur Non-Executive Directors have a great depth

discussions and are rigorous in challenging the
Executives in the best interests of the Group. Our
Executive Directors understand the Group's values and
behaviours. They work tirelessly to retain and grow
shareholder value, engage our workforce and promote
the Group's strategy.

The Board and the Committees continue to work
effectively and collaboratively to ensure the decisions
. being made drive the Group forward. | would like to
thank Board members for their commitment

and diligence.

We have continued our efforts to work on improving our
environmental impact and sustainability as well as the
difference we make in the communities we serve. Further
details are included in our ESG report at page 33.

The Board and Audit Committee have worked with

the sustainability team as well as external advisors in
relation to TCFD reporting. The Board and Committee'’s
have also worked with the Group to set stretching

but achievable targets for the Group during the FY23
financial year. The TCFD report is at page 40,

We have also continued to strengthen our governance
as part of our ongoing Elevation strategy. Further
information regarding our compliance with the Code
can be found in our Corporate Governance Statement
at page 65,

David Daly
Non-Executive Chair of the Board
20 September 2022

T
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT

This Corporate Governance Report and Statement sets
out how the Company has applied the principles in the
2018 UK Corporate Governance Code during its financial
penod ended 24 April 2022. A copy of the Code is
available at www.frc.org.uk.

Disclosures in relation to DTR 7.2.6 {share capital} and
DTR 7.2.8 {diversity) are set out in the Directors’ Report
on page 95 and in the Nomination Committee Report
on page 75. '
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the principles and provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code for the period ended 24 April 2022.
One area in which the-Board was not fully compliant
was Code Provision 36 which requires that remuneration
schemes should promote long-term shareholdings

by Executive Directors that support alignment with
long-term shareholder interests and that share awards
granted for this purpose should be released for sale on
a phased basis and be subject to a total vesting and
holding period of five years or more. The Executive
Share Scheme approved by 86.6% of shareholders’
voting at the 2021 AGM has a total five-year vesting
period as suggested by the Code but could permit 50%
of share awards to vest after four years if our stretching
share price targets (a minimum £12 or £15 as relevant
maintagined for 30 deadling days) are attained within 4
years of the commencement of the plan.

Board Leadership and Company Purpose
The Board

Board changes during the year were minimal, with one
director resignation due to a conflict of interest. Despite
this, the Board remains stable and well resourced. We
are reviewing the Board's size, composition and skillset
on a regular basis to ensure that it continues to be fit
for purpose and address areas where we can make the
most effective changes. -

Business Mode!

Information on the Group's business model and strategy
can be found in the Strategic Report on pages 12 to 16,

65
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Culture

During the year the Beard, and the Remuneration
Committee in particular, met regularly with the Group
Head of People to assess and monitor the culture of the
Group, especiailly as seen from outside the Group. This
led to a social media strategy to raise the reputation and
profile of the Group to bring in potential future talent.
The Group has also developed a newsletter to provide
more regular and consistent messaging to colleagues.

Further information on the Group's culture can be found
on page 33,

Stakeholder Engagement

Like most companies, the Group has to balance

the needs of muitiple stakeholders. Stakeholder
engagement is integral to the growth and sustainability
of the Group. We aim to ensure that we capture the
views of as many stakeholders as possible. Whilst we

address criticisms when necessary, we are mindful that
this may not always be possible. We recognise that the
most important objective in our approach to stakeholder
engagement is to balance stakeholder views against
other competing factors and accept that it may not
always be possible to achieve a satisfactory outcome for
all stakeholders. During the year, the Board has made
decisions based on the Board papers, presentations
from senior executives and discussions with and reports
from external consultants. The principal decisions in
relation each of stakeholders is contained in the 5172
statement on page 48.

Employees

Please see the Director's report for details of employee
engagement.

Shareholders

The AGM provides shareholders with an avenue to have
direct access to the Board and senior leadership. The
Group resumed physical AGMs in FY21 but also offered
shareholders the ability to submit questions prior to

the meeting.

Comments from our shareholders are passed to the
Board and relevant committees for consideration and
analysis. The Executive Directors are also available

for questions at all cur result presentations and
shareholders’ opinions are closely monitored through
analyst and broker correspondence. Qur larger
shareholders alsc have regular engagement with senior
executives and a number have visited our Shirebrook site
during the financial year. Shareholders alse have access
to other key representatives of the Group, by using the
investor relations contact on the Group's website.
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Customers

The Group continues in its effort to provide an elevated
customer experience. Our efforts aim to act upon and
improve customer feedback. Customers now have the
ability to reach out to us through numerous channels
and we have started the roll out of self-service options
in selected fascias. There have olso been improvements
to the online help centre to encourage first-time
resolutions for the customers who make contact and we
have adopted a flexible-working approach to address
customer demand during peak times.

The Group has invested in an Operational Excellence
programme which is focused on supporting, developing
and empowering the Customer Service teams to
provicde them with the right tools to meet the highest
standards of customer service and satisfaction. We
have also invested in increasing our Customer Service
capacity by establishing an inhouse contact centre in
Group has also made significant investments in our
digital capabilities and approach te customer service
management which we are confident will yield improved
results for FY23.

The acquisition of Studio Retail Group, which had a very
strong consumer credit team, has also ensured that we
can accelerate our proposition of offering our customers
mere flexible payment options, by utilising this expertise
for the rest of the Group.

et

Suppliers

We aim to engage with suppliers who have compatible
values to those of the Group and who provide value for
money and high-quality geods and services. The Group
prides itself on fostering long-term relationships with
our key brand partners to ensure ongoing continuity

of supplies to our customers. This includes, where
appropriate, making strategic investments in brand
partners such as Mulberry and Hugo Boss.

Our own-brand products continue to be produced and
supplied by our two gateway suppliers with whom we
have g longstanding relationship.

We are currently undertaking a review of our
procurement process and policies, to assess our suppliers
to ensure that we can meet our ESG commitments and
achieve our TCFD targets. Further information can be
found in our ESG report.

i =
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Regulators

The Group makes every endeavour to comply with its
legislative and regulatory obligations. We regularly
licise with HMRC, the FRC and the FCA in an open and
transparent manner. The Finance team and the Board
have established regular communications with tax
authorities internationally. Our internal tax team has a
dedicated contact at HMRC and we have dedicated
contacts ot other Government bodies, such as

Trading Standards.

Lenders

Alongside attending all Board meetings, the CFO is
always available to inform the Board of any updates in
relation to financial lenders. With the assistance of the
Finance team, the CFO ensures that the Group complies
with the terms and conditions in its credit facility
agreements. The CFO regularly liaises with the Chair of
the Remuneration Committee and the Chair of the Audit

Lommiiies, [0 QiSCuUss me'uroups nnanciai perrormance,

Updates on the Group's financial performance are
provided at every Board meeting.

During the year, the Group entered into a new term loan

. and revolving credit facility that is valid for three years

at a value of £930 million with the option to increase
the value up to £1.2 billion. As at the date of the release
of this Annual report the Group facility was ot a value of
£980m. This replaces the previous £913m facility.

Community

Details of cur engagement with the community can be
found in our ESG report on page 33.

Warkforce Concerns

Cally Price remains the voice of workers on the Board
and provides a direct link with the workforce and Board.
She regularly provides the Board with an update on the
workforce and brings any pertinent issues to

their attention.

The workforce is able to raise awareness of any issue
they face by speaking with their line managers or HR.
They can also send an e-madil to the whistleblowing
inbox if they have concerns around wrongdoing or
they can report issues ancnymously through the "Your
Company, Your Voice' hotling, which is monitored by
Cally Price. There is also an anonymous whistleblowing
e-mail address to voice concerns, which the Company

Secretary has access to and is responsible for monitoring.

Whistleblowing is an agenda item at each Board
meeting so that any concerns can be raised to the
Board. In addition, the Chair has regular meetings with
the Company Secretary on an informal basis, where any
whistleblowing reports can be discussed.

Colleagues alsc have access to confidential wellbeing
advice and support through the Retail Trust.
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Director Concerns

During the year, no concerns were raised by Lhe Board,
or any current or former directors, regarding the
operation of the Board or the management of

the Group.

Conflicts of interest

Details of procedures regarding Directors’ conflicts of
interest, including the Relationship Agreement with Mike
Ashley as the controlling shareholder, can be found in
the Directors' Report.

Anouska Kapour was appointed to the Board in
September 2021, but subsequently took the decision

to resign from the Board in December 2021 due to a
conflict of interest. No further conflicts from other Board
members became apparent throughout the year.

' The Board considered whether Nicola Frampton's

appointment as Chief Operations Officer of Domino’s
1l A U CISLE O A T W IS T SOk T Ve
unanimously agreed that as Domino's operates in a
separate sector to the Group, that this was not a conflict.
Nicola continues to be able to dedicate enough time to
her role as a Non-Executive Director, as shown by her
Board and Committee attendance throughout the year.

Corporate Governance Framework

The Group has continued with the elevation of its
corporate governance framework. The Group has
re-drafted and published numerous policies including
our Whistleblowing and Anti-Bribery & Corruption
policies to strengthen our current internal controls. This
work will continue into the next financial year. The
Internal Audit team has drafted an audit timetable

for the FY23 financial year, reviewing various different
departments to ensure internal controls are appropriate.

Division of Responsibilities
The Chair

The Chair leads the Board, ensuring constructive
communications between Board members and that

all Directors are able to play a full part in the Board's
activities. The Chair sets Board agendas and ensures
that Board meetings are effective and that all Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information.

The Chair communicates with shareholders effectively
and ensures that the Board understands the views of
major investors. The Chair also provides advice and
support to both the Executive and Non-executive
Board members. The Chair continues to meet the
independence criteria set out in provision 10 of the
Corporate Governance Code.
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The Chief Executive

The Chief Executive provides leadership to the senior
leadership team in the day-to-day management of the
Group, with an emphasis on long-term goals, growth,
profit, and return on investment. He is instrumental in
formulating and implementing the Group's strategy.
He is the main point of contact between the senior
leadership team and the Board and facilitates effective
communication and flow of information with the
Non-Executive Directors. Michael Murray became Chief
Executive on 1 May 2022, Mike Ashiey dand Michael
Murray worked together for a number of months, to
ensure ¢ smooth transition into the role.

‘The Senior Independent Director

Richard Bottomley, OBE, is the Senior Independent
Non-executive Director. He works closely with the
Chair and provides support to both him and the other
NMAan-FEvarotive Nirackare Haic Alen An Albarnabiva maint
of contact for shareholders and is abte to assist when
necessary if they have concerns, He is also responsible
for ensuring that the annual appraisal of the Chair's
performance is completed and is supported by the
other Non-Executive Directors in this respect aond for
overseeing the succession planning for the role of the
Chair. Richard is also chair of the Audit Committee and
has regular contact with the internal finance team and
the external auditor.

Role of the Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors have extensive experience
from a wide range of sectors. Their role is to understand
the Group in its entirety, to constructively challenge
strategy and management performance, set executive
remuneration and ensure appropriate succession
planning is in place. The Non-Executive Directors

must also ensure they are satisfied with the gccuracy
of financial information and that effective risk

management and internal control processes are in place.

Independence

There are currently three independent Non-Executive

Directors, as well as a Non-executive Chair of the Board,
a Non-executive Workforce Director, and three Executive

Directors, with the appointment of Michael Murray

as CEQ on 1 May 2022. All Non-Executive Directors,
other than the Non-executive Workforce Director,
were considered independent upon appointment. The
Non-executive Workforce Director is not considered to
be independent as she is employed by the Group.

Prried gykstenpee: s 1007 By

Delegation of Responsibilities

The Board has three sub-committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee. The Commitiees are governed by theit
Terms of Reference, which provide details of matters

. delegated to them. The Terms of Reference are available

on the Group's website at frasers.group/financials/
corporate-governance and are reviewed annually to
ensure they remain fit for purpose. The roles of the
Chairman, Chief Executive and Senior Independent
Director are clewly defined and set out in writing.
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Service contracts
for senior executives

T

Key Board
Remuneration ResponSib”ities AUdlt
Committee Committee
Approving budgets
Remuneration Setting the Group's values and standards External audit
policy Approving strategic dims and objectives Minancial reporting
Remuneration Approving acquisitions and disposals Internal cudit
schemes

Approving the appointment or removal of
Board members

Approving foreign exchange and commodities
transactions above a material level

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

. Risk management

Compliance
and fraud

Nomination Committee

Composition of the Board

Succession planning

Matters reserved for the Board

There is a formal schedule of matters that require

Board approval before any action is taken by the senior
leadership team. The matters reserved for the Board
could have significant strategic, financial or reputational
impact on the Group so are subject to extra scrutiny. The
schedule of matters is reviewed annually and updated
by the Board when necessary,

Board and Committee Performance

Board, Committee and individual director performance
are evaluated annually in line with the requirements

of the Corporate Governance Code 2018. The
Non-Executive Directors, led by Richard Bottomley,
review the performance of the Chair, taking into
account the views of Executive Directors. The outcome
of the review is relayed to the Chair, with constructive
comments to improve his future performance.

During the period, the Chair reviewed the performance
of all Non-Executive Directors, to ensure their
performance remains effective and that they are
committed to and capable of performing the role. The
Chair has discussed with each Non-Executive Director

BRaey
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how they can improve their knowledge, behaviour and
skills, in order to be better equipped for the role. A skills
matrix is in the process of being produced to allow
objective analysis of where Board performance can be
improved. It will also be used as a tool in our succession
planning when recruiting new directors. The Board

and Nomination Committee had numerous meetings
throughout the year to discuss the appointment of
Michael Murray as CEQ. These meetings reviewed his
performance during his property consulting role and as
Head of Elevation and identified the skills that he could
bring to the Board.

There was a thorough independent external evaluation
of the Board and its committees in FY21. The
performance of the board and its committees have
been discussed in the individual Board appraisals taking
into account the recommendations and comments
arising from the review in FY21.

Following the appointment of the new CEQ in May
2022, the Board is intending to consider again the
recommendations of the external review and see
whether there are any further steps to take.
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In addition to the evaluation of the Non-Executive
Directors, the performance of the Executive Directors
was also reviewed by the Chair and performance
objectives set. During the period, the Chair held informal
meetings with the Non-Executive Directors without the
Executive Directors present.

Director Commitment

Prior to accepting Board positions, prospective
Directors are informed that following inducticn, they
are required to dedicate between 15 and 20 days per
annum. to fulfil the role of a Non-executive Director.
Non-Executive Directors are aware that scheduled and
unscheduled meetings may tceke place, as well as other
events including site visits, shareholder meetings and
strategy meetings. The time commitment specified in
Non-Executive Directors' letters of appointment has
been reviewed by the Nomination Committee and is
considered appropriate. Regular training is offered to all

[N P T T

Director evaluations.
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The Directors are expected to attend all scheduled
Board meetings and are asked to use best endeavours
to attend unscheduled meetings. To assist with
managing their commitments, the Non-Executive
Directors are given prospective annual Board calendars
early in the second half of the preceding year. During
the year, there were six scheduled and six unscheduled
Board meetings.

Appointment Documentation

Details of Executive Directors’ service contracts,
and of the Chair's and the Non-Executive Directors’
appoeintment letters, are given on page 81.

Copies of service contracts and appointment letters are
available for inspection at the Company's registered
office during normal business hours and at the Annual
General Meeting. None of the Executive Directors hold a
directorship of another FTSE 350 company.

Meeting Documentation

A detailed agendda is established for each scheduled
meeting and appropriate documentation is provided to
Directors in advance. Regular Board meeting agenda
items include repaorts from the Chief Financial Officer,
reports on the performance of the business and current
trading, and specific proposals where the Board's
approval is sought. The Board monitors and questions
performance and reviews anticipated results. The Board
also receives reports from the Non-Executive Workforce
Director, who attends all Board meetings.

During Board meetings, presentations are made on
business or strategic issues where appropriate, where the
Board considers the Group's strateqgy at least annuaily.
Minutes of Committee meetings are circulated to all
Board members for agreement.
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Copies of analysts’ reports and brokers' notes are
also provided to Directors, The Board also receives
presentations from industry experts when necessary.

Board Meeting Attendance

The Board has a formal schedule of regular meetings
that is agreed and circulated in advance. Scheduled
rmeetings are used to approve standard regulatory
matters and make significant decisions and aclso provides
an opportunity for the Board to exercise its expertise to
advise and influence the business. The Board has the
capacity to meet on other occasions if decisions need to
be taken outside the scheduled meetings.

The Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee
rmeetings during the year, and the total number of
meetings that they could have attended, are set out in
the table below, Attendance was high for all Directors,
who attended all meetings unless prevented from doing
cn bt oA ceamamitrnant Thara wume An Ananins naad
for unscheduled meetings during the year, to discuss
numeraus decisions and matters outside the scheduled
Board meetings.
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Audit Committee Remuneration Nomination

Scheduled Unscheduled Meetings Committee Meetings  Committee Meetings

Mike Ashley 6/6 6/9

David Brayshaw 6/6 8/9 5/5 4/4 3/3

David Daly 6/6 9/9 5/5* 4/4 3/3

Nicola Frampton 5/6 9/9 3/5 4/4 3/3*

Richard Bottomley 6/6 8/9 5/5 1/4* 3/3

Cally Price 6/6 8/9 /4* 1/3*

Chris Wootton 6/6 9/9 5/5* 1/4*

Anouska Kapur** 2/6 0/9

(attended 2/2 meetings
diring her tenure)

during her tenure)
Mot o commettae member but attended masting

*r Nolunger a member of the Boord
Company Secretarial Support

All Directors have access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary and mav take independent
PTLEESSIH I UUVILE UL LHg WOITIRUY > @XPellse, sbject
to prior notification to the other Non-Executive Directors
and the Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary ensures that the Company
maintains appropriate insurance cover in respect of its
Directors and Officers. He also advises the Board on
corporate governance matters.

The Group Position and Prospects

The Board takes responsibility for the preparation of
the Annual Report and Accounts for FY22, and isin
agreement that token as a whole, they are fair, balanced
and understandable. for the Board's statement on this
matter please refer to page 92. We are confident that
the Annual Report and Accounts provide sufficient
detail and that our shareholders have been provided
with the necessary information on the Group's position,
performance, business model and strategy. Further
details on this can be found in the Strategic Report on
page 10. Detailed information on the financial position
and performance can also be located in the Group
Financial Statements located on pages 113 to 117,

As a result of its findings, the Board has adopted a

going concern statement for FY22, and full details of this
can be found in the Directors' Report at page 95. The
Directors have also assessed the prospects of the Group
over a three-year pericd and the Viability Statement can
be found at page 63.

Risk Management

The Board's responsibilities and procedures for
managing risk and the supporting systems of

internal contro! are set out in the Principal Risks and
Uncertainties section of the Strategic Report. Further
information is included in the Audit Committee Report.

[attended 0/1 meetings
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Contrals in respect of financial reporting and the
production of the conselidated financial statements
are well established. Group accounting policies are

controls operate effectively. Standard reporting
packages are used by all Group entities to ensure
consistent and standard information is available for the
production of the consolidated financial statements.

The Board has carried out a robust assessment of the
Groups' emerging and principal risks in the period and
further detail can be found in the Strategic Report and
Principal Risk and Uncertainties section as noted above.,
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THE BOARD

David Daly

Non-Executive Chair of the Board, Chair of the
Nomination Committee

2 October 2017

Nomination and Remuneration
Committees

Appointed:

Committees:

Previous roles:

David has held a number of positions during a 30-year
international career with Nike, where his primary focus
was the business of football. He started in a sales role in
1986 |later becoming sales director for Nike UK/Ireland.
He retired in 2015 as o Senior Director for Nike's Club
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global merchandising business for ali of Nike's leading
football clubs.

Present roles:

David is a Non-Executive Director of Fulham
Football Club. ’

Key skills, experience and contribution:

David has significant knowledge of the sporting goods
industry having worked at Nike for 30 years. He has
worked in senior roles in sales, marketing, product
development and general management, which has
given him a thorough understanding of consumer
trends and behaviour. He has spent 18 years working
outside the UK and this international experience

has proven crucia! to the Board. David joined the

Group as a Board member in October 2017, gaining @
much-needed understanding of the business, before
being appointed as Chair in October 2018. His focus has
been on improving best practices, corporate governance,
promoting diversity and driving the Elevation strategy.
He ensures the Board functions effectively by facilitoting
an open and productive debate and providing
constructive challenge.
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Michael Murray
Chief Executive Officer

Michael Murray is Chief Executive of Frasers Group; he
will accelerate the Group's strategy to achieve its vision:
‘to serve aur customers with the World's best sports, premium
and luxury brands.’

Michael has had a relationship with the Group dating
back to 2015 when his consultancy services (through MM
Prop Consultancy Limited} commenced.

He was first tasked with rethinking and implementing
the elevation of the Group’s national and international
property portfolio, As part of that strategy, the Group
the Group's estate, transforming customer in-store
experience, and repositioning the Group in the eyes of
key stakeholders and brands. This work was te form the
bedrock of the Group's future Elevation strategy.

Through the implementation of the property Elevation
strategy Michael demonstrated a clear vision for future
business growth and also the potential for a full scale
re-imagining of the market identity of the Group. This
encouraged the Group to completely re-evaluate its
intended future consumer offering, ultimately leading to.
the decision of the Group to rebrand from Sports Direct
International ple to Frasers Group Plc.

Building on the success of the property Elevation
strategy Michael was tasked by the Group with using his
vision to provide non-property elevation services to the
Groug, encompassing investing in.brands, technology,
retail environments and 360 digital innovation. Michael's
unrivalled vision, and willingness to shake up the industry,
allows the Group to continue its uniquely impressive
trajectory and to pioneer the business's development.

Michael has been instrumental to the growth and
continued success of FLANNELS - the multi-category
retailer that has reinvented luxury retqil and revived
in-store experiences across the UK. Stocking the biggest
names in luxury fashion and beauty, FLANNELS has
become one of the most exciting players in the industry.
During his time working with the Group, Michae! has
also revolutionised Sports Direct, by evolving the product
offering, investing in physical store experiences, and
establishing the business’ identity as the leading sports
destination - championed by an all-new aesthetic and
brand mission.
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Mike Ashley

Director

Appointed: 1982 (founder)

Previous roles:

Mike established the business of the Group on leaving
school in 1982 and was the sole owner until the Group's
listing in March 2007. He was Executive Deputy Chair
prior to being appointed Chief Executive in September
2016 before handing over the role to Michael Murray on
1May 2022,

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Mike was the founder of the Group and has the
necessary skills for formulating the vision and
commercial strategy of the Group. With over 30 years
in the sports retail business with Sports Direct, he

is invaluable to the Group. Mike's knowledge and

and logistics ensures that he is crucial to the effective
and efficient running of operations. With the continuing
challenges in the macro-economic environment his
decisive leadership has meant the Group has remained
resilient and in good health and will be able to take
advantage of future opportunities.

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer

Appointed: 12 September 2019

Previous roles:

Chris worked at PwC for the early part of his accounting
career in the assurance practice, including work on large
corperates and listed entities.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Chris is a Chartered Accountant and has provided key
support in the transition to the new leadership team.

He continues to improve the skills, experience and
capabilities of the Frasers Group Finance team. Chyis is
a key driver of the Group's accounting principles, namely
being conservative, consistent and simple.

Chris was instrumenta! in negetiating the recent renewal
of the Group's combined term loan and revelving credit
facility during the financial year.

Pricted on Sty anais 1000 Aooveled and Carbon Capravad through the Waodbarned Trust

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Cally Price

Non-Executive Workforce Director and Workers'
Representative
Appointed: 1 January 2019
Previous roles:

Cally began her career with Sports Direct as a casual
sales assistant in our Aberdare store in 2007.

Present roles: Company's Workers' Representative
Key skills, experience and contribution:

Cally has been with the Group for over 13 years,
commencing on the shop floor working as a casual
assistant. Cally centinues to manage the Cardiff

Sports Direct store giving her a unigue insight into the
challenges of the retail sector from those on the ground.

Richard Bottomiey OBE

S>enior independent Non-eExecutive Lirector, Chair of
the Audit Committee

1 October 2018

Audit and Nomination Committees

Appointed:
Commiittees:
Previous roles:

Richard has over 25 years' experience working with listed
companies during his time as a senior partner at KPMG,
and continues to be a member of the Audit Committee
Institute. Until recently Richard was a Non-Executive
Director of Newcastle Building Society, where he chaired
the Audit Committee.

Present roles:

Richard is a Non-Executive Director of MSL Property
Care Services Ltd, Marsden Packaging Limited and
Jessgrove Limited.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Richard has strong experience in corporate governance,
corporate finance and strategy. He has been influential
in the recruitment and appointment of a Head of
Internal Audit, ensuring that risks are properly assessed
and mitigated.
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David Brayshaw

Independent Non-Executive Director, Chair of the
Remuneration Committee

8 December 2016

Audit, Nemination and Remuneration
Committees

Appointed:

Committees:

Previous roles:

David is a very experienced senicr investment and
commercial banker. He has over 30 years' experience
with organisations such as Barclays Capital, HSBC,
Citigroup and Pilkington plc.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

David graduated from Oxford in 1975 with a Master

of Arts in Chemistry. He has spent a long career in

the field of corporate financing for a number of major
finmncial instititions and weas alsa tha Grann Treqcorer
or Filkington pic. Lavid spent 1o years OF his career gt
Barclays Capital, advising FTSE 350 companties on all
aspects of corporate, syndicated, and capital markets
funding, together with interest rate, foreign exchange
and balance sheet hedging. He has funded countless
public company acquisitions and still remains involved
in an advisory role with several corporates and banks in
a private capacity. He has a proven track record in the
finance and acquisitions sector, providing sound advice
in line with the Group's Elevation strategy.
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Nicola Frampton
Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed: 1 October 2018

Committees:  Audit and Remuneration Committees

Present roles:

Nicola has spent the majority of her recent career in
senior executive management roles and has recently
been appointed to a new senior executive role with
Dominc's Pizza Group, where she is Chief
Operations Officer.

Previous roles:

Prior to joining Domino's Pizza Group, Nicola was the
Managing Director of William Hill's UK Retail division
from April 2010, working closely with William Hill's Board,
Executive Committee and operational management.
MurinA her Hima at Willimm Hill Nieasla led o niimbar f
SUCCESSTUl Mayor INRovation and trunsformaticn projects.
Before switching to an executive management career,
Nicola spent the previous ten years working in the
professional services industry, most recently as a Director
at Deloitte.

Key skills, experience and contribution:

Nicola has extensive experience in risk management,
assurance and corporate governance across a wide
range of industries, having specialised in these areas
of corporate activity at both William Hill and prior to
that whilst at Deloitte. The Board also benefits from
Nicola's current and previous retail experience running
large, non-competing retail businesses. Nicola serves
as a Trustee Board member for a number of charities
and brings an informed perspective on carporate
responsibility to the Board.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder

To meet the Group's needs, the Nomination Committee
must ensure that the Board remains competent, diverse,
well balanced and equipped to deal with any present
or future issues which may arise. It is also important
that the Nemination Committee both supports and
challenges the decisions of the Executive Directors,
which includes reviewing the Group's leadership and
making recommendations regarding the appointment
of new Directors and extending the term of office of
existing Directors.

Biographical details of each Committee member are
shown in the Board of Directors’ profiles on pages 72
ten 74

The Nomination Committee usually meets formally
twice a year, although additional meetings take place
when appropriate. The Committee formally met three
times during FY22, with meetings returning to physical
meetings following the end of Covid-19 restrictions.

All members of the Nomination Committee are
Non-Executive Directors and, with the exception of the
Chair, are considered to be independent.

The Responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee Include:

«  reviewing the leadership needs of the Group, looking
at both Directors and senior management;

- reviewing the composition, structure and size of
the Board, and recommending adjustments to the
Board, having regard to diversity, skills, knowledge
and experience;

. reviewing the time the Non-Executive Directors are
required to spend discharging their duties;

+  identifying and nominating, for the approval of the
Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as and
when they arise;

considering succession planning for Directors

and senior management, taking into account the
challenges and opportunities facing the Group and
the skills and expertise therefore needed on

the Board;

«  formally documenting the appointment and
re-appeointment of Directors;

- identifying potential candidates for senior posts, and
making recommendations to the Board; and

. considering the recommendations to shareholders
for re-electing the Directors, under the annual
re-election provisions of the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code.

A full list of the Committee’s responsibilities is set out in
its Terms of Reference which are available on the Group
Website: www.frasers.group.

What has the Committee Done During
the Year?

Board Nominations

The Committee considered and recommended to
the Board the reappointment of Nicola Frampton
and Richard Bottomley.

The Committee considered and recommended the
election or re-election of all Directors at the AGM.
TOHLWINY LOMNsIUeTULOl Qf L€l elletuveess

and commitment.

Composition of the Board

The Committee has reviewed the Board's composition
and we continue to look to add talented people to the
Board, who will bring appropriate skills and experience.
The Committee has begun work on preparing o skills
matrix that will identify key areas in which Board
rmembers have experience in order to identify the areas
in which board knowledge could be strengthened. This
is being updated to take into account the skills that
Michael Murray brings to the Board. The results will be
used to influence future Board appointments. The Board
continues to have dialogue with external recruitment
agents, a number of which specialise in recruiting
diverse candidates.

Annual Performance Appraisals

All Board members, both Executive and Non-Executive,
went through an annual performance review during
FY22 and each Director engaged fully in the process.
This included setting objectives for each individual. |
led these appraisals, as Chair of the Board and the
Nomination Committee. This process will be repeated
annually. Richard Bottomiley, Chair of the Audit
Committee and Senior Independent Non-executive
Director, led my performance appraisal and

objective setting.

The Directors will take into account any development
needs identified in their appraisals and will be
challenged on how they have taken action against these
objectives during their next annual appraisal.

The results of appraisals will be used to influence
Board appointments.
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Diversity and Inclusion

At the period end the Board had two female Directors,
representing 29% of the Board. There is currently no
representation from ethnic minority backgrounds on the
Board. However, the Board is conscicus of the targets set
by the FCA which apply for the FY23 financial year and
its reporting requirements in respect of this.

The Group's objectives in relation to Board diversity and
inclusion are:

. To ensure that the Board has an appropriate mix of
skills, experience and knowledge, to ensure a variety
of perspectives are represented on the Board and
enable the Board to effectively oversee and support
the Group's growth and management.

. To maintain Board representation from the workforce,
which brings the voice of colleagues into the
boardroom, supports our strategy of investing in our

and support the Group’s growth and management,
+  Toincrease female representation and
ethnic minority representation at both senior

management and Board level, in line with the FCA's
recommendations.

The Group achieved its Diversity policy objective in
respect of gender and age, by having a strong gender
balance in senior management and their direct reports,
and a varied representation of ages in middle and senior
management. When reviewing candidates who may
become potential Board members, the Committee has
regard to factors including professional experience, skills,
education, gender, ethnicity and background, to ensure
a variety of perspectives are represented at Board

level. As discussed above, we have been working with

a recruitment agent specialising in diverse candidates.
The Board is conscious that to successfully deliver the
strategic goals of the business, our people, including the
Board of Directors must reflect the diverse cultures and
values of our customer base.

The Committee recognises the advantages of having

a diverse team and has therefore reviewed the
composition of the senior management team, including
their direct reports. A number of senior management
roles were held by women at pericd end, including the
Chief Marketing Officer, Head of Sustainability, Head of
Consumer Credit, Head of PR and Communications and
the UK Group Financial Controller.

©

The table below shows the gender diversity of our
workforce at the period end. Approximately 54% of

our workforce is female, including 36% of our senior
management (FY21: 35% UK workforce). We aim to
ensure that both male and female candidates are
provided with equal opportunities to apply for and work
in all positions across the Group.

Fernale Male
Directors 29%, 1%
QOther senior managers and
direct reports 36% 64%
Other employees 55% 45%

We were pleased that our most recent Gender Pay Gap
Report showed that we have maintained a 0% gender

pay gap.

Further details on diversity and inclusion are set out in
the Our People section.

David Daly
Chair of the Nomination Committee
20 September 2022
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

REPORT

Dear Sharehaolder,

* As the Chair of the Remuneration Committee (the
Committee), | am pleased to present our Directors'
Remuneration Report for the period ended 24 April 2022,
This report is split into three parts: this Annual Statement,
a summary of our Directors’ Remuneration Policy for
FY22-FY25 and the Annual Report on Remuneration.

As a first item, the Remuneration Committee wishes
to thank our shareholders for the support which they
gave to the resolutions on remuneration matters at
our September 2021 AGM. Each of the three AGM

Directors’ Remuneration Policy, to approve our Directors’
Remuneration Report and to approve the establishment
of the Executive Share Scheme ('ESS’) was approved by
shareholders at levels of voting which indicted strong
support from both our full shareholder base and also by
our independent shareholders who voted.

Board Changes

As shareholders will have seen, on 1 May 2022 Michael
Murray became our new Chief Executive Officer. Details
of Michael's pay arrangements as our CEO (and which
are consistent with information already provided to
shareholders when this appointment was announced

in Summer 2021) are set out in this report. On 1 May
2022, Michael was formally granted an award under

the ESS, the terms of which had been communicated

to shareholders as part of the arrangements for the
approval of the ESS at our September 2021 AGM.

Mike Ashley remains on our Board as a director. Mike
receives no compensation for this role and he received
no compensation in relation to his stepping down

as Group CEO. On 20 September 2022 the Group
announced that Mike Ashley would not be standing for
re-election as a director at this year's Annual General
Meeting ["AGM"} and that he will therefore step down
frorm the Board upon the conclusion of the AGM.

Actions Taken in FY22 and Impacts on Pay

Notwithstanding the several aspects of positive
Company performance in FY22, the Remuneration
Committee has not awarded an annual cash bonus for
the year to our CFO.

The Committee exercised what it regards as normal
commercial judgement in respect of Directors'
remuneration throughout the year {and in all cases in
line with the Company's Directors’ Remuneration Policy).

)
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There were no other exercises of judgement or discretion
by the Committee save as detailed in this report.

Operation of Remuneration Policy in FY23

{t is the Cemmittee's intention to operate the
Remuneration Policy in FY23 consistent wilth how the
policy was operated in FY22.

. our Executive Directors' salaries for FY23 are
unchanged (CEO: £1,000,000; CFC £250,000);

» inline with our shareholder approved Directors'
Remuneration Policy, our FY23 annual bonus for
PRI SRR & R 2 T RO S | | B PR P A 1
maximum pay-out potential of 200% of base salary;
and

. there will be no further awards of LTIPs made
to the Executive Directors in FY23 (other than
implementation of the ESS awards for our CEC
which were approved at our FY21 AGM].,

Format of the Report and Matters to be Approved at
Our 2022 AGM

At the FY22 AGM, shareholders will be asked to approve
the Directors’ Remuneration Report for FY22. This will be
the normal annual advisory vote.

| hope that our shareholders remain supportive of our
approach to executive pay at Frasers and vote in favour
of the resolutions on remuneration matters to be tabled
at the FY22 AGM.

David Brayshaw
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

20 September 2022
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

This report contains the material required to be set out
as the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the purposes
of Part 4 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies
and Groups {Accounts and Reports] (Amendment)
Regulations 2013, which amended the Large and
Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 {the DRR Regulations).

Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy was approved by
shareholders at the 29 September 2021 AGM. The full
Remuneration Policy as approved by shareholders can
be found on pages 52 to 57 of the 2071 Annual Report, a
copy of which is also available on the Group's corporate
website at https./www frasers.group. for ease of
reference, we have set out below the Future Policy Table
for Executive Directors, os included in the approved

T S TR
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Future Policy Table

The table below describes each of the elements of the remuneration package for the Executive Directors.

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Element of Purpose / Ch:.:nges To
Remuneration Link To Strategy Operation Maximum Performance Measures Policy Approved
At The 2021 AGM
BASE SALARY Fixed element of the Base salaries are narmally Although salaries for Not applicable. No change.
remuneration package, reviewed annually. Executive Directors [other
where the balance of fixed Mike Ashley doas not than Mike Ashley, who
r'Jnd.vcrlcbIe remunerctuor! currently raceive a salary for does not currently receive
is aligned to the commercial his role, o salary) are set at levels
strategy of long-term below the amounts typicaily
profitable growth and paid by similar-sized
reflects Lhe Cotnpany compnnies, the Committee
remuneration philesophy retains discretion to set
of gearing reward to salaries at levels considered
performance, with a sharing oppropriate for the business,
of risk between Executive considering its size and
Directors and shareholders. complexity.
BENEFITS With the exception of a The current Executive Although the Remunerction  Not applicable, No change.
20% colleague discount Directors do not receive Committee has not set an
on products purchased any benefits other thanthe  absolute maximum level of
from the Group's retail colleague discount, which benefits Executive Directors
to Executive Directors Ashley. retains discretion to set
other tl'?c.m Mike Ashley, Benefits may be provided benefits ot a level whif:h the
no additional benefits in line with market practice Remuneration Committee
are generclly available to to recruit @ new Executive considers appropriate
Executive Directors. The Director taking into account against the market and
same level of discount is individual circumstances. to support the on-going
available to ol colleagues. Such benefits may include strategy of the Company.
relocation expenses.
RETIREMENT  Provide post-employment The Executive Directorsare  The current maximum Not applicable. MNo change.
BENEFITS benefits to recruit and retain  entitled to participate in a employer contribution to the
individuals of the calibre stakeholder pension scheme, stakeholder pension scheme
required for on the same basis as other  is 3%.
the business. emplayees, The Committee may
On request, this benefit increase employer
may be paid as a salary contribution rates to
supplement in lieu of reflect changes in the
pension contribution, auto enrolment employer
as necessary. contribution rates.
ANNUAL Rewoards the Executive Executive Directors, other The maximum baonus that Any bonus apportunity shall  No change.
BONUS Directors for performance than Mike Ashley, may earn  an Executive Director may be assessed against one or
which supports the Group’s  a bonus. Any bonus eorned  earn shall be 200% of salary  more metrics determined
strategy and performance in excess of 100% of salary i respect of any by the Committee and
in role. would be deferred into financial year, linked to the Company's
shares for a period of two strategy and/or the
years, unless the amount performance of the
to be deferred would be Executive Directors in role,
less than £10,000. The with the weighting between
Committee also retains a the metrics determined
discretion not to operate by the Committee, if
deferrol in an exceptional relevant. Bonuses will be
case and where salary poid determined between 0%
in the year was £250,000 and 100% of the maximum
or less. opportunity, based on the
Any bonus paid would be Committ.ee's ussessr.ner]t of
subject to clawback for the applicable metrics,
a period of three years The annual bonus plon is o
fallowing its determination, discretionary arrangement
in the event of gross and the Committee
N misconduct, material retains a standard power
misstaternent of the to apply its judgement
Company's financial to adjust the outcome of
statements or corporate the annual banus plan for
failure, any performance measure
{from zero to any cap)
should it consider that to be
oppropriate.
79
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Element of

Purpose /

Remuneration Link To Strategy

Operation

Maximum

Performance Measures

=

Changes To
Policy Approved
At The 2021 AGM

LONG-TERM
INCENTIVES

Frintad ankEret

To motivate and incentivise
delivery of sustained
performance over the
long-term, and to promote
alignment with shareholders'
interests, the Company
intends to operate on
Executive Share Scheme.

wets 1007 ¢ Reovelza and Corpoan

Executive Directors, other
than Mike Ashley, moay
recejve awards under the
Executive Share Scheme.
Awards may be granted

as nominal cost options or
conditional shore awards,
which vest to the extent the
performance conditions are
satisfied over a period of
four years.

The Committee shall have
discretjon to reduce the
nurnber of shores subject

to an award granted under
the Executive Share Scheme
by an amount equal to -

the aggregate gross salary
received by a participant
during the performance
period,

provisions apply to awards
granted under the Executive
Share Scheme. Any
amounts received under the
Executive Share Scheme
may be subject to clewback
for a period of three years
following the end of the
performance pericd, in the
event of gross misconduct,
rmaterial misstatement of
the Company’s financial
statements, corporate failure
or reputational damage.

As is normal, the
Committee retains power
to settle awards in cash in
exceptional cases only.

Caprured iheough e Wooirand Trast, haloing t areate nawy Bungi v

For awards with a £15 share
price target, the maximum
opportunity for an Executive
Director will be an award
over 6,711,409 shares.

For awards with a £12 share
price target, the maximum
opportunity for an Executive
Director will be an oward
over up to 600,000 shares.

Awords will vest subject

to an absolute share price
target of either £12 or £15.
The share price must be
over the target for ony
period of 30 consecutive
dealing days during the
four-year performance
period,

The Committee maoy set
additional performance

conditions on awards under
the Executive Share Scheme,
as it considers oppropricte.

For information: there are
twa underpins applying

which relate to satisfactory

perfarmance ratings for
each participant, and

anticipated delivery of our

Elevation strateav.

Introduction of the
Executive Share
Scheme, which is
our new long-term
ineentive plan that
will reward our
senior executives
for achieving
sustained
performance over
the long term.
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Service Contracts and Policy on Payments
for Loss of Office

The Company's policy is for Executive Directors to be
employed on the terms of service contracts which may
be terminated by either the Company or the Executive
Director on the giving of not more than 12 months’
notice. All Directors are subject to annual re-election.

Executive Directors

Details of the current service contract for each Executive
Lirector are set out below:

Contract Unexpired Term Governing
Date / Notice Period Law
. . N England &
Mike Ashley 11/02/200?:’ 12'months Wales
" England &
Michael Murray  20/09/2022 6 months Wales
AL e e 06/03/2017 6 months Englond &
'The Corrpany miny terminute Mr fshley's serice controcl by giving sis montis’ nobics it
he s unable toe perferm his dubies for over 120 days i ary conseculive 12 manths

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors enter into an agreement
with the Group for a period of three years, other than
the Chair whose agreement continues until terminated
in accordance with its terms, The appointments of

the Non-Executive Directors may be terminated

by either party on one month's written notice and

in accordance with the Articles of Association of

the Company. Termination would be immediate in
certain circumstances (including the bankruptecy of the
Non-executive Director).

Non-Executive Directors (other than the Non-executive
Workforce Director) do not and are not entitled

to participate in any bonus or share scheme. The
Non-executive Workforce Director is entitled to
participate in employee bonus and share schemes for
employees, including all-employee schemes.

The approach to determining Non-Executive Directors'
pay is to benchmark ourselves against other companies/
retailers within the FTSE 250 with remuneration
ultimately a Board responsibility.

Non-Executive Directors are subject to confidentiality
undertakings without limitation in time. Non-Executive
Directors are not entitled to receive any compensation
on the termination of their appointment.

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REFPORT 2022

Details of the Nen-Executive Directors' letters of
appointment are set out below:

Date of Letter  End Date of

Position of Appointment Appointment

Non-executive

WL Mecwelesd aed Carbon Saphued Brough the Woodiand Trust,

David Daly Chair of the 16 July 2020 1COctober 2023
Boord
Non-executive . 7 December
David Brayshaw Director 23 April 2020 2022
Nicola Nori-executive 30 September
Frampton Director 1October 2018 2024
Richard Non-executive 30 September
Bottomley LDirector 1Qctober 2018 2024
Non-executive
Cally Price Workforce 6 October 2020 5 Qctober 2022
Director '
m The orginal three year terms of uppostment for Nicola Frampton and Richarel
Brttumboy have boen extended for o furtier three years, subjoct te continuing

annue! re-alection at the AGM.

Copies of the service contracts of Executive Directors
RPN [N o N DN U g SN iy R [ N U S 6 20 I p— |
Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at
the Company's registered office during normai business
hours and at the AGM.

Engagement with Shareholders

The Committee consults major shareholders and
representative groups where appropriate concerning
remunération matters. General representations have
been received from investors regarding overall FTSE
remuneration. The Committee has due regard to the
Investment Association principles, and is always happy
to receive feedback from shareholders. There have been
no changes to the Remunergticn Policy or outcomes as
a result of shareholder engagement.

Colleague Reward

It is worth reminding shareholders that our UK
colleagues {excluding the Executive Directors} whe

have participated in our share schemes have received,
subsequent to any IPO bonus payments, a total value of
£250m (FY21: £250m) of awards since their introduction.

In addition to share schemes, the Company operates
other bonus and incentive awards for its workforce, By
way of recent example, in FY22 the Group paid awards
and incentives of approximately £15.0m (FY21: £5.4m). A
significant proportion of these other bonus and incentive
awards was paid to our casual retail workers.

During FY21, the Company launched the Frasers
All-Employee Omnibus Plan (known as ‘Fearless 10007
following approval by shareholders at the 2020 AGM.
The Fearless 1000 plan is available to all eligible and
qualifying Fraser Group employees (except for the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Commercial
Officer and Chief Operating Officer) and is intended to
provide a significant one-off reward for employees if a
stretching share price growth target is achieved within a
five year period measured to October 2025,
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There are two related but distinct parts to the Fearless
1000 plan as follows:

. share awards to those 1,000 eligible and qualifying
employees in the business who most demonstrate
outstanding service and performance consistent
with the Company's values; and

. cash bonuses to eligible and qualifying employees
in the Company’s Group, to reward them for their
loyalty and hard work.

A similar incentive plan is also available for our
non-employee Group workers.

The Remuneration Committee remains committed to
transparent and simple remuneration for Executive
Directors, based upon reward for significant financial
and personal performance only. The Committee also
remains committed to appropriately rewarding our large
and loyal workforce.

Lur Worktorce-nominated Lhrector, Caily Price engages
with colleagues through regular and multi-channel
communication mechanisms, This enables colleagues to
understand the strategy of the Company, the vital role
all colleagues play in contributing to the overall suceess
of the Group and how this is rewarded and to raise any
questions directly with a Board member. Cally has been
directly involved in the review of retail colleague pay
during FY22. The Committee has reviewed the salories,
other remuneration and other employment conditions of
senior and middle managers throughout the Group and
has taken them into account in considering Directors'
salaries. The Committee has considered pay and
employment conditions of colleagues [other than the
Directors} and has aligned pension contributions and
colleague discounts of the Directors with employees.

Whilst the Company has not directly consulted with
employees on Directors’ remuneration, the views of
colleagues can be expressed by the Workforce Director.

Annual Report on Remuneration

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets
out the actual payments made by the Company to its
Directors with respect to the period ended 24 April 2022
and how our Directors’ Remuneration Policy will be
applied in the year commencing 25 April 2022,

Frntod wafstenimeis 1007 Recyoin

Base Salary and Fees

Michael Murray's salary will be £1,000,000 per annum,
with effect from the start of his employment on 1 May
2022. Chris Wootton's salary will remain at £250,000 per
annum (no change from FY22),

Mike Ashley does not receive a salary for his role.

Fees for the Chair and Non-Executive Directors are
normally reviewed annucilly. In respect of fees for FY23,
David Daly will receive an annual fee of £200,000
{FY22: £150,000) for his role as Chair. Richard Bottomley
will receive £75,000 for his rale as Senior Independent
Director (FY22: £65,000). David Brayshaw and Nicola
Frampten will each receive a fee of £65,000 (ho change
from FY22) for their roles as Non-Executive Directors.
Cally Price will receive a fee of £15,000 {no change from
FY22) for her role as Non-executive Workforce Director.

Pancinn

The contribution rate for Michael Murray and Chris
Wootton will be 3% of salary, capped at £50,000 of
satary, being the maximum employer contribution rate
available under the Company stakeholder pension
scheme. No Director participates in a defined benefit
scheme [FY21: none).

Mike Ashley is not eligible to receive employer
contributions under the Company stakeholder
pension scheme.

Annual Bonus Scheme

Michael Murray and Chris Wootton will be eligible to
earn a bonus in respect of FY23. Any amount earned
shall be deterrmined by reference to one or more
performance metrics determined by the Committee and
linked to the Company's strategy and/or the Exacutive
Director's performance in role. The Committee will
provide appropriate and relevant levels of retrospective
disclosure of the assessed criteria applied to the FY23
bonus. Any such bonus shall be of up to 200% of salary,
and any bonus earned in excess of 100% of salary may
be subject to deferral.

Mike Ashley shall not be eligible to earn a bonus in
respect of FY23.
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Long-Term Incentives

Michae! Murray and Chris Wootten are both eligible to participate in the new Executive Shuare Scheme (which was
approved by shareholders at the 2021 AGM). Chris Wootton received an award over 600,000 shares in FY22 and
Michael Murray received an award over 6,711,409 shares as soon as practical after he joined the Board in FY23.

Awards under the Executive Share Scheme are due to vest after a four-years performance period ending in October

2025, subject to a stretching absolute share price performance target (£15 for the proposed award to Michael Murray
and £12 for the award made to
Chyris Wootton).

In addition to the share price performance measure, awards under the Executive Share Scheme will be granted subject
to two underpins requiring:

i. satisfactory performance ratings for the Executive Director during the term ot the award; and

ii. anticipated delivery of the Company's
Elevation strategy.

Mike Ashley is not eligible to be granted awards under the Executive Share Scheme.

Single Figure Table (Audited) ..
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set out below, along with the aggregate remuneration provided to individuals who have served as Directors during the
prior financial year.

. Salaries Other !.ong-t:erm - Total fixed Total variable
Director Bonus incentive Pension!" Total . -
and fees benefits schemes remuneration remuneration

FY22 FY21 ¥Y22 FY21 FY22z FY21 FY22 FY21 FY22 FY21 FY22 FY21 Fy22 Y21l FY22 FY21
ECOO £000 EQOQ E£OOC £000 EQOO £000 £000 £000 £000 E£Q000 £000  EQOO £000 £000  £000

Executive Directors

Mike Ashley - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Chris Wootton 250 150 - - - 100 - - 1 1 251 251 251 151 - 100
Non-Executive Directors
David Daly 150 100 - - - - - - - - 150 100 150 100 - -
David Brayshaw 65 50 - - - - - - - - 65 50 65 50 - -
Nicala Frampton 65 50 - - - - - - 1 1 66 51 66 51 - -
Richard Bottomley 65 50 - - - - - - - - 65 50 65 50 - -
Cally Price 15 15 - - - - - - - - 15 15 15 15 - -
Anouska Kapur 22 - - - - - - - - - 22 - 22 - - -
Total 632 415 - - - 100 - - 2 2 633 5177 633 417 - 100
1 Pensions are provided via o defined contribution to the Campany stokehelder pension scheme isoee nete 33)

a3
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Further Information on the FY22 Annual
Bonus (Audited)

Chris Wootton received a bonus of Enil in respect of
FY22 (FY21: £100k).

Payments for Loss of Office and Payments
to Former Directors (Audited)

No payments for loss of office or payments to former
Directors were made in FY22 (FY21: nil).

Statement of Directors' Shareholding and
Share Interests {Audited)

The beneficial interests of the Directors who served
during the year and of their connected persons, in
both cases at the beginning of the financial year, or at
the date of appointment if later, and at the end of the

" financial year, or at the date of resignation if earlier, in

B e B I M U BT TV Py R P

Ordinary Ordinary

Shares heldat  Shares held ot

24 April 2022* 25 April 2021*

Mike Ashley 330,000,000 330,000,000
Chris Wootton - -
David Daly 31,563 24,205
Niceola Frampton 5,732 5732
David Brayshaw 3.en 3161
Richard Bottomley 10,000 10,000
Cally Price - -

Printed EnkEisirEes 1007 Reoyeled and Camon (ane

Anocuska Kapur -

“arif earlier the dare of rasigaation

There has been no change to the interests reported
above between 24 April 2022 and 20 September 2022
(being the latest possible date for inclusion in the 2022
Annual Report). The Company did not receive any
notifications under DTR 5 between 24 April 2022 and 20
September 2022.

As at 24 April 2022 and the reporting date, Michael
Murray held an equity derivatives contract which is the
economic equivalent of the holding of 6,851,120 Frasers
Group Plc ordinary shares.

F

In addition, Executive Directors hold outstanding scheme
interests under the Executive Share Scheme as foliows:

Awards Awards
Executive Awards held ranted lapsed Awards held
xecutive  at26 april 2 P at 24 April
Director during the during the
2021 o 2022
yeart year
Chris
- 600,000 - 600,000
Wootton '
i Mike Ashizy i3 nob ehg-ble to perticinate in Lthe Executive Shioee Schema
2 Awcrds zre grented i the form of a condilional share aweord
3 The awerd te Chris Wootton wes granted on 14 Octobzer 2021 and hes o fuce valug
of £3 8m, bused on o closing share price of 632 pence per share an the date
of gront

Awards under the Executive Share Scheme are subject
to a stretching share price target measured over a four-
yedr performance period to October 2025. In the case of
the award to Chris Wootton, the share price target is £12
per share for 30 consecutive trading days. In addition,
each award is subject to underpins relating to:

e LS G I L [P e fe Dt i g

each participant; and

ii. anticipated delivery of the Company's Elevation
strateqgy.
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Performance Graph and Table

The following graph shows the Company's pelrformance measured by total shareholder return compared with the
performance of the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 Index {excluding investment trusts).
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The Committee considered these as appropriate indices against which to compare the Company's performance.
They are widely accepted as national measures and include the companies that investors are likely to consider as
alternative investments.

Total Chief Executive Remuneration and Performance-Related Pay

The table below shows details of the total remuneration and performqnce related pay for the Company's Chief
Executive over the last ten financial years.

Total remuneration Long term incentive scheme vesting as a % of

‘ maximum opportunity
FY22 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY21- Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY20 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY19 - Mike Ashley ‘ Nil N/A
FY18 - Mike Ashley Nil N/A
FY17 - Mike Ashley™ Nil N/A
FY17 - Dave Forse 2 £62,500 N/A
FY16 - Dave Forsey £150,000 N/A
F¥15 - Dave Forsey £150,0007 0%
FY14 - Dave Forsey £150,000 N/A

n Mibez Ashley was auponted us Chiet Evocutioe with effect, from 22 Seplember 2010
i2) Dave Farsey resignad with effect from 22 September 2016, His totel remuneratian 15 his rmuneration earned
inn ther parfod from 25 Apnl 2015 until the dote his resignetion tock effect
i3 The figures tar F¥1S mflect Dave Forsey's decsion on 6 June 2016 ta forego an award over 1 rullion shares
which would otherwise hove boon due b vest en & Saptamber 2017,
a5
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Chief Executive to Employee Pay Ratio

In line with reporting requirements, the Company is required to disclose ratios which compare the total remuneration
of the Chief Executive to the remuneration of the 25th, 50th and 75th percentile of the Group's UK employees. The
Company has not disclosed these ratios and associated supporting information on the basis that Mike Ashley who
was the CEO during FY22 is not remunerated by the Company.

Annual Percentage Change in Remuneration of Directors and Employees

The table below shows the percentage change in remuneration of the Directors and employees of the business
between FY21 and FY22 and between FY20 and FY21.

% Change From FY21To FY22 % Change From FY20 To FY21
Salary or fees Benefits Bonus Sdlary or fees  Benefits Bonus
Employees? 23% 31% 1% {13%) {219%) 8%
Executive Directars
Mike Ashley® N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A -N/A
Chris Wootton 67% 0% noo%)  70% 0% 100%
Non-Executive Directors
Nicola Frampton 30% N/A N/A 0% 0% N/A
David Brayshaw 30% N7A, N/A 0% 1100%;) MN/A
Richard Bottomley 30% N/A N/A 0% (100%) N/A
Cally Price 0% N/A N/A 50% N/A N/A
B Employees is been bused on toral rumber of employees, the dearacsed between FY20 and FY2 is due to the impact of Cond-19
(= Mike Ashley receivas no ramunsration
Disclosure for all Directors in addition to the CEOQ has Percentage
. T . . FY22 FY21
been added this year in line with the new requirements Change
under the EU Shareholder Rights Directive Il and over Distributians to
time a five-year comparison will be built up. Frasers shareholders by
Y p | P dth f way of dividends £193,200,000 - 100%
Group Plc does not have any employees and therefore a and share '
subset of the Group's employees has been used. buybacks
. * [s!
The table above shows how the percentage increase/ Investment £504,200,000 £231,200,000 79.1%
decrease in each Director's salary/fees, taxable benefits Group-wide
N . b ry/ 2021 420 expenditure on pay £532,900,000 £377100,000 41.3%
and annual incentive plan between and 2022 for all employees
compares with the average percentage increase in Share price 690.0 5155 339%
each of those components of pay for the UK-based (pence)™
employees of the GI'OUp as a whole. - s Compises of indreases in working copital cequisitians and Lepital e cpenditure in the
year (see Consolidoted Cosdt Flow Srotemiznt and note 330 Cash inflow fram operating
. cctivitias) as the Bourd bielieves these o ba the most relevant meusures of the Group's
Reldtl\le !mpOl’tGI‘lCe Of Spend on Pay investment infuture geawth TY21 has basn restatod as per note 3%
!, M 3 H ot s purposes, the share poce for £Y22 and the share price for FY21 are coloulated
The table beIOW sets out the Group s dlStrIbUthnS to at tha close Cl:whliiil\'%" 24 Al 2022 cadt 23 Aped 2021 raspective’y. being the ast

periart ends,

shareholders by way of dividends and share buybacks, vkt clatys preor o ti
investment (calculated as set out below) and total
Group-wide expenditure on pay for all colleagues (as
reported in the audited financial statements for FY22
and FY21) and the Company’s share price {calculated

as at the close of business on the last day of FY22

and FY21). We have included information on both
investment in the business in the year and share price
performance. These are indicative of actual shareholder
value being generated and the continuing steps being
taken to position the business for future generation of
shareholder value.

Panted G e 160 Beayslad and Ca:ibon Capturad through the Waoodand Trost iy to or3ats pew Boush v osdiand acinss the UK
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Remuneration Committee

During FY22, the Remuneration Committee consisted

of David Brayshaw and Nicela Frampten, who are
considered independent and the Chair of the Board,
David Daly. The purpose of the Committee, as previously
outlined, is to assist the Board to ensure that Executive
Directors and senior executives receive appropricte
levels of pay and benefits.

Attendance at the meetings held during the year is
detailed on page 71.

The members of the Committee have no personal
financial interest, other than as shareholders, in the
matters to be decided, no actual or potential conflicts
of interest arising from other Directorships and no
day-to-day operational responsibility within

the Company.

Advisers to the Committee

Mike Ashley, the Chief Executive, and Chris Wootton,

the Chief Financial Officer, have advised or materially
assisted the Committee throughout FY22 when
requested. Executive Directors are not present during,
nor do they take part in, discussions in respect of matters
relating directly to their own remuneration.

FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP {'FIT) act as adviser
to the Commiittee. FIT is a founder member of the
Remuneration Consultants’ Group and adhere to its
code of conduct, Fees totalling £75,889 plus VAT have
been paid for its services during the year {(FY21: £127184
plus VAT) for the provision of advice to the Committee
on various aspects of remuneration including advice

on the Remuneration Policy and implementation of
incentive schemes. The Committee has reviewed the
quality of the advice provided and whether it properly
addressed the issues under consideration and is satisfied
that the advice received during the year was objective
and independent. FIT has no personal connecticn to the
Company or its Directors.

Total Remuneration

The Committee considers that the current remuneration
arrangements promote the long-term success of the
Company within an appropriate risk framework and-are
suitably aligned to the Company's ohjective of delivering
long term sustainable growth in total shareholder returns
given bonuses are discretionary.

Remuneration Principles

A key priority is to ensure that our Remuneration Policy

is aligned with strategy to achieve the long-term

success of the Group. The Committee ensures that

it complies with the requirements of regulatory and
governance bodies including, but not limited to, the UK
Corporate Governance Code, whilst meeting stakeholder,
shareholder and workforce expectations.

Al lrost e
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The Remuneration Committee and Board remain
committed to a fully transparent and simple
Remuneration Paolicy that is aligned with the interests

of all its shareholders. In the operations of the
Remuneration Committee, we reiterate our commitment
to the following key principles:

+  Clarity: We provide open and transparent
disclosures regarding our executive remuneration.

Simplicity: Our Remuneration Policy for our
Executive Directors is straightforward and
understood by both Directors and shareholders.

- Predictability: Most components of Director
remuneration are either fixed or subject to individual
caps set by reference to base salary, Through the
use of a share price measure under the Executive
Share Scheme, performance outcomes are
predictable and highly aligned to the experience of

[allte chnrﬂhn'r{nr:

. Proportionality: Our Executive Director salaries are
amongst the lowest in the FTSE 250. Variable pay
awards are ‘at-risk’ and linked to delivery of our
strategy and long-term performance, to ensure that
poor performance is hot rewarded.

. Risks and behaviours: We ensure that in our
operations we identify and mitigate reputational
risks arising from our remuneration arrangements
and behavioural risks related to incentive targets.

Alignment to culture: Increases to pay and
bonuses are only awarded where the Executive
Birector demonstrates high-level behaviours and
performance consistent with Company purpose,
values and strategy.

Responsibilities of the Committee
The Committee is responsible for:

. determining the Company's policy on Executive
Director's remuneration, including the design of
bonus schemes and targets, share schemes when
appropriate, together with payments under them;

< determining the level of remuneration of the Chair
and each of the Executive Directors;

- setting the remuneration for the first layer of
management below the Board level, including the
Company Secretary;

. monitoring the remuneration of senior management
and making recommendations in that respect;

agreeing any compensation for loss of office of any
Executive Director; and

ensuring that the Company's Remuneration Policy
remains fit for purpose and takes note of any new
regulatory requirernents.

87
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What Has the Committee Done
During the Year?

. Put in place an Executive Share Scheme for the
CEOQ, CFQO, CCO (Chief Operating Officer) and
CCO {'Chief Commercial Officer). This was voted on
by shareholders at the 2021 AGM and will reward
executives based on «a stretching share price target
“of £12 for all executives apart from the CEG and a
share price target of £15 for the CEQ.

. Worked with senior leaders in the business to
explore long service awards for colleagues with five,
ten, and twenty years’ service.

. Reviewed the Fearless 1000 share scheme to spread
points more evenly around the business. Regional
managers now have 1,000 points (the same as
senior leaders) as they have a large amount of the
workforce reporting to them. The Commiittee is
DrwAtiak I L han LS PUH Lo WloU od Lo b I LS Sl oD
1000 is fairly split between head office, retail
and warehouse.,

. Worked with HR to introduce exit interviews to
establish colleagues' reasons for departure.

Shareholder Voting

=

The Remuneration Committee meets several times a
year, with four formal meetings and a number of ad hoc
meetings held in FY22.

During the year, the Committee considered its
obligations under the UK Corporate Governance Code
and concluded that:

. the Directors’ Remuneration Policy supports the
Company's strategy (including in the performance
measures chosen), considers other external
remuneration guidance/benchmarked against other
FTSE companies and pay ratios and worked as
intended in FY22: and

taking into consideration Company performance
during FY22, remuneration for cur Directors
remains appropriate.

The following table sets out actuol voting in respect of the resclution to approve the Directors' Rernuneration Report
for the period ended 25 April 2021 at the 2021 AGM and the resolution to approve the Directors’ Remuneration Policy

at the 2021 AGM.

Votes . Votes
oy oy
Votes for Yo for against Yo igainst  Total votes cast withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period
ended 25 April 2021 391676959 86.27 62,315,356 13.73 453992315 14,649
Directors’ Remuneration Policy 385,510,465 8492 68,480,849 15.08 453991314 15,650
David Brayshaw
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
on Behalf of the Board
20 September 2022
imwpes 100° . Reoycled and Carhon Cap’onad thronah he Waoodiand Trust, Laloing o create nee Batsh woodand aaross the U
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Dear Shareholder

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit
Committee (the Committee) for the 52-week period
ended 24 April 2022, The report sets out the Committee’s
work and areos of focus during the year, which has
continued to have the shadow of uncertainty cast by
Covid-19 and the emergence of new variants along with
supply chain risks and well-publicised macroeconomic
factors. The Committee has therefore focused on and
discussed the Group's performance, and the impacts of,
and response to these external factors. Cur performance
as a business has remained strong in these challenging
circumstances. It has been impressive to see the
continued strength and depth of experience across all

manage the significant risks that materialised.

We monitored the Group's engoing viability and going
concern positions, reviewing cashflow forecasts and
scenario modelling. We have kept the Group risk
profile and emerging risks under continued review and
had clear oversight of the activities of the executive
Compliance & Risk Group. We have also monitored the
Group's response to opportunities and acquisitions, to

ensure we come through the period stronger and on
track to meet our strategic targets.

On behalf of the Board, the Committee monitors the
Group's financial reporting processes and the integrity
of its financial statements and ensures high standards

of quality and effectiveness in the external audit

process. The Committee also reviews and monitors the
effectiveness of the Group's systems of risk management
and internal control, governance and compliance.

We have built a strong and productive working
relationship with RSM UK Audit LLP {RSM'} since its
appointment in 2019 as our External Auditor and we
value the integrity, strength and depth of its audit
and approach.

We have continued to make strong progress against

our continuous improvement assurance agenda across
governance, risk and control. We have closely monitored
the Government's audit and governance reform agenda
and await their response to this.

The Committee values the ongoing work of the Group's
Internal Audit and Risk Team, Retail Support Unit and
Digital Risk teams and continues to seek assurance that
their work remains a strength in our Group.

20 s oo Canhured Hrough s Waoodiansd Trust, halping to oreats v Bebishy,

Taking its responsibilities as a whole, the Committee is
satisfied that the going concern basis of accounting is
appropriate (see further detcil ot page 99) and that the
Group is viable over its assessment period {see page 63)}.

I would like to take the opportunity to thank all our
colleagues for their valuable commitment, contributions
and support towards our Group performance.

Membership

During the year, the Audit Committee comprised three
Non-Executive Directors, David Brayshaw, Nicola
Frampton and myself as Chair. Biographies of each
Committee member are set out in the Directors' profiles
on pages 72 to 74 of this Annual Report.

As Chair of the Audit Committee and Senior
Independent Non-executive Director, | am satisfied
that the Committee’'s membership includes Directors
with recent and relevant financial experience and
competence in accounting, risk management and
governance, and that the Committee as a whole has
competence relevant to the retail sector in which the
Group operates,

Meetings

The Committee met five times during the year, as

we have extended our agenda to accommodate our
assurance requirements. Non-Committee members
of the Board and the executive management team
attended Committee meetings at my invitation to
ensure the Committee is kept informed of important
developments in the business and the risk and control
environment. Attendance by members of the executive
management team also helps to reinforce a strong
culture of risk management within the business.
Non-Committee members do not participate in Audit
Committee decision making.

Qur External Auditor attended all Committee meetings
during the year. The Committee meets privately with

the External Auditor at least annually. In my capacity as
Chair, | have regular meetings with the External Auditor
prior to each Committee meeting during the audit
planning process and as the audit progresses, to address
issues early and to avoid any surprises. | am alsoin
continuous contact with the Board Chair, Chief Executive,
Chief Financial Officer, External Audit Lead Partner and
our Head of Internal Audit & Risk Management, who has
an independent reporting line to me.

Ao 4ot RS
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The Main Responsibilities of the _ In addition, the Committee:

Audit Committee - supports the Board in discharging its responsibilities

. . s for C te G Cod li ;
The Committee’s main responsibilities, as delegated by ororpordte overnance Lode compliance

the Board, remained unchanged during the year and »  advises the Board on the outcome of the external
are set out in the Committee's Terms of Reference. These audit and whether it considers the Annual Report
include oversight, assessment and review of. and Accounts, when taken as a whole, are fair,

Financial Statements and Reporting: balonced and understandable and provide

the integrity of the Group's financial reporting as a
whole and any formal anncuncements relating to
the Group's financial performance, including any
significant judgements contained in them; and

the Group's assessment of its going concern and
longer-term prospects and viability.

External Auditor

the effectiveness of the external audit process
trlkina inte ~oncidaration ralevant L IK nrafaccinnnl

and regulatory requirements;
developing and implementing policy on the supply

of non-audit services by the External Auditor and
approving any such work; and

reviewing and monitoring the External Auditors’
independence and objectivity.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

the effectiveness of the Group's internal financial
controls, risk management and internal control
systems, including the monitoring and reviewing
the effectiveness of activities of the Internal Audit
function, and driving an agenda of continuous
improvement;

identifying and assessing principal and emerging
risks and risk expasures; and

the effectiveness of whistleblowing arrangements.

information necessary to shareholders to assess the
Group's position and performance, business model
and strategy;

- makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment or removal of the
External Auditor;

- approves the External Auditor's fees and terms
of engagement;

. maintains strong relationships with the Board,
R T P ] b Han Cobmrmnmd At ae Al
internat Audit, in the execution of their respective
respensibilities; and

reports to the Board on how the Committee has
discharged its responsibilities during the year.

Activities During the Period

The Committee focused on a number of significant areas
of internal control {including financial, operational and
compliance controls). During the period, the Committee:

+  reviewed the Group's financial statements and
assessed whether suitable accounting policies have
been adopted and whether management has made
appropriate estimates and judgements;

- reviewed the detailed scenarios and assumptions
behind the going concern basis of accounting and
enhanced viability, including the worst
case scenario;

assessed the effectiveness of the external qudit
process and considered the reappointment of RSM
as the External Auditor for FY23;

. monitored the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems and
received detailed reports and presentations on
principal risks management;

. received regular updates on ESG matters, including
TCFD requirements, climate-related risks
and opportunities;

reviewed its Terms of Reference; and

together with the Board, considered the
Committee's own effectiveness.

Fesylled and Cwron Captued through the Wooddiand Trast Belpii o oreate aqs Boteb v oodiand acrocs the UK



Risk Management and Internal Controls

Information on our appreach to risk management

and internal control is set out in the risk section of the
Strategic Report and the conclusion of our review is set
out on page 51. Our plans for continuous improvement
of our risk management and internal control systems
remained in place during the year and our Group
internal Audit & Risk Management function has
reinforced our progress. The work of our Retail Support
Unit is central to the Group's system of internal control.
The Unit provides internal assurance on the efficacy of
controls over our retail operational procedures

and systems.

In the year, the Committee focused on a number of
significant areas of internal control, including:

. climate risk and the Group's environmenta), sacial
and governance agenda, supporting Taskforce for
[ g P Y EURGRU DY SRR B - FUNPIVGURPES JO0) [ o PN (NN ROt T

Further details can be found on page 40;

key legislative and regulatory obligations, including
data protection and oversight of Government plans
for audit and governance reform - strengthening
controls over financial reporting;

. cyber risk and data loss prevention, including
strengthening of our information security capability;

. the enhancements made to IT general controls
(ITGC"), including a review of a critical business
database’s access to ensure thot it was
proportionate to the needs of the business as well as
meeting the robust security standards required of a
critical database. The process is now being scaled
and aligned across all key systems to ensure access
is appropriate;

= updates on the governance policies review
and reporting;

. reviewing significant accounting judgements
and estimates;

+  the valuation of assets and stock and the
calculation of associated provisions;

- the effectiveness of hedge accounting and the
management of foreign currency exposures;

. property and the systems in place to ensure
impairments are recognised on a timely basis;

+  reviewing and communicating the Group's
Whistleblowing policy, ensuring concerns can be
raised via telephone, via email to a dedicated
whistleblowing address or directly to the Company
Secretary or CFQ;

+  HR review of control processes for managing
starters, movers and leavers;

«  business continuity, IT disaster recovery and incident
response; and

the Group's banking arrangements,

#hand Coon Saptured through tha Wioodiang
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Audit Quality

The Committee received comprehensive updates from
RSM and the business in response to outlined reform
proposals in the current Government consultation;
restoring trust in audit and corporate governance.

Building on the three significant reviews in the last
couple of years -the Competition and Markets Authority
(CMA) Market Study, the Kingman Review and the
Brydon Review - the UK audit sector, the audit profession,
audit regulation, and the quality of the audit product,
have never been under greater scrutiny.

The Committee will continue to oversee the development
of plans for compliance readiness in response to the
current BEIS consultation and we look forward to
Government's decision in due course. The Group has
responded to the Government consultation.

N
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External Auditor

The Committee was pleased to recommend the
reappointment of RSM as External Auditor for FY22
following a robust external audit review of FY21. The
length of tenure of RSM as external auditors is
three years.

RSM has reported to the Committee that, in its
professional judgement, it is independent within the
meaning of regulatory and professional requirements
and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner
and audit staff is not impaired. The Audit Committee
has assessed the independence of the auditor and
cancurs with this statement.

The Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the
external audit process on an ongoing basis and makes
recommendations annually to the Board on the External
Auditor's reappointment. The External Auditor is then

1

at the AGM,

In making its recommendations to the Board, the
Committee considers a number of factors relating to
the level of service provided by the External Auditor, the
quality of its work and its independence. These include:

. the quality and scope of the planning of the external
audit, including the External Auditor's assessment of
risks and how it intends to evolve the audit plan to
respond to changes in the business;

. the quality and timeliness of the External Auditor's
reports to the Committee and the Board during
the year,

+  the ievel of understanding that the External Auditor
has demonstrated in relation to the Group's
businesses and the retail sector;

. the objectivity of the External Audlitor's view on any
deficiencies in internal control which come to its
attention during the course of its audit work, and the
rcbustness of challenge and its findings on areas
which require management judgement;

. the contents of any external reports or regulatory
statements published in respect of the External
Auditor; and

- the nature and scope of non-audit services provided
by the External Auditor and the level of fees charged
for these services.

We have a stringent policy and approval process in
place in respect of non-audit services and our view

is to keep this type of engagement minimal unless in
exceptional but reasonabie circumstances, and in line
with Group policy. No non-audit services have been
provided by the External Auditor in the financial year
{other than agreed upon procedures in relation to the
interim financial statements).

Frintad wirksteigeeis 1007

Opinion on the Annual Report
and Accounts

The Board has asked the Committee to advise it on
whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as
a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and
provide the information necessary for shareholders
to assess the Group's position, performance, business
madel and strategy.

The Committee has reviewed the process for
preparing this Annual Report in order to assess
whether other information contained in it is
consistent with the Group's financial statements for
the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022. This process has
included the following key elements:

+  reviewing new regulations and reporting
requirements with external advisers to identify
additional information and disclosures that may

il e ha St

+  preparing a detailed timetable and allocation of
drafting responsibility to relevant internal teams with
review by an appropriate senior manager;

. providing an explanation of the requirement for the |
Annua! Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, to
be fair, balonced ond understandable, to those with .
drafting responsibility;

. rmonitoring the integrity of the financial stoternents
and other informatien provided to shareholders
to ensure they represent a clear and accurate
assessment of the Group's financial pesition
and performance;

reviewing significant financial reporting issues and
judgements contained in the financial statements;

review of all sections of the Annual Report by
relevant external advisers;

review by the senior manager working group
responsible for the Annual Report process; and

. overdll review of the contents of the Annual Report
and Financial Statements for the period under review.

The Committee has advised the Board that it considers
the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the
period ended 24 April 2022, when taken as a whole, to
be fair, balanced and understandable and that they
provide the necessary information to assess the Group's
position, performance, business model and strategy.
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Significant Financial Reporting Issues

The Committee has considered the following areas of significance during the period and held discussions with
management and the External Auditor in reviewing these matters, The Committee is satisfied with how each of these
matters has been discussed and addressed.

Going concern and viability

The Audit Committee has held extensive tatks with menagement on going concern and viability, and the Committee as a
whole has reviewed and challenged maonagement analysis and assumptions used in both these assessrments. This includes
reviewing cash flow forecasts, sensitivity analysis, finance facilities ond future funding plans. We considered areas of ongoing
uncertainty in respect of Brexit, supply chain issues, cost of living and the broader economic downturn.

The Group has successfully refinanced a combined term loan and revolving credit facility (RCF) which currently totals £980m
for a period of three years with the possibility to extend for a further 2 years.

On this basis, the Committee is satisfied that the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate and the Group is viable
v ils ussessment period. Murther information is included within the Viahility Statement and the Directors' Report.

Inventory

The Committee has considered the work performed on inventory valuation and provisioning and has reviewed
management's methodolegy.

The Committee is satisfied the approach is consistent with the prior periods and takes account of any related supply chain
and macroeconomic risks.

specific risks associated with inventorly‘ within that business.

Impairment of right-of-use
assets; property, plont

& equipment; freehold
property and related
property provisions

The Committee reviewed and challenged management's impairment testing, including the key assumptions and

‘methodologies used. The projected cash flows, discount rotes and third-party valuations used in the evaluation were

considered appropriate, within the context of the changes in consumer behaviour and economic uncertainties.

Forward currency controcts

The Committee reviewed and discussed with management the voluation methodology used and accounting treatment
opplied to derivative contracts. The Committee also review delegated authorities in place for the execution of such
transactions and is satisfied these are appropriate.

Accounting for investments
and associates

Investments: the Committee considered management's work on presentation and clossification risk, in respect of investment.
shareholdings in excess of 20%. This work involves management judgement on whether or not the Group has significant
influence over these entities. The Committee discussed with management and reviewed its representations in determining
significant influence.

Assaciates: the Committee also considered management’s work on presentotion and classification risk in relction to
associates. The Committee has similarly discussed with management and reviewed its representations in determining
whether the Group has control over its associates,

Related parties

The Committee has evaluated the appropriateness of related-party disclosures through discussions with management and
review of papers outlining the valuation of the loan to Four Holdings Limited and the FY22 payments in respect of MM Prop
Consultancy Limited and M.P.M Elevation Limited. The Committee is sotisfied that the disclosures, payment and cpproach
are appropricte,

Legal and other provisions
and accruals

The Committee has reviewed and discussed with management its judgements and determinations in respect of legal
provisioning and accrual for tax-related matters at the period end. Given the inherent levels of uncertainty and estimation in
these areas, the Committee has carefully considered and challenged management's conclusions and reviewed independent
third-party reports where available. As a result, the Committee is sotisfied that the valuation of amounts recognised within
legal and other provisions are appropriate.

Impairment allowance on
trade receivables (Studic
Retoil Ltd)

The Committee challenged managements judgernents and estimates on provisioning levels. The Committee is satisfied the
underlying approach is consistent with Studio Retail's prior periods and has been adequately updated to take into account
refated supply chain and macroeconomic risks. Furthermore, the committee is satisfied with the approach for the post model
economic overlay. :

Business combination
accounting

The Committee reviewed the work performed by management in respect of the acquisition of Studio Retoil Limited,
specifically, in relation to the valuation of net assets at the date of acquisition, accounting for the defined benefit pension
scheme, fair value of intangibles and the fair value of the credit purchased impeired assets. The Committee is satisfied
that the acquisition and presentation of Studio Retail Limited represents o true and fair view and that the date of control,
estimates and judgements used by management are appropriate.
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Review of the Committee's Effectiveness

The Committee has improved its governance and annual
planning cycle in the year and will continue to build on
this in FY23. | monitor and assess the effectiveness of
the Committee regularly as Chair and invite input from
the External Auditor on this.

Key Objectives for FY23
The Committee's key objectives for FY23 are to:

. oversee the development of plans in response to the
Government's reform proposals: restoring trust in
audit and corporate governance;

. monitor continuous improvement of the Group's
systems of risk management and internal contral;

- muaintain a strong relationship with our External
) Auditor and engagement on the delivery of a rabust,
afficient nnd effartive avtarnal aodit fnd

- strengthen assurance activity across the Group
based con the three lines model, {accountability,
“actions, assurance).

Richard Bottomley

Chair of the Audit Committee and Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director

20 September 2022
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

The Directors of Frasers Group Plc present their Annual
Report and Accounts for the period ended 24 April 2022.
The Group's Corporate Governance Statement is set aut
on page 65 and forms part of the Directors’ Report.

Principal Activities and Business Review

The Chief Executive's Report and Business Review on
page 18 provides a detailed review of the Group's
current activities and potential future developments,
together with matters likely to affect future development,
performance and conditions. Principal risks and
uncertainties likely to offect the Group acre set out on
page 50. The financial position of the Group, its cash
flow, liquidity position and barrowing facilities are

1 - LCHENE S MU R N ~An T

Strategic Report on page 10 covers environmental
matters, including the impact of the Group's businesses
on the environment, the Group's workforce, and on
community engagement.

The principal activities of the Group during the
period were:

»  retailing of sports and leisure clothing, footwear and
equipment, premium and luxury apparel;

retailing through department stores, shops
and online;

«  wholesale distribution and sale of sports and leisure
clothing, foetwear and equipment, premium and
luxury apparel;

. production of apparel under Group-owned or
licensed brands; and

licensing of Group Brands.

Frasers Group Ple, through varicus subsidiaries, has
established branches in a number of different countries
in which the business operates.

Further information on the Group's principal activities
is set out at the front of this report and in the Chief
Executive’s Report and Business Review on page 18,

Results for the Period and Dividends

Revenue for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022 was

© £4,805.3m and profit before tax was £335.6m compared
with £3,625.3m and £8.5m in the prior period. The
trading results for the period and the Group's financial
position as at the end of the year are shown in the
attached financial statements and discussed further in
the Chief Executive's Report and Business Review and in
the Financial Review on pages 18 and 28 respectively.

s
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The Board has decided not to propose a dividend in
relation to FY22 (FY21: nil). The Board remains of the
opinion that it is in the best interests of the Group and its
shareholders to preserve financial flexibility, facilitating
future investments and other growth opportunities.

Share Capital and Control

As at 20 September 2022, there are 640,602,369 ordinary
shares of 10p in issue and fully paid, of which 163,124,612
were held in treasury. As at the period end there were
151,240,174 ordinary shares held in treasury.

Further information regarding the Group's issued share
capital can be found in note 25. Detuails of our share
schemes are also set out in note 25,

There are no specitic restrictions on the transfer of shares,
which are governed both by the general provisions of
the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation.

The Directors are net aware of any agreements between -
holders of the Company’s shares that may result in
restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights,

Authority to Issue Shares

The Directors were authorised to allot shares in the
capital of the Group up to an aggregate nominal
amount of £17,068,843 {being approx. one third of the

- then issued share capital) for the period expiring at the

end of the 2022 AGM.

In line with guidance from the Association of British
Insurers, the Company was also granted authority to
issue a further third of the issued share capital to a total
nominal amount of £34,137,686, in connection with a
rights issue.

An authority to dllot shares up to o maximum nominal
value of £2,560,326 (being approx. 5% of the then issued
share capital} as if statutory pre-emption rights did not
apply, was also approved. In addition, the Directors were
granted a further authority to allot up to a maximum
nominal value of £2,560,326 (being approx. 5% of the
then issued capital) as if statutory pre-emption rights
did not apply when such allotment was for the purposes
of financing {or refinancing, if the power is used within
six months of the original transaction) a transaction
which the Board determined to be an acquisition or
other capital investment of a kind contemplated by

the Pre-emption Group's Statement of Principles on
disapplying pre-emption rights.

95
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The Group was authorised to make market purchase of
ordinary shares of 10p each in the Company of up to a
maximum aggregate number of 76,758,587, representing
- 14.99% of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
- at the 2021 AGM. The above authority expires at the
close of the next AGM of the Company.

Whilst autherities expire at the close of the next AGM
of the Company, a contract to allot shares under these
authorities may be made prior to the expiry of the

authority and cencluded in whole or part after the AGM, .

and at that meeting other autherities will be sought
from shareholders:

Share Buybacks

During the period to 24 April 2022 the Company
purchased 29,979,999 under the Share buyback
programmes that commenced on 4 May 2021, 6 August

2021, 4 October 2021, 13 December 2021 and 1 April 2022,

consideration of F193.2m. Up to 20 September 2022 the
Company has purchased 11,884,438 additional shares
with a nominal value of 10p for consideration of £79.9m.
No shares have been disposed of by the Company to
this date. The purpose of the Programme is to reduce
the share capital of the Company.

Shareholders

No shareholder enjoys any special control rights, and,
except as set out below, there are no restrictions in the
transfer of shares or of voting rights.

As a controlling shareholder Mike Ashley has entered
inte a written and legally binding Relationship
Agreermnent with the Company. This agreement
ensures that the controlling shareholder complies with
the independenice provisions set out in Listing Rule
6.5.4. Under the terms of the Agreerment, Mike Ashley
undertook that, for so long s he is entitled to exercise,
or to control the exercise of, 15% or more of the rights
to vote at general meetings of the Company, he will:
conduct all transactions and relationships with any
member of the Group on arnt's length terms and on a
normal commerciol basis; exercise his voting rights or
other rights in support of the Company being managed
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the principles
of gocd governance set out in the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code and not exercise any of his voting or
other rights and powers to procure any amendment to
the Articles of Association of the Company; and other
than through his interest in the Company, not have any
interest in any business which sells sports apparel and
equipment, subject to certain rights, after notification
to the Company, to acquire any such interest of less
than 20% of the business concerned, and certain other
limited exceptions, without receiving the prior approval
of the Non-Executive Directors; and not solicit for
employment or employ any senior employee of

the Company.

The Company has complied with this Agreement's
independence provisions during the period and, as far as
the Company is aware, the controlling shareholder and
his associates have also complied with them.

As at 24 April 2022, the Company had been advised
that the following parties had an interest in 3% or more
of the issued share capital of the Company pursuant

to Rule 5 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules {DTR');

Percentage
of Issued
Number of Ordinary Nature of
shares held  shore capital holding
with voting
rights held
Mike Ashley 330,00C,000 67.0% Indirect
Phaenix Assst
Management 35727677 7.0% Direct

Partners Limited ?

Management LLP

Pk Ashlay held the shares through twe componies, namel, MASH Betg Limitecd
angd MASH Holdings Limiitedd which held 203 507,460 ordinary shares (61.65% af
thessuzd ordinary share cepitol of tne Company, and 26 492,540 ordhinety sharws
15 38%: of the issued ordmary share capital of the Campanyi respectively

2 Thase frguras cre as ab 06 Octobiar 20 baing the last dele e which the
Campany wes notified of ¢ chunge in the percentage of shares

(3; Ihese tigures are o at 14 Decermber 2013 Being the fast dlate on whichthe -
Company was notitiza of o change i the percentays of shares

Between 25 April 2022 and 20 September 2022 (being
the latest practicable date prior to the publication of
this Report) Mike Ashley’s shareholding increased to
69% held via MASH Beta Limited and MASH Holdings
Limited, which hold 303,507.460 ordinary shares (63.46%
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company)
and 26,492,540 ordinary shares {5.54% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company) respectively.
There have been no other notification of changes in the
interest heid by the above parties. '
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ADR Programmes

We are aware of unsponsored American Depository
Receipt (ADR) programmes established from time to
time in respect of our shares. We have not sponsored or
authorised their creation and any questions should be
directed to the relevant depository,

Frasers Group has not and does not intend to offer or
sell its ordinary shares or other securities (in the form

of ADR or otherwise) to the general public in the United
States nor has it listed or intend to list its Ordinary
Shares or other securities on any national securities
exchange in the United States or to encourage the
trading of its Ordinary Shares on any over-the-counter
market located in the United States. The Group does
not make arrangements to permit the voting of ordinary
shares held in the form of ADRs and its publication of
periodic financial and other information is not intended
to facilitate the operation of any unsponsored ADR

PGS L UST Ui day o fyi i e DTl s

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended or otherwise.

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Associgtion may only be
amended by special resolution at a general meeting of
sharehclders. The articles were lost amended at the 2021
AGM. Subject to applicable laws and the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Directors may exercise all
powers of the Company.

Takeovers

The Directors do not believe that there are any
significant contracts that may change in the event of a
successful takeover of the Company.

Share Schemes

Details of the Executive share scheme are set out in

the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 77. The
Fearless 1000 share scheme remains in place and is due
to benefit colleagues in 2025, should the parameters of
that scheme be met.

Colleague Involvement

The Group currently has approx. 30,000 colleagues in its
stores, offices and warehouses.

The workforce is notified of announcements and major
changes in the business via Company emails, SLACK,
social media and our intranet, as well as information
being communicated through line managers. The
Company has elected @ Workers' Representative, Cally
Price, who attends all Board meetings and provides
feedback from employees to the Board. The Company
also has the Your Compary, Your Voice' scheme

which enables colleagues to raise issues of concern

via suggestion boxes. The contributions are read by
senior management and the Workers' Representative,
who provides the Board with an overview and replies

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

to colleagues as appropriate. A selection of questions
received, and answers given by management, are
displayed in communal areas for colleagues.

The Group has invested heavily in a new e-learning
platform that provides colleagues with access to
courses and opportunities to keep up to date with the
latest developmenis of the Group as well as personal
development opportunities. Our new Leadership
Academy also invests in colleagues who wish to

grow within the business and provides them with the
opportunity to shape the polices and future direction of
the business.

Qur retail conferences offer attendees an opportunity
to celebrate their successes, receive updates on how
the Group's strategy is progressing, and for them to
judge how the Group is performing via the ‘Confident or
Concerned’ questionnaire.

Qur monthlv nominations for 'Frasers Chamnion
proviges colieagues with ine opportunity 1o INGIVISUTily
recognise and reward the hard work of their fellow
colleagues. Winners of the monthly champion awards
win an additional month's salary as well as 10 points
under the Fearless 1000 bonus scheme. A total of 98
colleagues were 'Frasers Champions' in the year.

There are various colleague incentives available to

our retail colleagues. These incentives include our 5

Star Commission Scheme, Turncver Bonus, PBT Bonus,
Stocktake Bonus and other comimission schemes. These
schemes vary between fascias.

Further information on relationships with our peaple and
the principal decisions taken by the Group during the
period having regard to colleague involvement can be
found in the Directors' Report on page 97 and page 13 of
the Our People section.

Diversity and Equal Opportunities

The Group's recruitment policy is to match the
capabilities and talents of each applicant to the
appropriate job. Factors such as gender, race, religion or
belief, sexual orientation, age, disability or ethnic origin
are ignored, and decisions are made with regard to
candidates irrespective of these factors. Discrimination
in any form is not tolerated within the Group.

Applications for employment by persons with any
disability are given full and fair consideration for all
vacancies and are assessed in accordance with their
particular skills and abilities.

The Group endeavours to meet its responsibilities
towards the training and employment of disabled
people, and to ensure that training, career development
and promotion opportunities are available to all,

The Group makes every effort to provide continuity
of employment when our people become disabled.
Attempts are made in every circumstance to provide
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employment, whether this involves adapting the current
job role and remaining in the same job, or moving

to a more appropriate role. Job retraining and job
adaptation are just two examples of how the Group
works in the interests of its workforce to promote equal
opportunities, in order that an individual's employment
within the Group may continue. The Group values the
knowledge and expertise that our people have gained
throughout their time with us, and therefore does not
wish to lose valued colleagues.

Further information on our approach to diversity can be
found in the Strategic Report on page 34.

Business Relationships

Details of our relationships with business partners are
detailed in our 5.172 statement, within the
Strategic Report.

Daoacamrrh Aand Navalanmant

The Group designs some clothing and footwear for our
in-house brands for sale in stores. The Group is currently
investing in research that will enable us to produce more
sustainable products and processes that will help us
meet our ESG targets.

External brands are purchased from third-party suppliers,
although we do work with them to agree on the specific
pieces which we sell in-store.

Charitable and Political Donations

During the year, the Group made charitable donations
of £6.6k (2021: £3k) in the UK. The Group also made
donations in kind such as clothing, sleeping bags and
sports equipment to various organisations and charities,
No politicat donations were made (2021: nii). Further
information on cur charitable donations and community
initiatives can be found in our ESG report.

Directors

Details of current Directors, dates of appointment,

their roles, responsibilities and significant external
commitments are set out on page 72. The membership
of the Board of Directors has largely remained the
same throughout FY22 with the exception that Anouska
Kapour who was appointed on 29 September 2021,
subsequently resigned on 21 December 2021 due to

a conflict that arcse during her tenure, and Michael
Murray was appointed to the Board on 1 May 2022.

Although the Company's Articles of Association require
retirement by rotation of one third of Directors each
year, the Group complies with the 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code and at each AGM all of the Directors
will retire and stand for reappcintment.

Information on service contracts and details of the
interests of the Directors and their persens closely
associated in the share capital of the Company at 24
April 2022, and at the date of this Report, are shown in
the Directors' Remuneration Report on page 77.

Copies of the service contracts of Executive Directors

~and of the appointment letters of the Chair and

Non-Executive Directors are available for inspection at
the Company's registered office during normal business
hours and at the AGM.

No Director has a directorship in common or other
significant links with any other Director,

Director appointments are governed by the Companies
Act 2006, the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and
the Group's Articles of Association.

The Directors confirm that:

so for as each Director is aware. there is no relevant
QUL INTORMGEN O WHICH [he Lompany s Quditor (s
unaware; and

the Directors have talken all steps that they ought
te have taken to make themselves aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
auditor is aware of that information.

Directors’ Conflicts of Interest

The Board has formal procedures to deal with Directors’
conflicts of interest. The appointment letters of
Non-Executive Directors state that they agree to consult
with the Chair prior to accepting any directorships

in publicly quoted companies or any major external
appointments. Also, if any Non-executive Director
becomes aware of any potential conflict of interest, the
Chair and Company Secretary must be notified as soon
as possible.

During the pericd, the Chair and the Company Secretary
were made aware of an arising conflict of interest in
relation to Anouska Kapur as a Director. As a result of
this conflict, Anouska elected to stand down from her
role. No other conflicts or additional appointments for
other Non-Executive Directors became apparent.

The independence of Non-Executive Directors is
reviewed by the Board annually. All Directors complete
an annual questicnnaire to record any potential conflicts
of interest. No conflicts were disclosed for the FY22
questionnaire.

The Company has entered inte a Relationship
Agreement with Mike Ashley, whose wholly-owned
compoanies, MASH Holdings Limited and MASH Beta
Limited, currently hold approx. 5.54% and 61.65%
respectively of the issued share capital of the Company
(excluding treasury shares) as at 24 April 2022. This
agreement is described in the Directors' Report on

‘page 95.
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Directors' Indemnities

I he Group has qualifying third-party indemnity
provisions within the meaning given to the term by s234
and s235 of the Companies Act 2006 for the Directors.
This is in respect of any potential exposure of liability in
their capacity as a Director of the Company and of any
company within the Group. Such indemnities were in
force throughout the financial period and will remain

in force.

Sports Direct Employee Benefit Trust

We note that the lrustees of the Sports Lirect Employee
Benefit Trust have waived their right to receive dividends
on the ordinary shares comprised in the trust fund. No
dividends were paid by the Company for the period
ended 24 April 2022 nor for the period ended

25 April 2021.

Rule 9.8.4

The information required by Listing Rule 9,84 is set out in
the table below:

Applicable sub-paragraph within Disclosure provided

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Annual General Meeting

Details on the date, time and format of the AGM will
follow shortly after the finalisation of this Annual Report
and Accounts. Information will be easily accessible on
the Group's website.

Going Concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors
likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set ocut in the Chief Executive's Report and
Business Review.

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described
in the Financial Review. In addition, the financial
statements include the Group's objectives, policies

and processes for managing its capital, its financial

risk management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedaina activities. and its exposures to
Credil nIsk Una guIdily Nsk.

The Group is profitable, highly cash generative and

has considerable financial resources. The Group is able
to operate within its banking facilities and covenants,
which run until November 2024 with a two-year option

LR 9.8.4 to extend, and is well placed to take advantage of
(1) Interest capitalised by the Group N/A strategic opportunities as they arise. As a consequence,
(2) Publication of unaudited financicl N/A the Directors believe that the Group is well placed
information to manage its business risks successfully despite the
9 Y cesp
(3) Requirement deleted from the ) continued uncertain economic outlook.
Listing Rules .
(4} Details of long-term incentive Management hqs assessed the Ievgl of trading and has
schemes only involving a Directar N/A forecast and projected a conservative base case and
(5) Waiver of smaluments by also a number of even more conservative scenarios,
a Director N/A including taking into account the Group's open positions
(6} Waiver of future emoluments by NA in relation to Hugo Boss options. These forecasts and
a Birector projections show that the Group will be able to operate
(7} Non pro-rata aflotments for cash N/A within the level of the current facility and its covenant
lissuer} . . .
requirements (being interest cover and net debt to
E?Agfg;‘sﬁg‘;‘i’;‘:isg°tme"“ for cash N/A EBITDA ratios). Management alse has a number of
T ——— o mitigating actions which could be taken if required
aren:! articipauon in a placi . . N - n v
bya "stedzubsid'?cry placing N/A such as putting on hold discretionary spend, liquidating
0] Contracts of significance NAA certain cssaets on t‘he bc?!cmce sheet qnd.p?cylng down
— - the revolving crediit facility. See the Viability Statement
{1} Provision of services by a A
controlling shareholder page 81 for further details.
{12) Shareholder waivers of dividends page 95 Having thoroughly reviewed the performance of the
{12) Shareholder waivers of N/A Group and Parent Company and having made suitable
future dividends enquiries, the Directors are confident that the Group and
(14) Agreementts with controlling poge 96 Parent Company have adequate resources to remain in
shareholders , R .
operational existence for the foreseeable future, which
is at least 12 months from the date of these financial
statements. Trading would need to fall significantly
below levels observed during the pandemic to require
mitigating actions or a relaxation of covenants.
99
Pranted on Sramuois 1070 Feooiia and Cavhoy Capsrad thiough the Woodland Trust tislping i Bty poadland soross PEeRURY




e T [

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Furthermore, as per the outlook statement, the
Directors are confident of achieving an Adjusted
PBT of between £450m to £500m during FY23, On
this basis, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis for the preparation of the Annuatl
Report and Financial statements.

Accountability and Audit

A statement by the External Auditor can be found on
page 102, detailing its reporting responsibilities. The
Directors fulfil their responsibilities, and these are set out
in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement on page 101,

Auditor

RSM UK Audit LLP will be proposed for reappointment
at the AGM, In accordance with 5.489{4) of the
Companies Act 2006, resolutions to determine
remuneration are to be agreed at the AGM.

UL LDUIUNICS QISEL LYWL

See note 37 to the Financial Statements.

Future Developments

Future developments are discussed throughout the
Strategic Report.

Financial Risk Management

Financial risk management is discussed in note 3 of the
financial statements.

By Order of the Board
Robert Palmer '
Company Secretary
20 Septemnber 2022
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY

STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the

Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report, the separate Corporate
Governance Statement and the financial statements in
accardance with applicable law and regulations,

Company law requires the Directors to prepare

Group and Company financial statements for each
financial year. The Directors have elected under
company law and are required under the Listing Rules
of the Financial Conduct Authority to prepare Group
financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted
International Accountina Standards. The Directors have
glecCled unaer Comnpuny luw Lo prepdre ne Lomppany
financial statements in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law).

The Group financial statements are required by law and
UK-adopted International Accounting Standards to
present fairly the financial position and performance of
the Group; the Companies Act 2006 provides in relation
to such financial statements that references in the
relevant part of that Act to financial statements giving a
true and fair view are references to their achieving a

fair presentation.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the
Group for that period.

In preparing each of the Group and Company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

A select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

B. make judgements and accounting estimates that
are reasonable and prudent;

C. for the Group financial statements, state whether
they have been prepared in accordance with
UK-adopted International Accounting Standards;

D. for the Company financial statements, state
whether applicable UK accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the
Company financial statements;

E. prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Group and the Company will continue
in business,

- Beoycled and Carbon Canturad twoagh s Wi

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Group's and the Company's transactions
and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Group and the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
and the Directors' Remuneration Report comply with
the Companies Act 2006, They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and cther irregularities,

MNismamtare! Chmbamnmnt Divciimnt A tha

Disclosure and Transparency Rules

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are
listed on pages 72 to 74 confirm that, to the best of each
person's knowledge:

A. the financial statements, prepared in accordance
with the applicable set of accounting standards,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit of the Company and
the undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as a whole; and

B. the Strategic Report contained in the Annual
Report includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and the position
of the Company and the undertakings included in
the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that they face.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Company's website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer .
20 September 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S
REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
FRASERS GROUP PLC

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Frasers
Group Plc (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries
(the ‘Group’) for the period ended 24 April 2022 which
comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consclidated Cashflow
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Changes

in Equity, the Company Balance Sheet, the Company
e o s s g
financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the Group
financial statements is applicable law and United
Kingdom adopted International Accounting Standards.
The financial reporting frarnework that has been applied
in the preparation of the parent company financial
statements is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

B e e e b e

In our opinion:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of the Group's and of the parent
company's affairs as at 24 April 2022 and of the
Group's profit for the period then ended;

. the Group financial statements have been properly
' prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
adopted International Accounting Standards;

. the parent company financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice;
and

. the financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the reguirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the
Group and parent company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
FRC's Ethical Standard as applied to listed public
interest entities and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for

our opinion,

R VTR TSI UTOTNIG SR

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the
Audit Committee.

Summary of Cur Audit Approach

Key audit matters

Group - Recurring risks Valuation of inventory.

Immpairment of property
related assets,

Property, Legal and
Other Provisichs.

Group - event driven risks Impairment of Studio Retaif

trade receivables.
Accounting for the acquisition

of the trade and certain assets
of Studic Retail Group.

Materiality Group
Overall materiality: £17.0million.

Performance materiality:
E11.0million.

Parent Company
Overall materiality: £5.4million.

Performance materiality:
£3.5million,

Scope Our Group audit procedures
covered 83% of revenue, 86%
of total assets and 91% of profit
before tox,
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Rey Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of Lhe
Group and parent company financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks
of material misstatement {whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on
the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters, and any commenits we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of
our audit of the Group and parent company financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

Valuation of inventory e S

Key audit matter description At 24 April 2022, the Group Consolidated Balance Sheet records inventory of £1,277.6m (2021: £1,096.6m). This
amount is net aof an inventory provision of £236.7m (2021 £219.8m).

As described in note 2 to the financial statements, management use a forward looking inventory provisioning model
which caleulates a provision by categary of inventory based on historical experience, pricing and discounting
strategies and management's assessment of risk.

There is significant estimation involved in the calculation of inventory provisions to ensure that inventory is held at
the lower of cost ond net realisable value. This involves consideration of expected future losses on sale of inventory
including assessing the likely impacts of macro-economic factors, inventory obsolescence and the additional costs
to sell which need to be included in calculating the net realisable value of inventory.

Due to the factors explained above, we have identified the valuation of inventory as o key audit matter.

L O . = PPN ot L LI o e R L T

tne auait +  Assessed the cppropriateness of management's inventory provision calculations, including testing the accuracy

and completeness of the data used ond the mathematical accuracy of the provisioning model.

- Critically challenged the assumptions made in the inventery provision madel in respect of the expected level of
discounting and the expected costs of sale, including:

« The basis an which expected discounts were calculated ond whether calculated discounts were realistic
based on historical experience and the current trading environment.

«  The assumptions regarding the expected volume and allocated costs of redistributing {tunnelling) and
repricing product.

+ Whether different assumptions and estimates should be applied for different fascias given the
differentiated product mix.

- Considered management's strategic aptions for addressing demand in the uncertain retail economic
erwironment resulting from current macre-economic factors, including discounting levels and further
development of on-line retail channels.

As a result of our findings from challenging management's model, we independently developed an alternative
model thot opplied historic inventory loss experience to calculate a provision against current out of season and
clearance inventory and inventory that would be expected to remain unsold and fall into these categories in future
periads, In addition, we recalculated the expected future tuninelling and repricing costs to take account of our
assessment of the likely future costs of these activities in relation to products that would have a net redlisable value
which was below cost.

We then formed cn assessment, based on discussions with management and available market datg, to reflect the
expected impact of current macero-economic factors and expected changes in customer disposable income. This
included consideration of forecast future sales performance, expected margin decline, the increased risk of inventory
becoming out of season and adjustments considered relevant for specific fascios, where the risk of inventory
obsolescence wos considered to be higher. Our alternative model cllowed us to develop an estimate of the level of
provision we considered appropriate and supportable against which we were oble to assess management's estimates.

Key cbservations Our audit work on inventory valuation, and in particular the development of our own alternative provision model, did
not identify any material misstaternent in the valuation of inventory.
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Impairment of property related assets

Key audit matter description

As a result of the macro-ecanomic factors, reduction in consumer disposable income and changing patterns of retail
consumer behaviour, particularly in relation to physical stares, the Group identified that there were indications of
impairment in relation to freehold property interests, right of use assets and related PPE ["property related assets™),
As required by IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets) the Group has performed an impairment review of oll such assets.

As a result of this review, impairments in relation to freehold property (E106.5m), right of use assets (£76.8m) and
related PPE (£40.7m) have been made in these financial stotements.

As described In note 2 to the financial staternents, the impairment review involves management judgements and
estimates in relation to the value in use of the property reloted assets (being the net present value of the forecast
related cashflows) and, in the case of freehold property, comparison of caleulated vatue in use to internal and
external property valuations. The values derived are then compared to the book value of the related assets to
determine whether impairment is required. In making this assessment management determined each property or
store to be a cash generating unit (CGU}.

The value inuse colculations involve significont assumptions regarding future cashflows, the long term growth rate in
like for like sales, an assessment of the propensity for customers to switch to online purchases, pressure on margins
and determination of an appropriate discount rate and an assessment of the likely impact of high inflation and
reduced consumer disposable income. In the case of freehold property, valuations are dependent on assumptions
regarding the obility to relet property, the length of void and rent free pericds and future rentals achievable,
Accordingly we determined that the valuation of property related assets had a high degree of estimation uncertainty.

Due to the factors explained above, we have identified valuction, presentation and disclosure of property related
assets as a key audit matter.

How the matter was addressed in
the ~urdit

We obtained an understanding of how management performed their impairment testing of property related assets
nd thair Anaranch o valhiotion

We critically assessed the methodology appiied by management with reterence to the requirements of A5 36 and
tested the integrity of the value in use calculations and the calculated impairments by CGU.

In the case of freehold property, in addition to assessing the value in use calculotions, we evaluated the approach
to the valuation of freehold interests with input from an independent external retail property valuation expert and
eritically challenged the underlying assumptions. '

In particular we challenged the significant assumptions within management's models through:-

- Evaluating management’s assumptions through consideration of histarical and current trading performance and
external datc points.

+  Sensitised the assumptions in mancgement’s impaimment models.

+  Tested the reconciliation between the cashflows used in the value in use calculations with those used to assess
going concern ond viability to ensure they were consistent.

- Critically challenging whether it was appropriate to exclude properties fram the impairment model and assessing
whether the reasons for exclusion were supportable — for example where specific properties were
under redevelopment.

= Challenging whether previous impairments should be reversed.

- Comparing the discount rate used with that independently calculated by our internal valuation expert.
We assessed whether the disclosures within the financial statements are consistent with IAS 36.

Key observations

Our audit work in respect of the impairment of property related assets concluded thet the related balances were not
materially misstoted and the disclosures management have made ore appropriate.
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Property, Legal and Other Provisions

Key audit matter description The Group makes pravision for linbilities where it identifies there is a present obligation as a result of g past event
and where it is probable that there will be o resultant outflow of resources that can be reliably measured.

The Group has a significant provision in relation to legal and regutatory matters and property related provisions.

As detuailed in note 25 to the financial statements, the Consolidated Balance Sheet includes provisions of £230.2m
{FY21: £215.8m) relating to legal and regulatery matters, £161.2m {2021: £144.7m) relating to property provisions which
principally comprise pravisions for dilapidations on leasehold properties and £41.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the
financial services business of Studio Retail.

The dilapidation provision requires significant judgements to be made as to future amounts payable based on
historical experience, external advice and evolving conditions within the property sector,

Additionally, the Group faces a number of legal, tax and other commercial claims and significant jJudgement is
required in determining whether a provision should be recorded and for what amount.

As a result of the Group's acquisition of Studio Retail it has recognised a provision of £41.6m in respect of a matter
which is subject to a high degree of estimation uncertainty. This is discussed further in the key audit matter deating
with the acquisition of trade and certain assets of Studio Retail Group and in note 29 to the financial statements.
Dug to the ameunts involved ond the significant judgements required in quarntifying and assessing provisions

we have identified existence, accuracy, completeness, presentation and disclosure of property legal and other
provisions os a key audit matter.

Hew the matter was addressed in Qur audit work included the following:

the audit + Considering management's assessment in respect of provisions and assessing whether the recognition criteria of

IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liobilities and Centingent assets had been met.

+  Challenaina the assumotions mode in the dilanidation provision modet in resnect. of the expected level of
T T L R L L e TP T R LR
independently developed on alternative model that applled hlstonc dilapidation costs and relevant factors
such as geography and property type as well as considering the impacts of lkely future changes in the property
market. Our alternative model allowed us to develop an estimate of the level of provision we considered
appropriate and supportable against which we were able to assess management's estimates.

+  Challenging provisions and related assumptions with key management outside the finance function, including
members of the property and legal teams and obtdining correborative evidence from third parties in relation to
material ongoing legal and tax matters.

+  Auditing the movement in provisions and checking for completeness through the review of engoing claims for
dilapidations and through circularisation of legal advisors in relation to other claims.

Key observations Our oudit work in réspect of Property, legal and other provisions concluded that the related balances were not
materially misstated, aibeit subject te o high degree of estimation uncertainty as regards the Studio retail provision,
and the disclosures management have made are appropriate.

Impairment of Studic Retail trade receivables
Key qudit matter description Frasers Group acquired Studio Retail Limited (SRL} on 24 February 2022,

SRL has significant trade receivables as a result of credit facilities which are offered to customers. These are
recovered through instalments. These trade receivables make up a significant preportion of Frasers Group's total
assets at 24 April 2022. An cppropriate allowance for expected credit losses in respect of these trade receivables is
required to be derived from estimates and underlying assumptions such as the Probability of Default and the Loss
Given Default, taking into consideration forward lecking macro-economic assumptions. Changes in the assumptions
applied such as the value and frequency of future debt sales in calculating the Loss Given Default, and the
estimation of customer repayments and Probability of Default rates, as well as the weighting of the macroeconomic
scenarios applied to the impairment model could hove a significant impact on the carrying value of these trade
receivables.

We determined that eredit risk is @ highly judgemental area due to the use of subjective assumptions and a high
degree of estimation uncertainty. The impairment provisien relating to the Studio Retail trade receivables required
the Directors to make judgements over the ability of customers to make future repaymerts. Since the recoverability
of trade receivables has a high degree of estlmatlon uncertainty, with a potential range of possible outcames, we
censider this to be a key audit matter.

How the matter waos addressed in QOur audit work in relation to the acquired trade receivables within SRL included:-

the audit +  Reviewing the work of the component auditor in assessing the design and implementation, and testing the

operating effectiveness, of the key contrals in relation to the impairment and provision model and forming our
awn assessment based on this review and discussions with management.

»  Assessing the overall methodology against the recuirements of IFRS 9.
+  Reviewing the work of the compenent auditor in perfarming testing on the data within the model and verifying
this to underlying source documentation. Utilising experts to assist the qudit team in assessing the validity of

the model and challenging management's forecasting and weighting of key model drivers (macro-economic
variables) and expected future debt sale prices (ultimate recoveries).

Key observations Bosed on the work performed, we considered the methodologies and modelled assumptions used to value trade
receivables expected credit losses to be reasonable and in line with IFRS 9.
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Acquisition of the trade and certain assets {including credit impaired assets) of Studio Retail Group

Key oudit motter description

On 24 February 2022, the Group ocquired digital retaoiter, Studio Retail Limited (SRL) and certain other assets of
Studio Retail Group ple (in administration) (SRG). The consideration for the transaction, which totalled £28.3m,
comprised of cash and the release of SRG from its liabilities to the lending banks under its revolving credit facilities.
The Company «lso agreed to act as guarantor of certain payments in respect of the SRG group pension scheme to
the satisfaction of the Trustees. Details of the acquisition cre given in note 32 to the financial statements.

Judgement is applied by management in assessing the fair value of the assets and liabifities acquired in the business
combination, including any intangibles in accordance with IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurerment.

Management have applied a number of key judgements and estimates in order te account for this acquisition in
both the Group and parent company financial statements in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations and
FRS 102 Section 19. These include;

+  Considering whether this constitutes a step acquisition on the basis of the Group's holding in SRG
pre administration.
- Considering whether the debt purchase is a separate transaction.

- Determining the corrying value of net assets in the acquisition balance sheet of SRL, in particular relating to the
earrying value of trade receivobles.

- Determining the fair values assigned to determine the seporately identifiable intangibles at the acquisition date.
+  Determining any other fair value adjustments required at the acquisition date and the quantum of these
including specifically in relation to the purchase of credit impaired assets.

+  Estimating the provision required at acquisition in relation to the angoing review of probable remediation actions
required in respect of past lending and collection activities and referred to in note 29.
L T T e L L 2 R T e e e TV Sy S AU UL N R U ISP SRR PR
LO LR COsts Of FeMeaiation, we Nave iIdentined DusiNess CoMmaINaLon and GoquIsILon dccounting logether with
accounting for credit impaired assets as a key audit matter for both the accuracy and valuation assumptions.

How the matter was addressed in
the audit

Qur audit work in relgtion to the acquisition accounting included:

= Obtaining and reviewing management’s acquisition accounting paper in relation to the acquisition of SRL
to verify that the treatment of the acquisition entries and any fair value adjustments are appropriate and in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations ond FRS 102 Section 19.

+  Concluding that the conditions for recognising a step acquisition were absent given that the Group's shares in
Studio Retail plc became worthless at the date of that company’s administration.

- Checking accounting entries to purchase and other agreements and bank statements.

+  Performing testing on the net assets at the acquisition date including on the expected credit lass provisions in
respect of SRL's trade receivables.

- Critically challenging management's judgerments in retation teo fair value adjustments and recognition of
separately identifiable intangible assets.

+  Reviewing and challenging management assumptions and estimates opplied in accounting for the Purchase of
Credit Impaired Assets (trade receivables) in accordance with IFRS 9,

- Reviewing and challenging the methodalogy adopted by management in determining the initiol estimate of the
provision recagnised under IFRS 3 in relation to potential liabilities arising from the review described in note 29 to
the financial statements,

+  Inspecting financiat statement disclosures in relation to the acquisition and considering in particular the
adequacy of the disclosure and sensitivities applied in relation to the recognition of provision referred to above.

Key observations

We found the approach to accounting for the acquisition, including the judgerments made in the recognition and
valuction of acquired assets and liabilities to be acceptable,

In relation to the provision recognised in connection with the ongeing review of probable remediation actions
required in respect of post lending and collection activity and referred to in note 29, we consider the approach
adopted by the Group in meking a provisional estimate, in cccordance with IFRS 3, of the quantum of provision and
the associated disclosure to be reasonable but draw attention to the high degree of estimation uncertainty with

a potential range of recsonably possible outcomes greater than cur materiality for the finoncial statements as a
whole and possibly many multipfes of that amount.

There are no key audit matters relating to the parent company.
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¢

Changes to Key Audit Matters

in the prior year we reported a key audit matter in respect of the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and going concern
in the light of the uncertainties surrounding the impact of the pandemic on the retail sector. However, due to the UK's
recovery from the pandemic and the strong performance of the business in the post pandemic period. We have not
deemed going concern to be a key audit matter although it remains an area of focus in the audit.

We alse included, in the prior year, a key audit matter regarding the classification of investments where the Group

held more than 20% but less than 50% of the voting share capital of the investee but where the Group had rebutted
the presumption that significant influence existed. Since the only remaining such investment at the pericd end was in
Mulberry Group plc {36.9%) which has a significant shareholder with a beneficial interest in excess of 55% of voting
share capital, we no longer consider our assessment of management's judgements in this area to be a key audit matter.

Our Application of Materiality

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we set certain thresholds which help us to determine the nature, timing
and extent of our audit procedures. When evaluating whether the effects of misstatements, both individually and
on the financial statements as a whole, could reasonably influence the economic decisions of the users we take

into account the qualitative nature and the size of the misstatements. Based on our professional judgement, we
determined materiality for the financial staternents as follows:

Overall materiality £17.0 million {2021 £15.1million) £5.dmillion (2021 £11.0million}

Basis for determining overall materiality 5% of profit before tax (2021: 2.8% of 1% of total assets (capped at an allocation of
underlying EBITDA) overall Group materiality)

Rationale for benchmark applied During the year the Group changed the basis The Parent Company does not trade and
on which merket guidance was given to a profit therefore total assets is considered to be the most

before tax based measure (adjusted profit before appropriate benchmark.
tox) rether than the underlying EBITDA measure
applied previously on the basls thot o measure
which included the impact of depreciation,
amortisation and IFRS 16 was more appropriate
given the Group's increased investment

in properties.

We applied a lower level of materiality to the audit
of components end, in accordance with ISA 320, in
relation to certain classes of trensactions, account
balances and disclosures,

Performance moteriality £11.0m [2021: £7.2m) £3.5m (202t £7.1m)
We set performance materiality at a level We set performance matericlity at a level
lower than overall materiality for the financial tower than overall materiality for the financial
statements as a whole to reduce to an statements as a who'e to reduce to an
dpproprictely low level the probability that, appropriately low level the probability that,
in aggregate, uncorrected end undetected in aggregate, uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceed overall materiality. misstaternents exceed overall materiality.
The factors we considered in determining The factors we considered in determining

performance materiality included; our knowledge  performance materiality included; our knowledge
of the Group, the pressures within the retail sector  of the Group, the pressures within the retail sector

and the level of misstaternents in prior periods. and the level of misstatements in prior periods.
Basis for determining performance materiality 65% of overall materiality (2027, 65% of 65% of overall materiality (2021 65% of

overall matericlity] averall materiality}
Reporting of misstatements to the Misstatements in excess of £0.85million and Misstatements in excess of £0.56million and
Audit Committee misstatements below that thresheld that, in our misstatements below that threshold that, in our

view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. view, warranted reporting on gualitative grounds.
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An Overview of the Scope of Qur Audit

Our audit approach was based on a thorough
understanding of the Group's business and is risk based,
and in particular included:

. Evaluation of identified components to assess the
significance of each component and to determine
the planned audit response based on a measure
of materiality. This included significance as a
percentage of the Group's revenue, total assets and
adjusted profit before tax;

- For those components that were evaluated as
significant, or likely to include significant risks,
either a full-scope or targeted approach was taken
based on their relative materiality to the Group,
and our assessment of the audit risk. For significant
components requiring a full-scope approach, we
evaluated controls over the financial reporting

and addressed critical accounting matters.
Substantive testing was performed on significant
classes of transactions and balances, and other
material batances, determined during the Group
scoping exercise;

. Full scope audit procedures have been performed
on the financial statements of Frasers Group
plc, and on the financial information of the main
trading companies within the UK Retail component;
{Sportsdirect.com Retcil Limited, Wareshop 2
Limited, Sports Direct International Holdings Limited,
House of Fraser Limited, The Flannels Group
Limited), and on the SDI Property compenent and
GAME Retail Limited.

. In relation to the significant overseas component in
Spain and the International component; comprising
Austria, Belgium, treland and the United States, we
engaged RSM member firms to perform full scope
component audits. Additionally, RSM member firms
attended inventory counts in a number of locations;

. in relation to Studio Retail Limited, component
auditors were engaged to perform full scope audit
procedures covering the post acquisition period.

. The Group engagement team reviewed the
work performed by the component auditors. We
determined the level of involvement we needed to
have in their audit work at those reporting units to
be able to conclude whether sufficient, appropriate
audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our
opinion on the Group financial statements as
a whole.

*  Further specific audit procedures over the Group
consolidation and areas of significant judgement
including impairment of property related assets,
leases, taxation and treasury were performed by the
Group engagement team.
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The operations that were subject to full-scope audit
procedures made up 82% of consolidated revenues,
84% of total assets and 91% of profit before tax.

The operations that were subject to targeted audit
procedures made up 1% of consolidated revenues, 2% of
total assets and 0% of profit before tax; and

The remaining operations of the Group were subject

to analytical procedures over the balance sheet and
income statements of the relevant entities with o focus
on applicable risks identified above. This made up 17%
of consolidated revenues, 14% of total assets and 9% of
profit before tax.

The coverage achieved by our audit procedures was:

=

Profit Before Tax

\@ Full Scope  J98 Targeted Ausit ]

Full scope audits were performed for 7 components
(some of which included a number of legal entities which
were combined for group reporting purposes), targeted
audit procedures for 7 components and analytical
procedures at group level for the remaining components.

Number of Profit
companents Revenue Total assets before tax_
Full scope
audit 7 82% B84% 919
Targeted audit
pracedures 7 1% 2% 0%
Total 4 83% 86% 1%

Analytical procedures at group level were performed for
the remaining components.

The Group team visited two component locations

in the UK and attended video conference calls and
performed remote file reviews for components in
Austriq, Belgium, Ireland, Spain, the UK and the USA.
At these meetings the findings reported to the Group
team were discussed in more detail, and any further
work required by the Group team was then performed
by the component auditor.

The parent company was subject to a full scope audit
for the purposes of the Group and Parent Company
financial statements,
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The Impact of Climate Change on the Audit

In planning our audit we have considered the potential
impact of the risk arising from climate change on the
Group's business and its financial statements,

Further information on the Group's commitments is
provided in the Group's Task Force for Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (“TCFD"} disclosures on page 40.

As part of our audit we have performed a risk
assessment, including making enquiries of management,
reading board minutes and applying our knowledge of
the Group and the sector within which it operates, to
understand the extent of the potential impact of climate
change on the Group's financial statements. Taking
account of the nature of the business and the extent

of the headroom in impairment testing. We have not
assessed climate related risk to be significant to our
audit. There was no impact on our key audit matters.

consistency with the financial statements and our
audit knowledge.

We have not been engaged to provide assurance over
the accuracy of the climate risk disclosures set out on
pages 40 to 45 in the Annual Report.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded
that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis

of accounting in the preparation of the financial
staternents is appropriate,

Our evaluation of the Directors' assessment of the
Group's and parent company's ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:-

+  Obtaining an understanding of management’s
going concern models, discussing key assumptions
with management and assessing whether those
assumptions were consistent with those applied
elsewhere, such as in relation to inventory valuation
and the assessment of property related provisions.

»  Checking the mathematical accuracy of
management's cashflow models, and agreeing
opening balances to 24 April 2022 actual figures.

»  Checking management's covenant compliance
calculations to determine whether there is a risk
of breach and assessed whether the assumptions
in management’s base model appeared realistic,
achievable and consistent with other internal and
external evidence.

»  Comparing forecast sales with recent historical
information to consider the accuracy of forecasting.

. Considering post year end sales patterns to assess
whether they were consistent with those assurmed in
the base model.

e 1000 Recyeled and Carbon Caplured through tha Waoy
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«  Critically assessing and testing management's

sensitivity analysis and performing our own analysis
based on further sensitising of the models to take
account of reasonably possible scenarios that could
arise from the risks identified.

Challenging management regarding their
identification of discretionary spend that could be
reduced should mitigating actions become necessary.

. Reviewing agreements and correspondence relating

to the availability of finoncing arrangements.

Evaluating the Group's disclosures on going concern
against the requirements of IAS 1.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt on the Group's or the parent
company's ability to continue as a going concern for a

statements are authorised for issue.

In relation to the Directors’ reporting on how they have
applied the UK Corporate Governance Code, we have
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation
to the Directors’ statement in the financial statements
about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the
Directors with respect to going concern are described in
the relevant sections of this report.

Other Information

The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report on pages 1 to 101 other
than the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other
infermation contained within the annual report. Qur
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements

or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstaternent in the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other
information. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is g material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regord.
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Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ remuneration
report to be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006,

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit:

- the information given in the Strategic Report and
the Directors’ Report for the financial period for
which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements and those
reports have been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements;

the information about internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capital

chp b irae mivan in cmamaelismees it walae 79 E

and 7.2.6 in the Disclosure Rules and Transparency
Rules sourcebook made by the Financial Conduct
Authority (the FCA Rules), is consistent with the
financial statements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements; and

. information about the company's corporate
governance code and practices and about its
administrative, management and supervisory bodies
and their committees complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3
and 7.2.7 of the FCA Rules.

Matters on which we are Required to
Report by Exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
Group and the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not
identified material misstatements in:

. the Strategic Report or the Directors' Report; or

. the information about internal control and risk
management systems in relation to financial
reperting processes and about share capital
structures, given in compliance with rules 7.2.5 and
7.2.6 of the FCA Rules,

F

We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

«  adequate accounting records have not been kept
by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not
visited by us; or

+  the parent company financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be
audited are not in agreement with the accounting
records and returns; or

+  certain disclosures of Directors’-remuneration
specified by law are not made; or

. we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.

Corporate Governance Statement

VVE [UVE |eVISWEU Le LATeLU S SLULEITISNL 1 12Ul LY
going concern, longer-term viability and that part of the
Corporate Governance Statermnent relating to the parent
company's compliance with the provisions of the UK
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review by
the Listing Rules. '

Based on the work undertaken as part of our qudit, we
have concluded that each of the following elements
of the Corporate Gavernance Statement is materially
consistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained during the audit:

. Directors’ statement with regards the
appropriateness of adopting the going concern
basis of accounting and any material uncertainties
identified set out on page 99;

- Directors' explanation as to its assessment of the
Group's prospects, the period this assessment
covers and why this period is appropriate set out on
page 63;

Director's statement on whether it has a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meets its
liabifities set out on page 99;

. Directors' statement on fair, balanced and
understandable set out on page 92;

Board's confirmation that it has carried out a robust
assessment of the emerging and principal risks set
out on page 50;

- The section of the annual report that describes the

review of effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems set out on page 71; and,

+  The section describing the work of the qudit
committee set out on page 89.
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Responsibilities of Diractors

As explained mare fully in Lhe Direclors' responsibilities
statement set out on page 101, the Directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal control as

the Directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors

are responsible for assessing the Group's and the

parent company's ability to continue as a going

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate
the Group or the parent company or to cease operations,
or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

the Finoncial Stotemeants

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an guditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is ¢ high
level of assurance but is not 4 guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK} will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.

The Extent to which the Audit was
Considered Capable of Detecting
trregularities, Including Froud

Irregularities are instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations. The objectives of our audit

are to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding compliance with laws and regulations that
have a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, to
perform audit procedures to help identify instances of
ron-compliance with other laws and regulations that
may have a material effect on the financial statements,
and to respond appropriately to identified or suspected
non-compliance with laws and regulations identified
during the audit.

In relation to fraud, the objectives of our audit are to
identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of
the financial statements due to fraud, to obtain sufficient
appropriate qudit evidence regarding the assessed

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

risks of material misstatement due to fraud through
designing and implementing appropriate responses and
to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud
identified during the audit.

However, it is the primary responsibility of management,
with the oversight of those charged with governance,

to ensure that the entity’s operations are conducted in
accordance with the provisions of laws and regulations
and for the prevention and detection of fraud.

In identifying and assessing risks of material
misstatement in respect of irregularities, including
fraud, the Group audit engagement team and
component auditors:

- obtained an understanding of the nature of

the industry and sector, including the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the Group and parent
company aperates in and how the Group and
oarant comnanv are comnlvina with the leaal and
reguIatory Irameworks;

. inquired of management, and those charged with

governance, about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities, including
any known actual, suspected or alleged instances
of fraud;

applied analytical review procedures to identify
unusual or unexpected relationships.

. discussed matters about non-compliance with

laws and regulations and how fraud might occur
including assessment of how and where the
financial statements may be susceptible to fraud
having obtained an understanding of the
control environment.

As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks
invelved gaining an understanding of the effectiveness
aof the control environment including the controls
established to mitigate the risks of fraud and the
procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

All relevant laws and regulations identified at a Group
level and areas susceptible to fraud that could have

a material effect on the financial statements were
communicated to component auditors. Any instances
of non-cempliance with laws and regulations identified
and communicated by component auditors were
considered in our audit approach. We remained alert to
any indications of fraud throughout the audit.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
Group for froud and identified the greatest potential for
fraud in those areas in which management is required
to exercise significant judgement, In common with

all qudits under I15As {UK) we also performed specific
procedures to respend to the risk of management
override and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognition.
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These procedures included :-

. testing the appropriateness of journal entries
and other adjustments based on risk criteria and
comparing the identified entries to supporting
documentation.

. assessing whether the judgements made in
making accounting estimates were indicative of
potential bias.

. evaluating the business raticnale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or cutside the normal
course of business.

. testing the operating effectiveness of the manual
contrcls in relation to the completeness, accuracy,
and existence of cash sales,

. investigating transactions posted to nominal ledger

codes outside of the normal revenue cycle identified
Havmtimb Hamoiem AF ek cnmbobims bl

The Group is subject to laws and regulations which
directly affect the material amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The mast significant laws and
regulations were detertmined to be as follows:-United
Kingdom adopted International Accounting Standards
and FRS 102, the UK Companies Act, Financial Conduct
Authority regulations, including the Listing Rules and
tax legislation. '

In addition, the Group is subject to other laws and
regulations which do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be
fundamental to the Group's ability to operate or to avoid
material penalties. We identified the following arecs as
those most likely to have such an effect: competition
and anti-bribery laws, data protection, employment,
environmental and health and safety regulations.

In response to the above, audit procedures performed by
the audit engagement team included:

reviewing financial statement disclosures and
testing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and
regulations described as having a direct effect on
the financial statements.

enquiring of management, the Audit Committee
and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and
potential litigation and claims.

. reading minutes of meetings of those charged with .
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
correspondence with HMRC,

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: http:/www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.
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Other Matters Which We Are Required
to Address

Following the recommendation of the audit committee,
we were appeinted by the Audit Committee and the
Board on 18 November 2019 to audit the financial
statements for the year ending 26 April 2020 and
subsequent financial periods.

The period of total uninterrupted consecutive
appointments is 3 years covering the years ending 26
Aprit 2020 to 24 April 2022

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC's Ethical
Standard were not provided to the Group or the parent
company and we remain independent of the Group and
the parent company in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report
to the qudit committee.

~

This report is made solely to the company's members,

as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company's
members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assurne responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company’s members as a body, for cur audit
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Cther Matter

In due course, as required by the Financial Conduct
Authority {FCA) Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rule {DTR) 4.14R, these financial statements will form
part of the European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
prepared Annual Financial Report filed on the National
Storage Mechanism of the UK FCA in accordance with
the ESEF Regulatory Technical Standard (‘ESEF RTS').
This auditer's repert provides no assurance over whether
the annuadl financid! report will be prepared using the
single electronic format specified in the ESEF RTS.

Mark Harwood (Senior Statutory Auditor)

For and on behalf of RSM UK Audit LLP,
Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants

25 Farringdon Street
London
ECAA 4AB

Date: 20 September 2022.
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

Continuing Discontinued Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total operations operations Total
52 weeks ended 52 weeksended 52 weeksended 52weeksended 52 weeksended 52 weeks ended
Note 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 April 2021 25 April 201
[E'm) (E'm) LE'm) LE'm) (E'm) (E'm)
Revenue 46729 114.2 4,7871 35073 18.0 3,625.3
Credit account interest 18.2 - 18.2 - - -
I‘r:‘::t’:‘fc’:;it(':‘ct'e'“:'s't‘? 4 46911 142 4,805.3 3,507.3 120 3,6253
Cost of sales (2647.2) (56.1) (2,703.3) (2,023.4} (710 [2,094.5)
Impairmenit losses on credlit a P, . PP _ : }
Gross Profit 2,030.6 581 20887 14839 46.9 1,530.8
23':\2‘?2;;:?&11“:5:;2:5 (1,557.3) (315} {1,588.8) {1,2816) (37.4) (1,319.0}
Cther operating income 5 454 28 48.0 333 35 368
%%Z?rﬁ;::?ted 7,18 {227.0) - {227.0) (317.0) - (317.0}
Exceptional items 6 (1.3) - {1.3) (1.6) - {1.6}
Profit on sale of properties 7 10,8 - 10.8 97 - 9.7
Operating Profit/(Loss} 4.8 3012 29.2 3304 {73.3) 13.0 (60.3}
Investment income 10 438 - 438 1037 - 103.7
Investment costs mn (197} - 9.7} {7n - (1))
Finance income 2 303 - 30.3 920 - 9.0
Finance costs 13 {48.9) {0.3) (49.2) (32.9) (3.3) (36.2)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 067 289 335.6 1.2) 97 85
Taxation 14 (75.5) {3.2) (78.7) {85.4) (1) (86.5)
Profit/{loss) for the period 4 231.2 25.7 . 256.9 (86.6) 8.6 (78.0)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO;
Equity holders of the Group 2241 257 2498 [91.6) 86 {83.0)
Nen-controlling interests 71 - 71 5.0 - 5.0
Profit/(loss) for the period 4 2312 25.7 2569 (86.6) 86 (78.0)
Pence pershare  Pence pershare  Pence pershare  Pence pershare  Pence pershore  Pence per share
Basic earnings per share 15 475 54 529 (18.2) 17 (16.5)
Diluted eamings per share 15 47.5 5.4 529 18.2) 17 {16.5)

Discontinued operations relate to the Group's US retail businesses which were disposed of post year-end (see note 16).

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{£'m) [£'m}
Profit/(loss) for the pericd 4 256.9 (78.0}
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ITEMS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS
Fair value movemeant on long-term financial assets 21 8.1) 773
Remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme 38 (26.8) -
Deferred tax on remeasurements of defined benefit pension scheme 28 6.7 -

ITEMS THAT WILL BE RECLASSIFIED SUBSEQUENTLY TO PROFIT OR LOSS

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 26 68 (491
Fair value moverment on hedged cantracts - reclassified and reported in sales 26,30 - (2.8)
Fair value movement on hedged contracts - reclassified and reported in inventory/cost of sales 26,30 75 (17)
Fair value movement on hedged contracts - taxation taken to reserves 26,30 {15.8) 3.0
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD, NET OF TAX . 224 17

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Equity holders of the Group 2722 71.3)
Non-controliing interest 71 50
279.3 (66.3)

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

At 24 April 2022
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(E'm) (E'm)
ASSETS - NON CURRENT
Property, plant and equipment 17 101.0 1164.9
Investment properties - 18 83.2 141
Intangible assets 19 120.6 1205
Long-term financial assets 21 206.6 2633
Retirement benefit surplus 38 22 -
Deferred tax ossets 28 100.8 66.8
1,530.4 1,629.6
ASSETS - CURRENT
Inventories 22 12776 1096.6
Trade ond other receivables ) 23 8414 5465
Derivative financial assets 30 16.5 554
Cuash and cosh equivalents ) 24 3368 ’ 457.0
Assets in disposal groups classified as held for sale 16 40.0 -
TOTAL ASSETS 41427 3,785.1
EQUITY
Share capitat 25 64.1 64.1
Share premium 874.3 8743
Treasury shares reserve 26 (488.9) (295.7)
Permanent contribution to capital ' 26 oA o1
Capital redemption reserve 26 8.0 8.0
Foreign currency translation reserve 26 356 288
Reverse combination reserve 26 {987.3) (987.3)
Own share reserve 26 {66.8) {66.7)
Hedging reserve 26 5583 15
Share based payment reserve 141 13
Retoined earnings 17781 15545
Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent 1,286.6 11929
Non-controlling interests 220 18.1
TOTAL EQUITY . 1,308.6 1,211.0

LIABILITIES - NON CURRENT

Lecse liability 27 503.6 524.2
Borrowings 27 8279 705.9
Retirement benefit obligations 16 19
Deferred tax liabilities 28 404 . 270
Provisions 29 4330 361.2
1806.5 16302
HLIABILITIES - CURRENT
Derivative financial liability 30 © 072 19.2
Trade and other payables 31 729.8 646.3
Lease liobility 27 17.0 188.5
Current tax liabilities 50.9 89.9
1,004.9 9439
Liabilities in disposal groups classified as held for sale 16 227 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,8341 2,574
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 41427 3,7851

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements, The Financial Statements
were approved by the Board on 20 September 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
Company number: 06035106
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(£'m) (E'm)

Caosh inflows from operating activities 33 628.9 5783
Income taxes paid {121.0) (59.3)
Net cash inflows from operating activities 507.9 519.0
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investment property 320 206
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions : 9.5 -
Proceeds on disposal of intangibles assets - 75
Proceeds on disposal of listed investments! 21 2384 7.0
Proceeds in relation to equity derivatives® 174 481
Disposal of subsidiary undertaking 1.0 -
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 32 (0.2} (39.4)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and investrrent property 17.18 {323.2) (219.4)
Purchase of intangible assets 19 - (10}
Investment income received 1.0 05
Finance income received 6.3 2.0
Net cash outflows from investing activities (116.2) (2804)
Lease payments {(176.2) {78.0)
Finance costs poid (32.8) {316}
Borrowings drawn down 27 13744 11281
Borrowings repaid 27 (1.484.4) (1.323.6)
Proceeds from sale and leaseback transactions 1.5 -
Dividends paid to non-controlfing interests {1.3} (0.9)
Purchase of own shares (193.2) (4.3)
Net cosh outflows from financing activities {512.0) (310.3)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents including overdrafts (120.3) (1.7)
Exchange movement on cash balances 01 (5.3}
Cash and cash equivalents including overdrafts at beginning of period ) 457.0 5340
Caosh and cash equivalents including overdrafts at the period end 24 336.8 457.0

3 Procaeds in eelation to equity denvatives in both the Lurrsnt and prior peneds have e shown separstely from preceeds on disposal of isted fovestments

inie has no impact oo net cosh outflows fom muesting cetwibies or ast cash,

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Staterments.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

Total
Share Fareign Own atiributable
Share Share Treasury scheme currency  share Retained toowners Non-controlling
capital premium®  shares reserve translation reserve earnings Other®  of parent interests Total
(E'm) {£'m) [E'm) {£'m) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm}) [E'm) (E'm]) {E'm} {£'m)
At 27 April 2020 64,1 474.3 {295.7) - 77.9 [67.0) 1,5649  {951.2) 1,267.3 13.0  1,280.3
Acquisiticns - - - _ - . - _ _ 10 10
Share scheme - - - 13 - 0.3 {4.7) - {3.1) - (31)
Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests - - ) - - ) 3 B - (09) (09)
Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners ” B - 1.2 - 03 4.7 - (39 01 (3.0}
(Lo_ss)/proﬁt for the financial } _ _ _ _ _ (83.0) _ (83.0) 50 78.0)
period
Other comprehensive income
Cos_hﬂow rhe_dges - recognised ) ) ) B } B B na o B A
Cashfiow hédges - reclassified
and reported in sales h } ) ) } } i (28) (28) 28]
Cashflow hedges - reclassified
and reported in inventory/cost - - - - - - - 7.1 (17.1) - {17.1)
of sales
Cashfiow hedges - taxation - - - - - - - 3.0 3.0 - 3.0
Fair value adjustment in respect
of long-term financial assets - - - - - - - 773 - 77.3 - 773
recognised
Translation differences - Group - - - - [49.1) - - - [49.) - {49.1)
Total comprehensive loss for
the period - - - - - (49.1) - 5.7 (16.5) {7.3) 5.0 (66.3)
e -]
At 25 April 2021 641 874.3 (295.7} 1.3 28.8 (66.7) 1554.5 (9677} 1,192.9 18.1 1,211.0
Acquisitions - - - - - - 19 - 19 (1.9) -
Share scheme - - - 12.8 - 0.1 0.1 - 12.8 - 12.8
Dividends paid to
non-controlling interests ) ’ ) ) ) } } i ) (3} (13}
Transactions with owners in '
their capacity as owners - - - 12.8 - o 2.0 - 147 3.2) 18
Profit for the financial period - - - - - - 249.8 - 249.3 71 256.9
Other comprehensive income
Purchase of own shares - - (193.2) - - - - - (193.2) - (1932
_Cashflowvhedges - recognised ) ) ) ; _ _ } 521 521 _ 521
in the period
Cashflow hedges - reclassified
and reported in inventory/cost - - - .- - - - 75 75 - 75
of sales
Cashflow hedges - taxation - - - - - - - {15,8) [15.8) - (15.8)
Fair value adjustment in respect
of long-term financial assets - - - - - - - 8.1} - {8.1) - a1
recognised
Remecsurements of defined
benefit pension scheme - B - ) ) ) {26.8) B (26.8) (26.8]
Deferred tax on
remeasurements of defined - - - - - - &7 - 67 - 67
benefit pension scheme
Translation differences - Group - - - - 6.8 - - - 6.8 - 6.8
Totol comprehensive income - - 1932) - 6.8 - 2216 438 79.0 71 861
for the period
At 24 April 2022 641 B743  (4889) 144 356 [66.8) 17781 {923.9} 1,286.6 22,0 1308.6
A The share premwm cocount is used to meosrd the excess proceads over nomimab vaiae on the msue of shares,
i Other reserss campise3 parmanent conirib capitol redemiption feserve resersn combisation rescive and the hedging reserve
AT momemnnts i ths period related to the he te 26
The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Frasers Group Ple {Company number: 06035106) is a
company incerporated and domiciled in the United
Kingdom, its shares are listed on the London Stock
Exchange. The registered office is Unit A, Brock Park
East, Shirebrook, NG20 8RY. The principal activities and
structure of the Group can be found in the Directors’
Report and the ‘Our Business’ section.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated Financial Statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Accounting
Standards in conformity with the requirements of

the Companies Act 2006 and in accordance with
international financial reporting standards adopted by
the UK Endersement Board. This change in the basis of
preparation is required by UK company law for financial
reporting as a result of the UK's exit from the European
Unicen on 31 January 2020 and the cessation of the
transition period on 31 December 2020. This change

does not constitute a change in accounting policy, rather

a change in framework which is required to group the
use of IFRS in company law. There is no impact on the

recognition, measurement or disclosure between the two

frameworks in the period reported. The consolidated

" Financial Statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified to include fair
valuation of certain financial assets and derivative
financial instruments.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied

consistently to all periods in these Financial Statements
and have been applied consistently by all Group entities.
Certain subsidiaries have been consolidated based en a
calendar year-end date of 30 April 2022.

The numbers presented in the Financial Statements have

been rcunded to the nearest million.

Going Concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors
likely to affect its future development, performance and
position are set out in the Chief Executive's Report and
Business Review.
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The financial position of the Group, its cash flows,
liquidity position and borrowing facilities are described
in the Financial Review. In addition, the financial
statements include the Group's objectives, policies

and processes for managing its capital, its financial

risk management objectives, details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group is profitable, highly cash generative and

has considerable financial resources. The Group is able
t Anaraba within ite lhanlina facilitioe And cevuanante
which run until November 2024 with a two year option
to extend, and is well placed to take advantage of
strategic opportunities as they arise. As a consequence,
the Directors believe that the Group is well placed

to manage its business risks successfully despite the
continued uncertain economic outlook.

Management have assessed the level of trading and
have forecast and projected a conservative base case
and also a number of even more conservative scenarios,
including taking into account the Group's open positions
in relation to Hugo Boss options. These forecasts and
projections show that the Group will be able to operate
within the level of the current facility and its covenant
requirements (being interest cover and net debt to
EBITDA ratios). Management also has a number of
mitigating actions which could be taken if required

such as putting on hold discretionary spend, liquidate
certain assets on the Balance Sheet and pay down the
Revolving Credit Facility. See the Viability Statement for
further details.

Having thoroughly reviewed the performance of the
Group and Parent Company and having made suitable
enquiries, the Directors are confident that the Group
and Parent Company have adequate resources to
remain in operational existence for the foreseeable
future which is at least 12 months from the date of
these financial statements. Trading would need to fall
significantly below levels observed during the pandemic
to require mitigating actions or a relaxation of covenants.
Furthermore, as per the outlook statement the Directors
are confident of achieving an Adjusted PBT for FY23 of
between £450m to £500m during FY23. On this basis,
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis
for the preparation of the Annual Report and financial
statements which is a pericd of at least 12 months from
the date of approval of these financial statements.
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Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated Financial Statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) each year.
Control is achieved when the Company:

. has the power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvernent with the investee: and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above,’

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power
over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to

of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Company's holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Company, other
vote holders or other parties;

. rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

. any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does not have,
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at
the tirme that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previcus shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains contro! over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary, Specifically, the
results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during

the year are included in profit or loss from the date

the Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments gre made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the
accounting policies used into line with the Group's
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, |
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between the members of the Group are eliminated
on consolidation.
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Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified
separately from the Group's equity therein, Those
interests of non-controlling shareholders that are
present ownership interests entitling their holders to

a proporticnate share of net assets upon liquidation °
may initiclly be measured at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests
are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to
acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of
subsequent changes in equity.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are atiributed to the ewners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

TrbAl mAaramrabamcios imeaman ~F Hhos cnibeidiariae ie

- attributed to the owners of the Company and to the

non-controlling interests even if this results inthe
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that

do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group's
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received

is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or
loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration received and the fair value

of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying
amount of the assets (including goedwill), less liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests, All
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted

for as if the Group had directly disposed of the retated
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary {i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as required/permitted by applicable IFRS Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidliary at the date when control is lost is regarded

as the fair value on initial recogniticn for subsequent
accounting under IFRS 9 when applicable, or the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associote or a
joint venture.
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Business Combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in o
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of assets transferred to the Group, liabilities incurred

by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date, except that

+  deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
dre recognised and measured in accordance with
IAS 12 and IAS 19 respectively;

LIS S L E:L'ulty HIDLI WG LD T odlodd L
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based payment
agrrangements of the acquiree are measured in
dccordance with IFRS 2 at the acquisition date; and

. assets {or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 are measured in
accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of

the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in
the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of

the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum

of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer's previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

For business combinations achieved in stages, the Group
remeasures its previously held equity interest in the
acquiree at its acquisition date fair value and recognises
the resulting gain or loss, if any, in the Income Statement
as appropriate.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary

nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is
the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.
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The results and assets and liabilities of associates

are incorporated in these Financial Statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the
investrnent is classified as held for sale, in which case it is
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate
is recognised initially in the consolidated Balance Sheet
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group's share of
losses of an associdte or a joint venture exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate {which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associcate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to-the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.

D L O N T I LTy

the equity method from the date on which the

investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investrment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee

is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

[ S P L]

The requirements of |AS 36 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment
loss with respect to the Group's investment in an
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying
amount of the investment (including goodwill} is
tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with |AS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at fair
value at that date and the fair value is regarded as

its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
IFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount

of the associate at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
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accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if o gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liobilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or

loss from equity to profit or loss [as a reclassification
adjustment) when the associate is disposed of.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if
that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
W mecsd bl Fermomoebe arith An Acoasiabs

of the Group, protits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group's consclidated Financial
Statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue with customers is measured based on the
five-step model under IFRS 15: 'Revenue from Contracts
with Customers': . i

1. identify the contract with the customer;
2. identify the performance obligations in the contract;
3. determine the transaction price;

4. allocate the transaction price to separate
performance obligations in the contract; and

5. recognise revenues when (or as) each performance
obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received, or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes. Customers
have a right of return within a specified period and this
gives rise to variable consideration under IFRS 15. The
right of return asset is recognised within inventory, with
the refund liability due to customers on return of their
goods recognised within trade and other payables.

In the case of goods sold through retail stores, revenue
is recognised when we have satisfied the performance
obligation of transferring the goods to the customer at
the point of sale, less provision for returns. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate and provide for such
returns at the time of the sale. Retail sales are usually in
cash, by debit card or by credit card.
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In the case of goods sold on the internet where the
customer has opted for delivery, revenue is recognised
when we have satisfied the performance obligation

of transferring the goods to the customer, which is at
the point of delivery to the customer, Transactions are
settled by credit card or debit card. Provisions are made
for internet credit notes based on the expected level of
returns using the expected value method, which in turn
is based upon the historical rate of returns. In the case
of internet click and collect orders which are collected
in store, the performance obligation is deemed to have
been satisfied when the goods are dispatched from
the warehouse.

In the case of goods sold to other businesses via
wholesale channels, revenue is recognised when we
have satisfied the performance obligation of transferring
the goods to the custormer upon delivery. Payment terms
are generally 30-60 days with no right of return.

licences, revenue is recognised based either on a fixed
fee basis or based on sales with specified minimum
guarantee amounts in accordance with the relevant
agreements. If the sales-based royalty is not expected
to clearly exceed the minimum guarantee threshold,
revenue is recognised over the rights period measured
on the basis of the fixed guaranteed consideration.
Revenue above the minimum guarantee threshold is
recognised as earned based on the contractual royalty
rate applied to the sales.

Revenue from Gym membership fees is stated exclusive
of value added tax and comprises monthly membership
fees, non-refundable joining fees and longer term
membership fees recognised during the period.

Membership income is recognised and spread over

the period to which it relates, being the period of the
Group's performance obligations, with any subscriptions
in advance of the period to which they relate being
recognised as contract liabilities. Joining fee income

is recognised over time, on a straight-line basis over

the expected duration of the membership. Gym retail
income is recognised at the point of sale. Cther revenue
includes various ancillary revenue streams, which are
recognised in the pericd to which they relate. Total
revenue from gyms recognised in FY22 is £47.4m {FY21:
£14.0m) and is recegnised in the UK Retail segment.

In the case of revenue from third party commission on
concession sales within the House of Fraser department
stores this is recognised when goods are sold to the
customer. As we act as the agent this is stated at the
value of the commission that the Group receives on the
transaction rather than the gross revenue from the sale
of the concessionaires’ goods,

121
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The Group operates loyalty programmes which alldw
members to accumulate points on purchases and
receive exclusive offers and benefits. The fair value of
the points awarded to customers is determined relative
to the total transaction price and accounted for as a
separate identifiable component of a sales transaction.
Revenue is deferred to match the estimated value of
earned loyalty points. Deferred revenue is adjusted

for the value of points that are not expected to be
redeemed by customers based on historical redemption
rates. When the points are redeemed and the Group
fulfils its obligations pursuant to the programmes, the
revenue that was deferred is recognised. In the UK
points awarded expire following a pericd of 12 months
of inactivity, in Spain they are valid until the end of the
following calendar year,

Revenue from gift cards and vouchers is recognised
when the cards or vouchers are redeemed by the

Ay S L} LI .. . . R LI I AL L) PO |
of the card or voucher being redeemed is remote or
has expired. for gift cards monies received represent
deferred revenue prior to the redemption.

Credit account interest revenue related to interest

- charged on trade receivables in Studio Retail Limited

is determined using the effective interest method.
Credit account interest revenue is calculated on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is impaired, in which case the interest
revenue is calculated on the amortised cost, after
allowance for expected credit losses, Credit account
interest revenue is recognised over time.

Government Grants

" Government grants are not recognised until there is

reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in the Income
Statement at their fair value in the period in which
they become receivable.

The Group has received Government support in the
current and prior period relating to business rates relief
and in the prior period relating to the Coronavirus Job
Retention Scheme (CJRS) as a result of the Covid-19
pandemic. The amount received by the Group {including
the UK) in the period in regard to the CJRS (or equivalent
where received in non-UK territories) was £nil (FY21:
approx. £80.0m). The amount of business rates relief
received by the Group in the period (or equivalent where
received in non-UK territories) was approx. £38.2m (FY21:
£97.5m). Government grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss
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as a deduction against the related expense over the
periods necessary to match them with the related costs.
The amounts quoted have been recognised in Seliing,
distribution and administrative expenses in the period,

Exceptional ltems

The Group presents exceptional items on the face of

the Income Statement. These are significant items of
income and expense which, because of their size, nature
and infrequency of the events giving rise to them, merit
separate presentation to allow shareholders to better
understand the elements of financial performance in the
year, so as to facilitate comparison with prior periods
and assess trends in financial performance more readily.

Finance Income

Finance income is reported on an accruals basis using
the effective interest method.

[REP XETNINY]

Tax expense comprises of current and deferred tax.
Tax is recegnised in the Income Statement, except
to the extent it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. The
income tax expense or credit for the period is the
tax payable on the current periods taxable income,
based on the applicable income tax rate for each
jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused losses.

Deferred taxation is calculated using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in

the consclidated Financial Statements. However, if

the deferred tax arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss, it is not accounted for. Deferred
tax on temporary differences associated with shares in
subsidiaries is not provided if reversal of these temporary
differences can be controlled by the Group and it is
probable that reversal will not occur in the foreseeable
future. In addition, tax losses available to be carried
forward as well as other income tax credits to the Group
are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that
have been enacted {or substantively enacted) by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax
liability is settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are provided in full.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differernces can be utilised.
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Deferred tax assets are offset where there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to
the same tax authority. :

Changes in current and deferred tax assets or liabilities
are recognised as a component of tax expense in the
Income Statement, except where they relate to items
that are recorded in other comprehensive income

or charged or credited directly to equity in which

case the related deferred tax is also charged to other
comprehensive income or credited directly to equity.
Deferred tax assets and ligbilities are not discounted.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation is recognised as an
asset and reviewed for impairment at least annually or
when a change in circumstances or situaticn indicates
that the goodwill has suffered an impairment loss.

[V E U NV HNSUU [ O S O B P
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (CGU)
to which the goodwill batance has been allocated, which
is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in
use, to the carrying value of the goodwill balance. Any
impairment is recognised immediately in the Income
Statement. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed, Gains and losses on the disposal of a business
include the amount of goodwill relating to that business.

When the non-controlling interest of an existing
subsidiary is acquired the carrying value of the
non-centrolling interests in the Balance Sheet is
eliminated. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid is recognised directly
in equity.

Other Intangible Assets

Brands, trademarks, licences and customer related
intangibles that are internally generated are not
recorded on the Balance Sheet. Acquired brands,
trademarks, licences and customer related intangibles
are initiclly carried on the Balance Sheet at cost. The
fair value of brands, trademarks, licences and customer
related intangibles that are acquired by virtue of a
business combination is determined at the date of
acquisition and is subsequently assessed as being the
deemed cost to the Group.

Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is
recognised as an expense as incurred.

Amortisation is provided on brands, trademarks, licences
and customer related intangibles with a definite life

on a straight line basis over their useful economic lives
of between 11to 15 years and is accounted for within

the selling, distribution and administrative expenses
category within the Income Statement.
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Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation less any recognised impairment
losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition or construction of these
items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the costs can be measured reliably.

All other costs, including repairs and maintenance costs
and labour costs are charged to the Income Statement
in the period in which they are incurred,

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and
equipment other than freehold land and is calculated
on a straight-line basis, whichever is deemed by the
Directors to be more appropriate, to allocate cost
less assessed residual value, other than assets in the
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as follows:
. Freehold buildings - 15 years - straight line

. Leasehold improvements — 5 years or over the term
of the lease, whichever is shortest - straight line

. Plant and equipment — between 5 to 10 years -
straight line

A full year of depreciation is charged on all additions

in property, plant and equipment in the period. The
assets’ useful lives and residual values are reviewed and,
if appropriate, adjusted at each balance sheet date.
The gain or loss arising on disposal or scrapping of an
asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds, net of selling costs, and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in the Income Statement.

Property, plant and equipment where the carrying
amount is recovered principally through a sales
transaction and where a sale is considered to be highly
probable are stated at the lower of carrying value and
fair value less costs to sell.

Investment Properties

Investment properties, which are defined as property
held for rental income or capital appreciation, are
initially measured at cost being purchase price and
directly attributable expenditure. Where the intention is
to hold property as owner occupied, this is recognised as
property, plant and equipment.

Subsequently investment properties are held at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Investment properties are depreciated between 15 years
straight line, other than the land element which is not
depreciated.

Fair values of the investment properties-are disclosed.
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Impairment of Assets Other Than Goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Directors review the
carrying amounts of the Group's tangible and intangible
assets, other than goodwill, to determine whether

there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset in its current condition
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. Where the gsset does not
generate cash flows that are independent from other
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the CGU to which the asset belongs. With respect to
property, plant and eguipment, each store is considered
to be a CGU and reviewed for impairment whereby
changes in circumstances indicate that the recoverable
amount is lower than the carrying value.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell ond value in use. In assessina the value in
use, LNe estmaLed lure Casn Nows are ciscoureda Lo
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amaunt. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a re-valued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to
the original historic cost and then as an expense.

Impairment losses recognised for CGU's to which
goodwill has been dllocated are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment
loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (CGU) excluding goodwill,
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (CGU) in prior periods. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement
immediately.

Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are
presented separately and measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts immedictely prior to their
classification as held for sale and their fair vatue less
costs to sell. Once classified as held for sale, the assets
are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.

Discontinued Operations >

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group's
business that represents a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations that has
been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification
as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or
when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. When an operation is classified
as a discontinued operation, the results are presented
separately in the consolidated financial statements and
the comparative income statement is restated as if the
operation had been discontinued from the start of the
comparative period.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost includes the purchase price of the
o e ey
transport costs. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average cost method. Net realisable value is based on
the estimated selling price less all estimated selling costs.

P P A

The Group receives trade discounts and rebates from
suppliers based upon the volume of orders placed in

a given time window. Typical discounts and rebates
received by the Group include early settlement discounts,
volume rebates on inventory purchases, supplier rebates
based on faulty goods, and marketing support. Where
there is sufficient certainty that a discount or rebate

will be received in the future that relates to historic
purchases this is reflected in the cost of inventories.
Where the receipt of rebates is uncertain, the cost of
inventories is held at full cost price until the rebate is
received. Recognised rebates are released to the income
Statement to the extent that the stock has been sold.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held on call, together with other short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the Group's Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liakilities (other than
finoncial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
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directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
ar financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability

is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Financial Assets
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Finrnerinl Aceate Athar than thaca daciAn~tad Aans

ettective as hedging instruments, are classitied into the
following categories:

. amortised cost
- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCH)

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or finance income, except for impairment
of trade receivables and amounts due from related
parties which are presented within selling distribution
and administrative expenses. Impairment losses in
respect of credit customer receivables are disclosed
separately on the face of the Income Statement.

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of
the business model in which a financial asset is held at
a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the
business is managed and information is provided to
management. The information considered includes:

+  The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio
and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management's strategy
focuses on earning contractual interest income or
realising cash flows from the sale of assets;

+  How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated
and reported to the Group's management;

. The risks that affect the performance of the business
model and how those risks are managed;

«  How managers of the business are compensated;
and

«  The frequency, volume and timing of sales of
financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such
sales and expectations about future sales activity.
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For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is

defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the
time value of money and for the credit risk associated
with the principal amount outstanding during a
particular peried of time and for other basic lending risks
and costs {e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as
well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest, the Group
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains
a contractual term that could change the timing or
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would
not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers:

contingent events that would change the amount or
timing of cash flows; and

terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate.

Subsequent Measurement of
Financial Assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditicns (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

. they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured

at amortised cost using the effective interest

method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into
this category of financial instruments.

Financial assets at fair ualue through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different business
maodel other than 'hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect and
sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and

loss. Further, financial assets whose contractual cash
flows are not solely payments of principal and interest
are accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for
which the hedge accounting requirements apply

(see below).
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Assets in this category are measured at fair value with

gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values

of financial assets in this category are determined
by reference to octive market transactions or using a
valuation technique where no active market exists.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

On initial application of IFRS 9 the Greup made the

irrevocable election to account for long term financial

assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income {FVOCI) given these are not held for trading
purposes. The election has been made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, only qualifying
dividend income is recognised in profit and loss,
changes in fair value are recognised within OCIl and
never reclassified to profit and loss, even if the asset
is impaired, sold or otherwise derecognised.

Irmimmismant Af finAncial Aceate

IFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward-

looking infermation to recognise expected credit losses —

the ‘expected credit loss {ECL) mode!'. Instruments within
the scope of the requirements include trade receivables,
other receivables, amounts due from related parties,
loan commitments and some financial guarantee
contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Qther receivables and amounts due from related parties

Recognition of credit fosses is no longer dependent on
the Group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead
the Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring expected
credit losses, including past events, current conditions,
reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the
expected collectability of the future cash flows of

the instrument,

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction
is made between:

. financial assets that have not deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial recognition
or that have low credit risk {'Stage 17);

+  financial assets that have deteriorated significantly
in credit quality since initial recognition and whose
credit risk is not fow {'Stage 2'); and

financial assets where the credit risk has increased
to a point at which it is considered credit impaired
("Stage 37

“12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the
first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ are
recognised for the second and third categories.

Booycted and Carhon Caplured thraagh tna Wao fiiso
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Measurement of the expected credit losses is
determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Trade receivabies

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in
accounting for trade receivables and records the loss
allowance as lifetime expected credit [osses, These

are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash flows,
considering the potential for default at any point during
the life of the financial instrument. In calculating, the
Group uses its historical experience, external indicators
and forward-locking information to calculate the
expected credit losses using a provision matrix,

Credit custorner receivables

12-month ECLs are used for Stage 1 performing assets
and a lifetime ECL is used for stages.2 and 3. An asset
will move from Stage 1to Stage 2 when there is evidence

ariginated and inte Stage 3 when it is credit impaired.
Should the credit risk improve so that the assessment of
credit risk at the reporting date is considered not to be
significant any longer, assets return to an earlier stage in
the ECL model.

A financial asset is considered to have experienced o
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
where there has been a significant increase in the
remaining lifetime probability of default of the asset. The
Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due, has been placed on an drrangement to pay less
than the standard required minimum payment (except
where a payment holiday was granted in response to
Covid-19) or has had interest suspended.

In line with IFRS 9, a financial asset is considered to be
in default when it is more than 90 days past due and/or
when the borrower is unlikely to pay its obligations in full.

Days past due are determined by counting the number
of days since the earliest elopsed due date in respect
of which the minimum poyment has not been received,
Due dates are determined without considering any
grace period that might be available to the borrower.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant ond available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative ond gualitative
information and analysis based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment
including forward looking information.
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The key assumptions in the ECL calculations are:

. Probability of Default ("PD") - an estimate of the
likelihood of default over 12 months and the
expected lifetime of the debt;

. Exposure at Default ("EAD") - an estimate of the
exposure at a future default date, taking into
account expected changes in the exposure after the
reporting date, including repayments of principal
and interest, whether scheduled by the contract
of ctherwise and accrued interest from missed
payments; and

- Loss Given Default {"LGD") - an estimate of the
loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between
the contractual cash flows due and those that the
Group would expect to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The key areas of
actimmtinn rra Aranind Fha valoa et Hha Sesoe wiill
recover in respect of the detaulted debt and the
timing of such recoveries.

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into
its measurement of ECLs. This is achieved by developing
four potential economic scenarios and modelling ECLs
for each scenario. The outputs from each scenario

are combined; using the estimated likelihood of each
scenario occurring to derive a probability weighted ECL.

Management judgement is required in setting
assumptions around probabilities of default and the
weighting of economic scenarios in particular which
have a material impact on the results indicated by the
ECL model.

Acquired loans that meet the Group's definiticn of
default {i.e, those that are more than 90 days past

due and/or when the borrower is unlikely to pay

its obligations in full) at acquisition are treated as
purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI") assets.
These assets attract a lifetime ECL allowance over the
full term of the loan, even when these loans no longer
meet the definition of default post acquisition. The
Group does not criginate credit-impaired loans.

Loss allowances for financial assets are deducted
from the gross carrying amount of the asset.
Impcirment losses related to Studic Retail's

trade receivables are separately disclosed in the
consolidated income statement,

e Emptured Haoudh
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Financial Liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial ligbilities include borrowings and
lease liabilities, trade and other payables and derivative
financial instruments.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value,
and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the Group designated «a financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial
liakilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are
carried subsequently at fair value with gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss (other than derivative
financial instruments that are designated and effective
as hedging instruments),

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, fair value
reported in profit or loss are included within finance
costs or finance income. Fair value changes in equity
derivative financial instruments are recognised in
investment income or investment costs.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for

at fair value through profit and loss (FVYTPL) except
for derivatives designated as hedging instruments

in cash flow hedge relationships, which require a
specific accounting treatment. To qualify for hedge
accounting, the hedging relationship must meet all of
the following requirements:

. there is an economic relationship between the
hedged item and the hedging instrument;

. the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value
changes that result from that economic relationship;
and

+  the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the
same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the entity actually hedges and the
quantity of the hedging instrument that the entity
actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Written option contracts do net qualify for hedge
accounting and fair value movements are recognised
directly in the Income Statement.

For the reporting periods under review, the Group

has designated certain forward currency contracts as
hedging instruments in cash flow hedge relationships.
These arrangements have been entered into to mitigate
foreign currency exchange risk arising from certain
highly probable sales and purchases transactions
denominated in foreign currencies.

127
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All derivative financial instruments used for hedge
accounting are recognised initially at fair value and
reported subsequently at fair value in the Balance Sheet.

To the extent that the hedge is effective, changes in

the fair value of derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income and included within the cash
flow hedge reserve in equity. Any ineffectiveness in the
hedge relationship is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

At the time the hedged itern affects profit or loss,

any gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity

to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income.
However, if a non-financial asset or liability is recognised
as a result of the hedged transaction, the gains and
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive

D

hedged item.

T T S B B L S

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected to
occur, any related gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred immediately
to profit or loss. If the hedging relationship ceases
to meet the effectiveness conditions or when the
relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued and
the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve
until the forecast transaction oceurs,

Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has o present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The Group provides for its legal responsibility for
dilapidation costs following advice from chartered
surveyors and previous experience of exit costs. The
estimated cost of fulfilling the leasehold dilapidations
obligations is discounted to present value and analysed
between non-capital and capital components. The
capital element is depreciated over the life of the

asset. The non-capital element is taken to the Income
Statement in the first year of the lease where the cost

it represents is of no lasting benefit to the Groug or

its landlord. "Wear and tear’ costs are expensed to

the Income Statement. Provisions for onerous lease
contracts are recognised when the Group believes the
unavoidable costs of meeting the lease obligations
exceed the economic benefits expected to be received
under the lease. Legal provisions {including settlements
and court fees) are recognised based on advice from the
Group'’s lawyers when it is probable that there wiil be an
outflow of rescurces and a reliable estimate can

be made.
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' Other provisions include management’s best estimate of

restructuring, employment related costs and other claims.

Any reimbursement that the Group is virtually certain to
collect from a third party with respect to the obligation
is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset
rmay not exceed the amount of the related provision.

No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic
resources as a result of present obligations is not
probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the outflow of resources is remote.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains

a lease, at inception of the contract. Lease liabilities
are measured at the present value of the contractual
payments due to the lessor over the lease term, with
the discount rate determined by reference to the rate
implicit in the lease unless {as is typically the case) this
12 11 PeLiny uCLCIiIi]I I\_H.HC, v b d LU L u;uupb
incremental borrowing rate on commencement of

the lease is used. Variable lease payments are only
included in the measurement of the lease liability if they
depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial
measurement of the lease liability assumes the variable
efement will remain unchanged throughout the lease
term. Other variable lease payments such as revenue
linked property leases are expensed in the period to
which they relate.

On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease
liability also includes:

- amounts expected to be payable under any residual
value guarantes;

. the exercise price of any purchase option granted
in favour of the Group if it is reasonakly certain that
the option will be exercised; and

any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if
the term of the lease has been estimated on the
basis of the termination option being exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities
increase as a result of interest charged at the effective
rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for
lease payments made.
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Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount
of the lease liability, reduced for any lease incentives
{payments made by alessor to o lessee associated

with a lease, or the reimbursement or assumption by a
lessor of costs of a lessee] received or impairment, and
increased for:

- lease payments made at or before commencement
of the lease;

. initial direct costs incurred; and

. the amount of any provision recognised where
the Group is contractually required to dismantle,
remove or restore the leased asset, providing it
meets the Group's property, plant and equipment
capitalisation policy.

When an indication of impairment is identified,
right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in
accordance with |AS 36 by comparing the recoverable

of dispos‘ol)dwith its carrying amount. The right-of-use
assets are presented within property, plant and
equipment in the consolidated Balance Sheet.

Subsequent to initial measurement, right-of-use
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease or over the remaining
economic life of the asset if this is judged to be shorter
than the lease term.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of

any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted at a revised discount
rate, The carrying value of lease liabilities is revised using
the original discount rate when the variable element of
future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is
revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment is made
to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with

the revised carrying amount being amortised over the
remaining (revised) lease term.

When the Group renegctiates the contractual terms of
a lease with the lessor, the accounting depends on the
nature of the modification:

- if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the
additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification
is accounted for as a separate lease in accordance
with the above policy

+  inall other cases where the renegotiation increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension
to the lease term, or one or more additional assets
being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification
date, with the right-of use asset being adjusted by
the same amount

ared Carbon Caphrad imough tha Woodizerd Trust helping o oroats ¢
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if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the
scope of the lease, beth the carrying amount of the
lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced

by the same proportion to reflect the partial or

full termination of the lease with any difference
recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is
then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments
over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease
payments discounted ot the rate applicable on the
modification date. The right-of-use asset is adjusted
by the sume amount.

Sale and leaseback

On entering into a sale and leaseback transaction

the Group determines whether the transfer of the

assets qudlifies as o sale (satisfying a performance

obligation in IFRS 15 '‘Revenue from Contracts with

Customers'). Where the transfer is a sale and providing

carrying amount of the underlying asset is split between:

»  aright-of-use asset arising from the leaseback
(being the propertion of the previous carrying
amount of the asset that relates to the rights
retained), and

= therights in the underlying asset retained by the
buyer-lessor at the end of the leaseback.

The Group recognises a portion of the total gain or loss
on the sale. The amount recognised is calculated by
splitting the total gain or loss into:

an unrecognised amount relating to the rights
retained by the seller-lessee, and

+ o recognised amount relating to the
buyer-lessor's rights in the underlying asset at the
end of the leaseback.

The leaseback itself is then accounted for under IFRS 16.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group
acts as a lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

Treasury Shares

The purchase price of the Group's own shares that

it acquires is recognised as Treasury shares’ within
equity. When shares are transferred out of treasury

the difference between the market value and the
average purchase price of shares sold out of treasury is
transferred to retained earnings.

129
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Employee Benefit Trust

An Employee Benefit Trust has been established for the
purposes of satisfying certain share-based awards. The
Group has 'de-facto’ control over the special purpose
entity. This Trust is fully consolidated within the accounts.
The cost of shares acquired by the Sports Direct
Employee Benefit Trust is recognised within ‘'Own Share
reserve’ in equity.

Share-Based Payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain Directors and employees. These are measured
at fair value gt the date of grant, which is expensed to
the consolidated income Statement on g straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with the corresponding
credit going to equity.

Non-market vesting conditions are not taken into
Arcannt in Aatarmininn arant Aete Feie unlie retand
they are taken into account by adjusting the number of
equity instruments to vest. At the end of each reporting
period the Group revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest based on the non
market vesting and service conditions. Any revisions, if
any, are recognised in profit and loss with an adjustment
to equity.

Fair value is calculated using an adjusted form of

the Black-Scholes model which includes a Monte
Carlo simulation model that takes into account the
exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of
dilution (where material}, the share price at grant date
and the expected price volatility of the underlying
share, the expected dividend yield, and the risk-free
interest rate for the term of the scheme. The expected
staff numbers used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management's best estimate, for the

effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the
Group measures the services received and the liability
incurred at the fair value of the liability. Until the liability
is seftled, the Group remeasures the fair value of the
liability at the end of each reporting period and at

the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value
recognised in the Income Statement for the period.

The credit for the share based payment charge does

not equal the charge per the Income Statement as it
excludes amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet in
relation to the expected national insurance contributions
for the shares.

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences

a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net
of any direct issue costs.

Foreign Currencies

The presentational currency of the Group is sterling. The
functional currency of the Company is also sterting.
Foreign currency transactions are translated into sterling
using the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. Exchange differences of the Company
arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on

the retranslation of monetary items, are included in the
Income Statement for the period.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in the Income Statement for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
iterns in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, for such
non-monetary items, any exchange component of

that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other
comorehensive income. Monetary assets and liabilities
QenomINaLed 1N foreign CUrrencies are wansicited at

the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Non-menetary items that are held at valuation are
translated at the foreign exchange rate at the date of
the valuation.

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign
operations which have a functional currency other than
sterling are translated into sterling at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The revenues
and expenses of these subsidiary undertakings are
translated at average rates applicable in the period. All
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and documented in a separate
component of equity.

When a foreign operation is sold, the cumulative
exchange differences that have been recognised as
a separate component of equity are reciassified from
equity to the Income Statement when the disposal

is recognised.

In order to mitigate its exposure to certain foreign
exchange risks, the Group enters into forward and option
contracts (see Chief Executive's Report and Business
Review and the cash flow hedging accounting policy).

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as « liability in the Group's
Financial Statements and as a deduction from equity in
the period in which the dividends are declared. Where
such dividends are proposed subject to the approval of
shareholders, the dividends are regarded as declared
once shareholder approval has been obtained and they
are no longer at the discretion of the Company.
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Materiality

In preparing the Financial Statements, the Board
considers both quantitative and qualitative factors in
forming its judgements, and related disclosures, and
are mindful of the need to best serve the interests of its
stakeholders and to avoid unnecessary clutter borne of
the disclosure of immaterial items.

In making this assessment the Board considers the
nature of cach item, as well as its size, in assessing
whether any disclosure omissions or misstatements
could influence the decisions of users of the
Financial Statements.

Post-employment obligations

For defined benefit plans, obligations are measured at
discounted present value (using the projected unit credit
method) and plan assets are recorded at fair value.

The operatina and financina costs of such olans are
reCayriised seQArdiety M g Group 1Incunte dtateinernit
and actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the
Group statement of comprehensive income/|{loss).

Payments to defined contribution schemes are
recognised as an expense when they fall due.

Share buybacks

Share buybacks are undertaken from time to time.
Shares purchased are typically held in as Treasury
shares at the total consideration paid or payable. The
Group also uses contingent share purchase contracts
and irrevocable closed period buyback programmes;
the obligation to purchase shares is recognised in

full at the inception of the contract, even when that
obligation is conditional on the share price. Any
subsequent reduction in the obligation caused by the
expiry or termination of a contract is credited back
to equity at that time. No gain or loss is recognised
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Group's own equity instruments.

New Accounting Standards, Interpretations
and Amendments Adopted By The Group

The Group has not early adepted any new accounting
standard, interpretation or amendment that has been
issued but is not effective. The Group has applied for the
first time the following new standards:

. Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 -
amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and
IFRS 16.

. COVID-19 related rent concessions beyond 30 June
2021 - amendment to IFRS 16.

Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud
Computing Arrangement (IAS 38 Intangible Assets) -
Agenda Paper 2.

Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 37, Annual improvements
cycle 2018-2020.
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By adopting the above, there has been no material
impact on the Financial Statements.

International Financial Reporting
Standards ("Standards”) in Issue but not
Yet Effective

At the dote of authorisation of these consolidated
Financial Statements, there are no standards in

issue from the International Accounting Stondards
Board ("|ASB") or International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee ("IFRIC") which are effective
for annual accounting pericds beginning on or after

25 April 2022 that will have a material impact on these
Financial Stotements.,

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND

— i — - —— -
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Climate Change

We have considered the potential impact of climote
change in preparing these financial statements.
Tackling climate change is a global imperative, measures
which support climate change initiatives and our

wider ESG agenda continue to be key components of
our strategic direction, supporting sustainability, the
breader social agenda and consumer choice. The risks
associated with climate change have been deemed to
be arising in the medium to long term, however we are
working to mitigate these risks as detailed within the
TCFD section of this annual report.

We have considered climate change as part of our
cash flow projections within going concern, impairment
assessments and viability, and the impact of climate
change is not deemed to have a significant impact on
these assessments currently and therefore they are not
deemed to be a key source of estimation uncertainty.
The Group will continue to monitor the impacts of
climate change over the coming years.

The critical accounting estimates and judgements made
by the Group regarding the future or other key sources
of estimation, uncertainty and judgement that may have
a significant risk of giving rise to a material adjustment
to the carrying values of assets and liabilities within the
next financial period are;

k)
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Critical Accounting Judgements
Determining Related Party Relationships

Management determines whether a related party
relationship exists by assessing the nature of the
relationship by reference to the requirements of [AS 24,
Related Party Disclosures. This is in order to determine
whether significant influence exists as o result of control,
shared directors or parent companies, or close family
relationships. The level at which one party may be
expected to influence the other is also considered for
transactions involving close family relationships.

Control and Significant Influence Over
Certain Entities

Under IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures if an entity holds 20% cr more of the voting
power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has
that this is not the case. During the period the Group
has held greater than 20% of the voting rights of Studio
Retai! Group Plc (Studio Retail Limited and certain
assets of Studio Retail Group Plc were acquired out of
administration during the period) and Mulberry Group
Ple, whereby management consider that the Group
does not have significant influence over these entities for
combinations of the following reasons:

The Group does not have any representation on
the board of directors of the investee other than a
Frasers Group representative having an cbserver
role on the board of Studio Retail Group Plc before
it was acquired. Management have reviewed the
terms of the observer arrangement for the period
before acquisition and have concluded that this
did not give them the right to participate in or
influence the financial cr operating decisions of
Studio Retail Group Ple. Studio Retail Group Plc
could terminate this arrangement at any time, and
could determine which parts of the Board meetings
the representative could be present at and what
information they were given access te. It should

be noted the Frasers Group representative did not
attend any board meetings in full or part during the
reporting period;

There is no participation in decision making and
strategic processes, including participation in
decisions about dividends or other distributions;

There have been no material transactions between
the entity and these investee companies;

There has been no interchange of managerial
personnel;

No non-public essential technical management
information is provided to the investee

wikstonieis 1007 Hevyolad and Cadion Saph
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In assessing the level of control that management have
over certain entities, management will consider the
various aspects that cllow management to influence
decision making. This includes the level of share
ownership, board membership, the level of investment
and funding and the ability of the Group to influence
operational and strategic decisions and effect its returns
through the exercise of such influence. If management
were to consider that the Group does have significant
influence over these entities then the equity method

of accounting would be used and the percentage
shareholding multiplied by the results of the investee in
the period would be recognised in profit or loss.

The Group holds 49% of the share capital of Four
(Holdings) Limited which is accounted for as an
associate using the equity method. The Group does

not have any representation on the board of directors
and no participation in decision making about relevant
decistons, including budgets, appointing or remunerating
key management personnel or service providers and
terminating their services or employment. However, in
pricr pericds the Group has provided Four {Holdings)
Limited with a significant loan. At the reporting date, the
amount owed by Four (Holdings) Limited for this loan
totalled £60.0m (£21.6m net of amounts recognised in
respect of loss allowance). The Group is satisfied that
the existence of these transactions provides evidence
that the entity has significant influence over the investee
but in the absence of any other rights, in isolation it is
insufficient to meet the control criteria of IFRS 10, as the
Group does not have power over Four {Holdings) Limited.
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Cash Flow Hedging

The Group uses a range of forward and option contracts
that are entered into at the some time, they are in
contemplation with one another and have the same
counterparty. A judgement is made in determining
whether there is an economic need or substantive
business purpose for structuring the transactions
separately that could not also have been accomplished
in a single transaction. Management are of the view
that there is a substantive distinct business purpose for
entering into the options and a strategy for managing
the options independently of the forward contracts.

The forward and options contracts are therefore not
viewed as one instrument and hedge accounting for the
- forwards is permitted.

Under IFRS 9 in order to achieve cash flow hedge
accounting, forecast transactions (primarily Euro
denominated sales and USD denominated purchases)
IHGAL T SIS SU W T LY Ny i i, IS sy
must be expected to be highly effective in achieving
offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the
hedged risk. The forecast transaction that is the sukject
of the hedge must be highly prebable and must present
an exposure to variations in cash flows that could
ultimately affect profit or loss. Management have
reviewed the detailed forecasts and growth assumptions
within them and are satisfied that forecasts in which

the cash flow hedge accounting has been based meet
the criteria per IFRS 9 as being highly probable forecast
transactions. Should the forecast levels not pass the
highly probable test, any cumulative fair value gains and
losses in refation to either the entire or the ineffective
portion of the hedged instrument would be recognised
in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Management considers various factors when
determining whether a forecast transaction is highly
probable. These factors include detailed sales and
purchase forecasts by channel, geographical area and
seasonality, conditions in target markets and the impact
of expansion in new areas. Management also consider
any change in alternative customer sales channels that
could impact on the hedged transaction.

If the forecast transactions were determined to be
not highly probable and all hedge accounting was
discontinued, amounts in the Hedging reserve of up to

£55.3m (FY21: £11.5m) would be shown in Finance Income.

Recognition of Defined Benefit
Pension Surplus

At 24 April 2022, the Group section of the Findel Group
Pension Fund {of which Studio Retail Limited is the
sponsoring employer} showed a surplus of £2.2m. This
surplus has been recognised in the Group's consolidated
balance sheet. In recognising the surplus, management
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exercised judgement as to whether Studio Retail Limited
{os sponsoring employer) has an unconditional right to
benefit from any pension surplus at some point in the
future {through refunds of surplus or reductions in future
contributions), in accordance with the requirements of
IFRIC 14. Management concluded that this was the case,

Key Estimates

Provision for Obsolete, Slow Maving or
Defective Inventories

The Directors have applied their knowledge and
experience of the retail industry in determining the level
and rates of provisioning required in calculating the
appropriate inventory carrying values. Specific estimates
and judgements applied in relation to assessing the

level of inventory provisions required are considered in
relation to the following areas:

A.  Continuity inventory

B. Seasonal inventory lines — specifically seasons that
have now finished

Third party versus own brand inventory
Ageing of inventory

Sports Retail or Premium Lifestyle
Local economic conditions

Divisional specific factors

T oommIn

Increased cost of inventory and lower margins with
the devaluation of the Pound

Over-stock and out of season inventory as a result of
macro-economic factors

Provision estimates are forward locking and are formed
using a combination of factors including historical
experience, management’s knowledge of the industry,
group discounting, sales pricing protocols and the
averall assessment made by management of the risks
in relation to inventory. Management use a number of
internally generated reports to monitor and continually
re-assess the adequacy and accuracy of the inventory
provision. The additional cost of repricing inventory
and handling charges in relation to relocating inventory
(tunnelling) are considered in arriving at the appropriate
percentage provision. The assessment involves
significant estimation uncertainty, therefore in order

to check that the assumptions applied remain valid,
management produces a range of outcomes and the
provision is set within this range.
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Key assumptions used to create the estimates are:

. Discounting — Based on historical experience and
managements anticipated future discounting
including the continuing impact of the pandemic,
Brexit, global supply chain challenges and
macro-economic factors

. Tunnelling — Cost of handling stock for reworking
and repacking

. Repricing — Labour cost associated with repricing
units of stock

Shrinkage — Stock lost through damage and theft

Total Group inventory provision at 24 April 2022 is
15.2% (FY21: 16.6%) of gross inventory. A 1% change

in the provision as a percentage of gross inventory
would impact profit before tax by approx. £15.5m (FY21:
£13.2m). Management do not consider it apprepriate to
B e N ol e L L T e e T T o T TN TP PR R R
in practice changes in one assumption would lead tc an
offset in another.

Property Related Provisions

Property related estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on histerical
experience, external advice and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

Dilapidations

The Group provides for its legal responsibility for
dilapidation costs following advice from chartered
surveyors and previous experience of exit costs
(including strip out costs and proefessional fees).
Management use a reference estimate of £100,000

(FY21: £100,000]) for large leasehold stores, £50,000 (FY21:

£50,000) for smaller leasehold stores (£25,000 per store
for Game UK and Game Spain stores) and $/€50,000
(FY21: $/€50,000) for non-UK stores. Management do
not consider these costs to be capital in nature and
therefore dilapidations are not capitalised, except for

in relation to the sale and leaseback of Shirebrock for
which a material dilapidations provision was capitalised
in FY20.

A 10% increase in dilapidation cost per store would
result in an approx. £8.5m (FY21: £8.0m) reduction in
profit before tax.

Other Provisions

Provisions are made for items where the Group has
identified a present legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

F

Legal and regulatory provisions relate to management's
best estimates of provisions required for legal and
regulateory claims and ongoing nen-UK tax enquiries.
Other provisions relate to management's best estimates
of provisions required for restructuring, employment and
commercial. Where applicable these are inclusive of any
estimated penalties, interest and legal costs.

In relation to the non-UK tax enquiries management
have made a judgement to consider all claims
collectively, applying the following key estimates to the
gross amounts (excluding re-imbursement assets):

10% penalty (FY21: 10%). A 5% increase to 15%
would result in approx. £6.5m increase in the
provision {FY21: approx. £6.5m increase).

. 3% interest on the liability {FY21: 3%). A 1% increase

to 4% would result in approx. £14m increase in the
provision {FY21: approx. £11.5m increase).
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consider all claims collectively is the only reasonable

approach because they are all dependant on the
outcome of a court ruling on the interpretation of the
non-UK tax enguiries. Management are satisfied that
with regard to timing, a reasonable range of outcomes
are all greater than one yeor and so are satisfied with
including the provisions as non-current.

Detailed disclosures and sensitivities with regards to
financial services related provisions can be found in
note 29.

Other Receivables and Amounts Owed by
Related Parties

Other receivables and amounts owed by related

parties are stated net of provision for any impairment.
Management have applied estimates in assessing the
recoverability of working capital and loan advances
made to investee companies. Matters considered
include the relevant financial strength of the underlying
investee company to repay the loans, the repayment
period and underlying terms of the monies advanced,
forecast performance of the underlying borrower, and
where relevant, the Group's intentions for the companies
to which monies have been advanced. Management
have applied a weighted probability to certain potential
repayment scendrios, with the strongest weighting given
to expected default after two years.
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Impairment of Assets
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A. IFRS 16 right-of-use assets and assoclated plant and equipment

IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with the options to extend or
terminate a lease, if the lessee were reasonably certain to exercise that option. The Group will assess the likelihcod
of extending lease contracts beyond the break date by taking into account current economic and market conditions,
current trading performance, forecast profitability and the levet of capital investment in

the property.

IFRS 16 states that the lease payments shall be discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate where the
rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. Accordingly, all lease payments have been discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate (IBR). The IBR has been determined by using a synthetic credit rating for the Group
which is used to obtain market data on debt instruments for companies with the same credit rating, this is split by
currency to represent each of the geographical areas the Group operates within and adjusted for the lease term.

The weighted average discount rates based on incremental borrowing rates used throughout the period across the
Group's lease portfolio are shown below. The discount rate for each lease is dependent on lease start date, term

and location.

Lease Term

UK Europe Rest of World

 22%-32%

Greater than 5 years and up to 10 years 12% - 19% 24% - 41%
Greater than 10 years and up to 20 years 2.5% - 3.4% 1.4% - 22% 29% - 4.3%
Greater than 20 years 2.8% - 3.5% 7% - 2.5% 3.5% - 4.6%

The right of use assets are assessed for impairment

"at each reporting period in line with IAS 36 to review
whether the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
armount. For impairment testing purposes the Group

has determined that each store is a separate CGU. The
recoverable amount is calculated based on the Group's
latest forecast cash flows which are then extrapolated
to cover the period to the break date of the lease taking
into account historic performance and knowledge of the
current market, together with the Group's views on future
profitability of each CGU.

The key assumptions in the calculations are the sales
growth rates, gross margin rates, changes in the
operating cost base and the pre-tax discount rate
derived from the Group's weighted average cost of
capital using the capital asset pricing medel, the inputs
of which include a risk-free rate, equity risk premium
and a risk adjustment (Beta). Given the number of
assumptions used, the assessment invalves significant
estimation uncertainty.
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Impairments in the period have been recognised for the
amount of £115.9m (FY21: £174.9m) due to the ongoing
challenges in the retail sector on the forecast cash
flows of the CGU, including supply chain issues and the
anticipated cost of living squeeze on customers. This is
broken down as follows:

«  £76.8m (FY21: £168.2m) against the right-of-use asset

(£50.7m UK Sports Retail segment, £9.5m Premiurn
Lifestyle segment, £15.6m European Retdil segment,
and £1.0rm Rest of the World Retail segment); and

. £391m (FY21: £6.7m) against plant and equipment

(£28.7m UK Sports Retail segment, £10.4m Premium
Lifestyle segment).

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to
each CGU, in the cash flow projecticns used to support
the carrying amount of the right of use asset are
consistent with the cashflow projections for the Freehold
land and Buildings impairment assessment.

In line with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, management
have considered whether any amounts should be
recegnised for the reversal of prior period impairment
losses with £nil (FY21: £nil) being recognised in the period.
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A sensitivity analysis has been performed in respect of sales, margin and the new store exemption as these are

considered to be the most sensitive of the key assumptions:

Forecast: Impact of change in assumption: Impairment increase / (decrease) (E'm)
i 10% improvement
Sales decline year 1 . to 0% {21.8)
. 10% reduction
Sales decline year 1 to 20% 179
Existing gross margin year 1> 40% 100bps - improvement {4.2)
Existing gross margin year 1> 40% 100bps - reduction 2.7
. Change from
New st tion J
lew store exemption Tt0 2 years (97.2)
: . Change from
Operat st 1 J
perating costs increase year £% to 10% 39

m Stores which hove been open for lesy than one year ure not reviewad for impairment

B. Freehold land and buildings, leng-term leasehold, investment property and associated plant

and equipment

Freehold land and buildings and long-term leasehold assets are assessed at each reporting period for whether there is

any indication of impairment in line with IAS 36.

An asset is impaired when the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 1AS 36 defines recoverable
amount as the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use,

the Group has determined that each store is o separate CGU.

Impairments in the period have been recognised in the amount of £111.1m (FY21: £117.9m} due to the ongoing
challenges in the retail sector on the forecast cash flows of the CGU. This is broken down as follows:

- £106.5m (FY21: £84.4m) against freehold land and buildings (£19.8m UK Sports Retail segment, £83.4m Premium
Lifestyle segment, £2.1m European Retail segment, and £1.2m Rest of World Retail segment);

. £2.0m (FY21: £3.9m) against long-term leasehold (£2.0m UK Sports Retail segment);

. £1.6m (FY21: £29.0m) plant and equipment (£1.2m UK Sports Retail segment, £0.2m Premium Lifestyle segment,

£0.2m-European Retail segment); and

. £1.0m (FY21: £0.6m) investment property {all UK Sports Retail segment).

In line with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, management have considered whether any amounts should be recognised
for the reversal of prior period impairment losses with £nil (FY21: £nil) being recognised in the period,

Value In Use (VIU}

The value in use is calculated based on a five year cash flow projections. These are formulated by using the Group's
forecast cash flows of each individual CGU, taking into account historic performance of the CGU, and then adjusting
for the Group's current views on future profitability of each CGU. The key assumptions in the calculations are the sales
growth rates, gross margin rates, changes in the operating cost base and the pre-tax discount rate derived from the
Group's weighted average cost of capital using the capital asset pricing model, the inputs of which include a risk-free
rate, equity risk premium and a risk adjustment (Beta). Given the number of assumptions used, the assessment involves

significant estimation uncertainty.

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to each CGU, in the cash flow projections used to support the

carrying amount of the freehold land and buildings were as follows:

Key assumptions Year 1 Year 2 Year3 Year4 Year5
Sales decline -10% -5% -4% -3% -2%
Existing gross margin > 40% -200bps  -175bps  -150bps -125bps  -100bps
Operating costs increase per annum 6% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Discount rate 75% 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% 75%

Terminal growth rate of 2%

A sensitivity analysis has been performed in respect of sales and margin as these are considered to be the most

sensitive of the key assumptions,
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Forecast: Impact of: Impairment increase / (decrease) (£'m)
Sales year 1 0% improvi.-;ng;; (16.8)
Sales year 1 10% rez!;t;té)c;z 255
;I-E ):gtcl;f:,g gross margin yeart . 100bps - improvement {5.2)
E):f)t‘l’zg gross morgin year 100bps - reduction 6.7
Operating costs increase year 1 Ch;yr;gtif‘lrg;’z - ' o1

Fair ualue less costs of disposal

For thuse CGUs where Lhe value in use is less than the carrying value of the asset, the fair value less costs of disposal
has been determined using both external and internal market valuations, This fair value is deemed to fall in to Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 13. The property portfolio consists of vacant, Frasers Group occupied and
third party tenanted units, one property can include all three types. The following valuation methodology has been
adopted for each:

Scenario Valuation methodology

- = L e e . P o e o ' ' .

Key assumptions

to retiect the market to generate a net capital value, A deduction to  applied depending on circumstances.
the capital value generated is then made based on the void period

N N ) «  1year void, 2 years rent free; or
with applicable rates payable for the unit and rent-free incentive. ¥ Y

2 years void, 3 years rent free.
Yield bands - ranging from 5.5% - 140%

Frasers Group occupied Will be assumed the unit is vacant given there is no legally , Void period and rent free band — two bands
binding inter-company agreement in place. Therefore, o void applied depending on circumstances:
and rent free incentive period assumed, the cost amaunt then
deducted from the capital value generated by the ERV and
reversionary yield. Although we consider the commercial reality * 2 yearsvoid, 3 years rent free.
is that fair value less costs to sell will be higher than vacant Yield bands - ranging from 5.5% - 14.0%
possession this very conservative assumption is in line with both '
technical accounting rules and that of our management experts.

1year void, 2 years rent free; or

Third party tenanted An ERV is applied using a percentage band on the passing rent. An  ERV is applied reflecting the market for the
appropriate reversionary yield is applied reflecting the risk of tenant  applicable unit. An appropriate reversionary yield is
and renewe| to generate a capita! value. This will also provide anet  applied reflecting the risk of tenont and renewal to
initial yield based off the current passing rent. generate a capital value. This will also provide a net

initial yield based off the current passing rent.

A 10% increase in the market valugtion amounts used in the impairment calculations would result in a decrease in
impairment of £5.0m (FY21: £7.5m).

The total recoverable amount of the assets that were impaired at the period end was £105.9m (FY21; £170.0m), with
£47.3m (FY21: £87.0m)} of this being based on their fair value less costs of disposal and £58.6m {FY21: £83.0m} being
based on their value in use.
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Credit Customer Receivables

Studio Retail Limited's credit customer receivables are
recognised on balance sheet at amortised cost fi.e. net
of provision for expected credit loss). At 24 April 2022,
trade receivables with a gross value of £372.7m were
recorded on the balance sheet, less a provision for
impairment of £138.5m.

Fair value considerations

Management has concluded that the fair value of trade
receivables acquired broadly equated to their book
value and therefore that the difference on a go-forward
basis will not be material given that the nature of the
loan product offered {a revolving credit account) means
that the portfolio has a relatively short life (i.e. loans
with customers are repaid and replaced with fresh
loans under the revolving account). As a result of this,
rmanagement has concluded that it is appropriate to

book value less associated expected credit losses
(calculated by Studio Retail Limited) at acquisition, and
to apply the accounting policies for expected credit loss
that were in place at the point of the acquisition in the
Studio business on a go-forward basis.

Expected credit loss

An appropriate allowance for expected credit loss in
respect of trade receivables is derived from estimates
and underlying assumptions such as the Probability
of Default and the Loss Given Default, taking into
consideration forward fooking macro-economic
assumptions. The assessment involves significant
estimation uncertainty. Changes in the assumptions
applied such as the value and frequency of future debt
sales in calculating the Loss'Given Default, and the
estimation of customer repayments and Probability
of Default rates, as well as the weighting of the
macro-economic scendarios applied to the impairment
model could have a significant impact on the carrying
value of trade receivables. These assumptions are
continually assessed for relevance and adjusted
appropriately. Revisions to estimates are recognised
prospectively. Sensitivity analysis is given in note 23.

Post model adjustment

The impairment model was not designed to take into
account changes to customer payment and default
performance arising as a result of the current cost
of living crisis where levels of price inflation greatly
exceed inceme growth, as the existing model uses
unemployment rates as the principal determinant

in considering forward looking macre-economic
assumptions.
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It is our expectation that SRL's customer base has seen
and will continue to see a significant reduction in real
earnings as a result of the current cost of living crisis,
and that this will adversely impact payment and arrears
performance. It is also management's view that these
anticipated impacts are not adequately reflected in

the output of the impairment model. Judgement has
therefore been exercised in opplying a post model
adjustment of £40.0m to the output of the impairment
model in arriving at the provision. This adjustment was
included in the credit customer receivables provision

on acquisition of SRL and has been retained at period
end as this reflects management’s best estimate based
on the information available to them. The post mode!
adjustrment was formulated based on an assessment

of the anticipated length of the cost of living crisis,
anticipated changes to default behaviour over that time
horizon, and credit bureau data assessing the level of
customer indebtedness.

The purpose of the post model adjustment is to ensure
that the probability weighted macroeconomic scenarios
adequately refiect the risks to customer payment and
default perfformance described above.
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In arriving at the £40.0m estimate, a number of macro-economic scenarios were modelled based on the
considerations noted above and a probability weighting was applied to each scenario as follows:

Scenario

Probability weighting
Qualitative explanation applied

Upside

Although redl incomes are under pressure, households spend freely on hospitality, holidays and 20%
entertalnment, given the savings they've accumulated over the last 2 years, throughout the pandemic,

Those that were struggling before high inflation are likely experiencing financial difficulty. The

expectation is that the cost-of-living crisis is shorter under this scenario at between 12 and 18 months.

Buaseline

_ The cost-of-living crisis intensifies with real incomes expected to be much lower in 2022 than they were 60%

in 2021. The continued war in Ukraine puts prolonged pressure on glebal markets keeping inflation high,
with the expectation inflation will continue to rise throughout 2022. The longevity of the cost-of-living
crisis is assumed to last over 2 years.

Downiside

The economy underperforms and the UK gees into ¢ recession. The Bank of England continuetatry  10%
to address inflationory pressures with regulor increases in base rate, pushing more households into

financial difficulty. Higher costs in Manufacturing and other sectors most exposed to the conflict in

Ukraine see a wave of insolvencies and subsequently an increase in unermployment. The impact is

expected to last up to 3 years. .

Stress

The conflict in Ukradine escalates and ecanemic sanctions damage western economies. With continued 10%
labour shortages and problems in supply-chains, this perfect storm of shock sees inflation rise sharply. As

well as the impact on real incomes, the rise in inflation unsettles markets and leads to a crash in asset

values. Whilst not explicitly modelled this scenario would also cover another emerging Covid-19 variant,

maore resistant to vaceines leading & o severe outcome and further lockdowns. The impact is expected to

We note that the unprecedented level of uncertainty around the cost of living and the UK economy as a whole,
and the impact this will have on Studio's customer base, will continue cause challenges in assessing bad debt on a
ferward-looking basis.

£9.1m of the trade receivables acquired were categorised as Stage 3 by Studio and would likely meet the Group's
definition of purchased credit-impaired ("POCI"). On the basis of materiality, and that the loans would attract a
lifetime ECL allowance whether categorised as Stage 3 or POC|, we have chosen to continue to apply Studio's
classification and measurement of these loans as Stage 3 in the consolidated financial statements.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group's current activities result in the following
financial risks and set out below are management's
responses to those risks in order td minimise any
resulting adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
principally via:

A. Transactional exposure from the cost of future
purchases of goods for resale, where those
purchases are denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the purchasing company.
Transactional exposures that could significantly

exposures are hedged via forward foreign currency
contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges.
The notional and fair value of these contracts is
shown in note 30;

B. Transactional exposure from the sale of goods,
where those sales are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the selling
company. Transactional exposures that could
significantly impact the income staterment are
hedged. These exposures are hedged via forward
foreign currency contracts which are designated
as cash flow hedges. The notional and fair value of
these contracts is shown in note 30;

C. Loans to non-UK subsidiaries. These are hedged
via foreign currency transacticns and borrowings
in matching currencies, which are not formally
designated as hedges, as gains and losses on
hedges and hedged loans will naturally offset; and

D. The Group uses currency options, swaps and spots
for more flexibility against cash flows that are less
than highly probable and therefore do not qualify
for hedge accounting under IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Exposures in respect of written
options to sell Euros or buy USD are explained in
the Financial Review. These are not hedged and
movements in fair value could significantly impact
the Income Statement in future periods. See note 30.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group has net borrowings, which are principally

at floating interest rates linked to bank base rates

or SONIA. The Group uses interest rate financial
instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate
movements using interest rate swaps although hedge
accounting is not applied. The Group regularly monitors
and reacts accordingly to any exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates and the impact on its monetary assets

and liabilities.

Credit Risk

The Directors have a credit policy in place and the
exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing

basis. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group does
not require collateral in respect of financial assets.

At amch helrneca chaat Arta tHhara wara na cirmificant
concentrations of credit nsk. | he maximum exposure to

credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of ecch
financial asset in the balance sheet.

Investrments of cash surpluses, borrowings and derjvative
instruments are made through banks and companies
which must fulfil credit rating and investment criteria
approved by the Board.

Liquidity Risk

The Group has sufficient liquid rescurces to manage
the operating requirements of the business and it does
this through utilisation of its revolving credit facilities

together with equity and retained profits thereby
achieving continuity of funding and short-term flexibility,

while keeping interest to a minimum.

Management regularly review forecasts to ensure there
is adequate headroem on the facilities and to ensure the
Group is operating within its financial covenants.
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Price Risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect ot
its long term financial assets (in relation ta listed
company shares).

The price risk relates to volatility in the market, and

how other comprehensive income and equity would
have been affected by changes in market risk that were
reasonably possible at the reporting date. If the quoted
stock price for these securities increased or decreased,
other comprehensive income and equity would have
changed. The listed securities are classified as long term
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income so there would be no effect on profit or loss.

The investments in listed equity securities {long-term
financial assets) are considered medium to long-term
strategic investments. In accordance with the Group's
pelicies, no specific hedging activities are undertaken in

vmlmdtimm bm Hamea L s m b an e b

- Capital Management

A description of the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for managing capital are included in note 30,

4. SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

Management has determined to present its segmental
disclosures consistently with the presentation in the 2021
Annual Report. Management considers operationally
that the UK Retail divisions (UK Sports Retail and
Premium Lifestyle) are run as one business unit in terms
of allocating resources, inventory management and
assessing performance. Under IFRS 8 we have not at
this reporting date met the required criteria with enough
certainty to aggregate these operating segments. We
will continually keep this under review at subsequent
reporting dates. We continue to monitor the impacts

of Covid-19, Brexit, and the continued uncertainties

this has brought relating to the political and economic
ehvironments, and market and currency volatility in

the countries we operate in. European countries have
been identified as operating segments and have

been aggregated into a single operating segment as
permitted under IFRS 8. The decision to aggregate
these segments was based on the fact that they each
have similar economic characteristics, similar long-term
financial performance expectations, and are similar in
each of the following respects:

+  The noture of the products;
. The type or class of customer for the products; and

+  The methods used to distribute the products.
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In accordance with paragraph 12 of IFRS 8 the Group's
operating segments have been aggregated into the
following reportable segments:

1. UK Retail:

i. UK Sports Retail - includes core sports retail
store operations in the UK, plus all the Group's
sports retail online business {excluding Bobk's
Stores, Eastern Mountain Sports, Malaysia
and Baltics), the gyms, the Group's Shirebrook
campus operations, freehold property owning
companies excluding Premium Lifestyle
fascia properties, GAME UK steres and
online operations, Studio Retail Limited {from
acquisition on 24 February 2022) and retail
store operations in Northern Irefand.

i. Premium Lifestyle — includes the results of the
premium and fuxury retail businesses Flannels,
Criica van mildart el Wille Harica ~f Fracar
and Sota.com along with retated websites, and
freehold property owning companies where
trading is purely from Premium Lifestyle fascias.

2, European Retdil - includes all the Group's sports

retail stores, management and operations in Europe
including the Group's European Distribution Centres
in Belgium and Austria, European freehold property
owning companies, as well as GAME Spain stores
and Baltics online.

3. Rest of World Retail - includes the results of US
based retail activities, Asia based retail activities
along with their e-commerce offerings.

4, Wholesale & Licensing - includes the results of
the Group's portfolio of internationally recognised
brands such as Everlast, Karrimor, Lonsdale
and Slazenger.

It is management's current intention to run the Group
as four operating segments being UK Retail {including
UK Sports Retail and Premium Lifestyle), European
Retail, Rest of World Retail and Wholesale & Licensing.
Management is satisfied that the UK Sperts Retail and
Premium Lifestyle will meet the criteria permitted under
IFRS 8 to aggregate as one segment in due course.

The FY21 numbers have been re-categorised due to
changes in the reporting segments, with freehold
property owning companies where trading is purely
from Premium Lifestyle fascias being moved from UK
Sports Retail to Premium Lifestyle, Adjustments for IFRS
16, which were previously reported as a reconciling
item, have been included within Operating profit before
foreign exchange, exceptional items and property and
other refated impairments to be consistent with the
presentation adopted for FY22.

1
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Segmental infermation for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:

Premium UK Retoil European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total
{€'m) {£'m) [£'m) (£'m) (E'm) {£'m) {E£'m} (E'm) (E'm)
Sales to external customers 264011 1056.6 3,696.7 790.2 150.3 4,637.2 1681 - 4,805.3
Sales to other segments - - - - - - 801 1801 -
Revenue 2,640.1 1,056.6 3,696.7 790.2 150.3 46372 248.2 (80.1) 4,805.3
Gross profit 1,136.8 4748 1.611.6 3373 76.7 2,025.6 63.1 - 20837
Operating profit before foreign
::‘;h::'f:é:’;C::;’Z't’:;r't:;ie 4 289.4 1240 M3.4 109.8 344 557.6 69 - 5645
impairments
Exceptional items (1.3) - {1.3) - - {1.3) - - (1.3}
fef]f:;t ‘,’,::gr?f,:; (10340 (1035  (2069) (17.9) 22 12210) - - po
Realised foreign exchange loss 1.1 {0.1) {1.2) 2.9) [0.8) (4.9) {0.9) - (5.8)
Operating profit 183.6 204 204.0 89.0 31.4 324.4 6.0 - 3304
Investment income 438 - 43.8 - - 43.8 - - 438
Investment costs 119.7) - 119.7) - - 19.7) - - (19.7)
Finance income kLR ELY:) LEp] 10 ]:¥:] - 85 303
FHILNCE Clals (d2.3) ULy (94.8) 4.4 \U.2) (2f.4) - 0.0 \49.2)
Profit before taxation ) 2017 10.4 2121 85.6 31.9 3296 6.0 - 3356
. Taxation 78.7)
Prafit for the pericd 256.9
m Includes inter-company roluted fincence incame in UK Sports Rotoib and the equivalent Finanee cast in Prersam | itestyle that eliminotes an consolidation

Following the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited, sales to external customers includes credit account interest of £18.2m,
and gross profit includes impairment losses on credit customer receivables of £13.3m, both of which are recognised in
the UK Sports segment. The gain on bargain purchase arising from the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited of £4.8m
(see note 32) has been recognised in gross profit in the UK Sports segment.

Other segment items included in the income statement for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retall World Retail Retail Licensing Total

{E£'m) {£'m) {E'my) (E'm) [E'm) {£'m) (E'm]) (E'm}

Property, plant & equipment depreciation 1222 229 145.1 20.2 24 167.7 1.3 169.0

Property, plant & equipment impairment 517 94.0 145.7 2.3 12 149.2 - 149.2

IFRS 16 ROU depreciation 478 6.4 542 199 31 772 0.4 776

IFRS 16 ROU impairment 50.7 9.5 60.2 15.6 1.0 76.8 - 76.8

Investment property depreciation 59 - 5.9 - - 59 - 59

Investment property impairment 10 - 1.0 - - 1.0 - 1.0

Ll;l?g;i cliilsg;:lu;;lsand modification/remeasurement a2 19 181 92 10 28.3 B 28.3

Intangible amortisation ] 1.0 - 0 - - 1.0 6.5 75

Intangible impairment 13 - 13 - - 13 4.4 57
Prvitad Sieipie s 1007 Royoed ard Carbon Caprad iheough the Woordland Trust, 3 o aes the UK
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Information regarding segment assets and liabilities as at 24 April 2022 and capital expenditure for the 52 weeks
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then ended:
Premiumm UK Retall European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total
(E'm) (E'm) {E'm) (£'m} {E'm) (£'m) (£'m) (E'm) (E£'m)
Total assets 41619 1,002.1 5,164.0 485.5 84.4 5733.9 3497 {1.940.9) 4142.7
Total liabilities (29089 (10989) (4,007.8) (681.4) 76  (4,681.6) (93.4) 19409 (2,834
T
Tangible asset odditions 22811 63.6 2917 294 13 3224 08 - 323.2
Right of use asset additions 278 25.0 52.8 430 47 100.5 [o¥] - 100.9
Intangible assets acquired 7.0 - 7.0 - - 7.0 - - 7.0
Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 2021":
Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total
(E'm) (E'm) {E'm) {(£'m) [E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm) {E'm}
Sales to external customers 1968.5 7356 2,704.1 615.2 152.7 3472.0 153.3 - 3,625.3
Sales to other segments - - - - - - 95.4 {95.4) ) -
Revenue 1968.5 735.6 2,704 615.2 152.7 3,472.0 2483 {95.4) 3,625.3
Gross profit 27913 3303 11596 2397 AA Y 14633 A7 5 - 15308
wperaly proiil peiore ierewyn
exchange, exceptional items
ond property and other related 191.0 34.3 2253 205 14.6 264.4 20.2 - 2846
impairments
Exceptional items 31 1.6) 1.5 (3.1 - [1.6) - - (1.6}
i i h | .
fgg:':e‘j foreign exchange (loss} (202) ©2) (20.4) 08 {1.4) {21.0) {53) - (26.3)
Property and other related _ }
mpairments (2019) 140.9) {242.8) (71.6} (2.6) (317.0) {317.0}
Operating {loss)/profit {28.0) {B.4) {36.4) {53.4) 14.6 {75.2) 14.9 - {60.3)
investment income 1037 - 163.7 - - 103.7 - - 1037
Investment costs (77 - 77 - - 7.7 - - (2.7}
Finance income 6.5 - 6.5 25 - 9.0 - - 9.0
Finance costs (281) (1.2) (29.3) (2.7) {3.8) {35.8) (0.4) - {36.2)
Profit before taxation 46.4 9.6) 36.8 {53.6) 10.8 (6.0 14.5 - 8.5
Taxation {86.5)
Loss for the period , (78.0}
in The FY 21 numbors ha e boen re-catagorised dus to changes inthe repoeting segments with freohold property awning cempunisg whers tradieg s purely from
Pracnium Lifestyle fascias being moved from UK Sports Reteit te Pramium Lifestyle
Inter-segment sales are priced at cost plus a 10% mark-up.
Other segment items included in the income statement for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 2021
UK Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale Group
Sports Lifestyle Total Retail  World Retail Retail & Licensing Total
(E'm} (E£'m]) {(£'m}) {£'m) (£'m} {E£'m) [E'm) (E'm)
Property, plant & equipment depreciation 1319 42.3 174.2 35.3 57 215.2 12 216.4
Property, plant & equipment impairment 87.2 204 107.6 40.6 - 148.2 - 148.2
IFRS 16 ROU depreciation 515 6.4 579 219 23 821 - a1
IFRS 16 ROU impairment - 1141 205 134.6 31.0 256 168.2 - 168.2
Investment property depreciation 19 - 19 - - 1.9 - 19
Investment property impairment 0.6 - 0.6 - - 0.6 - 0.6
IFRS 16 disposal and modlification/remeasurement
of lease fiabilities (20.0) (56} (25.6) (1.4) n (27.7) - (277
Intangible amaortisation - - - 0.5 - 0.5 6.6 FAl
Intangible impairment 37 23 6.0 "31 - 9.1 - a1
i The FY21 pumbmrs have boen re-categorised dus 1o changas in the reporting segmerts with fresheld praperty vwning comprnies where troding s purely from
Premium Litestyle fascias being mevad from UK Sporls Retoll to Fremsum | ifestyle
143
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Information regarding segment assets and liabilities as at 25 April 2021 and capital expenditure for the

52 weeks then ended:

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesate & Group
UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retail Retail Licensing Eliminations Total
{E'm) [E'm) {E'm) {E'm) {E'm) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm} (E'm)
Total assets 3,305.9 668.0 3,973.9 6708 158.6 4,803.3 3447 1362.9) 37851
Total liabilities (2,357.8) {499.6)  (2,857.4) (857.0) (95.1)  {3,809.5) {127.5) 1362.9 (2,574.1)
e — M
Tangible asset additions 1634 331 196.5 7.4 3.0 216.9 25 - 2194
Right of use asset additions 775 141 91.6 243 24 118.3 0.5 - 118.8
Intangible asset additions/acquired 37 23 6.0 - - 6.0 1.0 - 7.0
(1 The FY21 numbers heve been re-cotegorised due bo changes in the reparting segments. with freehold property cwning companies whare trodmg s purely from
Premium Lifestyls fastios bemg maved from UK Snorts Ratal to Pramiom Lifestyle
Geographic Information
Segmental information for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022:
UK Europe USA Asia Eliminations Total
{Em) . (E'm) {£'m) {E'm) (E'm) (E'm}
Segmental revenue from e —— B - v mmmm
Total capital expenditure 2917 294 09 12 - 323.2
Non-current segment
assets* 9622 13C.3 126.0 4.5 - 1,223.0
Total segmental assets 5,486.8 3813 176.3 39.2 12409} 41427
‘Excludes deterrod tex and financicd instraments,
Segmenta! information for the 52 weeks ended 25 April 2021:
UK Europe USA Asia Eliminations Total
(£'m) (£'m) {£'m) [£'m) (£'m) {E£'m)
Segmental revenue from
external customers 27217 646.2 2137 437 - 36253
Total capital expenditure 196.5 17.4 32 23 - 2194
Non-current segment
assets*® 10523 114.9 1277 46 - 12995
Total segmentol ossets 42647 5892 256.2 379 (1,362.9) 37851
‘Excluges deferred tax and Aincmcial instruments.
Material non-current segmental assets — by a non-UK country:
USA Belgium Austtio Estonia Ireland Spain
(E'm) {E'm} (£'m) (E'm} {E'm) (£'m)
FY22 126.0 58.4 12.5 07 13.3 334
13 4] 1277 46.8 224 - 129 399
Material segmental revenue from external customers — by a non-UK country:
USA Belgium Austria Estonia Ireland Spain
(E'm) {£'m) (E'm) (£'m) [E'm) {£'m)
FY22 2230 3.3 383 118.5 172.6 2294
FYzn 2137 931 421 967 954 2081

Note the Group has no individual customer which accounts for mere than 10% of revenue in the current or prior period.
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The following tables reconciles the Profit Before Tax to the Adjusted PBT as it is one of the main measures used by the
Chief Operating Decision Maker when reviewing the performance of the segment:

Reconciliation of Reported PBT to Adjusted PBT for the 52 week period ended 24 April 2022:

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retail World Retait Retail Licensing Total

{£'m) {E'm]) (£'m) (E'm} {E£'m) (E'm) (E'm) (E'm)

Reported PET 201.6 10.4 212.0 857 31.9 329.6 6.0 335.6

Exceptional ltems 1.3 - 13 - - 1.2 - 13

Fair value adjustments to derivative

financial instruments (7.6} - {7.6) - - {7.6) - (7.6)
Fair value (gains)/losses and profit on disposal

of equity derivatives {9.9) - {9.9) - - {9.9) - (9.9)

Reulised FX luss 1 0.1 12 29 0.8 4.9 03 5.8

Share scheme ) 10.4 - 10.4 - - 104 4.2 14.6

Adjusted PBT 196.9 10.5 207.4 88.6 327 32a.7 11 3398

Reconciliation of Reported PBT to Adjusted PBT for the 52 week period ended 25 April 2021

Premium UK Retail European Rest of Total Wholesale & Group

UK Sports  Lifestyle Total Retoil World Retail Retail Licensing Total

Reported PET 46.4 (9.6} 36.8 (53.6) 10.8 (6.0) 14.5 85

Exceptional items (3 1.6 [1.5) 31 - 1.6 - 1.6
Fair value adjustment to derivative

financial instruments 46 - 4.6 h B 4.6 - 46

E?gqﬁltl;ed(egr?‘;zi:ceossses and profit on disposal (822) } 82.2) _ ) 82.2) _ (82.2}

Realised FX loss / {gain) 2022 02 204 (0.8) 14 210 53 26.3

Share scheme 13 - 1.3 - - 13 - 1.3

Adjusted PBT (12.8) 7.8) (20.6) {51.3) 122 {se.7) 19.8 {39.9}

&0 The FY21 numbers have baen re-cotegorised due tn changes in the reporting segmaents, wirh frechold property owning compunmes whare froding is pusety from

Premium Lifesiyle fuscias being maved from UK Sparts Retail to Premium Lifestyle.
5. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em} (Em)

Rent receivable 273 161
Other 207 207
48.0 36.8

Other operating income relates te charges for aircraft, lease surrender premiums, ad hoc income and sundry charges
to third parties. ‘
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6. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) {Em}

Impairments {1.3) eh
Profit on disposal of intangible ossets - 75
(1.3) (1.6}

The impairment in both the current and prior period relates to goodwill, whereby the discounted present value of
future cash flows do not suppoert the full value of the assets. The profit on disposal of intangible assets in the prior
period relates to the sale of certain IP relating to the BELONG business.

7. PROFIT ON SALE OF PROPERTIES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
feent [0 N )
Profit on sale of properties 10.8 9.7

The profit on the sale of properties in the current period includes gains on the sale of UK properties
(FY21: European properties).

8. OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE PERIOD

Operating profit/{ioss) for the pericd is stated after charging/(crediting}:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em)

Foreign exchange loss 58 263
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets:

- Depreciation of property, plant & equipment (incl, right-of-use asset) 246.6 298.5

- Impairment of property, plant & equipment (incl. right-of-use asset) 226.0 3164

- Depreciation of investment properties 59 1.9

- Impairment of investment properties ’ 1.0 0.6

t—Amortisution of intangible assets 75 71

- Impairment of intangible assets : 57 9.1

IFRS 16 leases:

Prafit on disposal and modification/ remeasurement of lease lichilities - {283) {27.7)

Eiuble lease payments 14.0 255

il";osr: :ir:;:sr: low value 250 116
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Services Provided by the Group's Auditor

"The remuneration of the auditars, RSM UK Audit LLP, and associated firms, was as detailed below:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) {£m)

AUDIT SERVICES
Audlit of the Group ond company - recurring 1.8 15
Audit of the Group and company - non-recurring - 01
Audit of subsidiary companies 10 0.8
‘ 28 24

There were no non-audit services provided by RSM UK Audit LLP and associated firms in either the current or
pricr period.

9. PAYROLL COSTS

The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Directors, employed by the Group during the

period was:
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
Retail stores 23971 22122
Distribution, administration ond other 6,382 4,374
30,353 26,496

The increase in employees is mainly due to acquisitions and the ongoing organic growth of the business.

The aggregate payroll costs of the employees, including Executive Directors, net of amounts received from
Government grants, were as follows:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em)

Wages and salaries 4915 342.2
Social security costs 349 29.3
Pension costs 6.5 5.6
5329 317

Aggregate emoluments of the Directors of the Company are summarised below:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended
24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Aggregcote emoluments a6 0.5

Further details of Directors' remuneration are given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Details of key management
remuneration are given in note 35.

Pringod on 52




- ——— et = T

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

10. INVESTMENT INCOME

52 weeks ended 52 weels ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) [Em)

Profit on disposal of equity derivatives . 232 274
Premium received on equity derivatives 132 133
Fair value gain on equity derivatives 6.4 625
Dividend income 1.0 0.5
43.8 1037

The profit on disposal of equity derivatives mainly relates to Hugo Boss contracts for difference. The fair vaiue gain on
equity derivatives mainly relates to Hugo Boss options. The premium received on equity derivatives mainly relates to
Hugo Boss options.

11. INVESTMENT COSTS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 Anril 2022 25 April 2001

{Em) [Em)

Fair value loss on equity derivatives 19.7 77
197 17

The fair value loss on equity derivatives in the current period mainly relates to Hugo Boss contracts for difference.
12. FINANCE INCOME

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em} {Em}

Bank interest receivable 45 35
Interest on retirement benefit obligations 01 -
Other finance income 17 55
Fair value adjustment to derivatives 24.0 -
303 2.0

The fair value adjustment to derivatives largely relates to movement in the fair value of interest rate swaps.
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13. FINANCE COSTS

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 201

(Em) {Em)

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts ‘ ) - 136 n1
Other interest 70 8.6
Interest on retirement benefit obligations ) - 0.1
IFRS 16 lease interest 122 11.8
Fair value adjustment to derivatives 16.4 46
49,2 362

The fair value adjustment to derivatives relates to differences between the fair value of forward foreign currency
contracts and written options that were not designated for hedge accounting from one period end to the next.

14. TAXATION

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 Anril 2021

(£m) (Em)

Current tax 86.2 83.2
Adjustment in respect to prior periods : (5.7} 136
Total current tax 80.5 96.8
Deferred tax (8.5} (101)
Adjustment in respect of prior periods 6.7 (0.2)
Total deferred tax (see note 28) ) {1.8) (10.3)
} D : 78.7 865
Profit before toxation 3356 8.5
Taxation at the standard rate of tax in the UK of 19% (2021: 19%) ’ 638 16
Non-taxable income (14.4) . (3.9)
Expenses not deductible for tox purposes 62.4 770
Other tax odjustments ‘ (15.6) {1.6)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods - current tax (5.7) 136
Adjustments in respect of prior periods - deferred tax 6.7 [0.2)
Changes in deferred tax rate (18.5) -
787 26.5

Non-taxable income largely relates to differences between capital allowances and depreciation which are not
timing differences on which deferred tax is provided. Expenses not deductible for tax purposes largely relates to
non-qualifying depreciation and impairments not qualifying for tax allowances.

149
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM TOTAL AND CONTINUING
OPERATIONS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS

Basic earnings per share is calculoted by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

For diluted ecrnings per share, the weighted average number of shares, 471,975,282 (FY21; 501,955,281), is adjusted to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares under the Group's share schemes, being nil (FY21: 88,605),

to give the diluted weighted average number of shares of 471,975,282 (FY21: 502,043,886). In FY21, as there was a loss
for the period, the effect of potentially dilutive ordinary shares was anti-dilutive, and therefore the weighted average
number of shares for the Diluted EPS calculation was kept the same as for the Basic EPS calculation. There is therefore
no difference between the Basic and Diluted EPS calculations for both periods.

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 Aprii 2021 25 April 2011
o 'cnnt_ml‘nr;; o dlscontmued o totalr continﬂing 7 discontinued 7 fotull
opersations operations operations operations
(E'm) {£'m) (E'm) [E'm} (E'm} {E'm}
Profit for the period 2241 257 - 2498 (91.6) 86 {83.0)
Number in Number in ’ Mumber in Number in Number in Numberin
thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands thousands
Weighted average number 471975 471975 A71975 501955 501955 501,955
of shores
Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share Pence per shore Pence per share Pence per share
Earnings per share 475 54 529 (18.2) 17 (16.5)

Adjusted Earnings Per Share

The adjusted earnings per share reflects the underlying performance of the business compared with the prior period
and is calculated by dividing adjusted earnings by the weighted average number of shares for the period. Adjusted
earnings is used by management as a measure of profitability within the Group. Adjusted earnings is defined as profit/
{loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent for each financial period but excluding the post-tax
effect of certain non-trading items. Tax has been calculated with reference to the effective rate of tax for the Group.

The Directors believe that the adjusted earnings and adjusted earnings per share measures provide additional useful
information for shareholders on the underlying performance of the business and are consistent with how business
performance is measured internally. Adjusted earnings is not a recognised profit measure under IFRS and may not be
directly comparable with adjusted profit measures used by other companies.

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 24 April 2022 25 April 2021 25 April 2021

Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

{E'm) (£'tn) {£'m) (£'m)

Profit / {loss} for the period 249.8 249.8 (83.0) (83.0)
Pre-tax adjustments to profit / lass) for the period for the following items:

Exceptional items 13 1.3 1.6 1.6

Fair volug adjustment to derivatives included within (7.6) {7.6) 4.6 46

Finance (income) / costs

Fair value gains and profit on disposal of equity derivatives 9.9) 99) 822) (82.2)

Realised foreign exchange loss 58 58 26.3 26.3

Share scheme 4.6 4.6 13 13

Tax adjustments on the above items 0.3 0.3 (5.9} (5.9)

Adjusted profit / {lass) for the period 254.3 254.3 {132.3) {1372.3)

Numberin Number in Number in Number in

thousands thousands thousands thousands

Weighted averoge number of shares 471975 471975 501955 501955

Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share Pence per share

Adjusted Earnings per share 539 539 (27.3) {27.3)
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16. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Subsequent to the period end, on 24 May 2022, the Group disposed of its US retail businesses trading as Bobs Stores
and Eastern Mountain Sports for cash consideration of $70.0m [approx. £56.1m). The disposal took place through sale
of 100% of the share capital of Roberts 50 USA LLC and its subsidiaries to GeDigital Media Group. These businesses
are reported as part of the Rest of World operating segment.

As per IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, this disposal group has been classified as
held for sale and as o discontinued operation. A profit on disposal of approx. £30.0m will be recognised in FY23.

The following major classes of assets and liabilities relating to the disposal group have been classified as held for sale
in the consolidation balance sheet as at

24 April 2022:
24 April 2022
(E'm}
Inventarias : 377
Trade and other receivables 23
Assets held for sale 400
ro— — - T — —
Provisions 32
Lease liabilities 89
Liabilities held for sale 227

The Cash Flow Statement includes the following amounts refating to this discontinued operation:

4 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(£'m}) [£'m)

Operating octivities 42 69

Financing activities 6.1 (9.9

Net cash outflow from discontinued eperations (1.9) (3.0}
151
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Shoart-term
Right of Freehold land and Long-term - leasehold Plant and
use asset Buildings Leasehold improvements Equipment Total
{E'm) (£'m) (E'm) (E'm} {E'm) {E'm)
COST
At 26 April 2020 5244 9189 70.6 1316 7726 24181
Acquisitions 21 0.5 - - ‘ 290 316
Additions 18.8 843 43 20 1288 3382
Efiminated on disposadls (48.1) {16.5) 0.7 (6.0) (57.4) (128.7)
E:ﬂif;ﬂf;’:{';’r‘;ﬁ, 76.4 (79.4) 792 o1 87 850
Exchange differences (4.5) (2.4) (0.1 (0.3) 29) (10.2)
At 25 April 2021 669.1 9054 1533 127.4 a78.8 27340
Acquisitions (see note 32) 56 70 - - a9 19.5
Additions 1005 793 41 25 1953 3821
Eliminated on disposals (75.9) (42.0) (1.2} 4.7 (82.0) {205.8)
e s @ : : 02 w0
Exchange differences (7.7} (2.3) (0.5) {0 {3.0) (13.6)
At 24 April 2022 6B6.6 904.0 155.7 ) 125.% 9958 2,867.2
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 26 April 2020 [218.7) {1533} (16.7) {113.9) (567.9) {1,070.5)
Charge for the period (821) (74.5) (1.6} ms) 118.8) 298.5)
Impairment (168.2) (84.4) (39) 01 (59.8) (316.4)
Eliminated on disposals 475 nz 03 6.7 54.4 1201
Redosieotors : : o od
Exchange differences 21 0.2 Q1 01 23 48
At 25 April 2021 ’ (419.4) (282.7) (49.7} (118.7) {698.6) 1,569.1)
Charge for the period (77.6) (47.9) {12.4) (3.6 (105.1) {246.6)
Impairment (76.8) {106.5) 2.0) - {40.7) 226.0}
Eliminated on disposals 759 157 11 .8 791 1736
;:i‘;fs'ﬁ::;‘;rr‘; s/m - 06 (1) () 40 34
Exchange differences ’ 60 03 a1 0.2 19 85
At 24 April 2022 {4919) {420.5) (63.0) {121.4) {759.4) {1,856.2)
NET BOOK VALUE
At 24 April 2022 194.7 483.5 927 37 236.4 1,01.0
At 25 April 2021 249.7 6227 103.6 8.7 180.2 1164.9
At 26 April 2020 305.7 765.6 539 17.7 204.7 13476
RH INFY21  number of propaitos antifiad that wete previously classshied within Frochold Lard and Builsings but mencgsn

It to hee nare appropriatbe to o iFy weithia g-torm Leasehold. These have therefore been colustad in the privs perind ns reclassifizations.

i Surimg the penad ossets were i

Misre cppropriate to slossify wi

A Plent andd Equepmsnt but muoasger
qiusted in tha pericd oy reclasshirg

- thoet ware provicusly classifsdd within Pro, brclicee it 10 he

seslment Properties These have therefore b

Note 2 provides further detail on the property related impairments {relating to ROU assets and freehold land
and buildings).
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Leases

The Group only has property leases within the scope of IFRS 16, including retail stores, offices and wdrehouses. Leases
are largely for a period between 1- 15 years typically with break clauses. It is management's intention to continue to
enter into turnover linked leases in the future.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, plant and
equipment’, the same line item as it presents underlying assets of the same nature that it owns. The carrying amount
and movements in the period can be seen in the table above.,

Lease liabilities are presented separately within the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The maturity analysis of lease
ligbilities is shown in note 30(f), Interest expense on the lease liability is presented as a component of finance costs as
per note 13. Cash payments for the principal portion and the interest portion of the lease liability are presented in the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement with further details given in note 27,

The Group is party te a number of leases that are classed as short term leases and with variable lease payments.
These are typically property leases on turnover based rents. Note 8 discloses variable lease payments and short term
and low value lease expenses incurred in the period. Cash flows in the period relating to variable lease payments,
short term lease payments, and leases for low value assets were approx. £33m (FY21: approx. £24m). It is expected that
future cash flows will not be materially different to the FY22 cash flows.

| aneos b whirh the Gronn ic cnmmittad bt hewva nab vt commmancad nit narind and Are nnt concidarad tn

e materiat.

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Total
{£'m]

COST

At 26 April 2020 ' . 45.8
Eliminated on disposals (7.6}
At 25 April 2021 382
Additions 420
Reclassifications™ . 434
At 24 April 2022 123.6
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 26 April 2020 {26.9}
Charge for the period (1.9}
Impairment (0.6}
Eliminated on disposals 53
At 25 April 2021 {24.1)
Charge for the period (5.9}
Impairment (1.0
Reclassifications™ (3.4)
At 24 April 2022 ‘ (34.4)
NET BOOK VALUE '

At 24 April 2022 89.2
At 25 April 2021 4.1
At 26 April 2020 18.9
A Dursag the period gssaks wore whent-fiad thet were previousty ciasssfiod within Property, Prapr and £quaipment but management bebave o te ba mare

cppropricte W clrssify within nvastment Properties. These hovn tharefors been adiusted in the poriod os reclossifications

The fair values of the Group's investment properties as at 24 April 2022 and 25 April 2021 were estimated as being
materially in line with carrying values. The valuations were calculated by the Group's internal property team who are
appropriately qualified chartered surveyors and follow the applicable valuation methodology of the Royaf Institute of
Chartered Surveyors. Note 2 provides further detail on the property related impairments.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks
Goodwill and licenses Brands  Customer related Total
{E'm) {E'm) {E'm}) {£'m) (E'm)
COST
At 26 April 2020 1734 94.0 904 . - 3578
Acquisitions ’ 6.0 - - - 6.0
Additions ) - 1.0 - - 10
Disposals - {3.3) - - {33)
Exchange adjustments 87 1.0 {9.8) - {19.5)
At 25 April 2021 1707 90.7 80.6 - 342.0
Acquisitions 1.3 - - 57 70
Exchange adjustments 48 04 64 - 16
At 24 April 2022 176.8 M 87.0 57 360.6
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 26 Apri} 2020 (119.3) [89:1) (6.0} - (214.4)
impairment [=A)] - - - (2.1}
Disposals - 133 - - 33
Exchange adjustments 47 04 o7 - 58
At 25 April 2021 (124.0) (86.7) {10.8) - (221.5)
Amortisation charge - {0.5) 6.0 {1.0) (7.5)
Impairment (5.7} - ’ - - (5.7)
Exchange adjustments 2.7 [01) (2.5} - (5.3)
At 24 April 2022 (132.4) {87.3) (19,3} (1.0} {240.0}
At 24 April 2022 44.4 38 67.7 47 120.6
At 25 April 2021 46.7 4.0 69.8 - 120.5
At 26 April 2020 ’ 541 49 B4.4 - 143.4

Amortisation is charged to selling, distribution and administrative expenses in the consolidated Income Statement.
The majority of the net book value of intangible assets relates to the £86.5m purchase of Everlast in 2007.

The carrying value of goodwill and brands that are considered to have an indefinite life are allocated to the Group's
operating segments before aggregation. With the exception of Everlast, none of the individual cash-generating units
(CGUs) are considered material to goodwill or indefinite life intangibles. The carrying value of goodwiil and brands
allocated to the Group's CGUs {as aggregated except in the case of Everlast) is shown below:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

Goodwill Brands Goodwill Brands

{E'm) {E'm} {£'m) (E'm)

Wholesale & Licensing (excl. Everlast) 99 - 14.3 -
Everlast 345 677 324 69.8
444 677 46.7 69.8
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The Group tests the carrying amount of goodwill and
assets with an indefinite life annually for impairment

or more frequently if there are Indications that their
carrying value might be impaired, The carrying amounts
of other intangible assets are reviewed for impairment if
there is an indication of impairment.

Impairment is calculated by comparing the carrying
amounts to the value in use derived from discounted
cash flow projections for each CGU to which the
intangible assets are allocated. A CGU is deemed to

be an individual fascia or brand and these have been
grouped together into similar classes for the purpose

of formulating operating segments as reported in note
4. The total recoverable amount of all CGUs in relation
to the above intangible assets was £2281m of which
£128.3m related to Everlast. The recoverable amount
relating to Everlast is based on a value in use calculation
that includes expected cash flows from new commercial
noanntintiane Racad an mcncconmAant'c fAavammcke iF Vhaca
new commercial negotiations are unsuccessful there
could be a need for a full impairment review of Everlast’s
intangible assets. Due to the ongoing challenges with
the retail sector, part of the Whalesale & Licensing
goodwill was impaired in the period with an impairment
charge of £4.4m (FY21: £3.1m] being recognised where

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

the discounted present value of future cash flows did not
support the full value of the asset.

Value in use calculations are based on five-year
management forecasts with a terminal growth rate
applied thereafter, representing management's estimate
of the long-term growth rate of the sector served by

the CGUs,

Total impairments of £5.7m [FY21: £9.1m] have been
recognised in relation to goodwill on less making
companies and are individually immaterial to each CGU
that has been written down. These impairments include
an element of the Wholescle & Licensing goodwill

and the goodwill from acquisitions in the period. The
impairment of goodwill from acquisitions in the period of
£1.3m has been recegnised in Exceptional ltems,

see note 6.

The Everlast brand is amortised over a 15 year period
within the sellina distribution and administrative
expenses caregaory witnin the iNcome starement. 1 ne
amount charged to the income statement in the period
is £6.0m {FY21: £5.5m), the future amortisation charge is
expected to be approximately £6.0m per annum for the
remaining 12 year amortisation period (FY21: 13 year).

The key assumptions, which are equally applicable to each CGU, in the cash flow projections used to support the

carrying amount of goodwill were as follows:

As at Wholesale & Licensing

24 Aprii 2022 {excl. Everlast} Everlast
Terminal sales growth 2.0% 2.0%
5 year forecast growth™ [4.4%) (0.6%)
Discount rate 7.5% 13.5%
As at Wholesale & Licensing

25 April 2021 European Retail (excl. Everlast) Everlast
Terminal scles growth 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
5 year forecast growth® (3.5%) [5.3%) 1.6%)
Gross margin 30% - 40% - -
Discount rate 6.3% 6.3% 121%

[l the § year growth rates wro based on the auerage growth avar b yeors

Historically the same pre-tax discount rate was used in European Retail and Wholesale & Licensing (excl. Everlast) as
these CGU's were considered to have similar risk profiles. A specific discount rate is used for Everlast as this business
operates in a different market and has different characteristics.

The key assumptions are based on market data and management's historical experience and future plans for

each CGU. ‘
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Sensitivity Analysis

A reasonably possible change in any key assumption would not cause the carrying value of the Everlast or Wholesale
& Licensing (excluding Everlast) CGU to exceed its recoverable amount, the table below shows the amount of
headrcom and the revised assumption required in' order to eliminate the headroom in full.

Wholesale &

Licensing
{excl. Everlast) Everlast
Recoverable amaount of CGU (E'm) 99.8 1283
Current headroom (£'m) 839 137
Revised 5-year forecast growth rate % {6.0%) 01%
Revised terminal growth rate % < (1000%) [0.1%)
Revised discount rate % 89.0% 14.9%

20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED UNDERTAKINGS

The Group uses the equity method of accounting for associates and joint ventures in accordance with [AS 28. The
following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's investment in associates and joint ventures:

{E'm)

At 25 April 2021 ond 24 April 2022 -

The Group currently holds a 49.09% share of Four (Holdings} Limited (FY21; 42.0%), the carrying amount of this
investment is £nil (FY21: £nil). Detailed disclosures have not been presented as the results are immaterial. The Group
is owed £62.4m from the group of companies headed by Four (Holdings) Limited (£24.0m net of amounts recognised
in respect of loss allowance) (FY21: £64.9m, £26.5m net of loss allowance), see note 23 for further details. The group of
companies headed by Four (Holdings) Limited made a profit of £11.5m in the period (FY21: profit of £8.1m).

21. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group is not locking to make gains through increases in market prices of its long-term financial assets, therefore
on initial application of IFRS 9 the Group made the irrevocable election to account for long term financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The election has been made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, enly qualifying dividend income is recognised in profit and loss, changes in fair value are recognised within OCI
and never reclassified to profit and loss, even if the asset is impaired, sold or otherwise derecognised. The majority of
long-term financial assets are recognised in the UK Sports segment.

The fair value of the long-term financial assets is based on bid quoted market prices at the balance sheet date or
where market prices are not available, at management's estimate of fair value.

The following table shows the aggregate movement in the Group's financial assets during the period:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em}

At beginning of period 2633 838
Additions 1584 133
Disposals [238.4) (7.0}
Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income (8.1) 773
Exchange differences 18.6} (41}
206.6 2633

Included within long-term financial assets at the period ended 24 April 2022 are the following direct interests held by
the Group:

. 36.9% (FY21: 36.8%) interest in Mulberry Group plc
. 28.9% (FY21: 35.6%) interest in Studio Retail Group plc
+ 22% (FY21: 519%) interest in Hugo Boss AG

+  Various other interests, none of which represent more than 5.0% of the voting power of the investee

cundlterd across the UK
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The following table shows the fair value of each of the Group's long-term financial assets {all listed):

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) {Em)

Mulberry Group plc 65.3 520
Studio Retail Group ple - 897
Hugo Boss AG 6B.4 1187
Other 729 29
At end of period . 206.6 2633

These holdings have been assessed under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and categorised as long-term financial assets,

as the Group does not consider them to be associates and therefore, they are not accounted for on an equity basis,
see note 2. '

Our strategic investments are intended to allow us to develop relationships and commercial partnerships with the
relevant retailers and assist in building relationships with key suppliers and brands.

22. INVENTORIES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

(Em) {Em)
Goods for resale 12776 1,096.6

As at 24 April 2022, goods for resale include a right of return asset totalling £3.2m (FY21: £4.5m). Amounts written off in
the pericd relating to stock was £59.8m {FY21: £24.3m).

The following iﬁventory costs have been recognised in cost of sales:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em} (Em)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 27033 2,0945

The Directors have reviewed the opening and closing provisions agdinst inventory and have concluded that these are
fairly stated. The Group has reviewed its estimates and assumptions for calculating inventory provisions at 24 April
2022. Overdll provisions have increased from £219.8m in FY21 to £236.7m as at 24 April 2022, with this £16.9m change in
provision being recognised as a charge in cost of sales.

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em} {Em)

Gross credit customer receivables ) 3727 -
Allewance for expected credit loss on credit customer receivables (138.5) -
Net credit customer receivables 234.2 -
Trade receivables : 564 57.2
Deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments 2439 131.0
Amounts owed by related parties (see note 35) 242 268
Other receivables ' 170.2 2469
Prepayments E 1125 B4.6
841.4 546.5

Following the acquisition of Studio Retail Limited (see note 32), credit customer receivables now make up a significant
element of trade and other receivables. Further disclosure with regards to the credit customer receivables and the
associated allowance for expected credit loss can be found at the end of this note.

The Directars consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value. The
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of asset above, plus any cosh
balances. Other receivables alsa include unremitted sales receipts,
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Deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments are collateral to cover margin requirements for derivative
transactions held with counterparties. The collateral requirement changes with the market (which is dependent
on share price, interest rates and volatility} and further purchases / sales of underlying investments held.

Included within other receivables is the reimbursement asset totalling £88.3m (FY21: £118.3m) in relation to the Group's
ongoing non-UK tax enquiries, for further information see note 25.

The majority of the Group's trade receivables are held within the Wholesale & Licensing businesses, each customer’s
creditworthiness is assessed before payment terms are agreed.

Under IFRS 9, the Group has applied the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses for trade
receivables, using the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on credit risk characteristics, representing management's view of the
risk, and the days past due. The credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired is considered to be good. The
Group considers o debt to be defaulted ot the point when no further amounts are expected to be recovered. Financial
assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. If recoveries are subsequently made after
receivables have been written off, they are recognised in profit or loss,

The amounts owed by related parties mostly relates to the group headed by Four (Holdings) Limited, for further details
see note 35,

Exnosure to credit risk of trade receivables:

24 April 2022 «25 April 201

[Em) (Em)

Cuyrrent 242 31.8
0-30 days past due 14.2 120
30-60 days past due 46 40
60-90 days past due 30 24
Over 90 days past due 104 70
56.4 57.2

The credit quality of assets neither past due nor impaired is considered to be good.

The movement in loss allowance relating to trade receivables and amounts owed by related parties can be analysed
as follows:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) [Em)

Opening position 68.3 46.2
Amounts charged to the income statement 6.6 223
Amaounts written off as uncollectable - ’ [(#X)}
Armounts recovered during the period - {a.)
Clasing position 749 68.3

Included in the below table is the loss allowance movement in amounts due from related parties as follows:

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em)

Opening positton . 334 338
Amaounts charged to the income staterment - 4,6
Closing position 384 184

The gross carrying amount of the balance due is £62.6m (FY21: £65.2m). The charge in the prior period was recorded in
Selling, distribution and administrative expenses. £17.6m of the gross amounts due from related parties balance is due
in less than one year with the remaining being due in more than o one year {FY21; £12.4m due less than one year).

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of customers. The
loss allowance / charges have been determined by reference to past default experience, current / forecasted trading
performance and future economic conditions.

Deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments and prepayments are not considered to be impaired.

bits 1007 . Pecyclad and Carbon Capta 1 e eagn s Winodiand Trast haipng to create nay Batish woordand wormts e




Credit Customer Receivables

Certain of the Studio's trade receivables are funded
through a securitisation facility that is secured against
those receivables. The finance provider will seek
repayment of the finance, as te both principal and
interest, only to the extent that collections from the trade
receivables financed allows and the benefit of additional
collections remains with the Group. At the period end,
receivables of £287.2m were eligible to be funded via the
securitisation facility, and the facilities utilised

were £143.6m.

Other information

The average credit period taken on sales of goods is 219
days. On average, interest is charged at 3.5% per month
on the outstanding balance.

Studio will undertake a reasonable assessment of the
creditworthiness of a customer before opening a new

limit on that credit account. Studio will only offer credit
limit increases for those customers that can reasonably
be expected to be able to afford and sustain the

increased repayments in line with the affordability and

Allowance for expected credit loss

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

creditworthiness assessment. There are no customers
who represent more than 1% of the total balance of the
Group's trade receivables,

Where appropriate, the Group will offer forbearance
to allow customers reasonable time to repay the debt.
Studio will ensure that the forbearance option deployed
is suitable in light of the customer’s circumstances
{paying due regard to current and future personal and
financial circumstances). Where repayment plans are
agreed, Studic will ensure that these are affordable to
the customer and that unreasonable or unsustainable
amounts are not requested. At the balance sheet date
there were 24,711 accounts {acquisition date: 23,396}
with total gross balances of £16.2m (acquisition date:
£15.1m) on repayment plans. Provisions are assessed as
detailed above.

During the current period, overdue receivables with
a gross value of £5.3m were sold to third party debt

contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these
assets were transferred to the purchasers. Any gain or

loss between actual recovery and expected recovery is
reflected within the impairment charge.

The following tables provide information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables from

individual customers as at 24 April 2022

24 April 2022 24 February 2022
Trade receivables Trode receivables
on forbearance on forbearance
Trade receivables arrangements Total Trade receivables arrangements Total
{E'm) [E'm) (£'m) {£'m) (E'm} [E'm)
Ageing of trade receivables
Nat past due 2721 4.3 2864 2984 136 312.0
Past due: .
0 - 60 days 367 18 385 368 15 383
60 - 120 days 200 Q1 201 149 - 14.9
120+ days 277 - 27.7 178 - 17.8
Gross trade receivables 356.5 16.2 3727 3679 151 383.0
?r':j‘“ﬁ;‘;‘: for expected (127.3) ma2) {138.5) (118.5) (10.5) {129.0)
Carrying value 2292 5.0 234.2 2494 4.6 254.0
24 February 2022 to 24 April 2022
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
{E'm) (E'm) {E'm) {£'m)
Gross trade receivables 2486 59.9 64.2 3727
Allowance for doubtful debts:
Acquisition balance 614 (25.7) (42.2) {129.0)
impairment charge 0.6 - (14.8) {14.2}
Utilisation in periad 01 - 46 4.7
Closing balance 160.4) (25.7) [52.4) [138.5)
Canrying value 188.2 342 1.8 2342
Analysis of impairment charge:
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24 February 2022 to 24 April 2022

(E'mn)
Impairment charge impaocting on provision (14.2)
Recoveries ) 11
Other ’ ’ {0.2)
Impairment charge 13.3)

Sensitivity analysis

Management judgement is required in setting assumptions around probabilities of default, cash recoveries and the
weighting of macro-economic scenarios applied to the impairment model, which have a material impact on the
results indicated by the model.

A 1% increase/decrease in the probability of default would increase/decrease the provision amount by
approximately £2.2m.

A 1% increase/decrease in the assumed recoveries rate would result in the impgairment provision decreasing/increasing
by approximately £11m. :

Changing the weighting of macro-economic scenarios so that the base-case scenario’s weighting is halved to 30%
(with upside increasing to 30% and both downside and severe increasing to 20%) would result in the impairment

R R R N R I o AR S ST TP Py P

These sensitivities reflect management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes to key assumptions which could
result in a material adjustment to the level of provision within the next financial year.

24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) {Em)
Cash in bank and in hand - Sterling 1354 1441
Cash in bank and in hand - US dollars (4.7) 974
Cashin bank and in hand - Euros : 764 192.%
Cash in bank ond in hond - Other 297 230
Cash and cash equivalents including overdrafts at peried end - 336.8 4570
25. SHARE CAPITAL
. 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{£m} [Em}
AUTHORISED
999,500,010 ordinary shares of 10p each - 100.0 100.0
ALLOTTED, CALLED UP AND FULLY PAID
640,602,369 (2021: 640,602,369) ordinary shares of 10p each 64,1 641
SHARE CAPITAL
At 24 April 2022 and AL 25 Aprl 2021 . 641 641

The Group holds 151,240,774 shares in Treasury as at period end (FY21: 121,260,175).

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one
vote per ordinory share at general meetings of the Company.

We are aware of unsponsored American Depository Receipt {ADR) programmes established from time to time in
respect of our shares. We have not sponsored or authorised their creation and any questions should be directed to the
relevant depositary.

Frasers has not and does not intend to offer or sell its Ordinary Shares or other securities (in the form of ADR or
otherwise) to the general public in the United States nor has it listed or intends to list its Ordinary Shares or other
securities an any national securities exchange in the United States or to encourage the trading of its Ordinary Shares
on any over the counter market located in the United States. Frasers does not make arrangements to permit the

1
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voting of Ordinary Shares held in the form of ADRs

and its publication of periodic financial and other
information is not intended to facilitate the operation of
any unsponsored ADR programme under Rule 12g3-2(b)
of U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

or otherwise.

Contingent Share Awards
Share Schemes

The 2011 Share Scheme was a four year scheme

based upon achieving underlying EBITDA (before the
costs of the scheme] of £215m in FY12, £250m in FY13,
£260m in FY14 and £300m in FY15 coupled with the
individual participating employee's satisfactory personal
performance and continued employment. All of the
above targets were met meaning that approx. 11.6m
shares vested in September 2017 and approx. 4m shares
vested in September 2015,
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sold by participants following exercise of awards under
the Group 2071 Share Scheme were acquired by Estera
Trust (Jersey) Limited, as Trustee of the Sports Direct
Employee Benefit Trust [Trustee), with the acquisition
being funded by a loon advanced by the Company

of £0.2m. The shares were acquired at prices of
between 603.5 and 683.5 pence per share in off-market
transactions. The weighted average purchase price was
658 pence per share (FY21: 365 pence per share).

The Group holds 17,386,913 shares in the Own Share
Reserve as at period end (FY21: 17,386,913).

Fearless 1000 Bonus Scheme
FY21schemelaunch

At the annual general meeting in October 2020, our
shareholders gave approval for the Fearless 1000 bonus
scheme. Under this scheme shares may be issued by the
Group to employees for no cash consideration. All Group
employees (excluding Executive Directors, their family
associates, and the Head of Commercial) are eligible to
participate,in the scheme. Under the scheme, 10 miillion
shares are awarded to eligible employees if certain
market conditions are achieved. This would equate to
£100m worth of fully paid ordinary shares in Frasers
Group Plc that could be paid to eligible employees if our

share price reaches £10 any time over the next four years.

The share price must stay above £10 for 30 consecutive
trading days to trigger the vesting of shares at the end
of the four year vesting period. 50% of the shares are
granted after 4 years and the remaining 50% ofter 5
years. One thousand eligible employees will receive the
shares with a potential value ranging from £50k to £1m if
the share price is at £10 at the vesting dates. In all other
respects the shares rank equally with other fully paid
ordinary shares on issue.
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The share element of the scheme is deemed to be an
equity-settled scheme as defined by IFRS 2 Share-based
payment. In line with the accounting policy in note 1,
the fair value at the date of grant is expensed to the
Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period, with the corresponding credit
going to equity.

The assessed fair value at grant date of the shares
granted during the period ended 25 April 2021 was
165.69p per share for the 4 year vesting period and
165.95p per share for the 5 year vesting period. The

fair value at grant date is independently determined
using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model
which includes g Monte Carlo simulation model that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the
option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the
underlying share, the expected dividend vield, and the
riclifenn intarnct rrbn far tha taren nf Hhe crbama Tha
model inputs tor shares granted during the period ended
25 April 2021 included: :

. exercise price; Enil

- grant date: 16 February 2021, being the date the
Deed of Grant was executed

+  expiry date: 7 October 2024 and 7 October 2025
«  share price at grant date: 450p

- expected price volatility of the Compcmy's
shares: 38.8%

. expected dividend yield: 0%
. risk-free interest rate: 01%

The expected price volatility is based on the historic
volatility (based on the remaining life of the scheme),
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility
due to publicly available information.

A charge in the Consclidated Income Statement of
£0.8m was recognised in the FY21 period in relation to
the equity-settied element of the scheme resulting in
£0.8m being held in equity.

The scheme also has a cash-settled bonus for all other
eligible employees who do not qualify for the Fearless
1000 share scheme. The cash bonus at the end of the
4 year period is based on the employee tenure and
has been accounted as an cther long-term employee
benefit as defined by |AS 19 Employee Benefits. A
charge in the Consolidated Income Statement of
£0.5m was recognised in the FY21 period along with a
corresponding liability.

FY22 update

At the annual general meeting in October 2021, our

shareholders gave approval for an extension to the
performance period for the Fearless 1000 plon up
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to five years, This is seen to benefit participants as it
provides an additional period to achieve the £10 share
price target given that the difficulties associated with
the Covid-19 pandemic have impacted the business in
the first year of the plan. In addition, the Remuneration
Committee can now allow all awards to vest early if a
£15 share price target is achieved.

As per IFRS 2 Share-based payments, the criginal fair
value charge for the equity-settled scheme will continue
to be taken over the original period. In addition, an
incremental charge is being taken that represents the
additional value provided to participants by making
these amendments and this additional charge is being
taken over the new modified period.

The total assessed fair value of the amendment at grant
date is £1.1m which is being recognised over the 4 and 5
year vesting periods.

A rhArca im tha MAancalidatad lncAamaas Chadoarmant AF

£0.15m has been recognised in the period in relation
to the medification with an equivalent £0.15m being
recognised in equity.

For the equity-settled element of the FY21 Fearless 1000
plan, a charge in the Consolidated Income Statement
of £41m has been recognised in the period in relation to
the scheme with an equivalent £4.1m being recognised
in equity.

For the cash-settled element of the FY21 Fearless 1000
plan, a charge to the Consolidated Income Statement
of £2.4m has been recognised in the period along with a
corresponding increase in liability.

o Reoyeled and Carns
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Executive Share Scheme

At the annual general meeting in October 2021, our
shareholders gave approval for the Executive Share
Scheme. Under this scheme shares may be issued by
the Group to Chris Wootton {CFO), Secn Nevitt (Chief
Commercial Officer) and David Al-Mudallal {COQ) for
no cash consideration. Under the scheme, 600,000
shares per person are awarded to the individuals if
certain market conditions are achieved. The share price
must stay above £12 for 30 consecutive trading days te
trigger the vesting of shares at the end of the four year
vesting period, or the Remuneration Committee can
now allow all awards to vest early if a £15 share price
target is achieved. 50% of the shares are granted after
4 years and the remaining 50% after 5 years. In all other
respects the shares rank equally with other fully paid
ordinary shares on issue.

The scheme is deemed to be an equity-settied scheme
Il el el i
the accounting policy in note 1, the fair vc:lue c1t the
date of grant is expensed to the Consclidated Income
Statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with the corresponding credit going to equity.

[ e P PR

The assessed fair value at grant date of the shares
granted during the period ended 24 April 2022 was
364.22p per share for the 4 year vesting period and
368.44p per share for the 5 year vesting period. The

fair value at grant date is independently determined
using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model
which includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the
option, the impact of dilution {where material), the share
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the
underlying share, the expected dividend yield, and the
risk-free interest rate for the term of the scheme. The
model inputs for shares granted during the perlod ended
24 April 2022 included:

+  exercise price: £nil
+  grant date: 14 October 2021

expiry date: 7 October 2025 and 7 October 2026
. share price at grant date: 632p

. expected price volatility of the Company's
shares: 39.85%

. expected dividend yield: 0%

. risk-free interest rate: 0.54%
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The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility {based on the remaining life of the scheme), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

A charge in the Consolidated Income Statement of £0.8m has been recognised in the period in relation to the scheme

with an equivalent £0.8m being recognised in equity.

26. OTHER RESERVES

Permanent Capital Reverse

contribution redemption combination Hedging Total other

to capital reserve reserve reserve reserves

(£'m) {E'm} (E'm) (E'm) {£'m)

At 27 April 2020 01 8.0 (987.3) 280 (951.2)
Cash flow hedges

- recognised in the period - - - 04 0.4

-tf;:l:;is;:;ied in the period and reported in _ _ _ (2.8) (2.8)

- reclassified and reported in cost of safes - - - (17.1) [LFAl

- taxation - - - 3.0 3.0

At 25 April 2021 01 8.0 (987.3) ns (961.7)
ey g

- recognised in the period . - - - 521 523

- reclassified and reported in cost of sales - - - 75 7.5

- taxation - - - (15.8) {15.8)

At 24 April 2022 ’ 01 8.0 {987.3) 55.3 (923.9)

The permanent contribution to capital relates to a cash
payment of £50,000 to the Company on 8 February
2007 under a deed of capital contribution.

The capital redemption reserve arose on the redemption
of the Company's redeemable preference shares of 10p
each at par on 2 March 2007.

The reverse acquisition reserve exists as a result of

the adoption of the principles of reverse acquisition
accounting in accounting for the Group restructuring
which occurred on 2 March 2007 and 29 March 2007
between the Company and Sports World international
Limited, Brands Holdings Limited, International Brand
Management Limited and CDS Holdings SA with Sports
World International Limited as the acquirer.

The hedging reserve represents the cumulative amount
of gains and losses on hedging instruments deemed
effective in cash flow hedges. The cumulative deferred
gcin or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised

in the income statement only when the hedged
transaction impacts the income statement.

Other Balance Sheet Reserves

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arising from the translation of

the Financial Statements of foreign subsidiaries and
associates,

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in
Frasers Group Plc purchased in the market and held by
Frasers Group Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy options
under the Group's share options scheme. The treasury

reserve represents shares held by the Group in treasury.

The Group holds 17,386,913 shares in the Employee
Benefit Trust as at period end (FY21: 17,386,913).

The non-controlling interests of the Group mostly
relates to Sportland International Group AS and its
subsidiaries. This company is incorporated in Estonia
with the principal places of business being a number of
Baltic countries in Europe. The non-controlling interests
hold 40% of the share capital of Sportland International
Group AS. During the period £5.6m profit (FY21: £3.0m)
has been allocated to the non-controlling interests

of Sportland International Group AS, resulting in an
accumulated non-controlling interests at the end of the
period of £18.0m (FY21: £12.4m). A dividend of £1.3m was
paid to the non-controlling interest in the period (FY21:
£0.9m). The group of companies headed by Sportland
International Group AS has total assets of £68.6m (FY21:
£67.8m) and total liabilities of £23.4m (FY21: £14.6m).
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27. BORROWINGS

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em) {Em)

Current;
Lease liabilities 17.0 188.5
Non-Current 297 23.0
Bank and other loans 8279 705.9
Lease liabilities 5036 534.2
1,448.5 1428.6

An analysis of the Group's total borrowings other than bank overdrafts is as follows:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) {Em)
Borrowings - sterling 8279 7059

Group borrowings {excluding Studio Retail Limited) are at a rate of interest of 2.0% (FY21: 1.3%) over the interbank

el o e o e - - e g e e - e e e i e

securitisation loan was acquired which had a balance at 24 April 2022 of £143.6m. The average interest rate paid on
the securitisation loan was 3.23%.
Reconciliation Of Liabilities Arising From Financing Activities

The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows:

Non-current Current
borrowings barrowings Total
(£m) {Em) (Em)
At 26 April 2020 1,376.2 1479 1,524
Cash-flows:
- Borrowings drawn down 11281 - 11281
- Borrowings repaid (1,323.6) - (1,323.6)
e Borrowings acquired through business combinations 14 - 14
Lease liability:
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - cash-flows - (78.0) 78.0)
- IFRS 16 Lecse Liabilities - modifications/remeasurements, transfers from non-current
to current, and foreign exchange adjustments (40.3) 981 578
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - new leases 98.3 205 18.8
S —— i - —— —
AL 25 April 2021 1,2401 188.5 1,428.6
Cash-flows:
- Borrowings drawn down 13744 - 13744
- Borrowings repaid ) (t484.4} - {1484.4)
I Borrowings acquired thraugh business combinations (note 32) 2320 - 2320
Lease liakility:
- IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - cash-Rows - [176.2) (176.2)
- IFRS 16 Lease Liahilities - modifications/remeasurements, transfers from non-current
to current, and foreign exchange adjustments (13671 911 (45.6)
- IFRS 16 Lease Liakilities - new leases 901 n4 1015
T IFRS 16 Lease Liabilities - acquired through business combinations (note 32) 16.0 22 18.2
At 24 April 2022 13315 17,0 14485
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On 30 November 2021 the Group refinanced its existing borrowings and entered inte a combined term loan and
revolving credit facility of £930.0m for a period of 3 years, with the possibility to extend this by a further 2 years. This
facility increased to £940.0m as at 24 April 2022 and to £980.0m subsequent to the period end. Given the revolving
credit facility is available for g minimum of 3 years and the limited restriction of lending under the facility, the balance
is classified as non-current on the Consclidated Balance Sheet.

The Group continues to operate comfortably within its banking facilities and covenants and the Board remains

comfortable with the Group's available headroom. The carrying amounts and fair value of the borrowings are not
materially different.

Reconciliation of Net Debt:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em) (Em}

Barrowings {1,448.5) (1,428.6)
Add back:

- Lease lichilities 620.6 7227
Cash and cash equivalents 336.8 457.0
Net debt {491.1) (248.9)

il Briml ilCILEei S FACP il oF P YA bl AR Rl T B
Accounts
depreciation Bonus  Forward Fair value Retirement Other
exceeding tax Tax losses - share currency  adjustments benefit temporary
IFRS16  depreciation recoverable  scheme contracts tointangibles obligotions differences Total
[E'm) (E'm) (E'm}) (E'm) (£'m) {£'m) (E£'m) {E'm) (E'm)
At 26 April 2020 28.5 19.6 - - [8.0) {17.6} - 18 243
Credited/{charged) to the
income statement 146 a1 - - {20] 10 ) (7.4) 103
Charged to reserves - - - {0.3) - 2.5 - - 22
Credited to hedging reserves - - - - 30 - - - 3.0
At 25 April 2021 431 237 - {0.3) {7.0) {14.1) - {5.6) 39.3
Acquired through business
combinations (see note 32) - 82 226 - - (1 (6.8) a2 2611
Credited/icharged) to the
income statement 101 (12.6) - 25 - 15 {0.5) 08 18
Charged to reserves . - - - 35 ) - (1.7 6.7 - 8.5
Credited tc hedging reserves - - - - {15.8) - - - {15.8)
At 24 April 2022 532 19.3 226 57 (22.8) (15.4} (0.6} {1.6} 60.4
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 *
[Em] (Em)
Deferred tax assets 100.8 66.8
Deferred tax liabilities (40.4) 27.0)
Net deferred tax balance 60.4 398

The tax rates used to measure the deferred tax assets and liabilities was 25% (FY21: 19%), on the basis that this was the
tax rote that was substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable on the basis
of the Group's current expectations of future taxable profits. The Group has approx. £122m of taxable losses not
recognised as o deferred tax asset (approx. £30m deferred tox asset).
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29. PROVISIONS

Legal and

Property Finencial

regulatory related services related Gther Total

{Em) (£m) {Em]) (Em) (Em)

At 26 April 2020 225.4 107.9 - 2.7 336.0
Amounts provided 73 N5 - - 48.8
Amounts utilised / reversed [16.9) {5.3) - (14) (23.6)
At 25 April 202 215.8 1441 - 13 361.2
g‘c;;url‘r:tc; ;h;]ough business combinations 7 27 124 _ 522
Amounts provided 177 537 - - 4
Amounts utilised / reversed 10.4) 39.3) {0.8} 1.3 (51.8)
At 24 April 2022 230.2 161.2 41.6 - 433.0

Legal and regulatory provisions relate to management's
best estimate of the potential impact of claims including
legal, commercial, regulatory and ongeing non-UK tax

inquiries and legal claims made against the Group is
dependent on factors outside the Group's controf and
therefore the timing of settlement-ds uncertain. After
taking appropriate legal advice, the outcomes of these
claims are not expected to give rise to material loss

in excess of the amounts provided. Included within
Legal and regulatory provisions, are amounts relating
to Studio Retaii Limited’s ongoing discussions with
HMRC with regard to agreeing a new Partial Exemption
Special Method (the means by which the recovery of
input VAT on costs relating to the company's financial
services activities is restricted). As at 24 April 2022, the
company held a provision of £6.9m which represents
management’s best estimate of the likely increase in
the level of restriction on the recovery of input VAT over
and above that which has already been restricted in
the company’s quarterly VAT returns. We note that
management's best estimate is one of o number of
different outcomes so the amounts provided may differ
to the final costs incurred by the company in respect of
this matter.

A reimbursement asset of £88.3m (FY21: £118.3m) has
been recognised separately within debtors relating to
ongoing non-UK tax enquiries.

Included within property related provisions are
provisions for dilapidations in respect of the Group's
retail stores and warehouses. Further details of
managements estimates are included in note 2.

Other provisions relate to provisions for restructuring and
employment (non-retirement related).

Included above is a provision of £41,6m for probable
outflows in respect of the financial services business.

As a regulated business, Studio Retail Limited has an
obligation to proactively review its business to ensure
that appropriate outcomes were delivered to customers.

wRkSreincr s 1007 Reoyciad and Carbon Captured tranagh the YWoosdac g Trust valpma v create new Brbsh weooriand across

Based on work undertaken as at the balance sheet date
it is considered likely that some level of remediation will
be required to fully satisfy this obligation.

LNE Provision recognises tne INnerent unceriinues in
any such remediation including the number of customers
who might have been impacted, the proportion of those
who were adversely affected by the legacy decisions,
the possible remediation payabie, and overlays these
uncertainties with a risk-based consideration of the
proportion of the population identified above that
suffered adverse outcomes, and the pericd over which
such adverse outcomes may have been suffered.
Assurmptions have been overlaid in respect of the timing
and mechanism for undertaking any remediation.

At this stage o detailed analysis of the relevant customer
cohorts has not yet been completed and as such

there are o range of outcomes which could result in a
settlement which is significantly lower or higher than the
amount estimated. This variation could be significant
and therefore highly material for a user of these
accounts. This range of outcomes is expected to narrow
as the work to substantiate each of the uncertainties set
out above is completed. It is anticipated this work will be
completed within the 12 month fair value measurement
period in line with IFRS3.

The timing of any potential cutflows is also uncertain, but
we have assumed that these take place within two years.

The recognition of a provision by the Group is not an
admission of liability for the payment of this amount,
but rather to comply with the Directors’ obligations to
prepare financial statements that give a true and fair
view of the performance and financial position of the
Group in accerdance with IFRS. '
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

-A. Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category and Fair Value Hierarchy

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities, which are principally denominated in Sterling or US Dollars,
were as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Other Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS - 24 April 2022 (£'m) (E'm} (E'm) (£'m) (E'm)
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables® - - J04.7 7047
Cash and cash equivalents - - 336.8 336.8
Amounts owed by related parties - - 242 242

FVOCL
Long Term Financial Assets (Equity Instruments) - designated 206.6 - - - 206.6
e A
Derivative financial assets (FV):
Foreign forward purchase and soies contracts, and interest rate swaps - 6.5 - - 116.5
. - 16.5 - - 16.5
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 24 April 2022
Non-current borrowings - - - {827.9) (827.9)
Trade and other payables** - - - {721.7) 71.7)
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities ' - - - (620.6) {620.6)
N
Derivative financial liabilities (Fv);
Foreign forward and written options purchase and sales contracts - Unhedged - 31.3) - - (31.3)
Derivative financial liabilities - contracts for difference & equity options - (75.9) - - {75.9
- (107.2) - - {107.2}
“Prapayments af £112 8 are not indduded s o [inangial usset
T Other taes mchading somal securivy Cases of £81m ara not meleded as o hineocial habaiity
Level1 Level 2 Level 3 Cther Total
FINANCIAL ASSETS - 25 April 2021 {E'm) {E'm) [E'm) (E'm) {E£'m)
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables® - - - 4351 4351
Cash and cash equivalents - - - 457.0 457.0
Amounts owed by related parties ) - - - 26.8 26.8
- S
FVOCI:
Long Term Financial Assets ([Equity Instruments) - designated 2633 - - - 263.3
. _________________________ "
Derivative financial assets (FV):
Foreign forward purchase and sales contracts - 353 - - 35.3
Derivative financial assets - contracts for difference & equity options - 201 - - 201
_ 554 - - 554
—
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES - 25 April 2021
Amortised cost:
Non-current borrowings - - - {705.9) {705.9)
Trade and other payables*™ - - - {620.1) {620.1)
IFRS 16 Lease liobilities - - - (722.7) (722.7)
Derivative financial liabilities (FV):
Foreign forward and written options purchase and sales contracts - Unhedged - {17.5) - - {17.5)
Derivative financial liabilities - contracts for difference & equity options - 1.7) - - (1.7}
- (1%.2) - - {19.2)
“Prepayments of £84 & are ot included s c finoncal csset.
rOther taxss including sacial secunty € Gsts of £24 Zmoare not included os o financic hability  r
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B. Finoncial Assets and Liabilities Sensitivities by Currency

The Group's principal foreign currency exposures are to US Dollars and Eurcs. The table below illustrates the
hypothetical sensitivity of the Group's reported profit and equity to o 5% increase and decrease in the US Dollar /
Sterling and Euro / Sterling exchange rates at the year-end date, assuming all other variables remain unchanged.
The figures have been calculated by comparing the fair values of outstanding foreign currency contracts, assets and
liabilities at the current exchange rate to those if exchange rates moved as illustrated. The income statement figures
include the profit effect of any relevant derivatives which are not in @ designated cash flow hedge. The impact on US
Dollar and Euro related hedging instruments is included in equity.

The analysis has been prepared using the following assumptions:

1. Existing assets and liabilities are held as at the pericd end; and

2. No additional hedge contracts are taken out.

SENSITIVITY
usp EUR

GBP & Other usp EUR Total . -5% +5% -5% 5%
FY22:
Trade and Other Receivables 648.6 245 316 704.7 .2) 12 1.6} 1.6
Trade and Other Payables {614.0) (15.0) {(927) {7n.7) 0.8 {0.8} 4.6 (4.6)

I _ __ L ]

FY21:
Trade and Other Receivables 3701 25.2 39.8 435.3 (1.3) 13 {2.0) 2.0
Cash and cash equivalents 353.4 434 54.2 457.0 {2.5) 25 (2.7} 27
Trade and Other Payables (489.0) (24.5) (106.6) (620.1) 12 n.2) 53 {5.3)

There is no difference between fair value and carrying value of the above financial instruments (FY21: £nil).

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

. Level 1: quoted {unadjusted) prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities;

. Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which
have a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a
significant effect on the recorded fair value thot are
not based on observable market data.

Contracts for difference are classified as Level 2 as the
fair value is calculated using quotad prices for listed
shares and commeodities at contract inception and the
period end.

Foreign forward purchase and sales contracts and
options are classified as Level 2, the Group enters into
these derivative financial instruments with various
counterparties, principally financial institutions with
investment grade credit ratings. Foreign exchange
forward contracts and options are valued using
valuation techniques, which employ the use of market
observable inputs. The most frequently applied
valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap
models using present value calculations.

The meodels incorporate various inputs including the
credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot
and forward rates, and yield curves of the respective
currencies,

Long-term financial assets such as equity instruments
are classified as Level 1 as the fair value is calculated
using quoted prices.

The fair value of equity derivative agreements are
included within the derivative financial assets balance
of £nil (FY21: £20.1m) and derivative financial liabilities
balance of £759m (FY21: £1.7m). The derivative financial
assets and derivative financial liabilities as at 24 April
2022 relate to strategic investments held of between
0.8% and 22.4% of investee share copital.

Sold options are classified as Level 2 as the fair value
is calculated using other techniques, where inputs are
observable.

Trade receivables / payables, amounts owed from
related parties, other receivables / payables, cash and
cash equivalents, current / non-current borrowings, ond
lease liabilities are held at amortised cost.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 24 April 2022
and at 25 April 2021 is the carrying value of each class
of asset in the Balance Sheet, except for amounts owed
from related parties which is the gross carrying amount
of £62.6m (FY21: £65.2m).

Aocyclen and Covbun Captuiad thro.gn e Woodland Trust, helpng t areals nay Buteb v oorband worss thiz UK




C. Derivatives: Foreign Currency Forward Contracts
(e)i) Hadging

The mast significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations relates to purchases made in foreign
currencies, principally the US Dollar and online sales in
Euros. The Group's policy is to reduce substantially the
risk associated with foreign currency spot rates by using
forward fixed rate currency purchase contracts, taking
inte account any foreign currency cash flows. The Group
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments
for trading purposes, however if derivatives, including
both forwards and written options, do not qualify for
hedge accounting they are accounted for as such and
accordingly any gain or loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement. Management are of the view
that there is a substantive distinct business purpose for

_ entering into the options and a strategy for managing
the options independently of the forward contracts. The

as one contract and hedge accounting for the forwards
is permitted.

Hedge effectiveness is determined at inception of

the hedge relationship and at every reporting period
end through the assessment of the hedged items and
hedging instrument to determine whether there is still an
economic relationship between the two.

The critical terms of the foreign currency forwards
entered into exactly match the terms of the hedged
item. As such the economic relationship and hedge
effectiveness are based on the gualitative factors and
the use of a hypothetical derivative where appropriate,
Hedge ineffectiveness may arise where the critical terms

The fair value of hedged contracts as at 24 April 2022 was:

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

of the forecast transaction no longer meet those of the
hedging instrument, for example, if there was a change
in the timing of the forecast sales transactions from
what was initially estimated or if the volume of currency
in the hedged item was below expectations leading

to over-hedging. Differences can arise when the initial
value on the Hedging instrument is not zero,

The hedged items and the hedging instrument are
denominated in the same currency and as a result the
hedging ratio is always one to one.

All derivative financial instruments used for hedge
accounting are recognised initially at fair value and
reported subsequently at fair value in the staterment

of financial position. To the extent that the hedge

is effective, changes in the fair value of derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in cash flow

hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income
and included within the cash flow hedge reserve in
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the time the hedged item affects profit or loss,

any gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity

to profit or loss and presented as o reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income. If a
forecast transaction is no longer expected to oceur, any
related gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income is transferred immediately to profit or loss. If the
hedging relationship ceases to meet the effectiveness
conditions then hedge accounting is discontinued and
the related gain or loss is held in the equity reserve until
the forecast transaction occurs.

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(Em) {£m)
Assets
US Dollar purchases - GBP 329 2.4
US Daliar purchases - EUR 54.2 23
Euro sales 128 306
Total 99.9 35.3
Liabilities
US Doltar purchases - GBP - 73
US Daltar purchases - EUR - o1
Total - 74
169
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The details of hedged forward foreign currency purchase contracts and contracted forward rates were as follows:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(£'m) _Em)
Currency GBP Currency GBP
US Dollar purchases 480.0 3404 720.0 5231
Contracted rates USD / GBP 141 1.36 - 1.41
Weighted average contracted rates USD / GBP 141 138
US Bollar purchases 120.0 786 1200 839
Contracted rates USD / EUR 126-1.31 121-131
Weighted overage contracted rates USD / EUR 128 126
Euro sales (600.0) (574.5) (240.0) (242 .4)
Contracted rates EUR / GBP 0.99-1.08 099
Weighted average contracted rates EUR / GBP 1c4 0.99
The timing of the contracts is as foliows:
Currency Hedging against Currency value Timing Rates
USD/GBP USD inventory purchases USD 480m B FY23 o 141 -
(ORI RO Sl e e e [ - e
EUR/GBP Euro sales EUR 600m FY23, FY25 0.99-1.08

The foreign currency forwards and options are denominated in the same currency as the highly probably future
inventory purchases and sales so the hedged ratio is 1:1. Hedge ineffectiveness may arise where the critical terms of
the forecast transaction no longer meet those of the hedging instrument, for example if there was a change in the
tirming of the forecast sales transactions from what was initially estimated or if the valume of currency in the hedged
item was below expectations leading to over-hedging.

24 April 2022 25 April 202_1

(£m) {Em]

Change in discounted spot value of outstanding hedging instruments since inception of the hedge (77.5) (14.5)
Change in value of hedged item used to determine hedge ineffectiveness {104.9) (281)
24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(£'m) (E'm)

Change in the Change in the Change in the Chonge in the

fair value of the fair value of the fair value of the fair value of the

currency forward hedged item  currency forward hedged item

US Dollars purchases - GBP 305 305 (4.8} (4.8}
US Dollars purchases - EUR 9.7 9.7 21 21
Euro sales 1.9 ne 31 31

At 24 April 2022 £574.5m of forward sales contracts (FY21: £242.4m) and £419.0m of purchase contracts (FY21: £607.0m)
qualified for hedge accounting and the gain on fair valuation of these contracts of £52.1m (FY21: £0.4m) has therefore
been recognised in other comprehensive income.

At 24 April 2022, £38.6m hedged purchase contracts had a maturity of greater than 12 months (FY21: £210.5m of purchase
contracts) and £3321m of hedged sales had a maturity of greater than 12 months [FY21: £242 4m of sales contracts).
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The movements through the Hedging reserve are:

Total Total
USD/GBP EUR/GBP USD/EUR  hedge movement Deferred tax hedging reserve
{Em) (£m) {Em) {Em) (Em) (Em)
As at 26 April 2020 - 16.6 17.2 33.8 (5.8) 23.0
"~ - —
Recognised (4.3) 32 21 0.4 - 04
Reclossified in sales - {2.8) - (2.9) - {2.8)
Reclassified in inventory /
cost of sales B i azt “7‘.1) B (173)
Deferred Tax - - - - 3.0 3.0
T -
As at 25 April 2021 (4.9) 17.0 2.2 14.3 (2.8) ns
N -~
Recognised 305 19 9.7 521 - 521
Reclassified in inventory / :
cost of sales 74 - Q1 7.5 - 75
Deferred Tax - - - - (15.8) (15.8)
A
As at 24 April 2022 33.0 289 12.0 739 {18.6) 55.3

[SST LT B B PP PPROPAg |

The sterling principal amounts of unhedged forward contracts and written currency option contracts and contracted
rates were as follows:

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(Em} (Em)

US Dotlar purchoses 786 40.3
Contracted rates USD / EUR 1.26-1.31 131
- Euro sales (715.9) {383.8)
Contracted rates EUR / GBP 0,99-1,08 099

Included within finance costs, classified within fair value adjustment to derivatives, is a loss on fair value of unhedged
forward contracts, written currency option contracts and swaps of £289m (FY21: loss of £4.6m).

At 24 April 2022, £78.6m of unhedged purchase D. Interest rate swaps
contracts had a maturity at inception of greater than 12
months (FY21: £nil purchase contracts) and £715.9m of
unhedged sales had a maturity at inception of greater
than 12 months (FY21: £335.4m of sales contracts).

The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements on its bank
borrowings. The Group has two contracts in place that
fix interest payments on variable rate debt. The first

These contracts form part of the Treasury management contract covers a notional amount of £250,0m and fixes
activities, which incorporates the risk management the interest rate at 0.985% per annum until 29 May
strategy for areas that are not reliable encugh in timing 2026. The second contract covers a notional amount of
and amount to qualify for hedge accounting. This £100.0m and fixes the interest rate at 0.45% per annum
includes acquisitions, disposals of overseas subsidiaries, until 2 September 2024. The fair value of these interest
related working capital requirements, dividends and loan rate swaps is an asset of £16.6m (2021: liability of £7.4m).
repayments from overseas subsidiaries and purchase The fair value gain has been recognised in finance

and sdle of overseas property. Written options carry income classified as fair value adjustment to derivatives.

additional risk as the exercise of the option lies with the
purchaser. The options involve the Group receiving a
premium on inception in exchange for accepting that
risk and the outcome is that the bank may require the
Group to sell Euros. However, the Group is satisfied that
the use of options as a Treasury management tool

is appropriate.

FY22 value excludes short term swaps of USD/GBP of
USD 40.0m and EUR/USD of EUR 40.0m which were
required for cash management purposes only. In FY21
there are nil short term swaps ot period end.
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E. Sensitivity Analysis

The Group's principal foreign currency exposures are to US Dollars and Euros. The table below illustrates the
hypothetical sensitivity of the Group's reported profit and equity to a 10% increase and decrease in the US Dollar /
Sterling and Euro / Sterling exchange rates at the year-end date, assuming all other variables remain unchanged. The
figures have been calculated by comparing the fair values of outstanding foreign currency contracts ot the current
exchange rate to those if exchange rates meved as illustrated. The income statement figures include the profit effect
of any relevant derivatives which are not in a designated cash flow hedge. The impact on US Dollar and Eure related
hedging instruments is included in equity.

Positive figures represent an increase in profit or equity:

Income statement Equity
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{E'm)} (E'm) (E'm] {E'm)
Sterling strengthens by 10% .
Us Dollar 2.9) 81 (226} (17.4)
Euro (39.4) 234 100 109
Sterling weakens by 10% )
US Doltar 35 9.9 276 213
Euro 48.1 908 2.3 L34y

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's reported profit and equity to a 0.5% increase or décrease in
interest rates, assuming all other variables were unchanged.

The analysis has been prepared using the following assumptions:

. For floating rate assets and liabilities, the amount of asset or liability cutstanding at the balance sheet date is
assumed to have been outstanding for the whole year.

. Fixed rate financial instruments that are carried ot amortised cost are not subject to interest rate risk for the
purpase of this analysis.

Positive figures represent an increase in profit or equity:

Income statement Equity
24 April 2022 25 April 2021 24 April 2022 25 April 2021
(E'm) (£'m) (£'m} (E'm)
Interest rate increase of 0.5% 2.6) {3.0) (2.6) (3.0
Interest rate decrease of 0.5% 26 30 26 3.0

Long term Investments Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of price risk in relation to long term investments held by the Group:

24 April 2022
Equity
(E'm)
Share price increase of 10% 202
Share price decrease of 10% - {20.2)
Printad Giksreipeeis 1007, Pecyciod and Carten Gantaad thigugh 1 Woodiand Trust halpmg to ereats new Brtsn woodland ass the UK
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F. Liquidity Risk

The table below shows the maturity analysis of the undiscounted remaining contractual cash flows of the Group's non
derivative liabilities and foreign currency derivative financial instruments:

Lessthaniyear 1to2years 2toSyears Over5years Total
{£'m) {E'm} {£'m) {£'m) {£'m)
2022
Non derivative financial liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafts - - 8279 - 8279
Bank loans and overdrafts interest 265 273 282 - 82.0
Trade and other payables 27 - - - 721.7
IFRS 16 Lease licbilities 131.5 936 182.4 4264 8339
Derivative financial instruments:
Cash inflows (1,008.7) (38.5) (711.5) - {1,758.7)
Cash outflows 1079.7 453 7024 - 1,827.2
950.7 127.5 1.029.4 426.4 2,534.0
2021
Men derivative financial liabilities:
Bank lcans and overdrafts - 7059 - - 705.9
Pranls lamme amA Avardes S imbaract e "o
Trade and other payables 620.1 - - - 520.1
IFRS 16 Lease liabilities 196.6 127 196.8 £70.9 1177.0
Derivative financial instruments:
Cash inflows {396.5) 766.9] (80.6} - {1,244.0}
Cash autflows 3391 798.9 815 - 1,269.5
809.3 860.5 197.7 6709 2,5384
Cupital Management The ratio for net debt to Reported EBITDA (pre IFRS 16) is
0.6 [FY21: 0.5). The objective is to keep this figure below
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity . 30 (Fy21: 3.0). )

attributable to the equity holders of the parent
company, comprising issued share capital {less
treasury shares), share premium, retained earnings
and cash and borrowings.

Based on this analysis, the Board determines the
appropriate return to equity holders whilst ensuring
sufficient capital is retained within the Group to meet

) - its strategic objectives, including but not limited to,
It is the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital acquisition opportunities.

base so as to maintain investor, crediter and market
confidence and to sustain the development of
the business.

These capital management policies have remained
unchanged from the prior period.

In respect of equity, the Board has decided that, in order
to maximise flexibility in the near term with regards to a
number of inorganic growth opportunities under review,
not to return any cash by way of a final dividend at

this time.

The Board is committed to keeping this policy under
review and to looking to evaluate methods of returning
cash to shareholders when appropriate.

The objective of the Share Scheme is to encourage
employee share ownership and to link employee’s
remuneration to the performance of the Company. It is
not designed as a means of managing capital.

In respect of cash and borrowings, the Board regularly
monitors the ratio of net debt to Reported EBITDA
(Pre-IFRS 16), the working capital requirements and
forecasted cash flows, however no minimum or
maximum ratios are set outside of maintaining a ratio
of net debt to Reported EBITDA {pre IFRS 16) below 3.0.
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 Aprii 2021

(Em) (Em)

Trade payables : 3581 . 2793
Amounts owed to related undertakings 01 26
Other taxes including social security costs 81 ) 262
Other payables 102.0 93.0
Accruals ' 2615 2452
729.8 646.3

Included within other payables are amounts outstanding in respect of gift cards and vouchers of £42.6m (FY21: £28.8m).

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

32. ACQUISITIONS , . - .

i. On 24 February 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital and voting rights of Studio Retoll Limited

which is deemed to be the fair vclue of the considerction. SRL is a digital value retailer with a broad product
offering and the ability to provide customers a range of payment options including a fiexible credit facility. The
acquisition will help to accelerate the Group's ambition to elevate its customer journey including o flexible
repayment proposition. As part of the transaction, SRG assigned its liabilities held to its lending banks under its
revolving credit facilities to SRL: A debt transfer took place which transferred this revolving credit facility debt from
the lending banks to Frasers Group Plc which became the new lender. The fair value adjustment te intangible
assets and inventory relates to management's assessment of the price that would be paid for the acquired assets
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the acquisition date, as well as the recognition of
customer related intangible. The fair value adjustment to property, plant and equipment relates to management's
assessment of the fair value of the buildings acquired as part of the acquisition and which are recognised on the
balance sheet of the Frasers Group Plc company. The fair value adjustment relating to borrowings relates to the
acquisition by Frasers Group Plc of the liakilities held between SRG and the lending banks under its revolving
credit facilities which SRG assigned to SRL. Acquisition related costs of £0.4m are included in administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement and in cash flows from operating activities in the Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement. The Group continues to hold a 28.9% interest in SRG at the period end, however given the
administration of SRG and the sale of its main trading subsidiary SRL, the interest has been fair valued to £nil with
the loss recognised through other comprehensive income (see note 21).

ii. During the perlod the Group acquired the entire share capital of Bob Woolmer Sales Limited for consideration of
£2.5m.

The following table summarises the fair values of consideration paid:

Studio Retail
Limited Other
(Em) {Em)
Cash consideration 28.3 25
283 25
Pricized rksteijies 1637, Ra: v and Careon Capturad through tha Wooddianed Trost hie g1 creats new Broush woodland acmss the UK
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The asset and liability. values at acquisition are detailed below. We have reviewed the fair value of the assets and
ligkilities acquired which are deemed to be provisional given the judgemental nature of some of the balances.

Studio Retail Limited GOther
Fair Value Fair Value
Bock Value Adjustment Fair Value Book Value Adjustment Fair Value
{£m) {Ern) (Em) {Em) (Em) {Em)
Z:‘ijﬂ}:’:l::t 5 70 195 - - -
Intangible assets 126 6.9) 57 - - -
Inventaries 56.4 7.6 64.0 04 - 04
Cash and cash equivalents 298 - 29.8 0.8 - 0.8
Cepeertents : : : :
Crt o : : : :
MogmeeforePed s : o) - : -
Deferred tax balances 272 {11 26.1 - - -
Borrowinas 7537 My 732 M - - -
Other working capital . (90.9) (90.9) - - -
Lease liability (182) - (18.2) - - -
Provisions (52.2) - (52.2) - - -
Goodwill - - - - 13 13
Bargain purchase - (4.8) (4.8) - - -
Net assets acquired 5.2 231 283 1.2 : 13 25

The bargain purchase of £4.8m from the Studio Retail Limited acquisition is as a result of the administration of

SRG, and the amount has been recognised within cost of sales within the period. The Goodwill arising on the other
acquisitions of £1.3m has been impaired to £nil as at period end with the impairment being recognised in Exceptional
Itemns, see note 6. Due to the nature of the credit facility offered by SRL to customers being a rolling facility, where new
purchases are added to the dccount as they are incurred and payments being allocated against the total customer
balance as received, the credit customer receivable and the IFRS 9 allowance for expected credit losses have been
recognised gross at the acquisition date. The period end analysis of this receivable balance and the IFRS 9 allowance
for expected credit losses can be found at note 23. Sensitivities with regards to the acquired provisions can be found
in note 29.

Since the date of control, the following amounts have been included within the Group's Financial Statements for

the period:
Studio Retail
Limited Other Total
{Em) ' (Erm) (Em) {Em)
Revenue 583 0.8 59.1
Operating loss (6.6} [(oX)] (6.7}
Loss before tax (7.2} (03) (7.3}
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Had the ocquisitions been included from the start of the pericd the following amounts would have been included
within the Group's Financial Statements for the period:

Studio Retail
Limited Other Tota)
(Em) ‘ (Em) {Em) (Em)
Revenue 4914 3.0 4944
Operating {loss)/profit 108.9) 0.2 {108.7)
[Loss)/profit before tax (115.4) 02 (115.2)
There were no contingent liabilities acquired as a result of the above transactions.
Reconciliation of net cash outflow from investing activities:
Studio Retail
Limited - Cther Total
(Em) (Em) (Em) (£m)
Cash consideration (28.3) {2.5} {30.8)
Fair value of cash and cash aquialent acguired 298 9%:] 306
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 15 1.7} {0.2)

u-..ﬂ..:‘ b e e e et e s B L et Al B e T R I et A TR

consnderqtion of £37.0m which resu\ted in Goodwill being recognised of £37m.
33. CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 201

(Em) {£m)

Profit before taxation 3356 8.5
Net finance cost 189 272
Net investment income (24 (96.0)
Operating profit/{loss) 3304 (60.3)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2466 2985
Depreciation on investment properties 5.9 192
Gain on disposal and modification/remeasurement of lease liabilities (28.3) (27.7)
Amortisation of intangible assets 75 71
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets and investment properties 2327 3261
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (10.8} (9.7)
Profit on disposal of intangibles - 75)
Gain on bargain purchase (4.8) (31)
Share based poyment charge in equity [excluding deferred tax) 92 -
Pension contributions less income statement charge (16) -
Operating cash inflow before changes in working capital 786.8 5253
Increase in receivables {33.3) (136.6)
{Increase) / decrease in inventories {155.0) 99.3
Increase in payables 7.5 649
Increase in provisions 229 25.4
Cash inflows from cpergting activities 6289 578.3

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had capital commitments of £145.0m as at 24 April 2022 (25 April 2021: £87.1m) relating to warehouse
automation, aircraft, other plant and machinery, and property purchases.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has taken advantage of the exemptions contained within IAS 24 - "Related Party Disclosures” from the
requirement to disclose transactions between Group companies as these have been eliminated on consolidation.

The Group entered into the following material transactions with related parties:

52 weeks ended 24 Aprit 2022:

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Trade Trade
and other und other
Relationship Sadles Purchases  receivables payables
{£'m) {E£'m) {E'm) (£'m)
Reluled Party
Four (Holdings) Limited & subsidiaries™ Associote 26 637 24.0 -
Mash Holdings Limited Parent company - - 02 -
Mike Ashley!? Plc Director 15 - - -
N M Design Londeon Limited Connected - 0.2 - -
persons
Rangers Retoil Limited Associote - - - 01
MM Pron Consulteney Limited & M PM Elevation Limited Connectad - 70 - -
52 weeks ended 25 April 2021:
Trade Trade
and other and other
Relationship Sales Purchases  receivables payables
(£'m]) [E'm) [E'tn) (£'m)
Related Party
Four (Holdings) Limited & subsidiaries™ Associate 2.2 11 26,5 0.1
Mash Holdings Limited Parent company - - 02 -
Mike Ashley™ Plc Director 13 - - -
N M Design London Limited Connected - [e3] - -
persons
MM Prop Consultency Limited Connected - 25 - 25
. persons
Newcastle United Footbxall Club Limited Connected o2 19
& St James Holdings Limited® persons - (19) 01 -
Rangers Ratail Limited Associate - - - 01
i The outstanding balance with Four (Holdings: Limiked seflects tha funding relaled to Agenl Provocateur. Monugement censider that the underlying results of

Four {Holdings} Limited supparts the recoverability of the receivables balance The results of Four [Holdings) Limited are not material on the bosis of net
cssets and prafit hefore tox, subsequently detaited disslosures have not been prasentad under IFRS 12,

1¥3) Use of the Compuny jet and helicoptoer are charged ot commercial ratas

3 The sales relate to ihventary cnd purchases inclida the reversal of the TY20 Gidrertising charge

An agreement has been entered into with Double Take Limited, a company owned by Mash Holdings Limited in which
Matilda Ashley, Mike Ashley's daughter, is a director. Under the agreement, Double Take Limited licenses the Group the
exclusive rights to the cosmetic brand SPORT FX. During the pericd a review has been undertaken and no royalties or
other fees are expected to be payable to Double Take Limited for these rights unti! at least September 2023, the fee
arrangement will continue to be reviewed on an ongoing basis, no provision is required in the financial statements. It
should be noted that the Group (rather than Double Take Limited) owns the rights to SPORT FX for clothing, feotwear

and sports equipment.

N M Design London Limited is a company in which Nicola Murray, Michael Murray’s mother, is a director, who
performs design work for the Group in relation to some of the Group's sites.

A provision was made in FY20 for £20m poyoblé te Newcastle United Football Club, this was reversed in FY21.
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The trade and other receivables balance with Four {Holdings) Limited includes an unsecured foan balance of £60.0m
{gross of amounts recognised in respect of loss dllowance} which attracts interest at a rate of 3% within current assets
{(FY21: £60.0m). This has been accounted for at amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9. The carrying value has been
determined by assessing the recoverability of the receivable balance, discounted at an appropriate market rate of
interest. £nil was recognised in the period in respect of doubtful debts (FY21: £4.7m). Further disclosure can be found in

note 23.

The sales amount in relation to Four {(Holdings) Limited relates to the interest charge on the loan and the purchases

relate to the purchase of clothing products.

At the period end the Group does not have significant influence over but holds greater than 20% of the voting rights of
Mulberry Group ple. The lotest equity amounts and results are shown below:

Mulberry Group plc
Period ended

2 April 2022

{Em)

Share capital 30
Share premium 122
L N I —_——
Total equity 422
Profit for the period 192

The Group does not consider it has the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of Mulberry
Group Plc and so management do not consider the Group to be able to exert significant influence as per 1AS 28
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures.

Key Management, Executive And Non-Executive Director Compensation

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

- {Em) (Em}

Salaries and short-term benefits 1.4 1.3
Fair value charge for Executive Share Scheme (see note 25) 0.8 -
Total 2.2 13

Key management personnel are considered to be the Directors and members of management whe play a key
part in the long term strategy and operations of the Group. Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report in this annual report including Directors’ shareholdings and share interests.

MM Prop Consultancy Limited,  company owned and
controlled by Michael Murray, who is a member of key
management personnel as per IAS 24, continued to
provide property consultancy services to the Group
during FY22. During FY22 MM Prop Consultancy Limited
was primarily tasked with finding and negotiating the
acquisition of new sites in the UK, Europe and Rest of
the World for both our larger format stores and our
combined retail and gym units but it also provides
advice to the Company's in-house property team in
relation to existing sites in the UK, Europe and Rest of
the World.

In the year all properties have been assessed

that are considered to have created value across

all the outstanding freehold and long leasehold
properties over the applicable period from the MM
Property Consultancy agreement commencement

to 29 September 2021, they have been valued by an
independent valuer who confirms the value created by
MM Prop Consultancy Limited. The Group's independent
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Non-Executive Directors then review and agree the value
created and have full discretion to approve a payment
to MM Prop Consultancy Limited of up to 25% of the
value created. ‘

On 1 May 2022 Michael Murray was appointed as CEQ,
prior to his appointment MM Prop Censultancy Limited
and the Group finalised the terms on which any relevant
prior consultancy services agreements terminated.

The Board has now completed its assessment of the
unsettled value created by MM Prop Consultancy
Limited to the Group, with the assistance of independent
third party experts.

MM Prop Consultancy Limited is entitled to up ta 25%
of any value created by services provided to the Group.
MM Prop Consultancy Limited has agreed to waive
contractually due amounts, including part crediting
previous payments under this agreement, such that

the Group receives a 40% discount as part of the
finalisation and cessation of the consultancy agreement.
The final payment to be made by the Group to MM
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Prop Consultancy Limited following the application of
this discount is £209m which was paid in the year (FY21:
£2.5rm wus uccrued and subsequently pald in FY22).

During FY21the Group entered into an agreement
with M.P.M Elevation Limited, a company owned and
controlied by Michael Murray in relation to elevation
strategy services. M.P.M Elevation Limited was paid
£0.1m in relation to the provision of the elevation
strategy services (FY21: £0.1m).

36. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

The Group is controlled by Mike Ashley through his
100% shareholding in Mash Beta Limited and Mash
Holdings Limited, which own 303,507,460 (61.7% of the
issued crdinary share capital of the Company) and
26,492,540 {5.5% of the issued ordinary share capital of
[N I P e i]" e A 1 L ¥ [ IR I QQ}J\.—\_L T I D e e ]
end. Mash Holdings Limited is the smallest and largest
company to consolidate these accounts. Mash Holdings
Limited is registered in England and Wales and a copy
of their financial statements can be obtdined from
Companies House, Crown Way, Cardiff, CF14 3UZ.

37. POST BALANCE SHEET
EVENTS

On 25 April 2022 and 20 June 2022 the Group
commenced share buyback programmes with the
aggregate purchase price of all shares acquired
under these programmes of no greater than £105.0m
and the maximum number of shares that may be
purchased under the programmes of 15m ordinary
shares with a nominal value of 10p each. The purpose
of the programmes was to reduce the share capital of
the Company. 11,884,438 ordinary shares of 10p each
for consideration of £79.9m were acquired threugh
these programmes.

On 1 May 2022 Michae! Murray wds appointed as
Chief Executive Officer of Frasers Group. Mike Ashley
and Michael Murray worked together for a number

of months to ensure a smooth transition into the role.
Michael will accelerate the Group's strategy to achieve
its vision: "to serve our customers with the World's best
sports, premium and luxury brands.”

On 16 May 2022 the Group acquired the entire share
capital of leading Danish sport retailer SportMaster. Due
to the proximity of the acquisition date to the date these
financial statements are autherised for issue, the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete
and so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business
Combinations cannot be made ot this stage.

1007 Rooyoiad and Carbon Captured through the Weodiand
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On 25 May 2022 the Group disposed of its US

retail businesses trading as Bobs Stores ("Bobs”)

and Eastern Mountain Sports ("EMS") for a cash
consideration of $70m to GoDigital Media Group
(*GDMG"). Further details are included within note 16
of the Group financial statements.

On 1 June 2022 the Group acquired certain intellectual
property of the online women's fashion retailer,
Missguided Limited {in administration), Mennace
Limited {in administration} and Missguided {IP) Limited
for cash consideration of £20.0 million. Due to the
proximity of the acquisition date to the date these
financial statements are authorised for issug, the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete
and so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business
Combinations cannot be made at this stage.,

The Group announced on 22 June 2022 that it has
increased its investment in Hugo Boss AG, and now has

-

- 3,425,000 shares of common stock, representing

49% of Hugo Boss's total share capital

. 18,289,000 shares of common stock via the sale of

put options, representing 26.0% of Hugo Boss's total
share capital

After taking into account the premium it will receive
under the put options, Frasers Group's maximum
aggregate exposure in connection with its acquired
interests in Hugo Boss, with the common stock holding
valued at the closing share price on 21 June 2022, is
approximately €900m {c. £770m).

On 28 July 2022 the Group acquired the online fashion
retailer | Saw It First for cash consideration of £1. Due to
the proximity of the acquisition date to the date these
financial statements are authorised for issue, the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete
and so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business
Combinations cannot be made at this stage.

Cn 11 August 2022 the Group completed the disposal
of @ number of freehold and long leasehold retail
parks held by its wholly owned subsidiaries, to Ri

UK 1 Limited for a headline price of £205m. Frasers
Group fascias will operate from leases within these
properties where appropriate. Frasers Group in the
ordinary course of business purchases and sells
properties from time to time and the Group intends to
use the proceeds of sale towards the working capital
of the Group and its operations.

On 17 August 2022 the Group made a cash offer to
acquire the entire issued and to be issued ordinary share
capital of MySale Group plc (MySale’) not already held
by Frasers Group at a price of 2 pence per MySale Share.
The offer values the entire issued and to be issued share
capital of MySale not currently held by Frasers Group

179
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at approximately £13.6 million (not taking into account
the exercise of any outstanding options which may have
vested under the MySale Share Plans or any conversion
event pursuant to the Convertible Loan Notes). On 29
June 2022, Frasers Group acquired 270,666,650 MySale
Shares and, together with the contracts for difference
already held by it, Frasers Group increased its stake

in MySale to 28.7% and became MySdle's largest
shareholder. Since the disclosure of Frasers Group's
acquisition of this further stake, the market price of
MySale shares has increased.

On 20 Septamber 2022 the Group announced that
Mike Ashley would not be standing for re-election as o
Director at this year's Annual General Meeting {"AGM")
and that he will therefore step down from the Board
upon the conclusion of the AGM.

38. PENSIONS

Defined contribution schemes

The group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan for all qualifying employees. The assets of
the plan are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of trustees. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan
is to make the specified contributions. The total expense
recognised in the income statement of £6.5m represents
contributions payable at rates specified by the rules of
the plan.

Defined benefit schemes

On 24 February 2022, as part of the acquisition of Studio
Retail Limited ("SRL"} as documented in note 32, SRL
became the sponsor of the Findel Group Pension Fund
("The Scheme") via a Deed of Amendment, Substitution,
Waiver of Liahility and Guarantee. Cnly the costs and
ligbilities associated with the Group section of the
Scheme relate to SRL and as such, it is only assets

and liabilities of the Group section that have been
recognised in these consolidated financial statements.
Frasers Group Plc has also guaranteed payments from
Studio Retail Group ple (in administration) to the three

other sections of the Scheme up te a maximum of £0.9m.

As part of the Deed of Amendment, Substitution, Waiver
of Liability and Guarantee, a one off contribution of
£2.0m was made to the Scheme by SRL. Of this amount,
£1.2m is held by the Scheme but is unallocated by the
administrator. This amount has therefare been shown
within the cash position of the Group section of the
pension scheme.

On 1 March 2022, the Trustee signed a full buy-in
contract (i.e. a policy to cover all members' benefits in
the four sections of the Scheme) with Standard Life.
This insurance policy allows the pension scheme to

s 10407 Recyclad and Carton Caprurad

cugtb dna Wioodiand frost e

=

have assets that broadly match the benefits paid by
the Scheme. However, SRL retains responsibility for the
Group section of the Scheme until it is fully transferred
to Standard Life. The contract includes the potential to
convert the policy to a full buy-out at an unspecified
point in the future. However, this is expected to only
happen if a number of conditions included in the
contract are met, based on the insurer's requirements
and a formal request from the Trustee and therefore is
not a certainty. The buy-in has therefore been treated
as an investment decision for accounting purposes, with
the associated remeasurement of plan assets recognised
through Other Comprehensive Income {“CCI").

Following the Deed of Amendment, Substitution, Waiver
of Liability and Guarantee and the buy-in, no further
contributions to the scheme are anticipated.

The last funding valuation of the Scheme was
undertaken on 5 April 2019 and recorded a surplus of
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The latest full actuarial valuation has been updated for |AS 19 purposes to 24 April 2022 by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP {"PwC"} using the assumptions detailed below. The results of the 1AS 19 valuation are summarised as follows:

24 Aprit 2022 24 February 2022

(Em) (Em)
Fair value of the scheme assets 89.0 120.5
Present value of the funded obligations (86.8) (93.2)
Surplus in the scheme 2.2 ’ 27.3

Plan assets

24 April 2022 24 February 2022

(Em) {Em)
Plan assets comprise:
Fixed interest gilts - 765
Index linked gilts - 3%.6
Annuities 848 01
Cash 42 43
Total 89,0 1205

iviovement in the present vaiue or defined beneiit oblugailons

24 April 2022 24 February 2022

{£m) {Em)
On acguisition (93.2) -
Interest cost {0.4) -
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions o1 -
Effect of changes in financial assumptions 57 -
Effect of experience adjustments {0.4) .-
Benefits paid 14 -
At end of the period ' (86.8) (93.2)

Movement in the fair value of plan assets

24 April 2022 24 February 2022

(Em) (Em)
On acquisition 120.5 -
Scheme expenses (0.4) -
Interest on assets 05 -
Remeasurements (32.2) -
Employer contributions 20 -
Benefits paid (1.4) -
At end of the period 89.0 120.5

Movement in the pension surplus

24 April 2022 24 February 2022

(Em) (Em)
Surplus on acquisition 273 -
Scheme expenses (0.4) -
Net interest income - Q1 -
Remeasurements {26.8) -
Emplayer contributions 20 -
Surplus at end of the period 22 273
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Expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement

24 April 2022
' (£m)
{i) Included within administrative expenses
Scheme expenses 0.4
— —— ISR _ -
{ii} Included within finance income
Net interest income 01
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
24 April 2022
{Em)
Total remeasurements (26.8)

Actuarial Assumptions

The fbllowing are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date:

24 April 2022 24 February 2022

Discount rote for scheme liabilities 3.00% 2.55%

RPI Price Inflation 370% 3.65%
CPI Price Inflation {Pre-2030 / Post-2030) R 270% /370% 2.65% /365%
Rate of increase to pensions in payment in line with RP| inflation (up to 5% per annum) 2.50% 2.50%
Rate of increase to pensiens in payment in line with CP inflation {up to 5% per annum) 315% 310%
Rate of increase to deferred pensions 3.20% 315%

Post retirement mortality (in years)

Current pensioners at 65 - male 86.6yrs 86.6yrs
Current pensiorers at 65 - female 87.9yrs 879yrs
Current pensioniers at 45 - male 88 dyrs 88.4yrs
Current pensioners at 45 - female 89.8yrs ' 89.8yrs
Demographic Assumptions

Cash Commutation {members taking cash lump surm) 60% 80%
Proportion of members that are married ot retirement 70% 70%

The duration, or average term to payment for the benefits due weighted by liability, is around 15 years.
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Risks
Inflation

In projecting the expected future benefit payments, assumptions are made regarding future price inflation. There is a
risk that the actual rate of inflation will be higher than assumed which will increase the cost of providing the benefits
and thus the liability. This would result in additional contributions being required and a deterioration in the solvency
position unless investment returns are similarly higher than expected.

Mortality

It is not possible to predict with any certainty how long members of the Scheme will live, and if members live longer
than expected, additional contributions will be required and the Scheme's solvency position will deteriorate.

Managing risk

To manage the risks of the Scheme, TPIE exercises were carried out during 2015 and 2016, which resulted in a number
of members transferring out of the Scheme. The TPIE option has now been embedded within the scheme.

IFRIC 14

IFRIC 14 is an interpretation relating to 1AS 19 that covers whether pension scheme surpluses can be recognised on the
balance sheet. Based on the circumstances of the Fund and in line with the prior period, management do not believe

LI LI/ A d - L L Ll L EAM AN [ RS SRR E T B L TR S A o [ 1 T R

the future, and as such have not made any adjustments to the results.
Funding

The Scheme is funded by SRL. During the current period, the company contributed £1.9m to the scherme. The Group
expects to make contributions of £nil in the financial period ended Aprif 2023.

The following table shows the expected future benefit payments for the Findel Group Pension Fund:

Future benefit payments (Em)
2022 - 2031 397
2032 - 2041 415
2042 - 2051 346
2052 - 2061 19.3
2062 - 2071 41-
2072 - 2081 02
2082 - 2091 -
After 2092 -
Total 139.4
183
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39. SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
18 Montrose Retail Limited Shirebrook! 11577636 100
2Cared Limited Church Bridge House, Henry Strest, Accrington, Linited Kingdom, 3806485 100
BB5 AEE
Activator Brands Limited Shirebrooki! 5344658 100
Activator Products Limited Shirebrook!! 4204611 100
- Cogency Global Inc. 850 New Burten Road Suite 201 Dover
Active A | New C
ctive Apparel New Corp Delaware 19904; USA 3270168 00
Alpha Developments Stockport Ltd Shirebroak 12662564 100
12th Floor, Menara Synphony No 5, Jalan Semangat [Jalan
AP Brands Holdings Ltd Professor Khoo Kay Kim) , Seksyen 13, 46200 46200 Petaling . A4921-4 100
Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia
Bellatrix Associates Limited Clinch's House, Lord Street, Douglas, Isle of Man, M99 1RZ, HETIC 100
Isle of Man
Bellatrix Overseas Limited F:.Iincl:\'ls‘House, Lord Street, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM99 1RZ, 128827:C 100
Bellatrix Untimited Clinch's House, Lord Street, Douglas, Isle of Man, IM99 1RZ, ME70C 100
Isle of Man
Bob Woolmer Sales Limited Shirebrook® 2237568 100
. : The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Bob's Stores USA LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 639085 100
United States
Brands & Fashion NV Leopoldstraat, nr. 73, 2800 Mechelen, Belgium 0477-995-412 998
Brands 001 Limited Shirebrook™ 5347540 100
Brands Holdings Limited* Shirebrook 4087435 100
Brands Holdings Sponsorship Limited Shirebrook 10375418 100
Brands Inc Limited Shirebrook™ 3585719 100
Brasher Leisure Limited Shirebrook™ 999421 100
BSL International Limited Shirebrook™ 2800425 100
Cafe Clo Limited Shirebrook™ . 13641982 100
Cafico - Comercio de Artigos de Via Central de Milheiros no 127, 4475-334, Frguesia de Mitherios, 503751804 100
Desportos S.A. Concelho da Maia, Porto, Partugal
Campri Limited Shirebrook™ 5398677 100
Cardinal Investments S C.C.Puerto Ver]eciu. local 84, Trav. Jardines Reales, 7, 50021 BER547766 100
Zaragoza, Spain
Carlton Sports Company Limited Shirebrook™ 467686 100
Catrinona Investments S.L C.C.Puerto Ver]eciu, local 84, Trav. Jardines Reales, 7, 50021 B28542683 100
Zaragoza, Spain
CDS IPSA. Parc Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Solvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium 406461077 100
Criminal Clothing Limited Shirebrock 4184750 100
Cruise Clothing Limited Martin House, 184 Ingram Street, Glasgow, Scotiand, G11DN 5C382991 100
Curling Investments S.| C.C.Puerto Ver'feciu. local 84, Trav. Jardines Reales, 7, 5002% BA8AT5369 100
Zaragoza, Spain
Designer Travel Goods Limited Shirebrook" 12298797 100
Dink Digital Holdings Limited Shirebrook! 11143016 100
Donnay International N.V. Leopoldstraat nr 79, 2800 Mechelen,Belgium 435392220 100
Eastchance Limited Unit 1903B & 1505, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, 174348 100
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Epoch Properties Limited First Floor La Chasse Chambers St Helier JE2 4UE Jersey 74753 100
Etail Services Limited Shirebrook™ 5146997 100
Evans Cycles Brands Limited Shirebrook' 11634915 100
Evans Cycles Limited Shirebrook™ 1577650 100
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
Evans Cycles Property Limited Shirebrook! 11634939 100
Everlast Australia Limited Shirebrook™ 8103912 100
Everlast Sports International Inc. Corp, Everlost 42 West 39th St. 3rd Floor New York, New York, 10018 13-2811380 100
Everlast Sports Mfg. Corp. 1%2;;)0?’31;3; ‘ijesr\;ice Compony 80 Stote Street, Albany, New York, 131804772 100
Everlast World Boxing Headquarters Corporation Service Compeany 80 State Street, Albany, New York, 13-1804773 100
Corporation 122207-2543, USA
The Carperation Trust Compony, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Everlast Worldwide Inc. Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 13-3672716 100
United States
Exsports Limited Shirebroak® 2779040 100
FG (AF Holdings) Limited Shirebrook’ 13281983 100
FG USA Trade Group Limited Shirebrook® ) 13216390 100
Firetrap Limited Shirebrock® 6836684 100
Forever Media Limited Shirebrook™ 8249185 100
Forever Sperts Limited Shirebrock™ 9489811 100
Frasers Group Asia SDN.BHD. Igg\é;'(;ijé?uua?;r:ﬂ \?ge&:?‘i;fl Court, Jalan Sultan lsmail, 201901040821 51
Frasers Group Financial Services Limited Shirebrook!? 13191369 100
Frasers Group Loyalty Services Limited Shirebrook? 13340837 100
FRASERS RETAIL NIGERIA LIMITED Isz?N%?tjA‘ggssé'?LﬁéR;ﬁg:ggNIJO STREET, VICTORIA 1799366 60
Gome AR Limited Basingstoke™ 10142852 100
Game Belong Limited Shirebrook" 12794477 100
Game Digital Heldings Limited Basingstoke™ 7893832 100
Game Digital Limited Basingstoke® 9040213 100
Game Digital Solutions Lirnited Buasingstoke® 9476209 100
Game Retcil Limited Basingstoke' 7837246 100
Game Spain Holdings Limited Basingstoke? ’ 10846702 100
Game Spain Investments Limited Basingstoke™ 10863881 100
Game Stores Iberia SLU gé;.i’:gilio 7 -9, Parcelas 12 - 13, Pazuelo de Alarcon, Madrid, BE1209751 100
Getlert IP Limited Shirebraok!! 8576185 100
Gelert Limited Shirebrook!! 8576204 100
Global Apparel (HK) Limited Unit 1903B & 1905, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, 1330162 100

Kowloon Bay, Kewloon, Hong Kong

Galddigga Brands Limited Shirebrook!" 6636173 100

C.C.Puerto Venercia, local 84, Trov. Jardines Reales, 7, 50021

Gatay Investments SL h B88542709 100
Zaragoza, Spain
GRMNT Litd Shirebraok 11144039 100
GT-Lines BV Bert Haanstrakade 2, 1087DN, Amsterdam, Netherlands ) 17117820 100
Gul IP Limited . Shirebrook!" 8612478 - 100
Gul Watersports Limited Shirebrook!" 7589716 100
Heatons (N.1] Limited PO Box BT15EX, 5th Floor Lesley Buildings, 61-65 Fountain Street, NI035599 100
Belfast, Northern Ireland
. Heaton House, IDA Business Park, Whitestown, Tellaght, Dublin
t d " " d " '
Heateons Stores Limite: reland, D24E932, 505525 100
. Heaton House, IDA Business Park, Whitestown, Tallaght, Dublin,
Heatons Unlimited Company treland, D24E932, 11229 100
Heaven or Hell Limited Shirebrook 5899282 100
HK Sports & Golf Aktiebolag Eskiolstorpsvagen 7, 269 96, Bastad, Sweden 556510-8189 100
HOF Ireland Stores Limited Heaton House, IDA Business Park, Whitestawn, Tallaght, Dublin, 626384 100
freland, D24ES32
185
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
Hot Tuna IP Limited Shirelrook™ 6836792 100
House of Fraser Brands Limited Shirebraok™ 10687367 100
House of Fraser Limited Shirebrock” 10686681 100
Internatfonal Brand Management Limited*  Shirebrook™ 5142123 100
Jack Wills (IP) Limited Shirebrook!! 11775495 100
Juck Wills Property Limited Shirebrook™ 1775643 100
Jack Wills Retail (Ireland | Limited ::-':lztno; g;:;;alzoA Business Park, Whitestown, Tallaght, Dublin, 656208 100
Jack Wills Retail Limited Shirebrook! 11634810 100
James Lillywhites Lirmited Shirebrook™ #8840 100
Kangol Holdings Limited Shirebrook® 3317738 100
Kangol Limited Shirebrock™ 3343793 100
Kangol Trustees Limited Shirebrook™ 3505512 100
Karrimor International Limited ?;E'y’;“‘;gz‘(;g?; ?;2‘::9 &/F, 11417 Kudankita, Chiyoda-ku, 0100-01-012128 95
Krrrimmar | imited Thairnbramlid £n1ca7a 1nn
KooGa IP Limited Shirebrook' - 12402087 jlele}
ta Jolla (UK} Limited Shirebroak™ 5737550 100
Lillywhites Limited Shirebroak™ 290939 100
Lonsdale Australia Limited Shirebrook™ 7665885 100
Lonsdale Boxing Limited Shirebrook™ 3912303 100
Lonsdale Sports Limited Shirehrook™ 4430781 100
Lovell Sports (Holdings} Limited Shirebrook'! 9608995 160
Lovell Sports Limited Shirebrook™ 4184358 100
Lovells SP Limited Shirebrook!" 8907509 100
Loyalti Holdings Limited Shirebroak® 12110637 00
Masters Holders Limited Shirebrook'™ 8787718 100
Midtown Ltd Shirebrook™ 9467997 100
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Mississippi Manufocturing LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 3470413 100
United States
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Mountain Sports LLC  Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 6386224 100
United States
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
Mountain Sports USA LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 7124259 100
United States
Muddyfox IP Limited Shirebrook?” 10246764 100
Muddyfox Limited Shirebrook™ 4187350 100
Nevica iP Limited Shirebrook™ 6836778 100
Na Fear Brand Limited Shirebrook™” 5568043 100
No Fear International Limited Shirebrook!! 5532482 100
No Fear USA Limited Shirebrook!® 7712470 100
Olympus Ventures Limited Shirebrook™ 3945752 100
Paddle $port Limited Shirebrook!" 6836690 100
POD Collection Services Limited Gf,:i:?i’ngggf: 36 Poland Street, London, W1F 7LU, 9913495 100
Psyche Holdings Limited Shirebrook” 03438665 100
Psyche Limited Shirebrook™ 02844071 10¢
Puffa IP Limited Shirebrook" 10910124 100
Queensbemry Boxing IP Limited Shirebrook™ 7929363 100
Queensberry Rules Limited Shirebrock" 6723660 100
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Frinted on &

PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME RLGISTERED OTFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
Quentin Investments 5.1 géféztezr‘:?s‘;i-;re‘cio, local 84, Trav, Jardines Reales, 7, 50021 BEA5A2723 100
Quickreply Limited Shirebrock!! 5904737 100
Republic IP Limited Shirebrook 5635015 100
Republic.com Retail Limited “Shirebrook™ 8248997 100
Rhapsody Investments {Europe) SA 1Cote d'Eich, L1450, Luxembourg B21.60X 100
robersso usa L e BT 2 g ol o oy
Rurinel Limited Shirebrook" 9336830 100
E&0 Brands Limited Shiirelaook™ E635585 1.0
SC Sports (SG) PTE LTD gif;ng;zTI;ebar Road, #08-43, Paya Lebar Square, 409057, 198203096N 100
SD Equestrian Limited Shirebrook" 8692780 100
SD Outdoor IP Li_mited Shirebraok™ 8560252 100
5D Outdoor Limited Shirebrook" e 8560260 * 100
SDB25.A. Parc Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Solvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium - 0848964.388 100
SDI (Aberdeen} Limited Shirebrook 8512592 100
SDI (Aberwystwyth) Limited Shirebrook! 2789996 100
SDI {Acqco 5) Limited Shirebrook™ 10162904 100
3D {Aintree) Limited Shirebrook™ 3352462 100
SDI {Ashford) Limited Shirebrook'" 7848460 100
5DI {Ashington) Limited Shirebrookd" 7849231 100
SDH {Ayr) Limited Shirebrook™ 5528267 100
*SDI (Bollymena) Limited zt:r;']‘:nr |$§|2i§,33u"ir|$?£g; 61-65 Fountain Street, Belfast, NI653829 100
50H (Bangor) Limited Shirebrook™ 5529705 100
SDI (Barrow in Furness) Limited Shirebrook" 7851574 100
SD [Belfast) Limited Shirebrook™ 9872471 100
SDI {Berwick) Limited Shirebraok" 2739957 100
SO (Betws-y-Coed) Limited Shirebraok’ 6836673 100
SDI {Birkenhecd) Limited Shirebrook™ 7849198 100
5Dl [Bishop Auckland) Limited Shirebrook™ 3004246 100
SDM {Boucher Rocd) Limited Shirebrook! 13808700 100
SO/ (Brands 1) Limited Shirebraok™ 1795958 100
SDI (Brands 2) Limited Shirebrook™ 12299584 100
5DI (Brands 3} Limited Shirebrook™ 12299567 100
SDI {Brands 4) Limited Shirebrook™ 12299515 100
S0 (Bridgwater} Limited Shirebrock™ 7852061 100
SDI {Brighton) Limited Shirebrook™ 12579780 100
SDI {Brixton} Limited Shirebrook!" 9127300 100
SDI (Brock ROW) Limited Shirebrook'™ 9336806 100
SDI (Brook UK} Limited Shirebrook’ 9340379 100
SDI (Burton) Limited Shirebrook™ 8495632 100
SDI {Cardiff Flannels) Limited Shirebrook™ 10177359 100
SDI (CARDIFF QS 2) LTD Shirebrook! 1227321 100
SDI (Cardiff Q%) Limited Shirebrook!! 12578045 100
SDI (Carlisle) Limited Shirebrock™ 7851959 100
SDI| (Chatham] Limited Shirebrook' 68365679 100
SDI {Cheshunt 2} Limited Shirebroold' N775N7 100
5D {Cheshunt) Limited Shirebrook! 11775599 100
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PERCENTAGE OF

ISSUED SHARE

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
_SDI {Clacton) Limited Shirebrook™ ) 7852078 100
SDI (Clonmel Limited oo Floor, ";;ii‘f;}’f;‘g;- 61-65 Fountain Street, Belfast, NI653359 100
SDI {Colchester) Limited Shirebrook" 5632790 100
SDI (Corby] Limited Shirebrook™ 10885672 100
E-I‘SCork) Limited Shirebrook” 11775763 100
SDI {Coventry) Limited Shirebrook” 9680128 e
SDI (Darlington) Limited Shirebrook™ 10915193 100
ﬂDerby) Limited Shirgbrook” 9310031 100
DI (Derry) Limited ilt;lrai?nr, |I;:(S<I,f\£_5§1:'|‘?g]§; 61-65 Fountain Street, Belfast, NI653340 100
SDI (Doncaster) Limited Shirebrook! 9838670 100
SDI (Dundee) Limited Shirebrook” 9702004 100
“SDI {Dunfermiine] Limited Shirebrook” 8483679 100
5D (East Ham) Limited Shirebrook” 9810378 100
SN (Foast Kilkridal | imited Chrirmbrmnl " LACADLD klalal
SDI (Edinburgn) Limited Shirebrook' 10100990 100
S0t (Enfield) Limited Shirebrook” 10086209 100
SDi {Fulham) Limited Shirebrook!" 7852037 100
SDI (Gainsborough) Limited Shirebrook 6338907 100
SDI (Galashiels) Limited Shirebrook” 7852091 100
SDI (Glasgow Argyle ST) Limited Shirebraok" 11227937 100
SDI (Glasgow Fort) Limited Shirebrook™ 9841504 100
SDI (Glasgow Frasers) Limited Shirebrook” 11531596 100
SO (Glasgow Ingram Street) Limited Shirebrook” 925519 100
SDI (Gloucester) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852067 100
SDI (Great Yarmouth) Limited Shirebrook!" 1732687 100
SDI {Hanley) Limited Shirebrook!" 11228017 100
SDI [Hastings) Limited Shirebrook 8625893 100
SDI {(Hereford) Limited Shirebrook? 9888642 100
5Dl (Hofco) Limited Shirebrook 8319960 100
SDI (HoH Holdings) Limited Shirebrook! 10161552 100
SDI (Hounslow) Limited Shirebrook™ 10086218 100
SDI [Hull) Limited Shirebrook'! 9638564 100
SDI {lpswich 2) Limited Shirebrook” 12578948 100
SDI {Ipswich) Limited Shirebrook!” 9788411 100
SDI (Isle of Man) Limited Shirebrook™ 9901745 100
5D {Jersey Holding} Limited Shirebrook™ 10177028 100
SO K Lynn) Limited Shirebrook!" 0073076 100
SDI {Keighley) Limited Shirebrook!! 6260239 100
SDI (Kendal) Limited Shirebrook" 6338918 100
5Dl (Kentish Town] Limited Shirebrook™” 9901702 100
SDI {Kidderminster) Limited Shirebrook™ 9203731 100
SP| [Kilmarmock) Limited Shirebrook™ 7853433 100
SDI (Kingston,) Limited Shirebrook” 10915209 100
SO (Kirkcoldy) Limited Shirelbrook™ 7352097 00
SDI (L.eeds 2} Limited Shirebrook! 13808640 100
SDI {L-eeds) Limited Shirebrook™ 9293515 100
SDI (Leicester] Limited Shirebrook? 9127170 100
SDI {Liverpocl) Limited Shirebrook” 9888734 100

tesyoled and Carbon Canp

g through s Wo

Lano Tross hslp neg to orects na e Bansh we




FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

PERCENTAGE OF

ISSUED SHARE

NAME REGISI ERED OFHICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL IICLD
SDI {Lowestoft) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852265 100
5DI (LSL Holdings) Limited Shirebrook! 10161824 100
SDI (Manchester Cheetham Hill) Limited Shirebrook™ 10100969 10
5DI {Manchester Denton) Limited Shirebrook 9127295 100
SDI (Market Road) Limited Shirebrook' 10799247 100
SDI1 (Middlesbrough) Limited Shirebrook! 10081909 100
SDJ (Nassau Street) Limited Shirebrook! 1227964 100
SDI {Neath) Limited Shirebrook 7853548 100
DI (Newnre) | imited Shirehrank 7853470 100
SDJ (Newcastle) Limited Shirebrook™ 9127286 100
5D (Newport tOW) Ltd Shirebrook"! 12578944 100
5D {Newpaort) Limited . Shirebrook" 8679118 100
SDI (Newquay) Limited Shirebraok™ . 10089800 100
SDI (Newry} Limited itgr::hlzfg, lt;iﬁzB;#?;}{g; 61-65 Fountain Street, Belfast, NI653358 100
SNt IR s AL o g o T . P -
SDI (Newtownabbey) Limited Shirebrook™ 9127266 100
SDI (NFSK) Limited Shirebrook! 10919102 100
5SDI (Nerthampten) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852272 100
SDI (Northwich) Limited Shirebrook™ 5656295 100
5D (Nettingham) Limited Shirebrook™ 10100609 glels]
SDI {Nuneaten) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852249 G0
SDI {Oswestry) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852363 100
SDI {Oxford Street) Limited Shirebrook™ 10046080 100
SDI (Penzance} Limited Shirebroak® 7852297 100
SDI (Peterlee) Limited Shirebrook!™ 7852401 100
SDI {Piymouth Flannels) Limited Shirebrook® 9127387 100
5D (Plymeuth) Limited Shirebrook® 9470468 100
SDI (Portsmouth) Limited Shirebrook™ 12579294 100
SDI (Preston} Limited Shirebrook™ 10915199 100
SDI (Propco 100) Limited Shirebrook” 11732700 100
5DI (Propco 101) Limited Shirebrook!® N773466 100
SDI (Propco 102) Limited Shirebrook™ 1775629 100
SDI (Propeo 105) Limited Shirebrook!® N775597 100
SDI (Propeo 107) Limited Shirebrook™ 11775706 100
SDI {Propeo 111) Limited Shirebrook™ N7IS722 100
5Dl (Propco 112) Limited Shirebrook™ 9127160 100
SDI (Prapco 114) Limited Shirebrook™ 12298708 100
SDI (Propco 115) Limited Shirebrook™ 12300052 100
SDI (Propco 116) Limited Shirebrook™ 12332460 100
SDI (Propco 117) Limited Shirebrook! 12332456 100
5D (Propco 118) Limited Shirebrook' 12332859 100
SDI [Propceo 119) Limited Shirebrook™ 12332862 100
SDI (Propco 125) Limited Shirebrook 12577378 100
3D1(Propca 134) Limited Shirebrook!" 9625631 100
SDI (Propco 139) Limited Shirebrook!! 13808689 100
SDI [Propco 141) Limited Shirebrook!! 13808701 100
SDI (Propeo 142) Limited Shirebraok 13808704 1006
5D [Propea 35) Limited Shirebrook™ 11500282 100
SDI [Propco 36) Limited Shirebrook! 11523336 100
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NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
SDI {Propco 37) Limited Shirebrook!” 11523343 100
SDI {Propco 38) Limited Shirebrook™ 11523424 100
SDH (Propco 39) Lirmited Shirebroal 11523440 100
SD! {Propco 40} Limited Shirebrook™® 1523489 100
SDI {Propco 41) Limited Shirebrook™ 1523621 100
_ SD! (Propco 43) Limited Shirebrock' 11523609 100
. SDI {Propco 44) Limited Shirebrook!! 11523608 100
5Dl {Propco 46) Limited Shirebrookt 11523748 100
SDI {Propco 47) Limited Shirebrook! 11530370 100
SDI (Propco 49) Limited Shirebroaolkt 11526115 100
SDM {Propco 50) Lirnited Shirebrook 11526182 100
SDI (Propca 51) Limited Shirebrook! ) 11527237 100
5Dl {Propco 52) Limited Shirebrook® 11526972 100
SDI (Propco 55) Limited Shirebrook!" 11527303 100
SDt {Propeo 56) Limited ~ Shirebroak o B o 11527382 100
U T isr o s
SDI {Propco 58) Limited Shirebrook™ 11527596 100
SDi {Propco 60) Limited Shirebrook 11531386 100
5Dl (Propco 61) Limited Shirebrook 11531382 100
SDI (Propco 62) Limited Shirebrcok™ 11531444 100
SBI {Propco 63) Limited Shirebrook' 1531503 100
SDI {Propco 64) Limited Shirebiraakd! 11531506 100
SDI (Propce 65) Limited Shirebrook" 11531532 100
5D {Propco 67) Limited Shirebrook™ 11572676 100
SDI {Propco 69) Limited Shirebrook 11572830 100
SD! (Propca 70) Limited Shirebrook™ 11572933 100
SDI (Propco 77) Limited Shirebrook” 11574887 100
S0 (Propco 73] Lirmited Shirebrook!™ 11575050 100
SDI {Propco 75) Limited Shirebrook!" 11577256 100
SDI [Propco 76) Limited Shirebrook” 1577617 100
SDI {Propco 77) Limited Shirebrook™ 1578164 100
SDI (Propeo 80) Limited Shirebrook 11577670 100
SDI (Propce 81) Lirnited Shirebraak? Tedi3 100
SDI (Propco 83) Limited Shirebrook™ 1646302 100
SDI (Prapco 85) Limited Shirebrook™ 11649632 100
SDI (Propco 86) Limited Shirebroak™ 11649235 100
SDI (Propco 87) Limited Shirebrook™ 11649336 100
SDI (Propco 88} Limited Shirebrook™ 11674753 100
SDI{Propco 9Q) Limited Shirebrook™ 11649431 100
SO (Propco 91) Limited Shirebrook™ 1687077 100
SDI [Propco 92) Limited Shirebrook™ 11730204 100
SDI (Propco 93} Limited Shirebrook! 11730253 100
SDI {Propco 94} Limited Shirebrook' 11730440 100
SDI Propeo 96) Limited Shirebrool™ 1730503 100
SDI {Propco 98) Limited Shirebroak™ 11730868 100
SDI (Propeo 99) Limited Shirebrook™ 11732772 100
SDI {Ramsgate) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852250 100
SDI (Reading) Limited Shirebroald" 10422164 100
SDI (Redcar) Limited Shirebrook” 2731452 100
SDI {Retail Co 10} Limited Shirebrook™ 11689119 100
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. ISSUED SHARE

NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
SDI (Retail Co 11 Limited Shirebrook!" 12298852 100
SO [Retail Co 13) Limited Shirebrook™ 12298767 100
SDI {Retail Co 4] Limited Shirebrook! 1163501 100
SO [Retail Co 7) Limited Shirebrook™ 11687276 100
SDI [Retecil Co 8) Limited Shirebrook™ ' 1687376 100
$DI (Retail Co 9) Limited Shirebrook™ 1689077 100
5Dl {Rolle St} Limited Shirebrook™ 7852669 100
SDI {Romford) Limited Shirebraok™ 10071547 100
5Dt (Rotherham) Limited Shirebrook™ 9888635 100
5Dl (Salisbury] Ltd Shirebrook™ 10107572 100
SDI (Scarboreugh) Limited Shirebrook” 6328463 100
5Di (Seunthorpe Parishes Centre) Limited Shirebrook! 1730442 100
3D (Scunthorpe) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852055 .. 100
SDI {Southampton 2) Limited Shirebrook! - 9665889 100
5D (Southampton) Limited Shirebroak™ 8512480 100
SDI (St Austeli} Limited Shirebrock? 7852284 100
SDI {St Helens) Limited Shirebrock® 7852281 100
SDI (Stafford Riverside) Limited Shirebrook!! 8972499 100
SD| (Stafford) Limited Shirebrock™ 8568681 106
SDI (Staines) Limited Shirebrock” 1646482 100
SDI (Stockport) Limited Shirebrook! 6372181 100
SDI {Stoke Longton} Linited Shirebrogk!! 7853877 100
5D {Stoke Newington) Limited Shirebrook!" 7852207 100
5Dl {Strabane) Limited Shirebrook!! 9890243 100
SDI {Streatham) Limited Shirebroak" 10066335 100
SDH (Stroad) Limited Shirebrook!! 7852251 100
SDI {(Sunderland) Limited Shirebrook" 8755347 100
SDI {Sutton) Limited Shirebrook 1228010 100
SDI {Swindon) Limited Shirebrook! 9888662 100
SDI (Taunton) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852191 100
SO/ {Thanet) Limited Shirebrook™ 12579034 100
SDI (The House Yorm) Limited Shirebrook 12332871 100
S0 (The Lion Hotet) Limited Shirebrook!" 6836880 100
SDI (Thurrock} Limited Shirebraok 10089743 100
SD| (Trowbridge) Limited Shirebrook® 12355661 100
SDI {Uxbridge 2) Limited Shirebrook" 9127316 100
SDI (Uxbridge) Limited Shirebrock™ - 10177276 100
SDI (Wakefield) Limited Shirebrook™ : 8483711 100
SDI (Walsall) Limited Shirebrook™ 7852289 100
SDI (Watford) Limited . Shirebrook™" 6328505 100
5D (Widnes) Limited - Shirebrook!! 8576472 100
SDI (Wigan) IP Limited Shirebraok™ 6835407 100
SDI (Wigan) Limited Shirebrook™ 12579287 100
SO (Wishaw) Limited Shirebrook™ ' 6656365 100
SOl (Wrexham) Limited Shirebrook™ 10915200 100
SDI iwythenshawe) Limited Shirebrook™ 9659156 106
SO (Yeovil) Limited Shirebrook™ 12577947 100
50t (York) Limited Shirebrook™ . 1331331 - 100

191

e 1007 Flaoyelad and Corbon Capturad deough tha Woordland Trust, helping 10 areals naw

Antahy wooddand aornss Pre e

Privtad on



FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAIL REPORT 2022

PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD

The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI12300 Collins LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 6870031 100

United Stotes

The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209

SDI 735 Collins LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, &B700128 100
United States

SDI Aviation Limited* Shirebrook(1) 9633152 100
SDI Corrib Shopping Centre Limited Tﬁﬂ%ﬁ?gﬂﬁl}ﬁi ?rte’i'r':‘fss PARK, WHITESTOWN, nEI2 100
SDI Fitness (Bury St Edmunds) Limited Shirebrook" ' 9038949 100
SDi Fitness [Cheltenham) Limited Shirebroaold! 9039840 100
$DI Fitness [Colchester} Limited Shirebrook! 90330M 100
SDI Fitness (Croydon) Limited Shirebrook 9039243 100
SDI Fitness [BW) Limited Shirebrook 12238794 190
SDI Fitness [Epsom) Limited Shirebrook” 9039043 100
5DI Fitness {Glasgow) Limited Shirebroak! 903881 100
TN Fitrmace (Roiletfmrsdl 1 immitasd [ P-{OR SUD UEE ARRAREA RZatal
SDI Fitness (Hove) Limited Shirebrook" 9039030 100
SDI Fitness (Huntingdon) Limited Shirebrook!” 9039881 100
SDI Fitness (K Heath) Limited Shirelorook! ) ' 9039717 100
SDI Fitness (K Lynn) Limited Shirebrook™ 9039847 100
SDI Fitness (Kettering) Limited Shirebrook!™ 9039852 100
SDiI Fitness {Linceln City) Limited Shirebrook!? 9039331 100
SDi Fitness {Liverpool) Limited Shirebrook" 9039347 100
SDi Fithess (Mcmchestgr) Limited Shirebrogk" 9039339 100
SDI Fitness (Milngavie) Limited " Shirebrook® 9039510 100
SDI Fitness (N3 1) Limited R’Eﬁﬁ?ﬂeﬁéﬁlﬁt'éﬂc’zﬂzregﬁftﬁfﬁfﬁgﬁiﬁo High Street, Belfast, NI672034 100
SDI Fitness (Nt 2) Limited ;’g:ﬁ:;‘f:; ;3?'&2";53:&:‘;‘;?%‘;220 High Street, Belfast, NI§72033 100
SDI Fitness (NI 3) Limited zz:s:;e,f;zgzﬂgg :"Z‘E’Efa’s&:;;fséziﬁo High Street, Belfast, NI672035 100
SDI Fitness (NI 4) Limited :J’g:ﬁ:;ﬁm;3”;:‘;‘;;3’&:;;?;@20 High Street, Belfost, NI672885 100
501 Ftnes (815 i o Kernadys 1ot Focr R o 450 Hh St St
SDI Fitness iNorthfield) Limited’ Shirebrook" 9039412 100
SDI Fitness {Rugby) Limited Shirebrook? 9039408 100
SDI Fitness (Scle) Limited Shirebroak™ 9039405 100
SDI Fitness {Salisbury) Limited Shirebrook™ 9039429 100
SDJ Fitness 1 Limited Shirebrook™ 12371923 10
SDi Fitness 10 Limited Shirebrook™ . 12372368 100
SDI Fitness 1 Limited Shirebrook™ 12820382 100
SDI Fitness 12 Limited Shirebrook 12821058 100
SDI Fitness 13 Limited Shirebrook” ' 12820585 100
SO Fitness 14 Limited Shirebirook™ 12820516 100
SDI Fitness 15 Limited Shirebrook!" 12822245 00
SDI Fitness 16 Limited Shirebrook' 12822564 100
SDI Fitness 17 Limited Shirebrook!" 12822692 100
SDI Fitness 18 Limited Shirebrook™ 12822794 100
SDI Fitness 19 Limited Shirebrook™ - 12822856 100
SDI Fitness 2 Limited Shirebrook 12372165 100
SDI Fitness 20 Limited Shirebrook™ 12823728 100
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
SDI Fitness 21 Limited Shirebrook® 12823572 100
SDI Fitness 22 Limited Shirebrook® 12823510 100
5Dl Fitness 23 Limited Shirebrook! 12823786 100
5Dl Fitness 24 Limited Shirebrook™ 12823986 100
SDI Fitness 25 Limited Shirebrookd 12823926 100
SDI Fitness 26 Limited Shirebrook" 12825248 100
SDI Fitness 27 Limited Shirebrookd" 1283041 100
SDI Fitness 28 Limited Shirebrook" 12825356 100
SDI Fitness 29 Limited Shirebrook™ 12825569 100
SDI Fitness 3 Limited Shirebraok! 12372169 100
SDI Fitness 30 Limited Shirebraok™ 12825721 100
SDI Fitness 31 Limited Shirebrook™ 12930743 100
SDI Fitniess 32 Limited Shirebrook™ 12930838 100
S0 Fitness 33 Limited Shirebrook!” 12930826 100
SDI Fitness 34 Limited Shirebrook!” 12930829 100
SDI Fitness 36 Limited Shirebrook!” 12930954 100
SDI Fitness 37 Limited Shirebrook™ 12030944 100
SDI Fitness 38 Limited Shirebrook™ 09038724 100
SDI Fitness 39 Limited Shirebroak!" 09038768 100
S0 Fitness 4 Limited Shirebrook” 12372174 100
SDI Fitness 40 Limited Shirebrook™ 09038881 100
SDi Fitness 41 Limited Shirebrock!! 09038832 100
SDI Fitness 42 Limited Shirebrook!! 09038943 100
5D Fitness 43 Limited Shirebrook! 09039023 100
SDI Fitness 44 Limited Shirebraoki! 09039343 100
SDI Fitness 45 Limited Shirebrook 09039481 100
SDI Fitness 46 Limited Shirebrook!" 13030435 100
SDI Fitness 47 Limited Shirebraok™ 13030364 100
SDI Fitness 48 Limited Shirebrook™ 13030107 100
SDI Fitness 49 Limited Shirebrook™ 13030173 100
SDI Fitness 5 Limited Shirebrook! 12372199 100
-SDI Fitness 50 Lirmited Shirebrook” 13030175 100
SDI Fitness 6 Limited Shirebraok™ 12372224 100
SDI Fitness 7 Limited Shirebrook™ 12372218 100
SDI Fitness 8 Limited Shirebrook™" 12372305 100
SDI Fitness 9 Limited Shirebraok™ 12372303 100
SDI Four Limited Shirebrook™ 9719779 100
The Carporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI Gift Card LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 56773735 100
United States
SDI Golf Limited Shirebrook™ 9083512 100
The Carporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI Holdings USA inc Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 6651201 100
United States
5D Lifestyle Limited Shirebrook™ 8293614 100
SDI Properties [USA] Inc. Corporqtion Service Company, 2 Office Park Court, Suite 103 535872 100
Columbia
SDI Properties (Wiagn) Limited Shirebrook™ 6836522 00
50| Property (Europe) BV. Van Kenijnenburgweg 45, 4672PL Bergen op Zoom Netherlands 69042594 100
SDI Property (Evens Cycles) Limited Shirebrook’” NGAEXTS 100
193
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
SDI Property Limited* Shirebrook™ . 2767493 100
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI Property US inc Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19807, 68700024 100
United States
SDI Property US Limited Shirebrook™ 11323420 100
SO Retail Services Limited Shirebrook™ 8143303 100
SDI Sport London Limited Shirebrook!® 9848767 100
SDi Sports {Stoke) Limited Shirebroak® 10163722 100
The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI Sports Group Americas LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 2047393 100
United States
The Corporation Trust Compeny, Corporation Trust Center, 1209
SDI Stores LLC Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 1240332 100
United States
. The Corporation Trust Company, Corporation Trust Center, 1209 V .
SDI Ventures LLT Orange Street, Wilmington, New Castle County DE 19801, 6870023 100
United States
Pt P m e PP et P31 . -
SDl.com Fitness Parent Limited* ) Shirebrock™® 9082454 100
SDILSA. " ‘Parc Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Solvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium 810.198.636 100
SIA 5IG Logistics A. Deglava str 50 LV-1-35 Riga Latvia 4020311076 60
SlA Sportiand A. Deglava str 50 LV-1-35 Riga Latvia 40003530961 60
SIA Sportsdirect.com A. Deglava str 50 LV-1-35 Riga Latvia 40103932873 60
Sienna Dining Limited Shirebrook” 13629737 100
Ski and Outdoor Warehouse Limited Shirebrock™ 2917223 100
Skins IP Limited Shirebrock® 12168568 100
Slazenger Carlton {Holdings} Limited Shirebrock™ 10463051 100
Slazengers Australia Limited Shirebroak™ 9217319 100
Slazengers Limited Shirebrook™ 116000 100
Smith & Brooks Limited Shirebrook™ 2073720 100
Smith And Brooks Group Limited Shirebrook® 4079331 100
Smith And Brooks Holdings Limited Shirebrook™ 4983573 10
SNO Sport Vertriebs GmbH FlugplatzstraBe 30, 4600, Wels Austria 272671 m 100
Sofa.com Bideo Limited Shirebrook® 9341955 100
Sofa.com BV Flaas 4 V 6, Den Dungen, 5275HH, Netherlands 17196766 100
Sofa.com Ltd Shirelroak™ 5222498 100
Sondico IP Limited Shirebrook™ 6546121 100
z;::l;tHEybl & Sports Experts Logistikbetriebs FlugplatzstraBe 30, 4600, Wels Austria FN 96024 m 100
Sport Eybl Holding GmbH FlugplatzstraBe 30, 4600, Wels Austria 180095 x 100
Shondractcom Crino P imted G253 ot AN g 50 Mt v X oo
Sportland Eestie A.S. Parnu mnt 139¢ Kesklinng, Tallinn Estonia 11317 10677712 60
Sportland Internctional Group AS. Parnu mnt 139¢ Kesklinna, Tallinn Estonia 11317 10993195 60
Sports Direct (Singapore) Pte.Ltd 6 Eu Tong Sen Street, #11-09, The Central, 059817, Singapore 2020045422 51
Sports Direct Holdings Limited® Shirebrook™ 6464317 100
Sports Direct International Holdings Limited® Shirebrook™ 6027131 100
Sports Direct international Limited Shirebroak™ 11775757 100
Sports Direct Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. Iggggi—j.uacff;gtrr\ ;c;tlxqe;slgpericl Court Jalan Sultan Ismail 925116-M 51
Sports World Intemational Limited Shirebrook™ 6531266 100
Sports World The Netherlands BV. Van Kanjjenburgweg 45, 4612 PL Bergen op zoom, Netherlands 34056291 100
Sportsdirect (Iceland) ehf Skogarlind 2, 201, Kopavogur, iceland 6301121760 100
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
Sportsdirect.com {Asic) Ltd Unit 1903B & 1905, Exchange Tower, 33 Wang Chiu Road, 1216330 100
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
: A Room: 315, 3rd Floor Building 2, No 239 Gang'ao Road, China
X t () " il
Sportsdirect.com {Shanghail Limited {Shanghai) Pilot Free Zone, Shenghai, China F1101SMATK463A6B 95
Sportsdirect.cam [Taiwen) Limited 17F.-5, Na.500, Shizheng Rdl.,, Xitun District, 40757, Taiwan B277061% 95
Sportsdirect.com Austria GmbH FlugplatzstraBe 30, 4600, Wels Austria 309738 y 00
Sportsdirect.com Belgium S.A. Parc Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Solvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium 416.268.471 100
Sportsdirect.com Cyprus Limited Miltiades Stylianou 34B, Shop 2, 8577 Tela, Pophos, Cyprus HE 230340 100
Sportsdirect.com Czech Republic s.ro. Prague 1- NoYe Mesto, Na Porici 1079/3q, 100 00, 24268933 100
Czech Republic
Sportsdirect.com Fitness Limited Shirebrook! 9028577 ) oo
Sportsdirect.com France 2a< des Bratecux, Rue des Brateaux, 9100, Villabe, France - FR27379062813 100
Sportsdirect.com Hungary Kit H-1053 Budapest, Karolyi Mihaly utca 12, Hungary 01-09-986824 100
Sportsdirect.com Immobilien GmbH FlugplatzstraBe 30, 4600, Wels Austric 104151 p 100
Sportsdirect.com Malta Limited Brewery Street, Zone 3 Central Business District Birkirkara CBD Co9278 100
3040 Malta
Sportsdirectcom Peland SP.Z.oo 5 Skladowa Street, 61-888 Poznan,, Poland , 00-872, Warsaw 452610 100
Spoﬂsdired.éom Pty Ltd /o Norton R’c.:se Fulbright, L11, 485 Bourke Street, Mellbourne VIC 603 187 319 100
3000, Austratia .
Sportsdirect.com Retail (Europe) 5.A.* Pare Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Solvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium 458883046 100
Sportsdirect.com Retail Limited* Shirebrooki! 3406347 100
: . Centro Comercial Puerto Venecia, Local 84, Travesia de los
rt t. SLU s ' -
Sportsdirect.com pain Jordines Reales n® 7, 50021, Zaragoza , Spain B-86567880 100
Spartsdirect.com Slovakia sro. Vysoka 2/B, 81106, Bratislava, Slovakia 47 240 458 100
Sportsdirect.com SLVN d.o.o. Planjava 4, 1236 Trzin, Slovenia 1198157000 100
gair:::gigté;r;SWItzerlund AG. Zeughausgasse 27, 3011 Bern, Switzerland 331.6839N 100
Sportsdirect.com Vienna North GmbH Wels, Flugplatzstrabe 30 FN104486G 100
SSG Sport GmbH (SSD) Vornhalzstr. 48, , 94036, Passou, Germany HREB 7134 100
Sterling Resources {Holdings) Limited Shirebrogk!® A651701 100
Sterling Resources Limited Shirebrock® 1413254 100
Stirlings [Argyle Street) Limited Moartin House, 184 Ingram Street, Glasgow, Scotland, G11DN SC088108 100
Straub Corporation Limited Shirebrook!” 3003584 100
Studio Asia Limited Unit 1506, Towe‘r A, Financial Street Hoilun Centre No.440, Hailun 91I1000MAIGEFKRX] 100
Road, Shanghai, PRC
Studio Financing Limited 8th Floor 100 Bishopsgate, London, United Kingdom, EC2N 4AG 11644219 (3)
Studio Online Limited Church Bridge House, Henry Street, Accrington, United Kingdom, 3994813 100
BB5 4EE
Studio Retail Limited Church Bridge House, Henry Street, Accrington, United Kingdom, 18151 100
BB5 4EE
Suplay Investments 5.l C.CPuerto Verrecia, local 84, Trov. Jardines Redles, 7, 50021 BEE542691 100
Zaragoza, Spain
Swimmao Eupen SPRL Parc Industriel, Avenue Ernest, Sclvay 29 1480 Saintes, Belgium 878673906 100
Table Tennis Pro Europe Ltd Shirebrook!® 5003853 100
The Antigua Group Inc 3773 Howard Huges Pkway, STE 5005 Las vegas, Nevado, USA O734679-4 100
89169-6014
HEATON HOUSE , IDA BUSINESS PARK, WHITESTCOWN,
THE FLANNELS GROUP (RO} LIMITED TALLAGHT, DUBLIN 24, Irefand 707468 100
The Flannels Group Limited Shirebrook” 2318510 100
The Trademark Licensing Company Limited  Shirebrook™ 4477829 100
Tatal Estates Limited Shirebrook™ 4958214 100
Tri Yeovil UK Limited Shirebrook®™ 10680690 100
UAB SDI {Gedimino} LT Seimyniskiu g. 3, Vilnius, Lithuania 135029836 100
195
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PERCENTAGE OF
ISSUED SHARE
NAME REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS COMPANY NUMBER CAPITAL HELD
UAR Sportland LT Seimyniskiu g. 3, Vilnius, Lithuonio 135039836 51
UAB Sportsdirect.com Seirmyniskiu g. 3, Vilnius, Lithuania 304155613 100
Universal Cycles Limited Shirebrook™ 1339667 100
USA Pro IP Limited Shirebrook” 6497914 ' 100
USC IP Limited Shirebrook™ 6836808 100
Van Mildert (Lifestyle) Limited Shirebrook™ 8319959 100
Voodoo Dolls Brand Limited Shirebrook™” 5323305 100
Wareshop2 Limited Shirebrook™ 9870840 100
Warrnambool * ;:T:;z::iouse . IDA Business Park, Whitestown, Tallaght, Dublin 387014 100
Waterline Aﬁgling Prioducts Limited Shirebrooi! 2696374 100
West Coast Capital (HOFCO) Limited 15 Atholl Crescent, Edinburgh, EH3 8HA SC437614 100
Westminster Manufacturing LLC 2 Office Park Court, Suite 103, Coumbia SC 29233 USA 44358 100
Yeomans Qutdoors Limited Shirebroolk 8058714 100
Yubel International Trade Co Limited Room 5C, No561 Ouyang Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai F1310C00MAIGSFKRX1 100
o Uit A, Brook Park Enst, Shirebroak, NG20 81RY
N P4 Unity Housa, Telford Rocd, Bosingstoke, Hlampshire, RGH 6Y)
(3 A controlled entily cthar tan by shure ovnership

Direct shareholddings held by Frisers Group Plo

Frasers Group Plc intends to provide a parental guarantee for the following United Kingdom incorporated subsidiaries
thus entitling them to exemption from statutory audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.

COMPANY NAME COMPANY NUMBER COMPANY NAME COMPANY NUMBER
Alpha Developments Stockport Limited 12662564  SDI (Manchester Cheetham Hill) Limited 10100969
Brands Inc Limited ‘ 03585719 SDI (Manchester Denton) Limited 09127295
Hot Tuna IP Limited 06836792  SDI (Market Raad) Limited 10799247
SD Equestrian Limited 08692780  SDI (Middlesbrough) Limited 10081909
SD Outdoor Limited 08560260  SDI (Nassau Street) Limited 11227964
SDI (Aberdeen) Limited 08512592  SDI {Neath) Limited 07853548
SDI {(Aberdeen 2) Limited 12579371 SDI{Newark] Limited 07853470
SDI (Aberwystwyth) Limited 02789996  SDI {Newcastle] Limited 09127286
SDI (Aintree) Limited 03352462  SDI {Newport} Limited 08679118
$DI (Ashford) Limited 07848460  SDI {Newport IOW) Limited 12578944
S0 (Ashington] Limited ’ 07849231  SDI(Newquay) Limited 10089800
SDi {Ayr) Limited 05528267 SD1 (Newton Abbot) Limited 06836666
SDI {Bangor) Limited 05529705 SDI {Newtownabbey) Limited 09127266
SDI (Barrow In Furness) Limited 07851574  SDI (Northampton) Limited 07852272
SDI {Belfast) Limited 09872471 SPI (Northwich) Limited 05656295
SDI (Berwick) Limited 02739957 SDI {Nottingharm) Limited 10100609
SDI (Betws-Y-Coed) Limited 06836673  SDI {Nuneaton} Limited 07852249
5Dl (Birkenhead} Limited 07849198  SDI (Oswestry) Limited 07852363
SDI (Bishop Auckland) Limited 03004246  SDI (Oxford Street} Limited 10046080
SDI (Boucher Road) Limited 13808700  SDI (Penzance) Limited - 07852297
SDI [Bridgwater) Limited 07852061 SDI (Peterlee] Limited ‘ 07852401
SDI {Brightan) Limitad 12579780 SDI (Plymouth Flannels) Limited 09127387
SDI {Brixton) Limited 09127300 _ SDI (Plymouth) Limited 09470468
SDI {Burton) Limited 08495632 SDI [Portsmouth) Limited 12579294
SDI {Cordiff Flannels) Limited 10177359  SDI [Preston) Limited 10915199
SDI {Cardiff QS) Limited : 12578045  SDI {Propco 75) Limited 11577256
SDI (Cardiff QS 2) Lirmited 11227321 SDI {Propco 100} Limited 11732700
SDI (Carlisle) Lirited 07851959 SO {Propco 119) Limited 12332862
SDI (Chatham)] Limited 06836679  SDI (Propco 139) Limited . 13808689
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COMPANY NAME COMPANY NUMBER COMPANY NAME COMPANY NUMBER
SDI {Cheshunt 2) Limited 11775717  SDI{Ramsgate) Limited 07852250
SUl {Cheshunt) Limited /75099 SDI {Reading) Limited 10422164
SDI {Clacton) Limited 07852078  SDI (Redcar] Limited Q2731452
SDI (Colchester) Limited 05632790  SDI (Rolle 5t) Limited 07852669
SDI {Corby) Limited 10885672  SDI (Romford) Limited 10071547
SDI {Cork) Limited 11775763  SDI (Salisbury) Limited 10107572
SDI {Coventry) Limited 09680128  SDI (Scarborough) Limited 06328463
SDI {Darlington} Limited 10915193  SDI {(Scunthorpe) Limited 07852055
SDI (Derby) Limited 09310031 5Dl {Scunthorpe Parishes Centre) Limited N730442
S0¢ (Derry] Limited NI&53340  SDI {Southampton 2j Limited 09665889
SDI (Doncaster) Limited 09888670  SDI {Southampton) Limited 08512480
SDI {Dundee} Limited 09702004  SDI {Southport) Limited 09888806
SDI1 {Dunfermline) Limited 08483679  SDI (St Austell) Limited 07852284
SDI {East Ham) Limited 09810378  SDI (St Helens) Limited 07852281
SDI {East Kilbride) Limited 06656368  SDI [Stafford) Limited 08568681
SDI {Edinburgh) Limited 10100990  SD! (Stafford Riverside) Limited 08972499
SO {Enfield} Limited 10086209  SDI (Staines) Limited 11646482
SO {Fulham) Lirnited 07852037  SDI (Stockpaort) Limited 06372181
5Dl [Gainsborough) Limited 06338907  SDi (Stoke Longton) Limited 07853877
SDI {Glasgow Argyle St) Limited 11227937  SDI (Strabane) Limited 09890243
SDI (Gtasgow Fort) Limited 09861504  SDI (Streatham) Limited 10066335
5D (Gtasgow Frasers) Limited 11531596  SDI (Strood) Limited 07852251
SDI (Glasgow Ingram Street) Lirmited 09925519 SDI (Sunderland) Limited (08755347
SDI (Gloucester) Limited 07852067  SDI (Sutton) Limited 1122801
5Dl (Great Yarmauth) Limited 11732687  SDI {(Swindon) Limited 09888662
SDI [Hanley) Limited 11228017  SDI (Taunton) Limited Q7852191
SDI (Hastings) Limited 08625893 SDI (Thanet] Limited 12579034
SD! (Hereford) Limited 09888642 SDI {The House Yarm) Limited 12332871
SDI (Hofco) Limited 08319960  $DI {Thurrock) Limited 10089743
5SB! (Hoh Holdings) Limited 10161592 5D (Trowbridge) Lirmited 12355661
SDI {(Hounslow) Limited 10086218  SDI (Uxbridge 2) Limited 09127316
SDI (Hull) Limited 09638564 SO (Uxbridge) Limited 10177276
SDI (Ipswich} Limited 09788411 SO (Wakefield} Limited 08483711
SDI (Ipswich 2} Limited 12578948 SO (Walsall) Limited 07852289
SDI (Isle Of Man) Limited 09901745 SOOI {(Watford) Limited 06328505
SDI {Jersey Holding) Limited 10177028 SOl {Widnes) Limited 08576472
SDI (K Lynn) Limited 10073076  SDI {(Wigan) Limited 12579287
SDI (Keighley) Limited 06260239  SDI (Wishaw) Limited 06656365
SDI (Kendal) Limited 06338918 SDI {Wrexham] Limited 10915200
SDI (Kentish Town} Limited 09901702  SDI (Wythenshawe) Limited 09659156
SDI (Kidderminster) Limited 09203731 SO [Yeowil) Limited 12577947
SDI {Kilmarnock) Limited 07853433 SO {York] Limited 11331291
SOl [Kingston) Limited 10915209 SOl Corrib Shopping Centre Lirnited ROI [715322)
50 (Kirkcaldy] Limited 07852097 SO Four Limited Q9719779
SO (Leeds) Limited 09293515 SDI Golf Limited 09083512
SDI [Leeds 2) Limited 13808640 SO Properties {Wigan) Limited 04836522
SD {Leicester) Limited 09127170  SDI Property Limited 02767493
SDI (Liverpool) Limited 09388734  SDI Sport London Limited 09848767
SO (Lowestoft) Limited 07852265 SO Sports (Stoke) Limited 10163722
SDI [Lsl Holdings} Limited 10161824 Stirlings (Argyle Street) Limited 5C088108
197
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET

at 24 April 2022

As at Asat
Note 24 April 2022 25 April 2021

(£'m) {E'm)
FIXED ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment 3 69 -
Investments 2 14436 14949
CURRENT ASSETS
Debtors 5 512.8 1629
Cuash at bank and in hand 18 161

514.6 179.0
Creditors: amounts failing due within one year i 6 [945.7) (609.0}
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES {431.1) (430.0)
Provisions 8 (3.0) -
Deferred Tax Liability 7 {6.1) -
MET ASSETS 1,010.3 1064.9
Called up share capital 9 ' 64.1 641
Share premium 8743 8743
Treasury share reserve ' (488.9) (295.7)
Permunent contribution to capital Q1 01
Capital redemption reserve 8.0 8.0
Cwr share reserve {66.8) 66.7)
Share based payment reserve 5.8 0.8
Profit and Loss account 613.7 480.0
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 1,010.3 1,064.9

Frasers Group Plc reported a profit after taxation for the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022 of £141.7m
(FY21: a profit of £231.8m).

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form part of these Financial Statements.

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board on 20 September 2022 and were signed on its behalf by:

Chris Wootton
Chief Financial Officer
Company number: 06035106
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

Called Share Treasury  Permanent Capital Own Share based Profit
up share  premium share contribution redemption share payment &loss
capital  account reserve to capital reserve reserve reserve  account Total
(£'m) {£'m) {E'm) (£'m) {E'm) {E'm) (E'm) {E'm) (E£'m}
As at 26 April 2020 64.1 874.3 {295.7) 0.1 8.0 {67.0) - 170.9 7547
Profit for the finunciql period - - - - - - - 2318 231.8

Fair value adjustment in respect of
leng-term financial assets - - - - 773 773
- recognised

Share scheme

- - - - 0.3 0.8 - 1.1
As at 25 April 2021 64,1 874.3 (295.7) 0.1 3.0 (66.7) [eX:] 480.0 10649
Profit for the financial period - - - - - - - 141.7 141.7
Fair value adjustment in respect of
long-term financial assets* - - - - - - - s (8.0
Share scheme - - - - - - 5.0 - 5.0
Share repurchase - - {193.2) - - (0.1} - - {193.3)
As ot 24 Aprit 2022 641 8743 {488.9) . LA 8.0 (66.8) 58 613.7 10103

The share premium account is used to record the excess proceeds over nominal value on the issue of shares.
The permanent contribution to capital relates to a cash payment of £50,000 to the Company on 8 February
2007 under a deed of capital contribution. The capital redemption reserve arose on the redemption of the
Company's redeemable preference shares of 10p each at par on 2 March 2007, The own shares and treasury
reserves represent the cost of shares in Frasers Group Plc purchased in the market and held by Frasers Group

Plc Employee Benefit Trust to satisfy options under the Group's Share Scheme. For further information see note
26 in the Group Notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the 52 weeks ended 24 April 2022

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Policies

Frasers Group Plc (the "Company”) (Company number:
06035106) is a company incorporated and domiciled in
the United Kingdom, its shares are listed on the London
Stock Exchange. The registered office is Unit A, Brook
Park East, Shirebrook, NG20 8RY.

These financial statements have been prepared in

J UL RS A AT L A P

Standard applicable in the UK and Republié of
Ireland” ("FRS 102") and the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006.

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which
is the functional currency of the Company. Monetary
amounts in these financial statements are rounded to
the nearest £0.1m.

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom accounting standards. A
summary of the material accounting policies adopted
are described below.

Basis Of Accounting

The accounts have been prepared under the historical
cost basis except for the modification to a fair value

_ basis for certain financial instruments as specified in the

accounting policies below.

These financial statements for the period ended 24 April
2022 are prepared in accordance with FRS 102, The
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and
Republic of Ireland.

As permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act
2006, a profit and loss account of the Company is not
presented. The Company's profit after taxation for the
52-week petiod ended 24 April 2022 was £141.7m
[FY21: £231.8m).

As permitted by FRS 102 the Company has taken
advantage of the disclosure exemptions available
under that standard in relation to financial instruments,
presentation of a cash flow statement, share-based
payments, the aggregate remuneration of key

- management personne! and related party transactions

Printed

with other wholly-owned members of the Group. Where
required, equivalent disclosures are given in the Group
accounts of Frasers Group Pic.
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Principal Activity

The principal activity of Frasers Group Plc is that of an
investment holding company.

Investments

Fixed asset investments in subsidiaries are accounted
for at cost less provision for impairment. In the Group
accounts associates are accounted for under the equity
method by which the Group's investment is initiclly
recorded ot cost and subsequently adjusted to reflect

As this is not permitted under FRS 102 associates are
accounted for at cost less provision for impairment. An
assessment is made at each reporting date of whether
there are indications that the Company's investment

in subsidiaries or associates may be impaired or that

an impairment loss previously recognised has fully or
partially reversed. If such indications exist, the Company
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. Shortfalls
between the carrying value of the investment and their
recoverable amounts, being the higher of fair value

less costs to sell and value-in-use, are recognised as
impairment losses, Impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

The Company has followed the requirements of IFRS 9
for listed investments, as permitted by FRS 102 Section
12. The Company has made the irrevocable election
available under IFRS 9 to account for the investments
at fair value through the other comprehensive income
{FVQCI).

Fair value movements through other
comprehensive income

Elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis to account for movements in selected instruments
through other comprehensive income. The Company
has elected to account for movements in its listed
investments through other comprehensive income.,
These investments are not subject to impadirment and
geins and losses are not recycled to the profit and loss
account on the disposal of listed investments. Dividend
income is recognised in the profit and loss account.

This treatment does not apply to investments in

the Company's subsidiaries and associates where
movements are recognised in the profit and loss account
and investments are subject to impairment.

Feoss e UK
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Associates

An entity is treated as an associated undertaking where
the Company exercises significant influence in that it has
the power to participate in the operating and financial
policy decisions.

Financial Assets

Financial assets, other than investments and derivatives,
are initially measured at transaction price (including
transaction costs} and subsequently held at cost, less
any impairment. Provision for impairment is established
when there is objective cvidence that the Company will
not be able to collect amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivable. The Company applies

a consistent accounting policy as the Group in terms of
impairment of financial assets and the recognition of
expected credit losses.

Financial liabitities are classified according to the
substance of the financial instrument’s contractual
obligations, rather than the financial instrument's
legal form. Financial liabilities, excluding derivatives,
are initially measured at transaction price {after
deducting transaction costs) and subsequently held
at amortised cost,

Employee Benefit Trust

An Employee Benefit Trust has been established
for the purposes of satisfying certain share based
awards, The Group has 'de facte’ control over the
special purpose entity.

The cost of shares acquired by the Sports Direct
Employee Benefit Trust is recognised within 'Own share
reserve’ in equity.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is provided for on a full provision basis on
all timing differences, which have arisen but not reversed
at the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is not
recognised to the extent that the transfer of economic
benefit in the future is more unlikely than not.

Deferred tax is calculated on a non-discounted basis at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in
which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.

FRara |
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Foreign Currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded

in the Company's functional currency by applying the
spot exchange rate ruling at the date of the transdcticn.
Monetary assets and liabilities deneminated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date, All differences are taken to
the profit and loss account. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Dividends

Dividends on the Company's ordinary shares are
recognised as a liability in the Company's Financial
Statements, and as a deduction from equity, in the
period in which the dividends are declared. Where such
final dividends are proposed subject to the approval of
the Company’s shareholders, the final dividends are only

Equity Instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences

a residual interest in the assets of the Company after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company, with the exception of those accounted
for via merger relief available under Section 612 of the
Companies Act 2006, are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of any direct issue costs.

Income From Group Undertakings

Income from Group undertokings is recognised when
qualifying consideration is received from the Group
undertaking.

Related Party Transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption
contained in FRS 102 and has therefore not disclosed
transactions or balances with wholly-owned
subsidiaries which form part of the Group. See note
35 of the Group Financial Statements for further
details of related party transacticns.

Share-Based Payments

The Company issues from time to time equity-settied
share-based payments to certain Directors and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries.
These are measured ot fair value at the date of grant,
which is expensed to profit and loss on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with the corresponding
credit going to equity.
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Non-market vesting conditions are not taken into
account in determining grant date fair value. Instead,
they are taken into account by adjusting the number

of equity instruments to vest. At the end of each
reporting period the Company revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based
on the non-market vesting and service conditions. Any
revisions, if any, are recognised in profit and loss with an
adjustment to equity.

Fair value is calculated using an adjusted form of the
Black-Scholes model which includes a Monte Carlo
simulation mode! that takes into account the exercise
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution
{where material), the share price at grant date and
the expected price volatility of the underlying share,
the expected dividend yield, and the risk-free interest
rate for the term of the scheme. The expected staff
numbers used in the model has been adjusted, based
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of non-transferability, exercise restrictions, and
behavioural considerations.

For cash-settled share-based payment transactions,
the Company measures the services received and the
liability incurred at the fair value of the liability, Until
the liability is settled, the Company remeasures the fair
value of the liability at the end of each reporting period
and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair

value recognised in the Income Statement for the period,

The credit for the share-based payment charge
does not equal the charge per the profit and loss
as it excludes amounts recognised in the balance
sheet in relation to the expected national insurance
contributions for the shares.

Critical Accounting Estimates
and Judgements

In the application of the Company's accounting
policies, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based en historical experience and
other facters that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
oh an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities are outlined below.

whangd Togst

Control and Significant Influence Over
Certain Entities

The Company holds greater than 20% of the voting

- rights of Studio Retail Group plc and the Mulberry Group
plc. The Company exercises the same judgements as per
note 2 of the Group financial statements on assessing
whether it has control and significant influence over
associates and joint ventures.

Impairment of Investments and Amounts
Owed by Group Undertakings

At each period end management assess the future
performance of entities with which the Company
holds an investment in, or a debtor from, to ascertain
whether there is objective evidence of impairment

of these balances. Judgement is involved in the
assessment of future performance and this involves an
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end the Directors have reviewed the carrying vaiue of
its investrnents and have made no impairments (FY21:
£1.1m impairment charge) as disclosed in note 2 of the
Company financial statements. As at the period end the
Directors have reviewed the carrying value of amounts
owed by Group undertakings and have made an
impairment charge of £6.4m (FY21: £nil).
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2. INVESTMENTS

Long-term

investments financial
in subsidiaries assets Total
(Em) {£m) {Em}
As at 26 April 2020 1,155.5 80.3 1,235.8
Additions 789 133 192.2
Impairment charge (L1 - (1.1}
Disposals - [5.6) (5.6)
Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income - 773 773
Exchange differences : (3.7) 3.7)
As at 25 April 201 12333 261.6 1,494.9
Additions 5.0 198.0 203.0
Dispasals . - (238.4) (238.4)
Amounts recognised through other comprehensive income - (8.0} (8.0}
Exchange differences : - {7.9) (7.9)

The fair value of the long-term financial assets is based on bid quoted market prices at the balance sheet date or,
where market prices are not available, ot management's best estimate.

Long-term financial assets include various holdings including a 36.9% stake in Mulberry Group plc, for further details
refer to Note 21 of the Group Financial Statements. The Company continues to hold a 28.9% interest in Studio Retail
Group (in administration) at the period end. However, given the administration and the sale of its main trading
subsidiary Studio Retail Limited, the interest has been fair valued to £nil with a £69.2m loss recognised through cther
comprehensive income.

For further disclosures in relation to investments in associates and long-term financial assets see note 20, 21 and 35 of
the Group Financial Statements.

The Directors assess the value of the investments in subsidiaries at each period end for indicators of impairment. In

- the prior period an impairment loss of £11m was recognised within the income statement for loss making companies

Frantad an

where the recoverable amount was less than the carrying value. The additions in the period relate to the Fearless 1000
share scheme, see note 25 of the Group Financial Statements,

The Company is the principal holding company of the Group. The principal subsidiary undertakings of the
Company are set out in note 39 of the Group Financial Statements. '

The Group's policies for financial risk management are set out in note 3 and note 30 of the Group Financial Statements.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold Land
. and Buildings
(Em)
Cost
At 25 April 2021
Additions
At 24 April 2022

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

M
1 oge .

At 25 April 2021

Charge for the period [(eX)]
At 24 April 2022 {0.1}
Net Book Value

At 25 April 2021 -
At 24 April' 2022 6.9

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Assets and Liabilities by Category

The fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities, which are principally denominated in Sterling or US Dollars,
were as follows;

25 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em) {Em)
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Amortised cost:
Trade and other receivables* 510.2 1381
FVOCI:
Long Term Financial Assets (Equity Instruments} 205.2 2616
Derivative financial assets (FV):
Derivative financial assets — eontracts for difference - 2041
7154 419.8

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Amortised cost:

Trade and cther payables

869.8 6073

Derivative financial Liabilities (FV):
Derivative financial Liabilities — contracts for difference and equity options 759 17
945.7 609.0

© Prepayments of £16m FY21 £27m; end corporation e 2ests of £10m FY2E £1.0m1 are nol incfuds=d os & fannaul assat
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5. DEBTORS

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

At At

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em}) {Em)

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 2576 6.8
Derivative financial assets - 201
Other debtors 2526 1313
Corporation tax 1.0 1.0
Prepayments 1.6 37
5128 1629

Other debtors includes £243.9m (FY21: £131.0m) of deposits in respect of derivative financial instruments which
are collateral to cover margin requirements for derivative transactions held with counterparties. The collateral
requirement changes with the market (which is dependent on share price, interest rates and volatility) and

further purchases / sales of underlying investments held.

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are interest free and unsecured.

Further information on derivative financial assets can be found in the Group consolidated accounts in the financial

ISLiuElils 1Ite SU UG L THHGEICIAD 3 G TUYST RS UISOROSUINE TTule O,

6.

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

At At

24 April 2022 25 April 2021

{Em) (Em)

Trade creditors 19 1.3
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 864.9 602.5
Derivative financial liabilities 75.9 1.7
Other creditars 3.0 35
945.7 609.0

The amounted owed to Group undertakings mainly relates to an unsetured interest free loan with Sportsdirect.com
Retail Limited which is repayable on demand. -

Further information on derivative financial liabilities can be found in the Group censolidated accounts in the financial
instruments note 30 and the financial risk management disclosure note 3.

The prior period Other creditors balance mostly related to the accrual for costs payable to MM Prop
Consuitancy Limited, see note 35 of the Group financial statements.

7.

DEFERRED TAX

Other temporary

differences

(Em)

At 26 April 2020 3.7
Charged to the profit and loss account 37
At 25 April 201 -
Charged to the profit and loss account 6.1)
At 24 April 2022 {6.1)

The tax rate used to measure the deferred tax assets and liabilities was 25% (FY21: 199%) on the basis that these welre
the tax rates that were substantively enacted at the balance sheet date for the periods when the assets and liabilities

are expected to reverse,

Prirtec on Steintens 1007 Pervclad and Carbon

Capturad through the Woodland Trust belpng @
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8. PROVISIONS

Legal and
regulatory Total
{Em} {Em}
At 25 April 2021 - -
Amounts provided 3.0 3.0
At 24 April 2022 3.0 30

Frasers Group Plc has provided a guarantee in relation to payments from Studio Retail Group ple (in
administration) to the three other sections of the Findel Group Pension Fund up to a maximum of £0.9m. See

note 38 of the Group accounts.

9. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

At - At
24 April 2022 25 April 2021
{Em) (Em)
Authorised

999,000,010 ordinary shares ot TJp gach 100.0 100.0
499,990 redeemable preferance shares of 10p each - -

Called up and fully paid
640,602,369 (FY21: 640,602,369) ordinary share of 10p each 64.1 64.1
Share capital 64.1 641

The Company holds 151,240,174 ordinary shares in treasury as at the period end date (FY21: 121,260,175).

10. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

On 25 April 2022 and 20 June 2022 the Group
commenced share buyback programmes with the
aggregate purchase price of all shares acquired
under these programmes of no greater than £105.0m
and the maximum number of shares that may be
purchased under the programmes of 15m ordinary
shares with a nominal value of 10p each. The purpose
of the programmes was to reduce the share capital of
the Company. 11,884,438 ordinary shares of 10p each
for consideration of £79.9m were acquired through
these programmes.

On 1 May 2022 Michael Murray was appeinted as
Chief Executive Officer of Frasers Group. Mike Ashley
and Michael Murray worked together for a number

of months to ensure a smooth transition into the role.
Michael will accelerate the Group's strategy to achieve
its vision: “to serve our customers with the World's best
sports, premium and luxury brands.”

On 16 May 2022 the Group acquired the entire share
capital of leading Danish sport retailer SportMaster. Due
to the proximity of the acquisition date to the date these
financial statements are authorised for issue, the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete
and so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business
Combinations cannot be made at this stage.

&

Lrkstainee s 1007 Beeyclad and Cearpon Capturaa firough he Worrtang |

On 25 May 2022 the Group disposed of its US retail
businesses trading as Bobs Stores {“Bobs") and Eastern
Mountain Sports (‘EMS”) for a cash consideration of
$70m to GoDigital Media Group ("GDMG"). Further
details are included within note 16. ‘

On 1 June 2022 the Group acquired certain intellectual
property of the online women's fashicn retailer,
Missguided Limited (in administration), Mennace
Limited (in administration} and Missguided {IP} Limited
for cash consideration of £20.0 million. Due to the
proximity of the acquisition date to the date these
financial statements are autheorised for issue, the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete
ond so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business
Combinations cannot be made at this stage.




The Group announced on 22 June 2022 that it has
increased its investment in Hugo Boss AG, and now has
the following interests in the common stock:

- 3,425,000 shares of common stock, representing
49% of Hugo Boss's total share capital

. 18,289,000 shares of common stock vio the sale of
put options, representing 26.0% of Hugo Boss's total
share capital

After taking into account the premium it will receive
under the put options, Frasers Group's maximum
aggregate exposure in connection with its acquired
interests in Hugo Boss, with the common stock holding
valued at the closing share price on 21 June 2022, is
approximately €900m (c. £770m).

On 28 July 2022 the Group acquired the online fashion
retailer | Saw It First for cash consideration of £1. Due to
the proximity of the acquisition date to the date these -

accoeunting for the business combination is incomplete
and so the disclosures required by IFRS 3 Business

" Combinations cannot be made at this stage.

On 11 August 2022 the Group completed the disposal
of a number of freehold and long leasehold retail
parks held by its wholly owned subsidiaries, to RI

UK 1 Limited for a headline price of £205m. Frasers
Group fascias will operate from leases within these
properties where appropriate. Frasers Group in the
ordinary course of business purchases and sells
properties from time to time and the Group intends to
use the proceeds of sale towards the working capital
of the Group and its operations.

On 17 August 2022 the Group made o cash offer to
acquire the entire issued and to be issued ordinary share
capital of MySale Group plec {'MySale') not already held
by Frasers Group at a price of 2 pence per MySale Share.
The offer values the entire issued and to be issued share
capital of MySale not currently held by Frasers Group

at approximately £13.6 million {(not taking into account
the exercise of any outstanding options which may have
vested under the MySale Share Plans or any conversion
event pursuant to the Convertible Loan Notes}. On 29
June 2022, Frasers Group acquired 270,666,650 MySale
Shares and, together with the contracts for difference
already held by it, Frasers Group increased its stake

in MySale to 28.7% and became MySale's largest
shareholder. Since the disclosure of Frasers Group's
acquisition of this further stake, the market price of
MySale shares has increased.

On 20 September 2022 the Group announced that
Mike Ashley would not be standing for re-election as a
Director at this year's Annual General Meeting ("AGM")
and that he will therefore step down from the Board
upon the conclusion of the AGM.

FRASERS GROUPPLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

11. PAYROLL COSTS

Frasers Group Ple had no direct employees during the
periods ended 24 April 2022 and 25 April 2021, and the
Directors are remunerated through Sportsdirect.com
Retail Limited. Details of the Directors' remuneration can
be found in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

12, RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions with the Company are
disclosed within note 35 in the Group Financial Statements.
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GLOSSARY

CONSOLIDATED FIVE YEAR RECORD AND ALTERNATIVE
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended

24 April 2022 25 April 2021 26 April 2020 28 April 2019 29 April 2018
(Em) {Em) ({Em) {£m) (Em)

REPORTED PBT 335.6 8.5 143.5 179.2 611
Exceptional items : 13 16 133 4.0 4.8
Fair value gain on step acquisition - : - 20.4)
Fair value adjustments to derivatives included
within Finance {income) / costs 7.6 46 213) {397) . 177
Fair value [gains) / losses and profit on disposal
of aquity derivatives (9.9) (82.2) 351 (3.3) 103.6
Share scheme 14.6 1.3 - - 6.0}
ADJUSTED PBT 33%.8 (39.9) 151 1551 1571

Notes to the consolidated income statement five year record:
1. All information is presented under IFRS.

2. The five year record has been prepared on the same basis as the Financial Statements for the 52 weeks ended 24
April 2022, as set out in note 1, basis of preparation, of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reconciliation of excluding acquisitions and currency neutral performance measures:

UK Premium European Rest Of Wholesale & Group

Retoil Lifestyle Retoil  World Retail Licensing Total

{E'm} {E'm) (E'm) [£'m) {E'm) (£'m)

Revenue
FY22 Reported 2,6401 1,056.6 7902 150.3 1681 4,805.3
Adjustments for acquisitions and currency neutral (20.1) 3.9) - - - {94.0)
FY22 Excluding acquisitions and currency neutral 2,550.0 1,052.7 790.2 150.3 168.1 4,711.3
FY21 Reported 15685 735.6 615,2 152.7 153.3 3625.3
Adjustments for acquisitions and currency neutral 18.2) {0.8) (23.0) __(08) 1.7 {34.5)
FY21 Excluding acquisitions and currency neutral 1,960.3 734.8 592.2 151.9 151.6 3,590.8
- - - - - - -
% Varionce 30.1% 43.3% 33.4% [1.1%} 10.9% 31.2%
- - - - .~ - - -~ — "]
Adjusted PBT
FY22 Reported 196.9 105 88.6 327 111 3398
Adjustments for acqguisitions and currency neutral 32.5 (0.4) - - - 321
FY22 Excluding acquisitions and currency neutral 229.4 1041 88.6 327 111 3M.9
FY21Reported (12.8) {7.8] (51.3) 122 15.8 {39.9)
Adjustrents for acquisitions and currency neutral 158 0.2 20 {0.1) (0.1} 17.8
FY21 Excluding acquisitions and currency neutral 3.0 {7.6] (49.3) 12.1 19.7 {22.1)
- - -~ - — ]
% Variance 7.5467%  (132.9%)  (279.7%) 170.2% (43.7%) (1,782.8%])
o The FY21 numbaers bave besn re-caregansed due to changss m the reportng segments, with freehold property owmng companies where frading is purely fram
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Key Performance Indicators

Closest equivalent statutory

Performance Measure measure

FRASERS GROUP PLC ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Reconciling items to statutory
measure

Definition and purpose

Group revenue -

The Board considers that this
measure is a key indicator of the
Group's growth.

Reported PBT -

Reported PBT shows both the
Group's trading and operational
efficiency, os well as the effects on
the Group of external factors as
shown in the fair value movements in
strategic investments and

foreign exchange.

Adjusted PBT Profit before taxction

Adjusting items (see Glossary
recanciliction akove). The adjusting
iterns are those deemed by the
Board to be volatile and therefore
difficult to forecast.

Adjusted PBT shows how well the
Group is managing its ongoing
trading perforrmance.ond
controllable costs and therefore the
cverall performaonce of the Group.

Cash inflow from -
operating activities

INET assels -

Cash inflow from operating activities is
considered an important indicator for
the business of the cash available for
investment in the Elevation strateav.

i he Board considers that this
measurement is a key indicator of
the Group's health.

Number of retail stores -

The Board considers that this
measure is an indicator of the
Group's growth. The Group's
Elevation strategy is replacing older
stores and often this can result in
the closure of two or three stores

to be replaced by one larger new
generation store,

Workfarce turnover -

The Board considers that this
measure is a key indicator of the
contentment of our people.

Packaging recycling -

LR

Fanted on Stednbeis 10
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The Board considers that this
measurement is a key indicator of
our impact and commitment to the
best environmental proctices.
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COMPANY DIRECTORY

REGISTRAR AND BROKERS
TRANSFER OFFICE Liberum Capital Limited
Computershare Investor Services plc Ropemaker Place, Level 12
The Pavilions 25 Ropemaker Street
Bridgwater Road London
Bristol EC2Y oLY
BS99 677 Numis Securities Limited
Telephone; 0370 707 4030 . 45 Gresham Street

Lenden
CUNVIFANT SDECKE IAKT ANL Eroev o
REGISTERED OFFICE

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Frasers Group Plc
Unit A, Brook Park East Barclays Bank plc
Shirebrook - 5 The North Colonnade Canary Wharf
NG20 8RY o London
Telephone: 0344 245 9200 E14 4BB
Frasers Group Plc is registered in England and Wales HSBC Bank plc

(Ne. 06035106} 8 Canada Square London

E14 5HQ
SOLCITORS
Reynolds Porter Chamberlain LLP AUDITORS
Tower Bridge House RSM UK Audit LLP

St Katharine's Way 25 Farringdon Street

London

London
EIW1AA EC4A 4AB
Dentons UK and Middle East LLP
One Fleet Place
London
ECAM 7WS
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The date and time of the Annual General Meeting

is to be announced in a separate notice. Each
shareholder is entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting, the arrangements for which are described in
a separate notice.

RESULTS

For the year to 30 April 2023
. Half year results announced: tbc December 2022
. Preliminary announcement of full year results: the

AONUQI Keport circuaied; e

SHAREHOLDER HELPLINE

The Frasers Group shareholder register is maintained

by Computershare who are responsible for making
dividend payments and updating the register, including
details of changes to shareholders’ addresses, If you
have a guery about your shareholding in Sports Direct,
you should contact Computershare's Frasers Group
Shareholder Helpline on: 0370 707 4030. Calls are
charged at standard geographic rates, although network
charges may vary.

Address:
The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 677

Website:
www.computershare.com

WEBSITE

The Group website ot wwwfrasers.group provides news
and details of the Company's activities plus information
for shareholders and contains real time share price data
as well as the latest results and announcements.

Franted on Sheaseiz 1007 Bacyeled and Carbon Captarad fnrough s Woo

UNSOLICITED MAIL

The Company is obliged by law to make its share
register publicly available and as a consequence some
shareholders may receive unsolicited mail, including
from unauthorised investment firms.

For more information on unauthorised investment firms
targeting UK investors, visit the website of the Financial
Conduct Authority at wwwfca.org.uk

If you wish to limit the amount of unsolicited mail you
receive contact:

Mailing Preference Service
70 Margaret Street

London

WIW 855

Telephone:
020 7291 3310

Email:
mps@dma.ora.uk
or register online at www.mpsonline.org.uk

Frasers Group Plc
Unit A, Brook Park East, Shirebrook, NG20 8RY
0344 245 9200

www.frusers.group
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